
1

NOTICE OF MEETING
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

WEDNESDAY, 25 FEBRUARY 2015 AT 10.00 AM

ST. JAMES' HOSPITAL (THE ENTERTAINMENTS HALL) LOCKSWAY ROAD

Telephone enquiries to Joanne Wildsmith CCDS Tel: 9283 4057
Email: joanne.wildsmith@portsmouthcc.gov.uk

Health and Wellbeing Board Members
Councillors Frank Jonas (Chair), Donna Jones, Luke Stubbs, Neill Young, Gerald Vernon-
Jackson and John Ferrett
Dr James Hogan (Vice-Chair), Tony Horne, Innes Richens, David Williams, Julian Wooster and 
Dr Janet Maxwell, Ruth Williams

Plus one other PCCG Executive Member, Dr L Collie, Dr E Fellows, Dr D Alalade, Dr T
Wilkinson, Dr E Fellows

*Non voting members 

(NB This Agenda should be retained for future reference with the minutes of this meeting.)

Please note that the agenda, minutes and non-exempt reports are available to view online on 
the Portsmouth City Council website:  www.portsmouth.gov.uk

Deputations by members of the public may be made on any item where a decision is 
going to be taken. The request should be made in writing to the contact officer (above) by 
12 noon of the working day before the meeting, and must include the purpose of the 
deputation (for example, for or against the recommendations). Email requests are 
accepted.

A G E N D A

1  Welcome, Apologies for absence, introductions and any declarations of 
members' interests 

2  Minutes of previous meeting - 26 November 2014 with Matters Arising - 
including Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment report (Pages 1 - 8)

Public Document Pack



2

The minutes of the HWB meeting held on 26 November 2014 are attached for 
approval as a correct record by the Board.

Matters arising - to include:

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) - The HWB is asked to note the 
paper confirming the outcome of the PNA consultation and to approve the 
adoption of the PNA.

3  Health and Wellbeing Board Governance (Pages 9 - 16)

Report by Matthew Gummerson, Principal Strategy Adviser.

This will seek the formal endorsement of the HWB for the changes to its 
constitution that Full Council will be recommended to approve, based on the 
proposals previously discussed with HWB members.

4  Public Health - Portsmouth's 'Plan on a Page' (Pages 17 - 18)

Janet Maxwell, Director of Public Health to follow.

5  Tackling poverty needs assessment (decision item) (Pages 19 - 210)

Report by the Tackling Poverty Co-ordinators is attached.

This seeks to update the Health and Wellbeing Board of the work of the 
Tackling Poverty Strategy, focusing on the development of the new needs 
assessment and strategy from 2015 onwards, and to seek feedback from the 
Board accordingly.

RECOMMENDED

(1) That the Health and Wellbeing Board considers any feedback it 
wishes to input into the needs assessment, and discusses this at 
the Health and Wellbeing Board meeting.

(2) That the needs assessment is then circulated for a final period to 
the Board after the meeting, to enable Board members to submit 
their final views.

(3) That the Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board be authorised to 
sign-off the final needs assessment on behalf of the board for 
publication. 

6  Better Care Update (Pages 211 - 222)

Presentation by Jo York, Head of Better Care - updating the board on 



3

progress with the Better Care Plan

7  Creating sustainable healthy environments (Pages 223 - 234)

Report by Janet Maxwell, Director of Public Health, attached on the 
outputs of a series of seminars that have been held to develop this 
JHWS workstream

8  Mental Health and Wellbeing (Pages 235 - 238)

Report by Matt Smith, Public Health Consultant attached, on progress 
with this JHWS workstream.

9  Work Programme for HWB (information item) (Pages 239 - 242)

The attached draft schedule of forthcoming items, prepared by Matthew 
Gummerson, is for discussion and information and is subject to change.

10  Date of next meeting 

17 June at 9am is the proposed date of the next public meeting of the HWB.
Members of the public are now permitted to use both audio visual recording devices and social 
media during this meeting, on the understanding that it neither disrupts the meeting or records 
those stating explicitly that they do not wish to be recorded. Guidance on the use of devices at 
meetings open to the public is available on the Council's website and posters on the wall of the 
meeting's venue.



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

25 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
 
MINUTES OF THE MEETING of the Health and Wellbeing Board held on 
Wednesday, 26 November 2014 at 9.00 am in Conference Room A, Civic 
Offices, Portsmouth. 
 

Present 
 

 Councillor Frank Jonas (in the Chair) 
 

 Councillor Donna Jones 
Councillor Luke Stubbs 
Councillor Neill Young 
Councillor Gerald Vernon-Jackson 
Councillor John Ferrett 
 
Tony Horne 
Innes Richens 
Dr Elizabeth Fellowes 
Dr Linda Collie 
Ruth Williams NHS England 
 

Non-voting members 
 
Julian Wooster 
 

 
 

 
 

27. Apologies for Absence (AI 1) 
 
These had been received from Dr J Hogan and from David Williams. 
 

28. Introductions and Declarations of Interest (AI 2) 
 
There were no members' declarations of interest.  Introductions were made 
around the table. 
 

29. Previous Minutes - 3 September 2014 and Matters Arising (AI 3) 
 
The minutes of the Health and Wellbeing Board held on 3 September 2014 
were approved as a correct record, with no matters arising. 
 

30. PSCB Annual Report and Business Plan 2014-17 (AI 4) 
 
Helen Donelan, Business Manager for the Portsmouth Safeguarding 
Children's Board (PSCB), presented the PSCB's Annual report and explained 
the PSCB's role in scrutinising the effectiveness of local children's services, 
with membership covering the key agencies such as the police and probation 
as well as linking with charities such as Barnado's.  The plan set out key 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



 
26 

 

priorities, and the business plan set out 4 objectives/tasks which she asked 
the HWB members to consider the links with: 
 

i) Neglect - as had been highlighted in the serious case reviews 

ii) Communication - of key safeguarding messages (including FGM work 
with the communities) 

iii) The voice of children/young people - ensuring this is heard as part of 
the decision making process 

iv) Governance arrangements 
 
Members then asked questions regarding the links with the Better Care Fund 
(BCF) and the Troubled Families programme.  Julian Wooster reported that 
the Ofsted report on Safeguarding from July had identified the area of support 
in providing early help.  There were messages of the importance of better 
integration between the local authority and health through the BCF, the 
importance of the Troubled Families programme providing early support to 
parents, and that a different approach to large case conferences was being 
considered.  The Trouble Families unit had worked with over 500 families 
(and had met this government target) and Phase 2 was to be welcomed, 
which would allow more flexibility in identifying the families to work with, 
although it attracted less funding.   
 
It was also asked why the plan did not refer to the context of cuts in budgets; 
the PSCB is a scrutiny rather than decision making body regarding the 
provision of services, but the pressure on services was acknowledged.  It was 
also reported that Primary Care are undertaking educational work with GPs 
around early intervention and there is work being done with the local schools. 
 
RESOLVED the members of the HWB received the Portsmouth Safeguarding 
Children Board's Annual Report and Business Plan and noted the areas of 
progress and challenges identified in the context of services being planned 
and commissioned. 
 

31. Adult Safeguarding Annual Report and update on the Care Act in 
relation to Safeguarding (AI 5) 
 
David Cooper, the independent Chair of the Adult Safeguarding Board since 
March 2014, presented their annual report outlining the achievements from 
the previous year.  It had to be seen in the context of national challenges such 
as the scandals of Mid Staffs, Winterbourne View & Orchid View where clients 
had received very poor care.   
 
There were also the implications of the Care Act to be considered which 
would make safeguarding boards for adults statutory from April 2015.  In 
Portsmouth there had already been reorganisation so that the previous two 
boards had moved to one board; this single body would improve 
communication.  The act had also included important guidance on 
personalisation and prevention, to ensure positive outcomes for individuals.  
There are strong expectations to raise the quality of information sharing. 
 

Page 2



 
27 

 

David Cooper stressed the need for the boards to be supported to undertake 
their business.  A development day had been held in June and a peer review 
undertaken which would be reported on within the next annual report.  Work 
had taken place to review the board's governance and membership 
arrangements.  There had been no dedicated budget but there was now 
interim financial support for this year. He would be tabling a report to the 
Safeguarding Adults Board shortly, regarding additional funding for 2014\15 to 
meet the requirements of the Care Act.   There is the need for robust 
information from agencies so risk areas can be identified.  A multi-agency hub 
was being explored with the police and children's and adults' services.   
 
A key issue arising from a High Court decision is Deprivation of Liberty 
(DOL) regarding mental capacity assessments.  The result meant that whilst 
these used to be at a level of 2 or 3 a month the frequency was now far 
higher.  Angela Dryer reported that Adult Social Care used to have a budget 
for £18k pa for this and £340k was now predicted as the spend this year for 
these independent assessments. 
 
The new Head of Safeguarding is Rachael Roberts, who was working on the 
national pilot of personalisation, and progress on this would be monitored by 
the board.  Work was also taking place on training and development with 
multi-agency training and with neighbouring authorities on the Care Act policy.  
There is now an appointed nurse across the SHIP group area.  Innes Richens 
confirmed that for Portsmouth and the Isle of Wight there is now a designated 
lead for adult safeguarding (as for children) in the CCG. 
 
With increase in alerts being recorded (doubling over the last 3 years) the 
board was trying to bring information from the agencies together.  David 
Cooper was concerned by the lack of dedicated budget and contributions from 
the 3 key statutory agencies had been sought (local authority, health and 
police) but the police had indicated the contribution to their 4 area boards 
(Portsmouth, Hants, Southampton & Isle of Wight) was limited to 11%. 
 
Questions  

(i) HWB members asked the justification of the police contribution being 
limited to 11%, and it was felt that this should be raised further with 
the local Police & Crime Commissioner Simon Hayes due to the 
budgetary pressures on local authorities.  Julian Wooster felt that it 
would be useful to find out how neighbouring police forces were 
contributing.  Whilst prior to the Care Act this had been a shared 
responsibility, the local authority was now seen as the lead, with 
health as the second partner. 

 
It was AGREED that a letter be sent by the Chair of HWB to Mr Hayes to 
outline the board's concerns regarding the police contribution to the 
work of the Adult Safeguarding Board. 
 

(ii) HWB members were also concerned by the DOL implications, and 
Angela Dryer explained that the local authorities are designated as 
the supervisory body and the care homes as the managing 
authority; there is a duty to refer to PCC where there is a DOL issue 

Page 3



 
28 

 

to appoint a doctor to assess capacity, and to ensure the individual 
has a representative (family or advocate).  It was asked if it would 
be more economical for PCC to employ its own doctor? This had 
not yet been explored. 

 

It was AGREED that the Chair and Leader should write to the Secretary 
of State for Health and the Chief Executive of the LGA to raise the 
HWB's concerns regarding the escalation of DOLs and referencing the 
new burdens principle for local government and Cllr G Vernon- Jackson 
undertook to raise this with the LGA as a matter of national concern. 
 
Councillor Jones welcomed the appointment of David Cooper as independent 
chair and hoped he would work with her as Leader and Councillor Jonas as 
the Chair of HWB and Cabinet Member for Health & Social Care regarding 
Adult Social Care matters.  The co-location of police officers within the Civic 
Offices was also welcomed as part of the multi-agency working. 
 

(iii) Training and development - it was asked how training was provided 
and monitored for the private sector providers?  Angela Dryer 
explained that SCATPP allowed the voluntary and private sector to 
receive safeguarding training at a reduced rate.  David Cooper 
hoped for the large independent providers to have some 
representation on the ASB to ensure the issue of training was 
addressed more broadly. 

 
(iv) A question was raised by a Mr Burns,regarding the police budget and 

whether their work in safeguarding cases counted towards the 11% 
they contribute to the safeguarding board. David Cooper stressed 
that the support to the board is completely separate and that the 
working relationship with the police was good. 

 
 

32. Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy report (AI 6) 
 
Matthew Gummerson presented the report (and made available larger print 
outs of the appendices) which set out the baseline positions on the outcome 
measures from the approved strategy.  This gave some further definition of 
data, trends and comparisons to the English national averages.  There would 
be detailed reports on the workstream areas at future meetings, with the 
dementia update later in this meeting and for mental health at the February 
meeting.  The quarterly performance reports on priorities managed by other 
boards are available upon request to HWB members.  It was suggested that 
the links to the other bodies' priorities (such as the Children's Trust Board) be 
shown more explicitly. 
 
Discussion took place regarding the success in the early years/foundation 
education in the city which then tailed off at Key Stages 2 & 4.  Julian Wooster 
responded that there was the need to encourage progress by the schools, as 
whilst some were top performers (such as Portsdown, Charter and St. 
Edmunds) others were not making enough added progress.  He felt that the 
abandoning of Key Stage 3 tests had had a negative impact. He was pleased 

Page 4



 
29 

 

that the KS2 results had improved for the city and the KS4 data was still to be 
validated but it was hoped that Portsmouth was moving closer to the national 
average. 
 
Matthew Gummerson would circulate the agreed timetable for future agenda 
items to the board, following discussion with the Chair. 
 

33. Portsmouth Dementia Action Plan 2014-16 (AI 7) 
 
Preeti Sheth, the Head of Integrated Commissioning Unit, presented this 
information report which outlined the severity of the syndrome nationally and 
locally and reported progress against this priority workstream in the Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy.  In Portsmouth 2186 residents have some 
form of dementia, of differing severity with 2135 having onset over the age of 
65.  1703 live in the community and 483 in residential care.  The report set out 
the work with GP practices to implement projects such as the introduction of 
an enhanced service scheme for dementia identification, data harmonisation, 
care home case finding and the regional Dementia Toolkit.  Work was also 
taking place with Solent NHS Trust and the Alzheimer's Society, Solent Mind 
and Age UK as service providers for the city. 
 
There is a proactive Dementia Action Group (DAG) which PCC co-chair with 
Solent NHS Trust.    The report also detailed the achievements against the 
2014/15 dementia action plan including the Solent Mind Dementia 
Reablement Advisors, the Housing 21 Dementia Voice Nurse, the Dementia 
cafes and support programme with the Alzheimer's Society and their new 
Dementia Adviser Service.  Other achievements included the Elder Friendly 
Community Pharmacy and the opening of the 'Memory Lane' at QA hospital.  
The report further identified the direction of travel for the future including the 
establishment of a local Dementia Action Alliance to create a Dementia 
Friendly Community. 
 
It was asked if information was being received back from the pilot 
programmes, and Preeti Sheth confirmed that these were being received and 
would be reported back as appropriate. 
 

34. Training Opportunity - Dementia Friends (AI 8) 
 
At the conclusion of the meeting members of the HWB were offered the 
opportunity to participate in a Dementia Friends training session hosted by 
Natalie of the Alzheimer's Society which was well attended and appreciated 
by the HWB and which improved the understanding of participants of the 
different ways dementia affects individuals. 
 

35. Any Other Business and Date of Next Meeting (AI ) 
 

(i) NHS England letter - congenital heart disease - a copy of the 
consultative letter would be circulated to members of the HWB by 
Matthew Gummerson, and Ruth Williams reported that this had also 
been sent to the Health & Overview Scrutiny Panel (HOSP). 

 

Page 5



 
30 

 

(ii) Innes Richens reported on the changes in Primary Care 
Commissioning for which the CCG had expressed an interest to 
NHS England on taking on further areas of activity and which had a 
range of option. He could provide further details on request and he 
offered to bring an update back to the HWB. 

 

(iii) The next meeting would take place on 25 February 2015 at 10am  at 
St. James' hospital. 

 
 
The meeting concluded at 10.35 am. 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Councillor Frank Jonas 
Chair 

 

 
 

Page 6



 

 

 

 

Pharmaceutical Needs assessment for Portsmouth City 

1 Introduction 

A Pharmaceutical Needs assessment (PNA) is a statement of current pharmaceutical 

services provided in the local area. It also assesses whether or not the pharmaceutical 

services provision is satisfactory for the local population and identifies any perceived gaps 

in the provision. There is a statutory obligation for the Health and Wellbeing Board to 

publish this assessment by 1st April 2015. 

The Director of Public Health asked an advisory group of key stakeholders to develop and 

produce a draft document ready for wider consultation in autumn 2014. This board 

approved the publication of the draft PNA for statutory consultation with the public and other 

listed stakeholders in October 2014. 

2 Consultation  

The formal consultation started on Tuesday 10th November 2014 and closed on Thursday 

22nd January 2015 (76 days). The draft PNA was published on the PCC website. A 

questionnaire was published alongside the document and respondents were invited to 

respond to seven specific questions. Respondents could add written text comments to any 

of these questions. We also gave people the opportunity to request paper copies of the PNA 

and to respond to the consultation by alternative means. 

We publicised the consultation by a variety of methods including:- 

 Professional stakeholders contacted directly by email and post 

 Public consultation included publicity on the PCC website; quarter page advert in 

Flagship, November 2014  

 2,000 postcards inviting public to respond distributed via pharmacies and libraries  

 Social media 

 Twitter: posts from @portsmouthtoday, @healthpompey, @portsmouthjsna 

 Facebook: PCC Facebook and Healthy Pompey accounts 

 The Voluntary Sector received information about the draft PNA in the autumn  

newsletter produced by the council 

3 Consultation responses 

We received 61 responses (14 responses from professional stakeholder groups and 47 

responses from the public). 

 95% of respondents agreed or were neutral that the purpose of the PNA had been 

well explained  

 92% of respondents could not identify any further relevant information that should 

have been included that would affect the document’s conclusions. 

Page 7



 

 

 65% of respondents believed that their current pharmaceutical needs were being 

met, 28% did not feel their current needs were not being met but did not submit any 

written comment 

  100% of respondents felt their future pharmaceutical needs were being met.  

However there was minimal response from the public on this question but some 

written responses received. 

 72% of respondents did not think there should be further pharmaceutical sites within 

the city 

Twenty-nine written text comments were submitted. Three of these responses concerned 

the production of the PNA; two responses requested additional pharmacy sites (Commercial 

Road and Northern Parade) and five responses made general requests for additional 

opening hours.  

The other 19 responses gave specific praise or complaints about individual pharmacies or 

pharmacy services, which were outside the terms of reference of the advisory group. These 

comments will be dealt with separately by Pharmaceutical Adviser responsible for 

professional support for community pharmacy services in the city. 

The overall level of satisfaction with the draft PNA is high. 

4 Summary 

Portsmouth has a high density of pharmacies compared to other areas of the country and 

these sites are distributed throughout the city. A good range of opening hours, including late 

evening and weekend access is available from many pharmacies. Further extending this 

access is unlikely to be commercially viable for individual pharmacies, although any 

pharmacy contractor may apply to provide altered hours of service in line with NHS England 

regulations. 

There are no recommended changes to the draft PNA document. 

5 Recommendation 

The HWB is asked to note this report and approve the adoption of the PNA. The PNA will be 

publicly available on Portsmouth City Council website and will have links within Joint 

Strategic Needs Assessment webpages (www.jsna.portsmouth.gov.uk). 

Page 8



 

1 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
Agenda item:  

 
Title of meeting: 
 

 
Health and Wellbeing Board 

Date of meeting: 
 
Subject: 
 

25th February 2015 
 
Health and Wellbeing Board Constitution 

Report From: 
 

Director of Children's Services and Adults Services  

Report by: 
 

Matthew Gummerson, Principal Strategy Adviser 

Wards affected: 
 

All 

Key decision: 
 

No 

Full Council decision: Yes 
 

 

 
1. Purpose of report 
 
1.1. To seek formal endorsement of the proposed changes to the constitution for the 

Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) to improve the effectiveness of the HWB as it 
fulfils its leadership role across the health and wellbeing system locally. The 
partners on the HWB have requested these changes to its constitution for 
approval by Full Council. Governance, Audit and Standards Committee will be 
asked to support the consequent constitutional change. 

 
 
2. Recommendations 
 
2.1. The Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to endorse the changes 

to the constitution for the Health and Wellbeing Board set out below for 
approval by Full Council. 
 

 
3. Background 
 
3.1. Health and Wellbeing Boards (HWBs) were introduced as part of the Health and 

Social Care Act 2012. They are statutory in all upper tier local authorities in 
England, bringing together Elected Members, key council officers, the 
Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning Group (PCCG), the NHS Commissioning 
Board and local Healthwatch to develop a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and 
deliver it through a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

3.2. The HWB is a committee of the council and has been formally established as 
such since April 2013.  

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



 

2 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

3.3. The statutory regulations allow changes to be made to the membership of the 
HWB that have previously been agreed as desirable by the HWB. If so directed 
by the council, this allows voting rights to be withdrawn from statutory members 
of the board (for example the Directors of Children's Services, Adults Services 
and Public Health) and other partners. This enables voting on certain matters 
(part b items) to be restricted if necessary, ensuring that on such matters Elected 
Members from the council and PCCG's nominated representatives retain an 
equal voting share.  
 

4. Proposed changes recommended by the HWB 

4.1 That the chairing arrangements change from a Chair and Vice-Chair 
arrangement to joint chairing, with the Lead Member for Health and Social Care 
and the Clinical Lead from PCCG alternating chairmanship of the HWB on an 
annual basis. 

4.2 In order to ensure the HWB constitution is able to adapt to future requirements, 
that provision is made for voting on certain matters to be restricted to the four 
Elected Members from PCC and the four representatives of PCCG. This reflects 
the current principle that 50% of voting membership shall comprise elected local 
councillors while allowing greater flexibility to broaden the membership. The 
legislation allows the council to delegate a wide range of executive functions to 
the HWB, and integrated budgets across health and social care (e.g. through 
section 75 agreements) are an increasingly important part of the commissioning 
picture.  

4.3 That additional key stakeholders in the local health and wellbeing system should 
be invited to join the HWB in order to secure the widest possible engagement 
with, and buy-in to, the strategic direction set by the HWB. These additional 
stakeholders are the largest local providers of acute and community NHS 
services, and a local voluntary and community sector organisation (reflecting the 
vital role the VCS play in delivering health and wellbeing services): 

 Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust 

 Solent NHS Trust 

 A representative of the local voluntary and community sector nominated by 
Portsmouth Voluntary and Community Network 

4.4 These changes have been incorporated into the revised Constitution for the 
Health and Wellbeing Board at appendix A. 
 

 
5 Reasons for recommendations 

 
5.2 The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to endorse these proposals as 

they will support the Health and Wellbeing Board to operate effectively and 

Page 10



 

3 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

continue to enable the council to fulfil its statutory requirements with regard to the 
Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 
5.3 The recommended changes have been developed with the full involvement 
of the members of the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

 
 
6 Equality impact assessment (EIA) 

 
6.1 A preliminary EIA has been completed, indicating that there is no requirement for 

a full EIA at this stage. 
 
 
7 City Solicitor comments 

7.1 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 (the Act), s194, specifies a number of 
required appointees to Health and Well-being Boards. These include: 
 
a) At least one councillor appointee 
b) The director of adult social services 
c) The director of children's services 
d) The director of public health  
e) A representative of the Local Health Watch organisation 
f) A representative of each relevant clinical commissioning group for the area 
g) Such other persons as are considered appropriate 

 
The Act requires that members nominated by the Council must be nominated by 
the Leader, unless the Leader appoints herself. 
 
The Act requires that the Council must consult the Health and Wellbeing board 
before appointing persons under g) above. 

 
 
8 Head of finance’s comments 

8.1 There are no direct financial implications arising as a result of this report. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
……………………………………………… 
Signed by:  Julian Wooster, Director of Children's and Adults Services 
 
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix A - constitution for Portsmouth’s Health and Wellbeing Board 
 

Page 11



 

4 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

Background list of documents: Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
 
The following documents disclose facts or matters, which have been relied upon to a 
material extent by the author in preparing this report: 
 

Title of document Location 

  

  

 
The recommendation(s) set out above were approved/ approved as amended/ deferred/ 
rejected by ……………………………… on ……………………………… 
 
 
 
……………………………………………… 
Signed by: Name and Title 

Page 12



 

5 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

Appendix A – revised constitution for Portsmouth’s Health and Wellbeing Board (March 
2015) 
 

Constitution for Portsmouth’s Health and Wellbeing Board  

 

1. Aims 

1.1 The Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) will provide strategic leadership to improve 
the health and wellbeing of the population of Portsmouth through the development of 
improved and integrated health and social care services along with a range of other 
public service dependencies, including public health and children’s services. It will: 

a) Identify health and wellbeing needs and priorities across Portsmouth, and oversee 
the refresh and publication of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) to 
support evidence-based prioritisation, commissioning and policy decisions. 

b) Prepare and publish a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) for approval by 
the city council and Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), which sets 
objectives and describes how stakeholders will be held to account for delivery, 
taking account of the JSNA and Director of Public Health Annual Report as well as 
national policy developments and legislation. 

c) Encourage integrated working between health and social care and oversee, where 
appropriate, partnership arrangements under the NHS Act such as pooled budgets. 

d) Oversee, where appropriate, the use of resources across a wide spectrum of 
services and interventions, to achieve its strategy and priority outcomes and to drive 
a genuinely collaborative approach to commissioning, including the co-ordination of 
agreed joint strategies. 

e) Support the inclusion of the voice of the public, patients and communities in the 
setting of strategic priorities, including (but not solely) through the involvement of 
local Healthwatch.  

f) Communicate and engage with local people in how they can achieve the best 
possible quality of life and be supported to exercise choice and control over their 
own personal health and wellbeing. 

 

2. Membership 

2.1 Membership of the HWB shall reflect the fact that the HWB has a role in setting 
strategic direction for the whole health and care system. It will also contain provisions 
that allow it to be given greater executive powers on behalf of the city council and in 
partnership with the CCG, with provision for voting on certain matters to be reserved. 
Those items on which all members of the HWB can vote shall be termed 'part A 
items' while those on which voting is reserved shall be termed 'part B items'.  

2.2 The members of the HWB, who shall have voting rights on all non-reserved items 
(part a items) shall comprise the following: 

 Lead Member for Health and Social Care (Joint-Chair) 

 Clinical Commissioning Group Chief Clinical Officer* (Joint-Chair) 

 Lead Member for Children’s Services 

Page 13



 

6 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 Leader of the Council (or their nominated representative) 

 Leader of the largest opposition group (or their nominated representative) 

 Clinical Commissioning Group Chief Operating Officer*  

 Two nominated CCG representatives chosen by the CCG Board  

 Director of Public Health 

 Director of Adults Services 

 Director of Children's Services 

 Healthwatch Portsmouth nominated representative*  

 NHS Commissioning Board (Wessex) nominated representative* 

 Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust nominated representative* 

 Solent NHS Trust nominated representative* 

 Portsmouth Voluntary and Community Network representative 

2.3 The members of the HWB who have reserved powers to vote on 'part B items' are as 
follows: 

 Lead Member for Health and Social Care (Joint-Chair) 

 Clinical Commissioning Group Chief Clinical Officer* (Joint-Chair) 

 Lead Member for Children’s Services 

 Leader of the Council (or their nominated representative) 

 Leader of the largest opposition group (or their nominated representative) 

 Clinical Commissioning Group Chief Operating Officer*  

 Two nominated representatives from Portsmouth's Clinical Commissioning Group 

*voting rights for co-opted members on what is a committee appointed under section 102 
of the Local Government Act 1972 are provided for in Statutory Regulations published in 
February 2013 "unless the local authority which established the board otherwise directs" 
and "before making a direction [to empower co-opted members], the local authority must 
consult the Health and Wellbeing Board"1. The provisions above are therefore subject to 
direction from the council in consultation with the board. 

  

3. Chairing arrangements 
3.1 The HWB will appoint the Lead Member for Health and Social Care at the City 

Council and the Chief Clinical Officer of the CCG as joint chairs of the HWB, with 
chairmanship alternating between the two on an annual basis. The other joint-chair 
shall act as vice chair during that year. 

3.2 In the event that neither Chair nor Vice chair are present but the meeting is quorate, 
the voting members present at the meeting shall choose a chair for that meeting from 
amongst their number who has power to vote on 'part B items'. 
 

4. Quorum  

4.1 It is important that sufficient members are present at all meetings so that decisions 
can be made and business transacted. The quorum for the Board will comprise of 
four voting members and must include at least one voting Member from the City 
Council and one voting member of the CCG. If a meeting has fewer members than 

                                            
1
 The Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013 

No.218 regulation 6 

Page 14



 

7 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

this figure it will be deemed inquorate - matters may be discussed but no decisions 
taken. 

 
5. Substitutes 
5.1 Nominating groups may appoint a named substitute member for each position.  

Substitute members will have full voting rights when taking the place of the ordinary 
member for whom they are designated substitute.  

 
6. Appointments  
6.1 In line with the Health and Social Care Act, before appointing another person to be a 

member of the Board (other than those that are statutorily obliged to be a member) 
the local authority must first consult the Health and Wellbeing Board. Nominations by 
the local authority must be in accordance with the Act. 

 
 
7. Decisions and Voting  
7.1 The HWB will be accountable for its actions to its individual member organisations 

and representatives will be accountable through their own organisation’s decision 
making processes for the decisions they make. 

7.2 It is expected that decisions will be reached by consensus, however, if a vote is 
required any matter will be decided by a simple majority of those members voting and 
present in the room at the time the motion is put. This will be by a show of hands, or if 
no dissent, by the affirmation of the meeting. If there are equal votes for and against, 
the Chair will have a second or casting vote. There will be no restriction on how the 
Chair chooses to exercise a casting vote. 

7.3 Decisions within the terms of reference will be taken at meetings and will not normally 
be subject to ratification or a formal decision process by partner organisations. 
However, where decisions are not covered by the HWB's statutory functions and 
power or within the delegated authority of the Board members, these will be subject 
to ratification by constituent bodies.  

7.4 Decisions within the current terms of reference will be deemed 'part A items'. In the 
event that the city council or the CCG delegate additional decisions to the HWB, it will 
be for the delegating authority to determine whether these are deemed 'part B items' 
with reserved voting rights as set out above. 

 
8. Status of Reports 

8.1 Meetings of the Board shall be open to the press and public and the agenda, reports 
and minutes will be available for inspection at Portsmouth City Council’s offices and 
on the City Council’s website at least five working days in advance of each meeting.  
This excludes items of business containing confidential information or information 
that is exempt from publication in accordance with Part 5A and Schedule 12A to the 
Local Government Act 1972 as amended. 

 
9. Members’ Conduct 

9.1 With the exception of those referred to at 9.2 below, the Councillors Code of Conduct 
of Portsmouth City Council will apply to all Board members, and such members 
should note in particular the obligations relating to Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

Page 15



 

8 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

(so described within the Councillors Code of Conduct), which they must declare upon 
appointment to the committee to the Monitoring Officer (unless they have made such 
a declaration).  

9.2 The Code of Conduct for Employees of Portsmouth City Council will apply to all 
Board members who are officers of Portsmouth City Council. 

9.3 The Monitoring Officer of Portsmouth City Council shall provide Board members with 
guidance in relation to these provisions  

 
10. Review 
10.1 This constitution and any conflicts of interest will be reviewed as and when required 

but at least annually. 
 

Page 16



 

 4 main risk factors 4 main causes of avoidable early  

deaths 
Contribution to reduction in life expectancy 

and health inequalities 

 

 

 

Long term Condition Pathways, Co-morbidity 

Mental health and wellbeing 

Relationship problems 

& family breakdown 
Domestic violence 

Positive Family Futures 

Troubled Families Offender health Safeguarding 

Marmot Principles, Fairer Society, Healthy Lives 

Best start in life 
Education 

Parenting 

Employment, 

Skills, Training 
Tackling Poverty 

strategy 

Workplace 

health 

Older people 

Social isolation 

64% 

   

Lo
n

ge
r 

Tobacco 

Alcohol 

Poor diet 

Lack of physical activity 

Cancer 

Cardiovascular disease 

Respiratory disease 

Liver disease 

H
ea

lt
h

ie
r 

Primary prevention Early identification Self-care Primary care Community care Specialist care Inpatient care EOL care 

Sexual Health , Community Safety . Drugs and Alcohol. Learning disabilities. Health Protection / Public Protection  

Health inequalities 

Wider determinants of health 

Building social capital 

Sustainability Housing  Transport Planning Economy 

• Asset Based Community development, Rapid Participatory 

HNA 

• Sharing data / intelligence in localities 

• Developing Locality Profiles for JSNA 

 

• Agreeing priorities for action, Targeting areas of need  

• Multi-agency Locality working 

• Development of the Third Sector 

• Volunteer programme / Portsmouth Together 

Fa
ir

er
 

Cancer. CVD,  Stroke. Diabetes. COPD. Liver disease. Fragility, falls and fractures. Dementia Neurological 

Arts & Culture 

P
age 17

A
genda Item

 4



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
Agenda item:  

Title of meeting:  
 

Health and Wellbeing Board 

Date of meeting:  
 

25th February 2015 
 

Subject:  
 

Tackling Poverty Update -  
Needs Assessment and Strategy 
 

Report by:  
 

Kate Kennard, Tackling Poverty Co-ordinator 
 

Wards affected: 
 

All 

Key decision: 
 

No 

Full Council decision: No 
 

 
1. Purpose of report  
 

To update the Health and Wellbeing Board of the work of the Tackling Poverty 
Strategy, focusing on the development of the new needs assessment and 
strategy from 2015 onwards, and to seek feedback from the Board accordingly. 

 
2. Recommendations 
 
2.1 That the Health and Wellbeing Board considers any feedback it wishes to input 

into the needs assessment, and discusses this at the Health and Wellbeing 
Board meeting. 

 
2.2 That the needs assessment is then circulated for a final period to the Board after 

the meeting, to enable Board members to submit their final views. 
 
2.3 That the Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board be authorised to sign-off the 

final needs assessment on behalf of the board for publication.  
 
3. Background 
 
3.1 There is a statutory duty for all local authorities, under the Child Poverty Act 

2010, to publish a child poverty needs assessment for their area. Local 
Authorities are expected to work with key partners to try to alleviate poverty in 
their area. 

 
3.2 Portsmouth historically has undertaken a needs assessment not just for children 

and families in the city, but for the wider population too, believing that a wider 
whole-community approach is more effective when tackling deprivation. Taking 
this wider approach still meets the requirements of the Child Poverty Act, as the 
needs assessment contains a distinct strand around children and families. 

 

Page 19

Agenda Item 5



 

2 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

3.3 The last Tackling Poverty Needs Assessment for Portsmouth was conducted in 
2011, and so now requires a refresh. This refreshed needs assessment is 
attached in Appendix A. It is now requested that the Board consider this needs 
assessment and highlight either any gaps in data which have not already been 
highlighted in the needs assessment; or supply any additional data they hold 
which they believe is relevant. The Board is also welcome to give any wider 
feedback should it wish to. 

 
3.4 Before reading this, it should be stated that, as poverty crosses most service 

areas, this is a long document and as such is a reference tool related to 
demonstrated needs in the area. The Tackling Poverty Strategy will be the 
document which will detail how the work will be taken forward in light of the 
needs identified in the needs assessment, and will be written in the next few 
months. This will the key document going forward, which will pick up on the 
highest priority needs from the needs assessment and will detail the objectives 
(with underpinning work streams) required.  

 
3.5 The Tackling Poverty Strategy will summarise the most important findings from 

the needs assessment and will be a much shorter, easily readable document 
that will again be consulted upon with the relevant agencies. It will also include a 
summary of the consultation processes involved (which to date have included 
focus groups, surveys, relevant groups/Boards, and events for the public such 
as the Men's Health Event held at the Portsmouth Jami Mosque). 

 
3.6 However despite its length, the needs assessment is simply indexed at the front 

so that agencies can refer to their particular areas of expertise in order to assist 
with this feedback process. There is also an Executive Summary at the front 
which is the best starting point for reading the needs assessment, as this can 
then pinpoint particular areas that readers may wish to follow up on in the main 
document. (It should be noted that the relevant agencies have for the most part 
already been consulted on, and have been involved in, the writing of the 
different sections of the needs assessment). 

 
3.7 Once the needs assessment has been approved, it will be published on the 

Council's website in accordance with the requirements of the Child Poverty Act 
2010. The writing of the Strategy will then commence. This Strategy will be 
presented to the Health and Wellbeing Board when complete, for feedback and 
final approval.  

 
4. Reasons for recommendations 
   
4.1 There is a statutory requirement to publish a child poverty needs assessment 

and so there is a need for the Health and Wellbeing Board to review and 
approve this accordingly, given that Tackling Poverty is one of the key priorities 
of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2014-17. 

 
4.2 Approval of the needs assessment will also ensure the completion of the 

strategy which will drive forward this work in the city for the next 3 years. Work 
to tackle poverty in the city remains critical in the context of the economic 

Page 20



 

3 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

environment and in terms of the wider regeneration of the city, relating to people 
as well as place. 

 
5. Equality impact assessment (EIA) 
 

 Because the needs assessment only has recommendations for broad areas of 
work and not detailed changes to services, a Preliminary and Full EIA will be 
completed for the strategy that will be drafted as a result of this needs 
assessment. EIAs will be completed for individual strands of work within the 
strategy. 
 

 
6. Head of Legal’s comments 
 
 The Council has a duty to compile a local child poverty needs assessment, and 

has a duty to promote cooperation between itself and other partner authorities, 
aimed at reducing and mitigating the effects of child poverty. Partner authorities 
are obliged to cooperate in making arrangements, and the Council and partner 
bodies may pool funds, and staff, goods, services, and accommodation for this 
purpose.  

 
 
7. Head of Finance’s comments 
 

The Tackling Poverty Needs Assessment does not assume any additional City 
Council funding.  The Strategy that will be developed will clearly aim to improve 
quality of life for our residents. In addition, whilst it is difficult to quantify, there is 
no doubt that reducing poverty will bring financial benefits to the City Council 
and other public sector partners through reduced demand for services and an 
increase in residents' ability to pay for services, for example Adult Social Care. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
……………………………………………… 
Signed by:  
Janet Maxwell, Director of Public Health 
 
 
 
 

Page 21



 

4 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

Appendices: 
Appendix A - Portsmouth's Tackling Poverty Needs Assessment 2015 - 2018 
 
 
Background list of documents: Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
 
The following documents disclose facts or matters, which have been relied upon to a 
material extent by the author in preparing this report: 
 

Title of document Location 

  

  

 
 
The recommendation(s) set out above were approved/ approved as amended/ deferred/ 
rejected by ……………………………… on ……………………………… 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
……………………………………………… 
Signed by:  

Page 22



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tackling Poverty in Portsmouth 
– Needs Assessment Refresh 

2015 - 2018 
 

Page 23



[Type text] [Type text] [Type text] 
 

i 

Contents 

Contents ...................................................................................................................................... i 

Executive summary .................................................................................................................... 4 

Conclusions/Recommendations ............................................................................................ 5 

Needs Assessment - Summary of Needs ............................................................................ 6 

Introduction ............................................................................................................................. 21 

Aim of the Tackling Poverty Needs Assessment .................................................................. 21 

Why is reducing poverty important? ....................................................................................... 21 

Outcomes for children, families and adults ......................................................................... 22 

Costs to society .................................................................................................................... 23 

Legal responsibilities to tackle child poverty ....................................................................... 23 

Defining and measuring poverty ............................................................................................. 24 

A picture of Portsmouth .......................................................................................................... 28 

Who lives in Portsmouth? .................................................................................................... 28 

Portsmouth the place ........................................................................................................... 30 

Detailed research and analysis – children and families ........................................................... 32 

Portsmouth demographics ................................................................................................... 32 

Extent of child poverty in Portsmouth – how much and where? ........................................ 35 

Children and families most at risk from poverty ................................................................. 45 

Groups identified by HBAI data ........................................................................................ 45 

Children in need and/or at risk ......................................................................................... 48 

Young people who are not in Education, Employment or Training (known as NEETs) ... 48 

Children’s general wellbeing ................................................................................................ 52 

Children’s educational attainment and links with Free School Meals data ........................ 54 

Children’s Expectations and Aspirations .............................................................................. 61 

Childcare ............................................................................................................................... 64 

The ‘Heat or Eat’ Dilemma – Fuel and Food Poverty experienced by families .................... 66 

Detailed research and analysis – the Adult population ........................................................... 69 

Portsmouth demographics ................................................................................................... 70 

Extent of poverty for working age adults in Portsmouth – how much and where? ........... 73 

Adults most at risk from poverty ......................................................................................... 77 

Page 24



[Type text] [Type text] [Type text] 
 

ii 

Groups identified by HBAI data ........................................................................................ 77 

People with learning disabilities .......................................................................................... 82 

People with mental health issues ........................................................................................ 88 

People with alcohol and substance abuse issues ................................................................ 90 

Alcohol misuse .................................................................................................................. 90 

Substance misuse ............................................................................................................. 93 

Domestic Abuse ................................................................................................................ 94 

Detailed research and analysis - Older People (65+) ............................................................... 96 

Portsmouth demographics ................................................................................................... 97 

Extent of poverty for older people aged 65+ in Portsmouth – how much and where? ...... 99 

Older people most at risk from poverty ............................................................................ 104 

Groups identified by HBAI data ...................................................................................... 104 

Factors that have a strong relationship with poverty for all residents ................................. 107 

Welfare Reforms ................................................................................................................ 107 

Housing ............................................................................................................................... 112 

Food poverty ...................................................................................................................... 117 

Financial inclusion .............................................................................................................. 117 

Addressing the ‘Poverty Premium’ for people in financial hardship ............................. 118 

Knowledge of and access to financial products ............................................................. 119 

Debt ................................................................................................................................ 122 

Fuel Poverty .................................................................................................................... 131 

Digital Exclusion .............................................................................................................. 137 

Wider knowledge and understanding around money management ............................. 140 

Employment and worklessness .......................................................................................... 141 

(see also Low Pay and Underemployment sections) ......................................................... 141 

Income ................................................................................................................................ 145 

Benefits............................................................................................................................... 147 

Benefit take-up ................................................................................................................... 149 

Low pay .............................................................................................................................. 150 

Underemployment ............................................................................................................. 153 

The Living Wage ................................................................................................................. 154 

In work poverty .................................................................................................................. 158 

Page 25



[Type text] [Type text] [Type text] 
 

iii 

Adult Skills, Qualifications, Education and Training .............................................................. 159 

Literacy and Numeracy ...................................................................................................... 162 

Crime and anti-social behaviour ............................................................................................ 166 

Health and Wellbeing ............................................................................................................ 169 

Life Expectancy ................................................................................................................... 172 

Low Birth Weight ................................................................................................................ 174 

Obesity ............................................................................................................................... 175 

Alcohol  and Substance Misuse .......................................................................................... 178 

Mental illness ..................................................................................................................... 178 

Teenage Conception........................................................................................................... 178 

Learning Disabilities ........................................................................................................... 179 

Carers ................................................................................................................................. 179 

Wider learning about the needs of people in Portsmouth ................................................... 181 

Learning from Portsmouth's Local Welfare Assistance Scheme ........................................ 181 

Learning from customer focused reviews of services ........................................................ 183 

Consultation ....................................................................................................................... 186 

What next? ............................................................................................................................. 186 

 

Page 26



 

4 
 

Executive summary 

In 2011 a comprehensive needs assessment was carried out in relation to levels of poverty and 

deprivation in Portsmouth, exploring its nature and underlying causes. As a result of this needs 

assessment, a 3 year strategy aimed at tackling poverty in the city was implemented.  

 

Three years on, given some of the recent economic challenges in terms of experiencing a double-dip 

recession, a significant program of welfare reform and with cuts to public services, it is now timely to 

undertake a refresh of the original needs assessment.  

 

A report to the Council's Cabinet on the 4th December 2014 stated that most commentators expect 

there to be a steady and sustained economic recovery in the country, but with the pace of growth 

slowing, next year and into future years, and that the lack of real growth in wages (i.e. wage growth 

being outpaced by inflation) and geopolitical tensions are the main dangers to these forecasts. Low 

wages certainly feature as a risk for the city within this needs assessment; and so locally, it is important 

to try and address this at all levels, including through the education system and through engagement 

with the business community. 

 

In addition, looking forward, the Council's current forecasts which run to 2017/18 indicate an overall 

savings requirement of £37m (or £37.6m if a Council tax freeze is assumed for 2015/16) over the 

forthcoming 3 year period. This will mean that over the period of the austerity programme, funding 

from Government will have reduced by some 49%.1 This poses key challenges in terms of maintaining 

services that might help to alleviate or work preventatively around poverty in the city, as well as 

impacting on crisis services which alleviate the severest effects for those at the highest level of need. 

These impacts will therefore need to be considered as part of the wider strategy. 

 

This refreshed needs assessment attempts to build on the 2011 tackling poverty needs assessment by 

updating key areas of data and intelligence, in order to inform the tackling poverty work going forward. 

The needs assessment aims to be a reference tool only, presenting the data and the analysis alongside 

it. The tackling poverty strategy will then look at the key findings from this needs assessment and will 

make recommendations for the work going forward, drawing in knowledge of 'what works' with 

evidence around evaluated interventions that are known to 'narrow the gap' and break the cycle of 

deprivation in the longer term.  

 

 

 

                                                      
1
 Context of budget cuts: Portsmouth City Council Revenue Budget 2015/16 - 

Savings Proposals Report to Cabinet 4
th

 Dec 
http://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s5854/Revenue%20Budget%202015%2016%20report%20Appendix%20A.p
df 
 

Page 27

http://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s5854/Revenue%20Budget%202015%2016%20report%20Appendix%20A.pdf
http://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s5854/Revenue%20Budget%202015%2016%20report%20Appendix%20A.pdf


 

5 
 

Conclusions/Recommendations 

These recommendations are based on the summary of needs following this section, and the key actions 

required (which will be fully detailed in the Tackling Poverty Strategy going forward). 

 

In order to alleviate poverty in the city it is recommended that objectives in the strategy focus on 

 

Improving longer term outcomes for children in the city by: 

 closing the gap between free school meal and non-free school meal children 

 building a culture of high expectation for children across the city, including increasing the 

numbers of children who go on to University (where current numbers are some of the lowest in 

the country)  

 increasing literacy and numeracy rates in the city 

 supporting work around attracting good teachers to schools where free school meal children are 

under-performing, as evidence shows this can significantly narrow the gap 

 building on known evaluated interventions that work with families 

Addressing employment and low pay issues in the city by: 

 planning to ensure that people in the city have the skills they need for the jobs that will be 

available in the future 

 addressing low pay and career progression through increasing skills in the population and also 

working with employers to identify clearer progression paths 

 ensuring that getting people into suitable employment is seen as a critical need by services 

working with residents in the community, including awareness around the benefits of 'dual 

earner' families 

 ensuring that vulnerable groups are targeted within this work, for example people with learning 

disabilities who have low rates of employment in the city, carers who struggle to access 

employment with the barriers they face, and black and minority ethnic communities who face 

their own specific barriers, addressing areas such as flexibility of childcare and employment 

practices 

 encouraging organisations in the city to adopt the living wage, building on the Council's recent 

move in this area, in order to address the low pay issue that exists in the city 

 

Addressing financial exclusion and debt in the city by: 

 exploring of collective purchasing arrangements such as Switch Hampshire to reduce the price of 

essentials (e.g. fuel) 

 having a targeted approach to raising levels of budgeting and money management skills in the 

city, partly through better training of frontline staff and partly through public education 

 doing targeted work around income maximisation, for example with older people in the city 

Page 28



 

6 
 

 getting more people online, in order to ensure they are able to access the employment 

opportunities they need, as well as being able to access the welfare benefits they need when 

they require a safety net 

 doing targeted work with specific groups in the city that will be more vulnerable to poverty, for 

example people with disabilities and people from black and ethnic minority communities, in 

order to level the playing field 

 

Ensuring crisis provision in the city uses these points of crisis to solve problems longer term by: 

 ensuring crisis provision is available for those at the highest level of need, such as people coming 

out of care, hostels or institutions, when they require help in setting up their homes in the 

community 

 working with crisis services to use this point of crisis to address deeper underlying causes and 

solve problems longer term, skilling up the wider workforce to work more holistically with 

people 

 ensuring that all work is based on evidenced need and a sound understanding of what matters to 

customers when using services in the city 

 

Influencing wider policies and decision-makers in order to alleviate poverty by:  

 influencing services such as housing planning and development in the city, to try and ensure the 

right affordable housing options for people 

 working strategically to create positive environments in the city, for example exploring how 

planning and/or licensing laws can be used to control the numbers and locations of gambling and 

high cost credit organisations in the city 

 influencing wider decisions around services in light of local authority cuts, highlighting the 

impacts for people in poverty in the city 

 ensuring that the tackling poverty work integrates with public health objectives around poverty 

and health inequalities 

Needs Assessment - Summary of Needs 
 

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES  

 

Extent of child poverty - how much and where 

22.3% of all children aged 0-19 in 2012 were deemed as living in poverty in Portsmouth 
under the Children in Low Income Households Measure (before housing costs). This is above 
both the England and South East averages of 18.6% and 13.6%. 

Child poverty rises sharply in some parts of the city - e.g. in Charles Dickens ward it is 44.2%.  

Child poverty levels have dropped in the city since the last needs assessment in 2011, as 
they have nationally, however some of this is attributable to a fall in incomes across the 
nation as a whole and this being a relative rather than absolute measure. 

Page 29



 

7 
 

Nearly half of all families claiming housing benefit or council tax support in the city are 
working families.  

 

Children and families most at risk from poverty 

National Households Below Average Income data highlights workless families, lone parent 

families not working, families with 3 or more children, families where someone is disabled 

and black and minority ethnic communities as more vulnerable to poverty. 

Others at risk may include families in in-work poverty, self-employed households, and young 
people not in education, employment or training (known as NEETs). Work is required to 
target at risk groups. 

Intelligence Gap: It is unknown as to whether there is an association between children 'in 
need' or 'at risk' in the city and poverty (although anecdotally it is believed this is the case). 

 

Children's educational attainment and links with free school meals data 

Only half (50.8%) of Portsmouth children got the GCSE 'Gold Standard' in 2013/2014 (5 A*-C 

including English and Maths).  

Whilst a direct comparison cannot be made with the previous year, Portsmouth has moved 

nearer to the England average. Whilst this improvement is welcome, it is recognised that 

there is still a long way to go to reach satisfactory standards for children in Portsmouth. 

There is a significant gap (as there is nationally) between pupils in receipt of free school 

meals (FSMs) in Portsmouth and those who are not, in terms of educational attainment.  

In 2013 only 59% of 19 year olds achieved Level 2 who were in receipt of free school meals 

at 15, compared to 71% for England as a whole. 

Literacy levels for free school meal children, whilst improving, are still significantly below 

those of non-free school meal children in the city (see adult literacy section). 

 

Children's expectations and aspirations 

At present no evidence has been found to suggest children in Portsmouth have low 

aspirations. However some research suggests that there can be lower expectations for 

children from poor socio-economic backgrounds. 

The parliamentary constituency of Portsmouth North in 2013 had the third lowest 
participation rates in the country with only 22% of young people going straight on to 
university (compared with 2/3rds of 18 year olds in Wimbledon).  

It cannot be assumed that schools will do worse when they are in deprived areas - some 

schools in poor areas in the country have achieved good results for children. 

One of the key steps to improving children's life chances includes building a high 
expectations, inclusive culture. Raising children's belief and expectation in themselves can 
be achieved in a number of ways, for example through use of growth mindsets theory. 

 

Childcare 

In general, Portsmouth as a city has a reasonable amount of childcare provision. Quality of 

provision is generally good. 

Page 30



 

8 
 

Portsmouth is in the top 37% of Local Authorities for % take-up of free early education (2yr 

olds) at November 2014 (in-line with national self-assessment results). 

However Portsmouth does not perform so well in the priority geographical areas of 

Paulsgrove, Stamshaw, Buckland and Fratton, Baffins and Eastney and Craneswater, and 

projects have been developed to address these challenges. 

 

The ‘Heat or Eat’ Dilemma – Fuel and Food Poverty experienced by families 

Foodbank usage has dramatically increased in the last few years in Portsmouth. For 
example, the Trussell Trust Foodbank saw demand double between 2011 and 2013, and 
reports a higher prevalence of working families asking for help. 

The single biggest cause for referral to foodbanks in the city appears to be benefit delays, 

suspensions or sanctions. 

Work with Foodbanks can involve exploring the underlying causes of people’s problems in 
order to try and find longer term solutions. Collective purchasing of food and fuel in the city 
should also be explored. 

 

WORKING AGE ADULTS 
 

Extent of poverty for working age adults in Portsmouth – how much and where? 

National Households Below Average Income (HBAI) data shows that there has been little 
change in the percentage of working age adults in low-income households in 2012/13. 15 
per cent of working-age adults were in relative low income. 

Unfortunately only very limited up-to-date local data is available for the adult population. 
Housing Benefit (HB) and Council Tax Support (CTS) records show that of the 22,504 working 
age households claiming either HB or CTS in Portsmouth, 32% were working households. 
40.59% of workless households claiming HB/CTS are located in Charles Dickens, Nelson and 
Fratton wards (the most deprived wards). 

20.15% of households claiming HB/CTS had at least one adult with a long-term illness or 
disability, and 21.25% of households claiming HB/CTS had a family member with a disability. 

 

Adults most at risk of poverty 

National Households Below Average Income data highlights single working age adults, 
workless households, adults with no reported educational qualification, adults living in a 
household with a head from an ethnic minority, younger adults (especially those with 
children) and adults in households with at least one disabled member as more vulnerable to 
poverty. 

 

People with learning disabilities 

It is unknown as to how many people in Portsmouth have a learning disability overall. This is 

partly due to the partly 'hidden' nature of the learning disabilities population. Some GP and 

Office for National Statistics data is available but these figures are likely to be under-

estimates. Identifying hidden carers is a need going forward. 

Where the carer’s age is known, 60% of people with a learning disability receive care from 

Page 31



 

9 
 

someone who is aged 55+ years.  

In Portsmouth, 69% of adults aged 18+ years with a learning disability known to Adult Social 

Care were in settled accommodation, and only 9% were in employment, highlighting the 

need for both settled accommodation and employment for this group.  

National data from 2012 suggests that, alongside care/treatment, and housing, financial 

issues were also significant to people. 

Intelligence Gap: Further analysis and consultation is required to understand how people 

with learning disabilities in the city are impacted upon by economic deprivation. 

 

People with mental health issues 

In 2012/13, in total, Adult Social Care provided services in the community for mental health 
problems to 753 adults aged 18+ years, with the highest crude rates (where calculable) in 
two of the most deprived wards in the city, Charles Dickens and Fratton. 

Nationally one in four people with a mental health problem is in debt, and one in two 
people in debt have a mental health problem.  

Portsmouth has significantly higher rates of risk factors for mental ill health, such as % of 16-
18 year olds not in employment, education or training. 

People with mental health problems are at increased risk of social exclusion so national 

priorities suggest improving access to stable accommodation and paid employment. 

 

People with alcohol issues 

People may be more likely to use alcohol or other substances in times of stress in their lives; 

and financial stress can contribute to this. Funding an addiction can also reduce household 

income and have an impact on employment. 

Portsmouth has been above both the South East and England averages for alcohol-related 

hospital admissions for a number of years. However as of 2012/13 Portsmouth is now below 

the England average. 

Alcohol-specific hospital admissions were significantly higher than the City rate for people 

from some of the most deprived wards in the city. There is a similar association between the 

most deprived wards and alcohol-related admissions. 

 

People with substance abuse issues 

There is a 24.9% increase on the 2010/11 rate for the number of opiate and crack cocaine 

users (OCU's) in Portsmouth, which is in comparison to reductions in the rate both 

nationally (3.1%) and in the south east (1.9%). 

In contrast to the national picture where it has risen, findings from the Children's Society 
Survey 2013/14 indicate that drug use amongst school age children in Portsmouth has 
remained broadly the same. 

National studies have shown that three quarters of drug service users had mental health 

problems (mostly affective disorders and anxiety disorders).  

 

Domestic abuse 

Page 32



 

10 
 

Domestic abuse remains a significant issue in Portsmouth, and can have a detrimental 

impact on employment, as well as housing, with domestic abuse being a commonly quoted 

reason for homelessness in women.  

The impact of domestic abuse on very young children is often under estimated and the 
impact on school age children could affect their ability to achieve, thereby potentially 
affecting their education and employment in the longer term. 

Financial dependency and/or hardship can prevent people from leaving abusive 
relationships. The relationship between poverty and domestic abuse requires further 
exploration in the city.  

There is currently a gap in the city where, if a person does not qualify for public funds (e.g. 
where their immigration application is not successful), they can only access the refuge if 
they can find their costs from elsewhere (e.g. a voluntary organisation).  

 

OLDER PEOPLE 

 

Extent of poverty for older people - how much and where 

National Households Below Average Income (HBAI) data in 2012/13 showed that poverty 
had fallen again for pensioners and was now at an all-time low, with 13% living in low-
income households, compared to 21% of working age adults and 27% of children.  

However there are still a significant number of older people in the city who fall underneath 
the relative and absolute poverty lines, or who may not meet the definition but are 
struggling financially (e.g. 'asset rich/cash poor'). 

Only very limited data is available for the older population at a local level. The old Indices of 
Multiple Deprivation (2010) data showed that 37.7% of all older people living in the Charles 
Dickens ward were living in poverty, followed by Nelson (24.5%) and Paulsgrove (24.3%). 
Drayton and Farlington had the least, with 5.6%. 

About a quarter of older people in Portsmouth were on pension credit in 2013 - this has 
declined gradually over the last few years. Work is required to ensure older people are 
claiming all of the benefits they are entitled to. 

 

Older people most at risk of poverty 

National Households Below Average Income data highlights single older people who live 
alone, Living in families with disabled members not in receipt of disability benefits, Living in 
a household with a head from an ethnic minority as more vulnerable to poverty. However 
some older people might not technically meet this definition of poverty and yet be 'asset 
rich, cash poor' and thus in financial hardship 

 

FACTORS THAT HAVE A STRONG RELATIONSHIP WITH POVERTY FOR ALL RESIDENTS 

Welfare Reforms 

The ongoing programme of welfare reforms has had a significant impact on working age 
households nationally. In Portsmouth, 12.5% of households have been affected by the key 
Housing Benefit reforms, losing an average of £976 per year, above the national average 
(excluding London).  

Page 33



 

11 
 

The impact of welfare reforms has varied between households.  44% of PCC tenants subject 
to the size criteria reduction in Housing Benefit have maintained their full rental payments, 
while 29% are in arrears of more than £200. 

The estimated combined adverse impact on households in Portsmouth of the changes from 
Incapacity Benefit to Employment and Support Allowance and from Disability Living 
Allowance to Personal Independence Payments is £18m per year. These changes have 
created significant additional demand on advice services in the city. 

Universal Credit is being rolled out nationally for new, single jobseekers from February 2015, 
but may not be implemented in Portsmouth in 2015. 

Reductions in annual up-ratings to means-tested working age benefits have reduced income 
in Portsmouth by an estimated £12m per year.  

 

Housing 

In recent years there has been a significant drop in owner occupation, and rise in private 
sector renting in Portsmouth. New households in the most deprived wards in Portsmouth 
are more likely to be living in the private rented sector than in social housing.  

Some low income households renting in the private sector have higher rents, worse housing 
conditions, unreliable maintenance, and low security of tenure, compared to the social 
rented sector. 

27.0% of heads of household in the social rented sector, and 13.7% in the private rented 
sector are among the working age groups most affected by welfare reform and at risk of 
poverty. 

64.5% of Local Housing Allowance claims are for properties where the rent exceeds the 
maximum Housing Benefit entitlement for the occupying household, with the average top 
up being £18.04 per week, reducing the income available to meet those households' needs. 

Between 2009 and 2014, 34.1% of households receiving statutory homelessness assistance 
from Housing Options were in need due to losing private rented sector housing, and the 
growth of the private rented sector is likely to increase this demand. 

Portsmouth has significant levels of homes that are overcrowded, and homes that do not 
have central heating. 

 

Financial inclusion - addressing the ‘poverty premium’ for people in financial hardship 

Poor families pay more for goods because they are poor. Save the Children’s ‘poverty 
premium’ shows that the additional cost of services and goods for poorer families has risen 
from £1,280 in 2010 to £1,639 a year in 2014 (e.g. through paying more for gas and electric, 
insurance, credit etc). 

There is a need therefore to counteract the effects of the poverty premium for people 
households in the city, both through education and also through provision of access to 
affordable goods and services (such as affordable credit and home contents insurance). 

 

Financial inclusion - knowledge of and access to financial products 

Intelligence Gap: The Council currently has no access to detailed local data on how many 

residents have the necessary financial products such as bank accounts and insurance. 

However modelled data provides a very rough estimate and indicates that the wards with 

the highest proportion of adult residents with no current account are Charles Dickens, 

Page 34



 

12 
 

Paulsgrove and Nelson.  This equates to 6.2% of the adult population. 

Targeted work is therefore required to increase the uptake of relevant financial products, 

such as the new 'charge free' basic bank accounts being developed by 9 high street banks, 

and also including affordable insurance. 

 

Financial inclusion - debt 

Debt has an association with mental health. One in four people with a mental health 
problem is in debt, and one in two people in debt have a mental health problem.  

A sample by Portsmouth's Credit Union in 2014 showed that Brighthouse Pay Weekly Store 
(APR approx. 67% online) was the most prevalent of transactions, accounting for 20% of all 
payments out. Pay-day loan-type companies also featured significantly. 

Door step lending has also anecdotally been prevalent in poor communities in Portsmouth 
for a number of years. APR rates tend to range from between 270% to 400%.  

High cost credit is causing levels of debt in the city through this use of expensive forms of 
credit. Public education and awareness-raising with frontline staff will continue to be 
required in order to address some of these issues. Further exploration is required in relation 
to any planning or licensing powers the Council may have to control or limit the numbers of 
organisations in the city who provide high cost credit. 

Lack of ongoing local welfare assistance provision for furniture and white goods for people 
in crisis is likely to escalate debt and use of high cost credit, as will a lack of affordable white 
goods and affordable credit for people on low incomes in the wider population. 

Nationally half of those in a recent StepChange survey had waited over a year between 
realising their debts were a problem and seeking help. Work on getting people to seek 
earlier is therefore a need. 

Intelligence Gap: There is little information or data at present around levels of problem 
gambling in the city which can result in debt. Again, planning and/or licensing powers held 
by the Council may be able to assist in some way with this. 

 

Fuel poverty 

Under the old 10% measure, 10.4% of households across all tenures in Portsmouth are 

deemed to be in fuel poverty, compared to 17% for the UK. Under the new Low Income 

High Cost (LIHC) measure, 10.7% of households in Portsmouth across all tenures are 

deemed to be in fuel poverty, compared to 10.4% for England.  

Research shows that policies that improve thermal efficiency of housing stock tend to be 

most cost-effective in alleviating fuel poverty.  

Whilst older people tend to be at highest risk of fuel poverty, children and families are the 

second most prevalent group to feature in terms of vulnerability.  

The main cause of cold related illness and death is circulatory diseases, including heart 

attacks and strokes, accounting for 40% of excess winter deaths nationally. Another 1/3rd of 

deaths are caused by respiratory illness. The cold is associated with higher Excess Winter 

Deaths (EWD) - also sometimes known as Excess Winter Mortality (EWM). 

Work to identify households who may be suffering from fuel poverty in order to offer 

advice, support and access to any relevant resources is therefore an important role for 

Page 35



 

13 
 

frontline staff, as is continued public education. 

 

Digital exclusion 

The Tinder Foundation found that 60% of those who do not use the internet have no 
qualifications, and 42% earn less than £12,500, so digital exclusion disproportionately 
affects those in poverty or at risk of poverty. 

The 2011 Skills for Life Survey in England identified that Central Southsea had almost twice 
the percentage of residents with high skills in email than Charles Dickens (the most deprived 
ward), and less than half the percentage of residents with low skills.   

In 2012 a Portsmouth Jobcentre Plus survey found that 17.5% would require assistance in 
order to use the internet, which has implications for the new Digital Jobcentres and 
forthcoming roll out of Universal Credit (when claims will be mostly made online). 

In 2012 Portsmouth City Council also conducted a survey of its customers. 30% did not have 
internet access, significantly above the national average in 2012 of 20%, with lower levels of 
access amongst older people. An ONS 2014 report found that in Portsmouth, between 17.8 
and 31.9% of adults had never used the internet, above the UK average of 12.3 to 12.9%. 

It is important therefore to understand the range of tasks people might be required to 
undertake online, and to develop a local digital inclusion strategy to meeting these needs. 

 

Wider knowledge and understanding around money management 

During the local consultation process people have overwhelmingly agreed that everyone 
struggles with budgeting in today's complex financial environment, and that improving 
budgeting skill levels in the city could make a real difference to people's incomes. 

Learning suggests that money classes per se are not well attended; however they can be 
successful if integrated into the sessions of an existing group that meets regularly. 

A successful method for working on budgeting appears to be through people's key workers. 
There is a need therefore to roll budgeting training out to frontline staff more widely. 

 

Employment and worklessness 

Nationally, unemployment fell by 300,000 between mid-2013 and mid-2014 and in general 
employment rates are or are at near historic highs.  

However nationally, wages have fallen and 1.4 million adults are in part time work because 
they can't find full time employment. In addition 3/5ths of people who moved from 
unemployment into work in the last year are paid below the Living Wage. 

In general, rates of unemployment in Portsmouth are slightly below the national average. In 
2013 6.9% of people in Portsmouth were unemployed compared to 7.5% nationally. 
However Portsmouth was higher than the South East average of 5.7%. 

As with levels of deprivation in the city, there are pockets of unemployment in the city that 
are significantly higher than the national average, for example in Charles Dickens ward. 

Whilst in work poverty is an issue, work remains an essential tool for raising confidence and 
for accessing better paid work in the longer term, so addressing unemployment is a key. 

 

Employment and ethnicity 

Significant differences can be seen nationally, and also in Portsmouth, between ethnic 
groups, by category of employment. Whilst 47.6% of Portsmouth's White British working 

Page 36



 

14 
 

population were employed in 4 key sectors, this compared to just 31.9% of Bangladeshi 
workers, 34.4% of Chinese workers, and 36.1% of Other White workers.   

Working in more marginal sectors is likely to reduce the number of opportunities available 
for career development and pay progression.   

Overcoming barriers that prevent workers from entering the largest sectors of employment 
in the city would reduce one cause of income inequality between ethnic groups in the city. 

 

Income 

In the 2011 Tackling Poverty Needs Assessment, resident earnings in Portsmouth had 
previously grown by 25% in 2009, to an average of £475 per week.  

However for 2013 they have dropped to £474 per week. This does not reflect any 
inflationary lift at all, unlike the national picture which has a small lift. This is a drop in real 
terms for Portsmouth residents. 

For the period of 2002 to 2009, average workplace wages were £59 a week higher than 
average resident wages. This has dropped to a difference of £35 in the 2013 data - i.e. 
average workplace wages are now only £35 higher than average resident wages.  

This difference may still suggest, as previously, that the higher paid jobs that clearly exist in 
Portsmouth aren’t filled by residents of the city, possibly due to relatively low skills levels 
amongst the city’s resident workforce. 

The difference between average resident male wages - at £504, compared to male 
workplace wages of £574 is marked. Men who live in the city are earning £70 less a week 
than the workplace average, suggesting they are not getting the higher paid jobs in the city. 

Resident women are earning significantly less than their male resident counterparts - £87 a 
week less, suggesting either inequalities in pay, or women generally tending to take lower 
paid work (or both). 

There is a need therefore to link with the city's Business Skills and Growth Plan to ensure 
Portsmouth residents are able to access the skills they need. 

 

Benefits 

In 2013, there were just under 22,500 housing and/or council tax support claimants or 11% 
of Portsmouth’s whole population. 

In Oct 2014, 2% of the city's working age population were in receipt of Job Seekers 
Allowance (JSA), which is a fall since the last needs assessment in March 2011 (at 3.5%).  

9.7% of Portsmouth’s working age population were benefit claimants, compared to 13.5% in 
August 2010, so again a significant drop. 

However numbers of benefit claimants can be impacted upon by changes to benefits 
systems and people 'falling through the net', as well as underemployment issues. 

 

Benefit take up 

Almost a third of eligible people in the UK in 2009-10 were not claiming the means-tested 
benefits they were entitled to. Agencies in Portsmouth help residents to claim millions of 
pounds worth of benefits every year that they are entitled to. 

Improving take up of these key benefits and income maximisation could help to alleviate 
poverty and particularly recommends additional spending being targeted at poor families. 
This could also lead to wider improved outcomes e.g. health, employment, wellbeing. 

Page 37



 

15 
 

 

Low pay 

As stated in the income section, Portsmouth is experiencing real issues around low pay and 
has experienced a worse than average drop in residents' wages. 

The prevalence of low pay has meant that in-work poverty has risen to an all-time high with 
2/3rds of people in the country who are in poverty, in 'in work' poverty.  

In the country overall, Portsmouth workers in the low quartile wage group (along with 
Bournemouth and London) have the lowest wages after housing costs. This reinforces the 
issue that low pay in Portsmouth is significantly worse than the national average. 

National research evidences that only 1 in 4 workers who were low paid in 2001 - and who 
remained in employment for most of the subsequent decade - went on to escape poverty 
and move on to higher pay, suggesting an issue with social mobility and progression. 

Barriers to progression included working part time, and/or other factors such as being older, 
a single parent or disabled. Workers in specific industries were also more vulnerable. 

There is a need therefore to work with employers in the city to remove some of these 
barriers and to create progression opportunities for all sectors for the community. 

 

Underemployment 

Nationally, the number of workers in temporary contracts is increasing. Temporary 
contracts are more prevalent in low paid employment sectors. 

An average of 3 million workers in the UK were under-employed in the UK in 2014, down 
2.3% from the peak level in 2013, but almost 50% higher than the pre-recession level in 
2007. Although total underemployment fell by 2.3% in 2014, the number of underemployed 
workers in self-employment increased by 2.2% 

Underemployment has increased faster in the South East than in some other regions in GB. 

 

The 'living wage' 

The Living Wage was created to give the minimum pay rate required for a worker to provide 
their family with the "essentials of life" and is currently calculated at £7.85 per hour at the 
national rate, and £9.15 at the London rate. It is higher than the minimum wage, which is 
£6.50. (As at Nov 2014).  

18 - 21 year olds, women and part time workers are disproportionately affected. 

Whilst data is not available for Portsmouth, the South East data shows that whilst 
proportionately, the South East is one of the areas with the lowest proportion of people not 
on the Living Wage, it has some of the highest numbers. 

There are a number of benefits to paying the Living Wage e.g. some evidence of improved 
sickness/retention rates, as well as wider benefits to the local economy. The strongest 
argument however may be the moral one, regarding ethical employment practice. 

There are challenges involved in being a Living Wage employer such as affordability for 
smaller businesses; and challenges in particular sectors for example in adult social care. 

The Council has recently committed to paying Council workers the Living Wage. Given the 
low resident wages in Portsmouth and elementary occupations accounting for around 11% 
of the workforce, further roll out of the Living Wage e.g. to schools staff and to wider 
businesses across the city, would help to reduce rates of in work poverty in the city. 

 

Page 38



 

16 
 

In work poverty 

Intelligence Gap: No data is available at present concerning in work poverty in the 
Portsmouth Local Authority area. 

Nationally almost half of all poverty is found in working families, and about 2/3rds of 
children in poverty live in households where someone works. People in work make up 
almost 2/5ths (39%) of all working age people in poverty (8 million) 

HBAI data suggests that households where both parents are in full time work are at least 
risk of poverty (4%) or where one parent is in full time work and one parent is in part time 
work (6%). 

There are significant barriers that potential second earners face in entering the workforce 
such as childcare and low wages. Research suggests that ‘lifting the number of dual-earner 
families is a crucial part of a revived anti-poverty strategy focused on jobs and wages’. 

 

Adult skills, qualifications, education and training 

Portsmouth is above the South East average for 'no or low adult qualifications' (Portsmouth 
is 20.95%, the South East is 18.34%). It is slightly below the England and GB averages of 
21.16% and 21.21%. (This has improved from 27% in the last needs assessment). 

Despite this improvement, one in five adults in Portsmouth has 'no or low' qualifications and 
this is a problem for the city as it increases the likelihood of low pay. 

Portsmouth (at 2.2%) is significantly lower than the South East (4.2%) and England (4.6%) 
averages for its population qualified at NVQ 4 or above, increasing the likelihood of low pay. 

The biggest demand going forward in the city will be for skilled, knowledge-based activities 
requiring graduate or equivalent level qualifications. It will be important therefore to raise 
educational attainment, and for colleges and higher education establishments to put on the 
right educational courses for young people, as well as addressing the soft skills required. 

 

Literacy 

Intelligence Gap: Very little up-to-date data is available around adult literacy in the city. 

Nationally, research has shown that a quarter of all children leaving primary education 
couldn't read well; and this increased to every 2 in 5 poorer children. There is a direct link 
between poverty and reading outcomes. 

45% of low-income, white British boys were not reading well by the age of 11 - and this is 
even more pronounced for those who had English as their first language. If a child does not 
learn to read well when young, they can turn away from education as they get older, get 
poor qualifications and struggle in the world of work.  

Whilst there has been some improvement between 2013 and 2014, there is still a significant 
gap in 2014 with only 63% of Free School Meal (FSM) children achieving Level 4B+ reading at 
Key Stage 2 (11 years) compared to 76% of all children. 

Low levels of literacy for children in the city are likely to lead to lead to low levels of literacy 
for adults, with a knock on effect on job opportunities, unemployment and levels of pay. 

 

Numeracy 

Having good numeracy skills has a direct relationship with poverty not only in terms of  
having the skills required for employment, but also for effective money management. 

Fewer than one in four (23%) of Portsmouth's working age population are working at Level 2 

Page 39



 

17 
 

or above in numeracy (roughly equivalent to A* - C GCSE), while more than half (55%) are 
literate to this level.  Although levels of numeracy in Portsmouth are a little higher than the 
England average of 22%, they are below the South East average of 28%. 

Studies suggest that men who have left school at 16 with low numeracy are at greater risk 
of depression and were more likely to have been suspended from school, or arrested and 
cautioned by the police. Outcomes for women who left school at 16 with low numeracy are 
even worse, being less likely to be in full-time work and subject to other poorer outcomes. 

Addressing literacy and numeracy levels within the city is therefore key in terms of breaking 
the cycle of deprivation longer term. 

 

Crime and anti-social behaviour 

Although overall crime is reducing, Portsmouth's rate is still slightly higher in comparison to 
other similar areas (79.9 per 1,000). 

In terms of where anti-social behaviour is most prevalent in the city, Charles Dickens has a 
much higher rate than the other wards (124.1 per 1,000) - the average for the city is 44.2 
per 1,000. The other areas with a high rate are: St Thomas (73.2), Nelson (59.1) and St Jude 
(58.2). These correlate with some of the most deprived wards in the city. 

There is an association between crime and poverty. Young offenders in the most part come 
from the more deprived parts of the city. Charles Dickens has highest rate of young 
offenders followed by St Thomas and Paulsgrove. 

There may also be links between crime and low skills and education; and given that poor 
children in Portsmouth schools are falling far behind their peers, again this would suggest a 
relationship. 

Research and anecdotal evidence suggests that many of the most vulnerable individuals 
suffer compound issues, and services need to ensure they are taking a holistic and 
collaborative approach towards their clients, using onward referrals where appropriate.  

Intelligence Gap: The Safer Portsmouth Partnership acknowledges that further work is 
needed in the areas of reoffending, substance and alcohol misuse, and domestic abuse with 
wider support being provided to people in areas such as mental health. There is a need to 
explore the relationship with poverty (e.g. offenders' financial backgrounds) alongside this. 

 

Health and wellbeing 

People in Portsmouth in poorer wards die earlier than their more affluent counterparts, 
particularly men. In 2010/12, whilst male life expectancy at birth in Portsmouth was 78.2 
years, for males in Portsmouth's most deprived 10% of Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs), it 
was 72.7 years - 9.4 years shorter than males in the least deprived 10% of LSOAs.  

As a result, the city's Tackling Poverty Strategy is now one of the priorities identified as part 
of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, which states that growing up in poverty has a 
significantly negative impact on health and wellbeing outcomes for children and has the 
potential to expose children to more risk factors. 

Some of the common areas of work between the strategies are health inequalities linked to 
deprivation, employment/employability, skills and qualifications, educational attainment, 
healthy affordable eating (linked to food poverty and nutrition) and fuel poverty. 

The King's Fund recommends 9 key areas that can improve public health and reduce 
inequalities, some of which directly link to tackling poverty objectives, such as the best start 
in life, helping people to find good jobs and to stay in work, and warmer and safer homes. 

Page 40



 

18 
 

There is a strong need therefore to work together with Public Health around issues of health 
inequalities, in order to maximise resources and ensure a joined up approach. 

 

Life expectancy 

Life expectancy is used frequently as an indicator of the overall health of a population. 
There are some concerning differences in rates for people living in poor communities, 
compared to people living in more affluent areas. As stated earlier, People in Portsmouth in 
poorer wards die earlier than their more affluent counterparts, particularly men. 

The main broad causes of death contributing to the gap in life expectancy between the 20% 
most deprived and 20% least deprived in Portsmouth are circulatory diseases, cancers and 
respiratory disease. 

Some of these illnesses link to lifestyle behaviours - for example smoking and poor diet. 
Smoking tends to be more prevalent in poor communities. Being poor and having financial 
stresses might increase people's overall stress levels, making such behaviours more likely. 

Quality of education in the city may also be an issue - as well as wider factors such as media 
and advertising, numbers of fast food outlets in communities etc. 

Improving the health of people living in the most deprived areas of the city should also have 
a positive knock on effect on poverty rates in the city for example through increased 
employment and productivity. 

 

Low birth rate and obesity 

The percentage of low birth weight babies in the most deprived quintile is statistically 

significantly higher than the % of low birth weight babies in the least deprived quintile 

within Portsmouth. 

This suggests an association between multiple deprivation (including poverty) and low birth 

weight of babies. 

Reception year children in Portsmouth are statistically significantly higher 'excess weight' 
(overweight or obese) in the most deprived quintile compared to the least deprived (both 
IMD 2010 and child poverty quintiles). (Using the children in families quintiles, obesity is 
also significantly higher in the most deprived quintile). 

With Year 6, there is no statistical difference between the most deprived and least deprived 
quintiles for 'excess weight'; but obesity is statistically significantly higher in the most 
deprived quintile compared to the least deprived (both IMD 2010 and child poverty 
quintiles). 

It is not possible to be able to conclude the reasons as to why childhood obesity is higher for 
those children in the city who live in deprived areas, but areas for consideration may include 
affordability of nutritional food, cooking skills, education etc. This would be a possible area 
for research going forward. 

 

Teenage conception 

In 2010/12, Portsmouth’s conception rate in women aged under 16 years was 7.3 
conceptions per 1,000 women aged 13-15 years – significantly higher than the rate for the 
South East, higher but not significantly than the rate for England, and lower but not 
significantly than Southampton's rate. Compared to previous years, this is the lowest local 
rate since 1998/00. 

Page 41



 

19 
 

In 2010/12, Portsmouth’s conception rate in women aged under 18 years was 37.5 
conceptions per 1,000 women aged 15-17 years, again significantly higher than the rates for 
England and the South East region. However, the trend shows the Portsmouth rate 
continues to decrease since 2007/09.  

Young mothers face significant financial pressures when they raise children and so this is a 
positive trajectory. It will remain important to offer the right support to young mothers in 
the city, including good information and advice around training, employment and childcare. 

 

Carers 

Carers can be prone to financial stresses for a number of reasons including lack of access to 
employment opportunities, having to survive on welfare benefits and trying to manage 
finances on top of being a carer. 

Portsmouth's JSNA (August 2014)  reports that there has been an increase in the number of 
carers claiming benefits (about 45 additional claimants - mainly in working age carers).  

However there are thought to be many 'hidden carers' in Portsmouth and an increase in 
claimants may be down to more carers claiming rather than an increase in actual carers. 

In 2013 about 1,380 (110 more than in 2012) residents of working age claim Carer's 
Allowance. The highest number and rate of claimants in 2013 are in Paulsgrove. About 4390 
residents aged 65+ years claim Attendance Allowance (151.2 per 1,000 residents aged 65+ 
years). The highest rate of claimants is in Hilsea. 

The carers’ survey found that 41% of local carers were aged 65+ years. Local carers are 
mainly looking after one person – usually a spouse/partner (42%), or parent aged 65+ (35% - 
higher than the national level of 29%). 

13% were not in paid employment because of their caring responsibilities and 4% were in 
paid employment and did not feel supported by their employer. 24% of carers themselves 
had a long-standing illness. This highlights potential effects on their financial circumstances. 

One of the key issues raised by local carers in a survey in 2009 was that their caring role 
caused some financial problems to 30% of carers. Support for carers around money, 
finances, training and employment is therefore key. 

 

WIDER LEARNING ABOUT THE NEEDS OF PEOPLE IN PORTSMOUTH 

 

Learning from Portsmouth's Local Welfare Assistance Scheme (LWAS) 

Portsmouth's LWAS criteria centres around people who are in severe financial hardship and 
who are either have a (defined) crisis, or people who are either re-settling or living in the 
community, and who need furniture and/or white goods to reach a basic standard of living. 

697 applicants were granted awards in 2013/14, primarily for furniture or white goods, but 
also with some crisis provision (e.g. food, gas and electric). 

About 10% of awards were granted in relation to fleeing domestic abuse. 

40% of funding was spent on 'improving the living conditions' of vulnerable people already 
in their own homes - e.g. physical or mental health issues, facing exceptional pressures etc.   

Over 30% of funding was spent on resettlement issues, including people leaving hostels, 
hospital, institutions or prison, for furniture and white goods to set up home. 

Due to the government ceasing allocated funding, there will only be about a 1/5th of the 
previous funding available for provision for 2015/16. Leaving a gap around these high level 

Page 42



 

20 
 

needs could drive up costs across a range of public services (for example through increased 
demand at services such as mental health, temporary accommodation, and debt advice). 

 

Learning from customer focused reviews 

Portsmouth City Council has been engaged in using Systems Thinking methodology 
(Vanguard method) for a number of years in the city order to learn about and understand its 
customer's needs in a number of key services. 

This approach enables an understanding of services from the customer's perspective, and 
enabling services to be re-designed from this perspective, so that they are much more 
effective in meeting customers' needs. 

A common theme across interventions has centred around finding a central person who can 
navigate people through services, thus protecting them from the chaos of multiple service 
involvement, pulling services in when required. Understanding services from the 
perspective of people's real lived experiences is ultimately more likely to result in services 
that are effective in helping people to address the underlying causes of their problems. 

 

  

Page 43



 

21 
 

Introduction 

Aim of the Tackling Poverty Needs Assessment 

The aim of this assessment is to identify and understand levels of poverty and deprivation in 

Portsmouth, exploring its nature and underlying causes, and to use this evidence base to shape the new 

Tackling Poverty Strategy 2015-18. 

 

As a comprehensive needs assessment was carried out in 2011, we already have a significant evidence 

base upon which to draw; this needs assessment therefore builds upon, rather than seeks to replicate, 

the entirety of this previous analysis. Three years on, given some of the recent economic challenges in 

terms of a double-dip recession, a significant program of welfare reform and with cuts to public services, 

it is now timely to explore how these changes might shape our plans to tackle poverty going forward, 

along with any wider data and learning that we have gained on this journey. 

Why is reducing poverty important? 

In the recent Joseph Rowntree Report entitled 'Monitoring Poverty and Social Exclusion 2014', statistics 

show that 13 million people today in the UK are in poverty; and that half of all people in poverty live in a 

working family. Poverty amongst pensioners is at an all-time low, but poverty amongst working age 

adults without children is as high as it has ever been. In the last decade, the number of people in 

poverty in private rented housing has doubled. Unemployment fell by 300,000 between mid-2013 and 

mid-2014. But average wages are falling in relation to prices and 1.4 million are in part time work 

because they can't find full time employment2.  

 

So poverty remains a key issue across the country in terms of people being able to develop financial 

sustainability in their lives, and to ultimately achieve positive outcomes across wider areas of their lives 

such as health, education and employment. 

 

It appears that child poverty numbers are likely to increase. Using the relative low-income measure, the 

Institute for Fiscal Studies projects increases of 2.7 percentage points (ppts) or 400,000 children by 

2014–15, and 5.0ppts or 900,000 children by 2020–21. Using the absolute low-income measure, they 

project increases of 5.6ppts or 800,000 children by 2014–15 and 8.4ppts or 1.4 million children by 2020–

213.   

                                                      
2
 Joseph Rowntree Foundation: Monitoring Poverty and Social Exclusion 2014: 

http://www.jrf.org.uk/publications/monitoring-poverty-and-social-exclusion-2014# 
3
 Child and working-age poverty in Northern Ireland over the next decade: an update -  

 IFS Briefing Note BN144 Economic and Social Research Council Jan 14  
 

Page 44

http://www.jrf.org.uk/publications/monitoring-poverty-and-social-exclusion-2014


 

22 
 

Outcomes for children, families and adults  

In order to look at outcomes for adults in relation to poverty, the evidence base suggests what happens 

in childhood is critical to this. Child poverty is the strongest determinant of poor outcomes for children 

when they reach adult life. Children who grow up in poverty are four times as likely to become poor 

adults, becoming the parents of the next generation of children living in poverty4.  The children who 

suffer the worst outcomes are those who are stuck in poverty for longer – i.e. the longer children are in 

poverty the greater the risk is of them becoming poor adults5. 

 

Children in poor households tend to perform less well at school, as evidenced nationally by lower levels 

of educational attainment achieved by children on Free School Meals (FSMs) compared to their non FSM 

peers, impacting on future education, training and employment opportunities. Frank Field’s review in 

2010 found overwhelming evidence that children’s life chances are most heavily predicated on their 

development in the first five years of life, and the review set out a new multi-dimensional approach to 

poverty. Released at the same time, Graham Allen’s Review of Early Intervention supported these 

findings, identifying the need for specific policies and programmes to give children aged 0 – 3 the social 

and emotional bedrock they need to reach their true potential and older children help to become the 

good parents of tomorrow. 

 

There is also a strong correlation between health inequalities and poverty, with clear cut health 

differences at each stage of the life cycle, as evidenced by the Marmot Review in 2008. A later review 

chaired by Marmot in 2013 stated that, because there is a social gradient in health – i.e. health is 

progressively better the higher the socio-economic position of people and communities, it is important 

to design policies that act across the whole gradient, and to address the people at the bottom of the 

social gradient and the people who are most vulnerable. In other words, it is important to address the 

causes of the causes – ‘the conditions in which people are born, grow, live, work and age and inequities in power, 

money and resources that give rise to them’.
6
 

 

In summary the Save the Children diagram below illustrates well how all of the factors relating to child 

poverty inter-relate;  

                                                      
4
 Blanden, J. and Gibbons, S (2006) 

5
 ‘An evidence review of the drivers of child poverty for families in poverty now and for poor children growing up to be poor 

adults’, HM Government (2014) 
6
 ‘Review of Social Determinants and the Health Divide in the WHO European Region – Executive Summary’,  World Health 

Organisation (2013) 

Page 45



 

23 
 

 
Costs to society 
 
In addition to the obvious human costs, poverty costs society financially in a number of different ways. 

For example, it leads to a higher welfare benefits bill; it increases costs on public services (e.g. the costs 

of poor health on the NHS and other key public services); and it leads to lower productivity by the adult 

workforce. It was estimated in 2013 that, nationally, child poverty cost £29bn a year; with an estimate 

for Portsmouth of £121m 7. There is a clear financial case therefore for seeking to reduce child poverty 

in order to maximise resources within a difficult economic climate.  

Legal responsibilities to tackle child poverty 

The Child Poverty Act 2010 placed a statutory duty on all top tier local authorities to publish a child 

poverty needs assessment, and to put in place arrangements to work with named partners to reduce 

and mitigate the effects of child poverty in their areas through a joint child poverty strategy. The act 

enshrined in law the Government’s commitment to eradicating child poverty by 2020, with four targets 

around relative low income, combined low income and material deprivation, absolute low income and 

persistent poverty - as defined in the next section. A national Child Poverty Strategy was published and a 

Child Poverty Commission established. A new refreshed national child poverty strategy was published in 

June 2014.  

 

                                                      
7
 ‘An estimate of the cost of child poverty in 2013’, Donald Hirsch, Centre for Research in Social Policy, Loughborough 

University (2013). 

Page 46



 

24 
 

It is therefore timely that this refreshed needs assessment is undertaken, not just to meet the statutory 

requirements of the Child Poverty Act, but also to reflect on the changing economic environment over 

the past 3 years, in order to ensure robust actions in relation to tackling poverty going forward. 

Defining and measuring poverty 

Background – the complexities of measuring ‘poverty’ 

 

The most commonly used measure across Europe, which is an income-based measure, is known as the 

‘relative poverty’ measure. This essentially measures those who are considerably worse off than the 

majority of the population; i.e. a level of deprivation heavily out of line with the general living standards 

enjoyed by the majority of the population. Each household’s income, adjusted for family size, is 

compared to median income (the median income is the ‘middle income’ – half of people have more 

than the median, and half have less). As middle incomes move up and down, so too does the 60% 

threshold. Those with less than 60% of median income are classified as poor. This is the agreed 

international measure used throughout the European Union. 

 

The Child Poverty Act 2010 cited previously placed a duty on the Secretary of State to ensure that 

targets were met in relation to the UK by 2020, including relative poverty, as follows: 

 

 Relative low income - as defined above. The target for this was that less than 10% of children 

who live in qualifying households, live in households that fall within the relevant income group 

 Combined low income and material deprivation - The target for this was that less than 5% of 

children who live in households which fall within the relevant low income group, and experience 

material deprivation fall within this group. Material deprivation is based on quantitative research 

on items which are believed to be the necessities of life (material goods, activities and access to 

services) 

 Absolute low income - The target for this was that less than 5% of children who live in qualifying 

households live in households should fall within the relevant income group. Absolute low income 

denotes a poverty level that does not change over time, in terms of the living standard that it 

refers to - i.e. it stays the same even when communities become more prosperous. It represents 

how much it would cost to buy a certain basic level of goods and services and only rises with 

inflation.  

 Persistent poverty denotes a poverty level over a number of years - i.e. over time, and is 

measured through surveys. The target for this was set against the percentage of children who 

live in qualifying households during the survey years which relate to the target year who have 

lived in households that fell within the relevant income group in at least 3 of the survey years 

 

Relative poverty is the most commonly used indicator but there is much debate as to whether an 

income measure alone is sufficient. Much work has been completed over the years to find the perfect 

definition and measure of ‘poverty’. A recent Government review of child poverty measures in this 

country explored a new multi-dimensional measure of poverty, to try and capture some of the wider 

Page 47



 

25 
 

aspects of poverty rather than being just income-based.  However this work has seemingly stalled after 

the consultation highlighted some key flaws with the new measure, indicating the complexities of this 

work. The introduction of Universal Credit, a single streamlined payment for means-tested benefits has 

added some additional uncertainty over what data may or may not be available and how poverty may 

therefore be measured going forward. However the work to date suggests that no simple definition or 

measure can capture the complexities, or the real life, day-to-day experiences, of people living in 

poverty. This perhaps explains why the relative poverty measure has remained the most commonly 

used measure for a number of years, in the absence of anything more suitable. 

 

Official UK measure 

 

The measure currently used by government is based upon the concept of relative poverty described 

above, and data around this is obtained from the annual Households Below Average Income Survey. The 

survey collates information on the standard of living of the household population in the UK, focusing on 

the lower part of income distribution, as determined by disposable income and changes in income 

patterns over time. The HBAI reports concentrate on those with household incomes below 60% of 

median income.  

 

The percentage of individuals in the UK in relative low income in 2012/13, before housing costs, was 

15%8. 

 

One of the difficulties of this measure is that when incomes across the nation fall as a whole, less people 

will be officially categorised as 'in poverty' and yet their circumstances might not have changed at all, 

because it is a relative measure, not absolute. For example, the low income threshold which is 60% of 

the median income fell from £218 in 2011 to £204 in 2012 in nominal terms). 

 

The percentage of children in the UK in relative low income in 2012/13, before housing costs, was 17%9. 

 

Another commonly used measure of deprivation is the Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD). The 

indices provide a relative measure of deprivation at a small area level across England. Areas are ranked 

from least deprived to most deprived on seven different dimensions of deprivation and an overall 

composite measure of multiple deprivation. The domains for 2010 included; income deprivation, 

employment deprivation, health deprivation and disability, education deprivation, crime deprivation, 

barriers to housing and services deprivation, and living environment deprivation. So each domain 

represents a specific form of deprivation experienced by people and each can be measured individually 

using a number of indicators. (For the 2010 IMD, most of the indicators used in the statistics are from 

2008.)  

                                                      
8
 Latest HBAI data released July 2014 

99 The proportion of children living in families in receipt of out of work (means-tested) benefits or in receipt of tax credits where their 

reported income is less than 60% of median income (before housing costs). 

 

Page 48



 

26 
 

 

In addition two supplementary indices measure income deprivation amongst children – the Income 

Deprivation Affecting Children Index (IDACI) – and older people – the Income Deprivation Affecting 

Older People Index (IDAOPI). However as stated above, most of the data underlying the most recent 

2010 Indices is for the year 2008, hence this data is of limited use now (particularly as it would not 

reflect most of the economic downturn, or the welfare reforms program). The updated indices are not 

due to be published until summer 2015.  

 

Child poverty measures are also available under a ‘basket of indicators’ as part of the national Child 

Poverty Strategy from 2010 (currently being updated); including persistent poverty, absolute poverty, 

severe poverty and material deprivation – however data on these is not available at a local level and so 

are of limited use from a local perspective.  

 

Local measure – the Children in Low Income Households Local Measure 

 

Unfortunately the data provided through the HBAI Survey at a national and regional level is not 

sufficiently robust at a local authority level and cannot provide what is required in terms of ward level 

data and lower (e.g. down to Lower Super Output Areas). This is a disadvantage as, in order to tackle 

poverty effectively in local areas, this lower level data is required. 

 

Instead a combined proxy measure is used which counts the number of children in households claiming 

out of work benefits and the number of children in households claiming working tax credits where 

income is below the 60% median income. 

 

This was previously known more widely as the ‘the revised local child poverty measure’ or National 

Indicator 116; but it has recently been re-named the ‘children in low income families local measure’. The 

most recent proxy data was extracted on the 31st Aug 2011, and showed that 24.4% of all children in 

Portsmouth were living in poverty.  

 

Indirect measures 

 

Whilst not direct measures, there are also a range of indicators that can tell a story locally around 

poverty and its impacts. For example, with the known link between poverty and lower educational 

attainment, measures such as numbers of children getting the ‘gold standard’ GCSE results (i.e. 5 A-C 

grade GCSE’s including English and Maths) should be monitored. Other indirect measures can include % 

of people in fuel poverty, demand at local food banks, levels of homelessness, rates of unemployment 

etc. 

 
What relative poverty looks like financially per week 

 

Page 49



 

27 
 

It is helpful to know in monetary terms what the relative poverty line looks like in terms of actual 

income for households. The table below sets out where this line lies, with examples from different types 

of households; (add source) 

 

 
 

What becomes clear by looking at this table is that if, for example, you are a lone parent with one young 

child, and are working full time on the minimum wage, you would still need to draw down benefits in 

order to lift yourself above the relative poverty line. With 2/3rds of people in this country in in-work 

poverty, this illustrates the problems posed by low wages, unstable employment and high living costs.  

 

The data that is available under child poverty measures may be presented differently due to the 

changing benefits system (particularly the implementation of Universal Credit). This may mean that child 

poverty data will no longer be available in the same format at local authority level or lower (e.g. down to 

lower super output area, as it is at present). This will cause difficulties in terms of monitoring official 

poverty levels in the locality. 

 

A report published by the Joseph Rowntree Foundation has warned that the true number of people 

living in poverty is probably much higher than presently recorded, as current poverty measures do not 

account for the different impact the rising cost of basics has on poorer households. For example, 

between 2002/03 and 2013/14, households with incomes in the bottom fifth of the population have 

seen prices increase by 50%, while those in the top fifth have seen a more gentle increase of 43%. 

Researchers found that, energy costs for example take up around 8% of the budgets of the poorest fifth 

of households, but for the richest fifth of households just 4% of their budget goes towards energy. The 

price of energy has leapt by 67% between January 2008 and March this year. Food costs take up 20% of 

the budgets of the poorest fifth of households, but for the richest fifth this is 11%. Food costs have 

surged by 31% between January 2008 and March 201410. Some of this relates to the 'Poverty Premium' 

                                                      
10

 Joseph Rowntree Foundation, Institute for Fiscal Studies - cited in Wales online 
http://www.walesonline.co.uk/news/wales-news/poverty-totals-could-much-higher-8050614  

Page 50

http://www.walesonline.co.uk/news/wales-news/poverty-totals-could-much-higher-8050614


 

28 
 

described in the Financial Inclusion section, demonstrating the poor people pay more for essential 

goods and services. 

 

The Centre for Social Justice state that poverty and inequality have become entrenched in Britain, 

allowing the rich to get richer with few opportunities for the poorest, according to new data prepared 

by them for an episode of Channel 4’s Dispatches presented by Fraser Nelson called ‘How the rich get 

richer11’. 

 

By using data obtained through analysis of public government records, freedom of information requests 

and modelling based on unpublished data provided by the Office for National Statistics (ONS), the CSJ 

found that poverty is about far more than just money. 

 

The analysis of the statistics showed that households in the poorest areas have high levels of family 

breakdown; poor educational outcomes for children, especially in deprived communities; and a shocking 

gap in male life expectancy among different communities: 

 

  Poorest Million People Richest Million People 

Male life expectancy 69.6 88.1 

Fatherless households 38% 11% 

Children in homes where no 

adult is in employment 

35% 4% 

Adults on out-of-work benefits 32% 3% 

Households in social housing 56% 3% 

 

This reinforces the need to have a clear strategy within the city for not only tackling deprivation and its 

immediate effects, but breaking the cycle longer term to narrow the gap between the rich and the poor. 

A picture of Portsmouth 

Who lives in Portsmouth? 

The 2012-based Sub-national Population Projections estimate that in 2013 there were 208,889 people 

living in Portsmouth. Of these, 37,900 were aged 0 - 15, 140,400 were aged 16 - 64, and 28,500 were 

aged 65+12.  

 

In Portsmouth, over the ten year period to mid-2022: 

 The population is projected to grow by 6.6% to 220,500. 

 The percentage of the population aged 65+ is projected to increase by 16% - less than England 
(22%) and the SE (25%). 

                                                      
11

 'CSJ research exposes vast inequality across Britain for a new Channel 4 Documentary'; Centre for Social Justice website 
2014 http://centreforsocialjustice.org.uk/channel-4-dispatches 
12

 Source: 2012-based Sub-national Population Projections (ONS) 

Page 51



 

29 
 

 The 0 – 15 population is projected to grow by 9% - the same as both England and the SE. 

 The working age population (16 – 64) is projected to grow by 4% - more than England and the SE 
(both 3%). 

 

Table 1: Population change by age group, mid-2012 to mid-202213 
 

AGE MID-2012 MID-2022 CHANGE # CHANGE % 

All ages 206,800 220,500 13,700 7% 

0 - 15 37,900 41,400 3,500 9% 

16 - 64 140,400 146,100 5,600 4% 

65+ 28,500 33,100 4,600 16% 

 
Note: Figures may not sum due to rounding 
 

Over the ten year period to mid-2022, nine tenths of the projected population growth in Portsmouth is 

due to there being more births than deaths (natural change) and one tenth is due to net inward 

migration. However, the last four years of the period are projected to be characterised by net outward 

migration (i.e. more people moving out of Portsmouth than moving in). 

 

Portsmouth is a more ethnically diverse city than it was - the city's longstanding Asian communities have 

been joined by a burgeoning Black African and Polish population. Based on the latest census data 

(2011), the city’s ethnic profile has changed significantly since 2001: 

 84% of the population is White British (down from 92% in 2001) 

 Portsmouth’s black and minority ethnic (BME) community accounts for an estimated 16% of the 

population (up from 5.3% in 2001) 

 4.3% of the BME population above is White non-British (up from 2.2% in 2001 – reflecting 

increased immigration from EU accession countries including Poland). 

 

School Census data has provided 10 years of historical information in relation to the ethnicity of pupils 

in the city14. During the period covered by this data, there has been a steady rise in pupils of all ethnic 

minority groups, from 2279 to 4682, and increase of 2403 (up by 105%). Part of this increase may be 

attributed to the reduction of pupils recorded as "Refused", "Not Obtained" or blank (down from 1293 

to 370). The percentage of Ethnic minority pupils has risen from 9.2% to 19.3%, indicating greater ethnic 

diversity amongst the city's young people. 

 

                                                      
13

 Source: 2012-based Sub-national Population Projections (ONS) 
14

 It should be noted that Portsmouth LA do not make use of the full set of detailed Ethnic codes, and as a result it is not possible to use the 

Ethnicity to differentiate between a person of White/French as opposed to someone of White/Russian ethnicity. Please also note that 

Ethnicity is attributed by child (depending upon age) or their parents. Where an Ethnicity is provided, it is what they feel is correct, not 

what the school or the LA believe to be correct. For instance we are aware that many of the pupils within the LA who are of Filipino origin 

have been recorded as "Asian" rather than as, or as "Other" which is the correct value. 

Page 52



 

30 
 

Looking at data between the January 2007 and 2014 Censuses, as a percentage of the school population, 

the number of pupils whose First Language is not English almost doubled from 7.2% to 14.3%15. The 

number of different languages recorded (excluding English, Refused, Not Obtained or Blank) has risen 

from 79 to 109. In one school in Portsmouth, 57% of pupils do not have English as their First Language. 

Bengali has remained the most common language during the period, with an increase from 752 to 864 

(14.9% increase). Polish is the now second most common language code, up from 69 to 412 (597% 

increase), and has the largest increase in both numbers and percentage. The number of East European 

language speakers has increased from 148 to 785 (an increase of 530%).16 Overall, there is a large 

increase in the number of pupils whose First Language is not English, whilst at the same time there is a 

reduction in the number of pupils whose first Language is English. 

Portsmouth the place 

Portsmouth is a bustling island city on the south coast, with a population of approximately 208,000 

living within an area of 15.5 square miles (40.15 sq km).  It is the most densely populated area in the UK 

outside of London. The distance from the north of the city to the south is 5.6 miles and the distance 

from east to west is 3.1 miles. Portsmouth is well connected with strategic road and rail routes as well as 

domestic and international ferry routes to a range of destinations. 

 

Portsmouth boomed as a city in the 19th and 20th centuries, although its importance as a port and its 

strong associations with the Royal Navy pre-date this. Indeed the presence of the Royal Navy and the 

dockyard has long shaped the city’s economy and image, acting as a catalyst to create a network of 

defence and related industries, as well as a naval heritage-based tourist industry.  

 

Portsmouth was badly bombed in the Second World War with residents regularly having to take cover 

and/or sleep in various shelters in the city. Between July 1940 and May 1944 Portsmouth suffered 67 air 

raids. During the 4 year period of the Portsmouth Blitz, 930 lives were lost; 1216 people were 

hospitalised and 1621 sustained less severe injuries. Approximately 10% of the city’s 63,000 homes were 

destroyed, and a further 6,000 damaged. During one raid 6 churches in the city were lost, and the city’s 

three major shopping centres in King’s Road, Palmerston Road and Commercial Road were destroyed. 

Portsmouth Guildhall was directly hit and remained an empty shell for the rest of the war17. 

 

With the building of high rise accommodation in the city during the 1960s it’s fair to say that 

Portsmouth has changed in its appearance significantly over the past few decades. As with other seaside 

towns there have been challenges in preventing a decline of its image. However in the past decade the 

redevelopment of the city, as the great waterfront city, has seen regeneration including new shopping 

and leisure attractions (such as Gun Wharf and the Spinnaker Tower), as well as luxury and affordable 

housing. There are significant developments to be completed in the next few years including the 

                                                      
15

 January Schools Census Data 2007 - 2014 
16

 In 2014, the top most common languages in Portsmouth LA Maintained Schools and Academies were recorded for 2713 pupils. This 
equates to 78.2% of the pupils whose First Language was not English. 
17

 Source: Pompey Pensioner Issue No. 43 Bob Davis (2014) 

Page 53



 

31 
 

redevelopment of Tipner (including housing and business space/accommodation), and a new power 

plant at the Naval base. 

 

From January 2012 - December 2013, Portsmouth had 72% employment amongst the working-age 

population (persons aged 16-64 years). This is broadly similar to the national average (71.7%). It is 

higher than Portsmouth's nearest statistical neighbour Southampton (69.8%) but lower than the South 

East average of 75.4%. Portsmouth's employment rate has fluctuated but is gradually declining. In terms 

of long term unemployment rates, in 2012 Portsmouth was significantly lower than the rate for England 

but significantly higher than the rate for the South East and Southampton18. 

 

At March 2014, unemployment jobseeker allowance claimant rates were highest in Charles Dickens 

(5.1% of working age population); Nelson (3.5%); and Fratton (3.3%) and Paulsgrove (3.3%). At March 

2013, unemployment rates were highest in Charles Dickens (6.7% of working age population), Nelson 

(5.3%) and Fratton (4.6%). At March 2012, unemployment rates were highest in Charles Dickens (7.1%), 

Nelson (5.1%) and Fratton (4.6%) wards. 

 

Earnings by residence in Portsmouth (gross weekly pay) in 2013 were £473.90, whereas earnings by 

workplace were £508.3019. This may suggest that people from outside of Portsmouth are getting the 

higher paid jobs in the city. Or it may be that some people in the city move out of the city into more 

expensive areas once they have higher earnings but this is purely speculative. 

 

One of the challenges for Portsmouth (and indeed other cities in the UK) has been the reduction of jobs 

in the traditional shipbuilding and dockyard industries where young people who did not necessarily have 

qualifications could still successfully enter the workforce. Given that Portsmouth has lower than average 

skills and qualifications and lower than average educational attainment, this has meant young people 

without these skills cannot enter sustainable employment as easily as perhaps the previous generations 

in the city. As a result the city’s ‘Shaping the Future of Portsmouth’ Strategy states that, in order to 

ensure that Portsmouth residents benefit from building a globally competitive environment for business 

and enterprise, which attracts investment and visitors, ‘we must continue to regenerate priority areas, 

improve skills, increase aspirations and support the development of sustainable communities’. 

 

                                                      
18

 JSNA July 2014 http://protohub.net/jsna/portsmouth-jsna/social-environmental-context/  
19

 NOMIS Official Labour Market Statistics (2013) 

Page 54

http://protohub.net/jsna/portsmouth-jsna/social-environmental-context/


 

32 
 

Detailed research and analysis – children and families 

In the following section the needs of children and families experiencing poverty in Portsmouth are 

examined.  However this section should be read in conjunction with the ‘Factors that have a strong 

relationship with poverty for all residents’ section, which examines themes based on the needs of the 

population as a whole (for example health and lifestyle, transport and financial inclusion). Similarly, 

there will be needs and vulnerable groups identified in the adult section of this needs assessment which 

will apply to the adults who have children, and so this should also be referenced. 

Portsmouth demographics 

The 2012-based Sub-national Population Projections estimate that in 2013 there were 50,417 children 

and young people aged 0 – 19 years, accounting for approximately 24% of the whole population.  

 

The table below provides a breakdown of this data by age group. It demonstrates that only some change 

is forecast in either overall numbers or distribution over the next ten years, with an increase in 5 - 9 year 

olds and the largest increase with 10 - 14 year olds. For the other 2 age groups, there is little change.  In 

2022 it is estimated that children and young people (0 – 19) will account for 24.25% of the whole 

population. The 0 - 15 population is projected to grow by 9% - the same as both England and the South 

East. 

 
Children and Young People (0 - 19) by age band 2012 & 2022 
 

 
2012 2022 Change # Change % 

All pop 206,836 220,526 13,690 6.6% 

     Age 
group     

0 - 4 13,558 13,723 165 1.2% 

5 - 9 11,616 12,849 1,233 10.6% 

10 - 14 10,518 12,401 1,883 17.9% 

15 - 19 14,725 14,507 -218 -1.5% 

 
Based on August 201320 data, 24,085 families in Portsmouth are claiming child benefit for a total of 

41,230 children. Of these, 15% of these families have three or more children. In terms of age of children 

receiving child benefit, 30.7% are under 5, 31.7% are aged 5 – 10, 23.7% are aged 11 – 15 and 13.8% are 

16 and over.   

 

All of the data above is useful in terms of quantifying the scale of work required around the preventative 

approach to tackling poverty – i.e. we know that children living in poverty aged 0 – 5 are much more 

likely to become adults living in poverty and subject to other poorer outcomes, and so in relation to the 

                                                      
20

 HMRC Child Benefit Statistics – https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-benefit-statistics-geographical-
analysis-august-2013  

Page 55

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-benefit-statistics-geographical-analysis-august-2013
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-benefit-statistics-geographical-analysis-august-2013


 

33 
 

data above, we effectively have 13,558 children in the city under the age of 5 who need to be able to 

access a good universal offer; but with a targeted approach to those at a the highest levels of need 

(known as proportionate universalism). 

 

Ethnicity 

 

School Census data has provided 10 years of historical information in relation to the ethnicity of pupils 

in the city21. During the period covered by this data, the school population has dropped from 24899 in 

2005 to 23639 in 2010, rising to 24244 in 2014, which is an overall decrease of 655 from 2005 - 14. Over 

the same period, there has been a steady rise in pupils of all ethnic minority groups, from 2279 to 4682, 

an increase of 2403 (up by 105%). Part of this increase may be attributed to the reduction of pupils 

recorded as "Refused", "Not Obtained" or blank (down from 1293 to 370). The percentage of Ethnic 

minority pupils has risen from 9.2% to 19.3%. 

 

For Secondary schools, there has been a steady drop in pupil numbers from 9942 to 8332 - a reduction 

of 1610 (down by 16.2%). However, the number of Ethnic minority pupils has maintained a steady 

increase from 743 to 1321 - an increase of 578 (up by 77.8%). The percentage of ethnic minority pupils 

has risen from 7.5% to 15%. 

 

For Primary schools, the school population dropped from 14410 to 13810 in 2008, but has since steadily 

increased to 15287 in 2014, an increase of 877 (up by 6.1%). The number of Ethnic minority pupils has 

steadily increased from 1480 to 3291, an increase of 1811 (up by 122.4%). This increase is equally split 

between FSP/KS1 pupils (865) and KS2 pupils (861). The percentage of ethnic minority pupils has risen 

from 10.3% to 23.9%. 

 

Each Secondary School year group has an average of 264 ethnic minority pupils, compared to Primary 

phase year groups which have an average of 405 for pupils in Key Stage 2, and 510 for pupils in FSP/Key 

Stage 1 year groups. 

 

We are likely to see a noticeable increase in Ethnic minority pupils within the Portsmouth LA over the 

next few years.  

 

Pupils for whom English is not a First Language 

 

It is also interesting to look at this from a language perspective and how this presents in schools. It 

should be stressed that information relating to First Language should not be used as an indicator of 

                                                      
21 It should be noted that Portsmouth LA do not make use of the full set of detailed Ethnic codes, and as a result it is not possible to use the Ethnicity to 

differentiate between a person of White/French as opposed to someone of White/Russian ethnicity. Please also note that Ethnicity is attributed by child 

(depending upon age) or their parents. Where an Ethnicity is provided, it is what they feel is correct, not what the school or the LA believe to be correct. For 

instance we are aware that many of the pupils within the LA who are of Filipino origin have been recorded as "Asian" rather than as , or as "Other" which is 

the correct value. 

 

Page 56



 

34 
 

ethnicity for a number of different reasons. However it does demonstrate the diversity of the school 

population and the importance of knowing how these landscapes are changing, in order to ensure the 

right support for families. 

 

Looking at data between the January 2007 and 2014 Censuses, the number of pupils whose First 

Language is not English has increased from 1806 to 3468, an increase of 92%. As a percentage of the 

school population, the number whose First Language is not English almost doubled from 7.2% to 

14.3%22. The number of different languages recorded (excluding English, Refused, Not Obtained or 

Blank) has risen from 79 to 109. 

 

In 2007, the top 17 most common languages recorded for Pupils in Portsmouth LA Maintained Schools 

were recorded for 1542 pupils. This equated to 85.4% of the pupils whose First Language was not 

English. In 2014, the top most common languages in Portsmouth LA Maintained Schools and Academies 

were recorded for 2713 pupils. This equates to 78.2% of the pupils whose First Language was not 

English. In one school in Portsmouth, 57% of pupils do not have English as their First Language. 

 

Bengali has remained the most common language during the period, with an increase from 752 to 864 

(14.9% increase). Polish is the now second most common language code, up from 69 to 412 (597% 

increase), and has the largest increase in both numbers and percentage. The number of East European 

(including Baltic States) language speakers has increased from 148 to 785 (an increase of 530%) 

       

Overall, there is a large increase in the number of pupils whose First Language is not English, whilst at 

the same time there is a reduction in the number of pupils whose first Language is English. 

 

 

                                                      
22

 January Schools Census Data 2007 - 2014 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
2008

2007

To
ta

l P
u

p
ils

 

Bengali

Polish

Arabic

Tagalog
/ Filipino
Kurdish

French

Malayala
m
Chinese

First Languages in Portsmouth Schools - 2007 to 2014 - 17 Most common Language 
codes in 2014 other than English 

Page 57



 

35 
 

 

Additional information on ethnicity – which will also apply to children and families depending on their 

circumstances – can be found in the ‘Portsmouth demographics’ and ‘adults’ and ‘older people most at 

risk from poverty’ sections of this needs assessment.  

 

Summary of key points:  Portsmouth Demographics, Children and Families 

The 2012-based Sub-national Population Projections estimate that in 2013 there are 50,417 children and 
young people aged 0 – 19 years, accounting for approximately 24% of the whole population.  

Children living in poverty aged 0 – 5 are much more likely to become adults living in poverty and subject 
to other poorer outcomes, and so in relation to the data above, there are effectively 13,558 children in 
the city under the age of 5 who need to be able to access a good universal offer; but with a targeted 
approach to those at a the highest levels of need (known as proportionate universalism). 

School Census data covering 10 years of historical information shows there has been a steady rise in 
pupils of all ethnic minority groups, from 2279 to 4682, an increase of 2403 (up by 105%). Part of this 
increase may be attributed to the reduction of pupils recorded as "Refused", "Not Obtained" or blank 
(down from 1293 to 370). The percentage of Ethnic minority pupils has risen from 9.2% to 19.3%. We 
are likely to see a noticeable increase in Ethnic minority pupils within the Portsmouth LA over the next 
few years.  

Between the January 2007 and 2014 Censuses, as a percentage of the school population, the number 
whose First Language is not English almost doubled from 7.2% to 14.3%. 109 different languages are 
recorded. Bengali has remained the most common language during the period, and Polish is the now 
second most common language, and has the largest increase in both numbers and percentage. The 
number of East European (including Baltic states) language speakers has increased from 148 to 785 (an 
increase of 530%) 

Extent of child poverty in Portsmouth – how much and where? 

National data sources available at a local level 

Using the Children Living in Relative Low Income Households Measure data from 201223, which is the 

most up-to-date data available at a local level24, 22.3% of all children aged 0 - 19 are deemed as living in 

poverty in Portsmouth. This is higher than the England average of 18.6%. (However this is a drop on 

2011, when 24.4% of all children aged 0 - 19 in Portsmouth were living in poverty).  

 

As in previous years, child poverty rises sharply in some parts of the city, demonstrating real pockets of 

deprivation – for example in Charles Dickens ward in 2012, 44.2% of all children aged 0 - 19 live in 

poverty. However, in line with the England figures, this is a drop on 2011, when it was 47.5% of all 

children. With rates of 31.1% in St Thomas ward (previously 36.3% in 2011), 30.8% in Paulsgrove 

(previously 32.2% in 2011), 28.4% in Nelson (previously 30.6%) and 24.4% in Fratton wards (previously 

27.5% in 2011), the pockets of deprivation remain visible.  

 

                                                      
23

 Previously known as the Revised Local Child Poverty Measure, HMRC – Snapshot data from 31 August 2012. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/personal-tax-credits-children-in-low-income-families-local-measure-2012-
snapshot-as-at-31-august-2012 
24

 Except for data recently released by the End Child Poverty organisation - see page xx 

Page 58

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/personal-tax-credits-children-in-low-income-families-local-measure-2012-snapshot-as-at-31-august-2012
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/personal-tax-credits-children-in-low-income-families-local-measure-2012-snapshot-as-at-31-august-2012


 

36 
 

See the table below for how these rates have progressed over the years in Portsmouth (all children 0 - 

19): 

 

 
 

As stated earlier in this needs assessment, one of the difficulties of this measure is that when incomes 

across the nation fall as a whole, less people will be officially categorised as 'in poverty' and yet their 

circumstances might not have changed at all, because it is a relative measure, not absolute. For 

example, the low income threshold which is 60% of the median income fell from £218 in 2011 to £204 in 

2012 in nominal terms. 

 

As it can be hard to judge effectiveness of tackling poverty strategies in areas against poverty data alone 

(given that poverty has been likely to rise with the recession and with cuts to budgets and the welfare 

bill), it can be useful to make comparisons with other local authority areas as demonstrated by the table 

below. Even more useful will be to monitor this over time - so that if one Local Authority area seems to 

be performing better (e.g. not seeing such a significant rise in poverty as the other areas) there can be 

discussion and evaluation as to what that area might be doing that is making the difference. 

 

Table: Children in low income families25 - comparator data 

 Children 

under 20 

in low 

income 

families 

All children 

under 20 

Percentage 

of children 

under 20 in 

low income 

families 

England 2,156,280 11,602,370 18.6% 

South East 252,795 1,865,335 13.6% 

Portsmouth 9,330 41,840 22.3% 

                                                      
25

 Personal tax credits: Children in low-income families local measure: 2012 snapshot as at 31 August 2012, HMRC 

Number Percentage Number Percentage Number Percentage

2006 9,320           23.6% 255,475        14.4% 2,298,385     20.8%

2007 9,785           24.9% 264,730        14.9% 2,397,645     21.6%

2008 9,560           24.0% 260,920        14.5% 2,341,975     20.9%

2009 10,325         25.2% 280,755        15.4% 2,429,305     21.3%

2010 10,235         24.7% 275,935        15.0% 2,367,335     20.6%

2011
10,170         24.4% 270,945        14.6% 2,319,450     20.1%

2012
9,330           22.3% 252,795        13.6% 2,156,280     18.6%

For more information and definitions please refer to the technical note availab le at:

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/personal-tax-credits-children-in-low-income-families-local-measure

Portsmouth South East England

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

Page 59



 

37 
 

*Bournemouth 5,865 32,730 17.9% 

*Brighton and 

Hove 

8,780 50,305 17.5% 

*Bristol, City of 20,855 90,335 23.1% 

*Plymouth 10,760 53,380 20.2% 

*Southampton 10,900 48,100 22.7% 

*Southend-on-

Sea 

8,080 38,765 20.8% 

 

 

*The ONS regional centre group (statistical comparator) is not available; therefore, Portsmouth's 

comparators in the ONS regional centre group from the South of England have been included.  

 

The next table details levels of poverty against the above measure at ward level in Portsmouth. However 

it should be noted that, whilst the England data is also displayed, these small areas estimates are not 

directly comparable with the national DWP Child Poverty figures.  

 

Table: Children 0-19 in low income families26 

Location Children in 

IS/JSA families 

Children in 

families 

receiving WTC 

and CTC, and 

income <60% 

median income 

Children in 

families 

receiving CTC 

only, and 

income <60% 

median income 

% of Children in 

low-income 

families 

 All Children All Children All Children All Children 

     
United Kingdom 2163330 66930 331630 18.7% 

     
Great Britain 2077465 65035 324070 18.6% 

     
England and Wales 1924725 61250 301350 18.7% 

     
England 1810950 57620 285415 18.6% 

     
Portsmouth 7,940 230 1,160 22.3% 

     
Baffins 460 15 65 15.4% 

                                                      
26

 Personal tax credits: Children in low-income families local measure: 2012 snapshot as at 31 August 2012, HMRC 

Page 60



 

38 
 

Central Southsea 350 10 65 19.2% 

Charles Dickens 1575 30 185 44.2% 

Copnor 340 5 65 12.9% 

Cosham 545 25 85 20.1% 

Drayton and 

Farlington 

100 5 25 4.7% 

Eastney and 

Craneswater 

280 20 65 16.7% 

Fratton 755 20 110 24.4% 

Hilsea 400 20 80 16.3% 

Milton 405 10 65 16.9% 

Nelson 945 20 100 28.4% 

Paulsgrove 1030 25 130 30.8% 

St Jude 135 15 35 13.7% 

St Thomas 625 20 90 31.1% 

 

This needs assessment has focused on the children in low income households measure as, whilst the 

Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) is a commonly cited and detailed source of data in this area, the 

latest IMD was in 2010. This data is therefore very dated at present – as most of the indicators used are 

from 2008. It should also be noted that the age range for this data source is 0 – 15, whereas the Children 

Living in Relative Low Income Households Measure above is 0 – 19, and the measures in themselves use 

different data, so it is not comparing like with like. However for historic interest, the IMD 2010 data 

showed that 27% of Portsmouth’s children (aged 0 – 15) were living in poverty compared to 22% 

nationally. 

 

The following map gives a good visual representation of the children in low income households data.  

(Please note that these small areas estimates are not directly comparable with the national DWP Child 

Poverty figures. Also, this measure should not be used to obtain a definitive measure of child poverty in 

any given area. However, this measure can reliably be used to explore variations in low income across 

Portsmouth). 

 

 

Page 61



 

39 
 Page 62



 

40 
 

The End Child Poverty Coalition and the Centre for Research in Social Policy27 argue that in order for the 

Children in Low Income Families data to be an accurate proxy for the statutory measure on child poverty 

(HBAI), the data need to be adjusted. 

 

This is because the CLIF measure is based on a snapshot that is two years out of date.  It also assumes 

that every child in a household on out-of-work benefits is in poverty and it under-estimates in-work 

poverty, which it reports as only 21% of child poverty, whereas the HBAI data shows that it now 

accounts for 63%. 

 

Their analysis adjusts the figures to take into consideration changes in the labour market since the 

snapshot, and to reflect the relative scale of in-work and out-of-work poverty. 

 

However, the data is only published by the End Child Poverty Coalition at local authority level, and after 

housing costs, and therefore is of limited use, but under their calculation, Portsmouth has a child 

poverty rate (after housing costs) of 29%. Portsmouth is closer to the worst SE areas - Thanet at 32% 

and Hastings 30%. Southampton is 30%, and the Isle of Wight 28%. This potentially marks an issue with 

poverty in seaside towns. 

 

Having examined the direct data in relation to poverty in the city, there is other important data that can 

tell us about poverty locally.  For example, as the next section 'Children and Families most at risk of 

poverty' will demonstrate, worklessness poses one of the highest levels of risk in terms of likelihood of 

being in poverty. The following table demonstrates some stark pockets of worklessness across the city, 

which perhaps unsurprisingly tend to correlate generally with the pockets of deprivation also 

experienced in the city: 

 

Number of Children living in Out-of-work Benefit Claimant Households by Ward and Age 
at May 201328  
Source: DWP and HMRC data - snapshot 31 May 2013 

Ward 0- 4 5 - 10 11 - 15 16 - 18 0 - 15 0 - 18 

Baffins 195 165 115 50 470 520 

Central 
Southsea 

160 130 85 40 380 415 

Charles 
Dickens 

650 555 330 125 1540 1665 

Copnor 145 130 85 45 365 405 

Cosham 265 210 120 45 590 635 

Drayton & 
Farlington 

40 40 30 20 105 130 

Eastney & 
Craneswater 

125 105 55 35 285 325 

Fratton 355 265 170 75 790 865 

                                                      
27

End Child Poverty website: http://www.endchildpoverty.org.uk/why-end-child-poverty/poverty-in-your-area 
28

 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-in-out-of-work-benefit-households-statistics-31-may-2013  

Page 63

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-in-out-of-work-benefit-households-statistics-31-may-2013


 

41 
 

Hilsea 185 145 95 40 430 475 

Milton 145 165 100 55 410 465 

Nelson 415 340 180 75 930 1005 

Paulsgrove 365 355 265 125 990 1110 

St Jude 80 55 25 15 170 180 

St Thomas 270 235 160 65 660 730 

 3395 2895 1815 810 8115 8925 

Note: Figures may not sum due to rounding 
 

As the data demonstrates, the wards with the highest levels of workless families (0 - 18) are Charles 

Dickens (1665), Nelson (1005), Paulsgrove (1110) and Fratton (865). The wards with the lowest levels 

are Drayton and Farlington (130), St Judes (180), Eastney and Craneswater (325) and Copnor (405).  

 

However it should not be assumed that gaining employment automatically lifts families out of poverty. 

'In work' poverty has been rising over recent years; nationally 2/3rds of people in poverty are in 'in 

work' poverty. This is covered in the next sections 'Local data sources that can also contribute to child 

poverty analysis' and 'Children and families at most risk of poverty'.   

 

Local data sources that can also contribute to child poverty analysis 

 

Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support Data 

Housing Benefit (HB) and Council Tax Support (CTS) records were analysed on the 24th June 2014, to 

provide data that might assist with the analysis of child poverty across the city. 

 

There are 19,052 households claiming HB, or HB and CTS in Portsmouth wards, and a further 3452 

Households claiming CTS only, totalling 22,504 households, which represents 25.23% of the 89,205 

properties on the valuation list for Council Tax.  

 

HB and CTS can be claimed by people whether they are in work or not, and CTS can be claimed by owner 

occupiers, as well as people who pay rent. As HB and CTS are means tested, people who are better off 

are excluded from this data.  As a consequence, the HB/CTS data might be considered a significant 

sample of lower income households in the city. 

 

Households with children claiming HB/CTS 

The HB/CTS data identifies 7854 claims where children are part of the household. This includes 4148 

households where the family is on out of work benefits. 

 

Page 64



 

42 
 

 
 

This clearly demonstrates that, of all families in Portsmouth claiming either Housing Benefit or Council 

Tax Support (i.e. low income families), nearly half are working families. This can be for a variety of 

reasons - e.g. low pay (workers not receiving a 'Living Wage' - see 'Living Wage' section), insufficient 

hours/zero hour contracts, only one earner in the household, high cost of childcare etc. It is important 

therefore to address the needs of families in the city who are in in work poverty, as well as out of work 

poverty. 

 

The following chart and table breaks down working and workless families by household type: 

 

 
 
Household Type Workless Workless % Working Working % 

Lone Parent 3289 79.3% 2104 56.8% 

Two Parents 859 20.7% 1602 43.2% 

Total 4148 100% 3706 100% 

 

This demonstrates the higher levels of risk associated with being a lone parent - i.e. lone parents on 

housing benefit or council tax support are much more likely to be workless than two parent families. 

This is perhaps not surprising given the additional challenges a lone parent would have in the workplace 

in terms of the need for childcare. This supports the national HBAI figures cited in the 'Children and 

families most at risk from poverty' section.  

3706, 47% 

4148, 53% 

Portsmouth children by household employment status 

Working Families

Workless Families

2104 

3289 

1602 

859 

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

Working Workless

Lone Parent

Two Parents

Page 65



 

43 
 

 

Households with children: Income Analysis 

We have used the HB and CTS data to calculate the average weekly income by household type for 

working and workless families. 

 

Average Incomes: Working Families claiming HB/CTS 

 

  

Average Income Including 
HB & CTS 

Average Income Excluding 
HB & CTS 

Lone 
Parent 

1 Child £381.88 £293.39 

Lone 
Parent 

2 Children £464.50 £358.33 

Lone 
Parent 

3 Children £557.96 £428.50 

Lone 
Parent 

4 or more 
children 

£659.72 £510.71 

Two 
Parents 

1 Child £403.80 £319.77 

Two 
Parents 

2 Children £475.36 £378.25 

Two 
Parents 

3 Children £567.22 £457.60 

Two 
Parents 

4 or more 
children 

£687.16 £549.82 

 

Average Incomes: Workless Families claiming HB/CTS  

 

  

Average Income Including 
HB & CTS 

Average Income Excluding 
HB & CTS 

Lone 
Parent 

1 Child £259.11 £170.61 

Lone 
Parent 

2 Children £346.73 £240.55 

Lone 
Parent 

3 Children £438.16 £308.71 

Lone 
Parent 

4 or more 
children £538.98 £389.97 

Two 
Parents 

1 Child £281.23 £197.20 

Two 
Parents 

2 Children £360.52 £263.40 

Two 
Parents 

3 Children £438.15 £328.53 

Two 
Parents 

4 or more 
children £563.31 £425.97 

 

Families claiming HB/CTS including a disabled parent or child 

HB/CTS data has no comprehensive data about the incidence of disability; we can however confirm the 

number of families where a part of their income includes Disability Living Allowance (DLA), or Personal 

Page 66



 

44 
 

Independence Payments (PIP). It should be noted however, that for households in receipt of out of work 

benefits, our records about DLA/PIP could be understated. 

 

HB/CTS records held however identify 276 lone parents receiving DLA/PIP, and 88 children in lone 

parent households receiving DLA/PIP. In two parent families we have identified 327 parents receiving 

DLA/PIP, and 108 children receiving DLA/PIP. This data suggests 

  7.7% of households claiming HB/CTS with children have at least one adult with a long-term 

illness or disability. 

 2.5% of children in households claiming HB/CTS have a disability, with just under half of them 

living in a lone parent household. 

 12.6% of children in households claiming HB/CTS, live in households claiming Employment 

Support Allowance or Incapacity Benefits 

Household Size and Location of families claiming HB/CTS 

The following table details the size of the family, and the location of the family by ward 

 

 
TWO PARENTS LONE PARENT 

NUMBER OF CHILDREN 1 2 3 4 5 6+ 1 2 3 4 5 6+ 

Baffins 33 50 30 18 0 1 164 109 55 8 1 0 
Central Southsea 43 43 25 8 5 3 145 71 31 12 4 4 
Charles Dickens 149 150 99 36 16 6 524 298 93 25 12 5 
Copnor 25 29 27 14 5 2 93 90 37 9 5 1 
Cosham 36 53 43 18 3 4 176 101 54 16 3 0 
Drayton & Farlington 11 17 6 2 1 0 58 34 9 1 0 1 
Eastney & Craneswater 22 30 29 3 2 0 137 61 18 4 1 0 
Fratton 94 97 43 27 6 4 318 181 57 15 4 1 
Hilsea 38 32 26 8 4 3 150 80 35 16 5 0 
Milton 50 43 29 6 2 2 211 96 27 14 3 1 
Nelson 91 92 50 22 11 5 336 178 70 20 6 2 
Paulsgrove 71 63 66 32 14 4 241 175 86 29 7 1 
St Jude 45 24 12 2 2 0 129 39 5 3 0 0 
St Thomas 60 78 71 25 6 4 198 110 52 14 8 0 
TOTAL 768 801 556 221 77 38 2880 1623 629 186 59 16 

 

HB/CTS data indicates that: 

 22.7% of children live in households with three children or more. 

 47.7% of families with 3 or more children claiming HB/CTS are workless 

 The greatest number of workless families claiming HB/CTS are in Charles Dickens ward 

 53.52% of workless households claiming HB/CTS are located in Charles Dickens, Paulsgrove, Nelson 

and Fratton wards  

Summary: Extent of child poverty - how much and where 

22.3% of all children aged 0-19 in 2012 were deemed as living in poverty in Portsmouth under the 
Children in Low Income Households Measure (before housing costs). This is above both the England 

Page 67



 

45 
 

and South East averages of 18.6% and 13.6%. 

Child poverty rises sharply in some parts of the city - e.g. in Charles Dickens ward it is 44.2%.  

Child poverty levels have dropped in the city since the last needs assessment in 2011, as they have 
nationally, however some of this is attributable to a fall in incomes across the nation as a whole and 
this being a relative rather than absolute measure. 

Nearly half of all families claiming housing benefit or council tax support in the city are working 
families.  

 

Children and families most at risk from poverty 

Establishing who might be at most risk of poverty in the city has usually fallen into two distinct 

categories; geography (i.e. where people live) and vulnerable groups (i.e. groups of people within the 

community who might be at a higher risk statistically of experiencing poverty). 

Groups identified by HBAI data 
The HBAI 2013 data29 gives us some useful information around the percentage of children in low income 

groups by various family and household characteristics in the United Kingdom. The groups below have 

been compared at a relative poverty level – i.e. at <60% median income, before housing costs, and stand 

out as being at a higher risk of and therefore more vulnerable to poverty, as follows; 

 

Workless families 

 

Compared to the average for all children of 17%, workless families are at a 40% risk of poverty. The 

highest risks are couples with children where both parents are not working, at 54%. (This compares to a 

risk of 4% when both parents are both in full time work). Where one or more parents are in part-time 

work, the risk is 39%, which is significantly above the average. However the critical factor appears to be 

having at least one parent in full time work; where one parent is in full time work, and one parent is not 

working, this drops to 20%; and where one parent is working full time and one parent is working part 

time this drops even further to 6%. So either both parents working full time or one parent working full 

time and one working part-time are the most favourable circumstances in relation to alleviating poverty. 

This emphasises the need financially to help at least one parent back into full time, sustainable work 

wherever possible, and is where the availability of good quality, flexible childcare is essential. It also 

highlights why it is always worth encouraging people to have a better off calculation done re going back 

to work, as it can help to dispel the myth that most households are worse off working than on benefits. 

 

Lone parent families not working 

 

A lone parent not working is at a 34% risk of poverty – whereas taking part time work reduces this risk 

to the average for all children of 17%. 

 

                                                      
29

 Source: Households Below Average Income - – An analysis of income distribution 1994/95 – 2011/2012 (HBAI 2013) 

Page 68



 

46 
 

Families with 3 or more children 

 

These families are at a 25% risk of poverty. The HBAI data will not however reflect the impact of the 

Household Benefit Cap, which was implemented in 2013, which in Portsmouth mainly affected families 

with 3 children, and so locally this risk could be significantly higher for this group. If the family goes on to 

working tax credit, they become exempt from the Cap.  

 

Families where someone is disabled 

 

Where there is a disabled adult and no disabled children, the risk of poverty is 23%. Where there are 

disabled children in the family, and where the family is not in receipt of disability benefits, this is 24%. If 

they are in receipt of disability benefits, this drops to 13%, highlighting the need to ensure families are 

claiming everything they are entitled to. When the Benefit Cap was being implemented in Portsmouth in 

2013, some families who were initially affected by the Cap became exempt as it transpired that they 

were eligible for Disability Living Allowance. 

 

Black and Minority Ethnic Communities 

 

This is where some of the highest risks of poverty are seen. For example, within the Asian/Asian British 

group which overall stands at 35%, the Pakistani community are at the highest risk of poverty overall in 

terms of ethnic group with a 48% risk of poverty; Bangladeshi 42%; Chinese 29% and Indian 24%. The 

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British group is 25%; Other Ethnic 30%; Mixed Multiple Ethnic groups are 

27%. This compares to 16% where the ethnic group of the head is White, and a 17% average overall. 

 

As to why this risk is so much higher for BME communities, there could be a number of reasons which 

we need to explore, and gain a greater understanding of in Portsmouth. There may be a higher 

prevalence of people from BME communities in low paid work such as catering, retail, hospitality etc. 

There may be issues with English as a second language around securing adequately paid, sustainable 

work. There may be cultural barriers within recruitment processes for work; and/or there may be 

discrimination occurring in securing work and in the workplace itself. 

 

Locally we know that people from BME groups account for 16% of the population in Portsmouth. 

Additionally, the proportion of school age children for whom English is not their first language has 

grown significantly over the last 10 years (see Portsmouth Demographics Children and Young People 

section). This may indicate that there is a sizeable group of people (their parents) for whom English is a 

barrier to accessing services. Better understanding these needs will be a key objective for the new 

strategy.  

 

In addition to the HBAI data (which will only reflect the groups that are captured by the particular data 

sets collected), evidence suggests there are also higher risks around the following groups: 

 

Page 69



 

47 
 

Families in in-work poverty 

 

In order to fully understand issues around in work poverty for children this section should be read in 

conjunction with the generic sections in this needs assessment on low pay, underemployment and the 

Living Wage. Low pay (especially where people are not paid a Living Wage) and/or unstable employment 

(e.g. zero hour contracts), or situations where people can only get part time work when they want more 

hours, all contribute to in work poverty.  

 

No data is available at present concerning in work poverty in the Portsmouth Local Authority area. Given 

the issues around low pay in the city, and given that unemployment is not above the national average, 

it's probably fair to assume that Portsmouth would suffer from similar issues to the country as a whole 

in this area; so it is therefore useful to look at the national data from 2012/1330 to establish the depths 

of this problem for families. 

 

 People in work make up almost 2/5ths (39%) of all working age people in poverty 

 6.6 million people in working families are living in poverty 

 This means half of all poverty is found in working families 

 This is because of a rise in poverty in working families, and a fall in poverty in workless and 

retired families (mainly retired families) 

 2.2 million of children in poverty are in a working family 

o Of these, 850,000 are in families where all the adults are in paid work 

o The other 1.3 million are in families where one adult works and one does not 

 The remaining 1.4 million children in poverty live in a workless household. 

 This means that about 2/3rds of children in poverty live in households where someone works. 

 

As the HBAI data31 around groups at risk demonstrated in the children and families section, households 

where both parents are in full time work are at least risk of poverty (4%) or where one parent is in full 

time work and one parent is in part time work (6%). However an earlier report by the Joseph Rowntree 

Foundation32 goes on to reflect on the significant barriers potential second earners face in entering the 

workforce such as getting flexible, quality childcare, flexible, sustainable employment and low wages. 

Working full time on the minimum wage will not necessarily lift a household above the relative poverty 

line; and the Joseph Rowntree Report above argues that  ‘lifting the number of dual-earner families is a 

crucial part of a revived anti-poverty strategy focused on jobs and wages’. 

 

Self-Employed Households 

 

                                                      
30

 Joseph Rowntree Foundation: Monitoring Poverty and Social Exclusion 2014: 
http://www.jrf.org.uk/publications/monitoring-poverty-and-social-exclusion-2014# 
31

 Source: Households Below Average Income - – An analysis of income distribution 1994/95 – 2011/2012 (HBAI 2013) 
32

 Source: ‘Tackling In-Work Poverty by Supporting Dual-Earning Families’, Kayte Lawton and Spencer Thompson, Joseph 
Rowntree Foundation (November 2013). 
 

Page 70

http://www.jrf.org.uk/publications/monitoring-poverty-and-social-exclusion-2014


 

48 
 

Finally, in relation to in-work poverty, it is believed that – while not quantifiable at the moment – there 

is some heightened risk for people who are self-employed, going forward under the new Universal 

Credit system. As it currently stands, Universal Credit will assume that a self-employed person earns a 

set amount each week – and even if they don’t, it will still make that assumption. Whilst encouraging 

people who are out of work to look at self-employment options can be a positive action, for those who 

will be on low pay and will potentially have to draw down Universal Credit to top up their income, this 

could leave them at risk of income shortfall if they don’t earn as much as expected in given weeks. It will 

be important therefore for these issues to be highlighted when people are considering self-employment, 

in order that they are not ‘set up to fail’. 

 

Children in need and/or at risk 
 

In the last needs assessment in 2011, it was identified that for some of the city’s most vulnerable 

children – e.g. those who are classified as ‘children in need’, or those who are subject to a child 

protection plan, or those in care/leaving care, there is an over-representation from poor 

communities/households. Whilst anecdotally, it is believed that it is still the case, this analysis has not 

been completed in time for this assessment and so has been identified as a data/intelligence gap going 

forward.  

Young people who are not in Education, Employment or Training (known as NEETs) 
 

This may be a contributing factor to the numbers of young people in Portsmouth who are not in 

Education, Employment or Training (known as NEETs). In 2013, the estimated percentage of Portsmouth 

young people aged 16-18 years not in education, employment or training (NEET) was 7.73%33.  NEETs in 

Portsmouth have been consistently higher than the national average for a number of years. 

                                                      
33

Info provided by PCC Education Service. To find the average NEET figure for 2013, PCC took the average NEET figure from 
November 2013, December 2013 and January 2014. 
 

Page 71



 

49 
 

 
 

The following information has been provided by the Council's Education Service and gives a useful 

snapshot of NEETs in the city: 

 

 Over half of Portsmouth's 16-18 year old NEETs are aged 18  

 Compared to its statistical neighbours, Portsmouth has the highest proportion of NEETs at age 16 

(4.9%) and is ranked in the middle for ages 17 (6.7%) and 18 (11.4%) 

 Compared to its statistical neighbours, the proportion of Portsmouth's cohort whose activity is not 

known gets progressively worse as young people get older.  Out of 11 authorities Portsmouth has 

the 7th highest proportion at age 16 (2.2%), 4th highest at age 17 (8.4%) and 2nd highest at age 18 

(43.9%).   

 Compared to the 19 top tier SE authorities, Portsmouth has the highest proportion of NEET at age 

16, the 4th highest at age 17 and the 3rd highest at 18.  In terms of the % not known Portsmouth has 

the 11th highest at age 16, 5th highest at age 17 and the highest at age 18.  

 The Special Educational Needs (SEN) population of the NEET cohort in Portsmouth is much higher 

than the overall SEN population – 47% of NEETs identified as School Action Plus or had a statement 

of SEN compared to 10.2% of Portsmouth’s pupils overall 

 A higher proportion of the NEET cohort were persistently absent compared to Portsmouth overall – 

36% compared to 7.3% (2011) 

 Portsmouth NEETs have higher average numbers of exclusions than Portsmouth pupil overall – 5.2 

average days lost to exclusions compared to 3.82 overall (2011) 

 Portsmouth NEETs' attainment levels are lower than the Portsmouth average e.g. 86% did not 

achieve GCSE gold standard compared to 52% of all pupils (2012/13) 

 

The causes of this are complex but include: 

Page 72



 

50 
 

 

 Weaknesses in the post 16 offer and progression pathways for young people - work undertaken by 

the Local Authority in 2013/14 in partnership with local post-16 providers identified some concerns 

including:  

o Entry and Level 1 provision has now, in some cases, been conflated, causing problems with 

recruitment at the lower level;  

o discussion with guidance staff revealed that although some Entry / Level 1 provision is 

advertised, some young people find it hard to access the programme they have applied for; 

o some Entry / Level 1 provision tends to be focussed on general employability skills with 

tasters in occupational areas, whereas the young people want a specific occupational area of 

study;  

o at age 17 there is a significant issue where young people are unable to progress to the next 

level despite having achieved the vocational requirement - this is due to not having English 

and Maths at the required standard. 

 

 Gaps in provision – in 2012/13 gaps in the provision for Behavioural, Emotional and Social Difficulties 

(BESD) and Severe Learning Difficulties (SLD) and Profound and Multiple Learning Difficulties (PLD) 

were identified which led to a bid to the EFA for capital funds to develop provision at Highbury 

College (Arundel Centre) for BESD (opened in Sept 2014) and at Portsmouth College for SLD/PLD (in 

partnership with Mary Rose Academy – to open in September 2015) 

 Access to appropriate information, advice and guidance 

 No single overview of what should be done to reduce the proportion of young people who are NEET 

or at risk of becoming NEET - responsibilities in PCC are spread across Education, City Development 

& Cultural Services, Children's Social Care and Safeguarding and Public Health; there is a lack of post-

16 collaboration following the demise of the 14-19 Consortium 

 Issues concerning the reliability, maintenance and analysis of the data that supports the national 

NEET datasets and the tracking of young people 

 Effectiveness of the targeted support for young people who are NEET or at risk of becoming NEET 

through ITYSS, Youth Contract, ESF (PHASE 2) etc. 

 

In the previous 2010 needs assessment, teenage conception rates in Portsmouth were high, particularly 

in areas of deprivation.  Following on from this, for 2010/12, Portsmouth’s conception rate in women 

aged under 16 years was 7.3 conceptions per 1,000 women aged 13-15 years – significantly higher than 

the rate for the South East, higher but not significantly than the rate for England, and lower but not 

significantly than Southampton's rate. Compared to previous years, this is the lowest local rate since 

1998/00. For the same period, Portsmouth’s conception rate in women aged under 18 years was 37.5 

conceptions per 1,000 women aged 15-17 years, again significantly higher than the rates for England 

and the South East region. However, the trend shows the Portsmouth rate continues to decrease since 

2007/0934. 

                                                      
34

 Portsmouth Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) Lifestyles - Sexual Health Briefing Note accessed 07.01.14 
https://hantshub-files.s3.amazonaws.com/API_STR_JSNA_LIF_SX_Overview.pdf 

Page 73



 

51 
 

 

Whilst this decrease is positive, Portsmouth therefore remains above the national average. Teenage 

parents are vulnerable to low levels of educational attainment and are more likely to be NEETs (not in 

education, employment or training, of which the city has higher than average numbers, as stated 

previously).  These factors combined with the issue of child care will make securing paid employment 

difficult for the parents, leaving the family extremely vulnerable to income deprivation.  Outcomes for 

the children of these families will be negatively impacted further by the health risks associated with 

smoking during pregnancy, which is still prevalent in the city amongst women under 20.  This evidences 

some of the multiple factors that can come into play in relation to poverty, health and life chances and 

where – if this inter-generational cycle can be broken – a real difference can be made 

 

This is not a definitive list of children and families at a heightened risk of poverty – there may be other 

groups who are vulnerable who are not stated here. A draft national child poverty strategy was 

consulted upon in Spring 2014 and this also identified vulnerable groups, many of which cross over with 

those cited in this section. As the city’s tackling poverty strategy going forward aims to alleviate poverty 

for all residents, any missing groups will not be excluded as they will benefit from the work across the 

wider population. 

 

However much of the above confirms the need for early help for families, throughout all stages of 

childhood. A need therefore going forward is to ensure that children get this best start in life; and that 

they are school-ready; that they are fit and healthy both physically and emotionally; and that they 

progress in their education, not just through junior school (where results are reasonable across the city 

as a whole) but also when they go on to secondary school, which is where results start to dip for them, 

culminating in poor GCSE results. 

 

The latest research from the Joseph Rowntree Foundation35 shows that families with children are now 

at greater risk than any other group of having an inadequate income, with more than one in three 

having less than they require for a socially acceptable standard of living. At least 8.1 million parents and 

children are living on incomes below what is needed to cover a minimum household budget, up by more 

than a third from 5.9 million in 2008/09. Donald Hirsch from the University of Loughborough, co-author 

of this report states that: 

 

'Our tracking of what has happened to people on the lowest incomes shows just how much ground they 

need to make up in order to restore pre-recession living standards. Over one in three families with 

children now have incomes that are not high enough to afford a minimum basket of essentials according 

to our research into what the general public define as adequate. A pause in inflation, influenced by the 

drop in oil prices will make it easier to reverse recent trends, but it will take several years of rising real 

wages, while maintaining support through tax credits and Universal Credit, to reduce decisively the 

number of families with inadequate incomes.' 

                                                      
35

 Joseph Rowntree Foundation 'Households below a minimum income standard: 2008/09 to 2012/13' - January 2015 

Page 74



 

52 
 

 

Summary: Children and families most at risk from poverty 

National Households Below Average Income data highlights workless families, lone parent families not 

working, families with 3 or more children, families where someone is disabled and black and minority 

ethnic communities as more vulnerable to poverty. 

Others at risk may include families in in-work poverty, self-employed households, and young people not 

in education, employment or training (known as NEETs). Work is required to target at risk groups. 

Intelligence Gap: It is unknown as to whether there is an association between children 'in need' or 'at 

risk' in the city and poverty (although anecdotally it is believed this is the case). 

Children’s general wellbeing 

Poverty can have a significantly detrimental impact upon children’s general wellbeing. There are the 

very immediate impacts, such as children going to school hungry (of which there are anecdotal reports 

of in Portsmouth at present), and as indicated by significantly increased demand at foodbanks in the 

city; and of homes being cold where parents cannot afford to heat them, due to soaring energy prices. 

 

However there are also the longer term impacts which will affect children throughout their childhood 

and into their adult years. Research, such as the Frank Field Review into Poverty and Life Chances, 

evidences that children who live in poverty between the ages of 0 and 3 suffer significantly poorer 

outcomes later on in life, including around education, employment and socio-economic status. ‘Free 

School Meal (FSM)’ children quickly fall behind their peers as they progress through school; 

demonstrated by a 30% achievement gap in Portsmouth between pupils eligible for FSMs and their 

peers, achieving the expected level at Key Stage 436. This has a knock on effect on self-esteem and 

pupils’ beliefs in their abilities. The negative impacts of poverty in families such as debt, social isolation, 

anxiety, health issues, poor housing and lower levels of educational attainment affect children later on 

in life through lack of employment opportunities, knock on mental health issues from financial hardship 

such as depression and anxiety.  

 

This year, in 2014, the Children’s Society has undertaken a survey with Portsmouth children and young 

people in relation to their well-being. It provides a useful snapshot around how children in Portsmouth 

feel about themselves, their family life, their homes, their health, schooling and their overall 

environment. The survey in Portsmouth used the same set of questions that were developed and tested 

through a program of research by the Children’s Society in collaboration with the University of York, 

involving 40,000 children nationwide aged 8 to 15. The questions have been shown to be reliable 

indicators of children’s wellbeing.  

 

All schools with children aged 7 to 18 were invited to participate, and over 4100 children and young 

people from 16 primary schools, six secondary schools and one Special Educational Needs school 

participated in the survey. Because of the sample size, it should be noted that comparisons between 

                                                      
36 Portsmouth JSNA July 2014 http://protohub.net/jsna/portsmouth-jsna/social-environmental-context/ 

Page 75

http://protohub.net/jsna/portsmouth-jsna/social-environmental-context/


 

53 
 

Portsmouth and the national averages are approximate and were intended to provide material for 

further discussion with children and adults in the Portsmouth area.  

 

The key findings were as follows: 

 Most children in Portsmouth are happy with their lives, but around 10 – 13% of children have 

low overall well-being. 

 Those with disabilities, learning difficulties or not living with their family have lower overall well-

being. 

 Children in Portsmouth are happier than average with their prospects for the future and their 

money/possessions. 

 They are less happy than average with their health and appearance. 

 Just under a third of the children surveyed said that they had been bullied in the last year. 

 The Children’s Society’s national research shows that family relationships, choice, 

money/possessions, and experiences of bullying are some of the most important aspects of life 

affecting children’s well-being. 

 

Taking the third point above – ‘children in Portsmouth are happier than average with their prospects for 

the future and their money/possessions’ could be seen as good news in relation to the child poverty 

needs assessment. However the questions involved in this make the assumption that children know 

what their prospects are. There is some research to suggest that there are lower expectations for 

children from poor socio-economic backgrounds and so young people in the city may not know about all 

of the opportunities that are available to them- indeed no-one may ever have spoken to them about the 

possibilities of going to University, for example. Children from poor socio-economic backgrounds may in 

fact get channelled into poor paid professions such as hair dressing, catering, retail and basic 

construction work. Whilst there is nothing wrong with children pursuing this if this is their passion, what 

would be concerning would be that they go into these professions because the adults around them do 

not broaden their horizons and make them aware of the full range of opportunities available. (See 

Children’s expectations and aspirations section for more information).  

 

It is important to note that 10 – 13% of all children reported low well-being in Portsmouth. For future 

research purposes, it would be interesting to see whether there was any correlation between these 

children and those living in areas of deprivation. 

 

It should also be noted that the survey did not ask some very fundamental questions related to poverty 

– for example, whether children were finding that there was sometimes not enough to eat at home, or 

that there was not enough money in the household to put the heating on. (Anecdotal reports from 

schools and wider professionals in the city suggest that there are increased reports of this). 

 

Some of the quotes from the follow up visits to schools are also quite interesting – for example ‘I think 

more people are fat because healthy food is like £3 for a salad and burgers are 99p’ (Year 8 boy). Whilst 

Page 76



 

54 
 

this comment related to questions around diet and exercise, there is an obvious link here with the cost 

of healthy food and potential financial hardship. 

 

Summary: children's general wellbeing 

Evidence suggests that poverty can have a significantly detrimental impact on children's general 

wellbeing - through immediate impacts such as going to school hungry and not having a warm home, to 

the longer term impacts of lower educational attainment for 'free school meal' children and future life 

chances. 

Perhaps surprisingly, a local survey by the Children's Society in 2014 found that children in Portsmouth 

were happier than average with their prospects for the future and their money/possessions. 

However this makes the assumption that children know what their full range of prospects are; and 

anecdotally, evidence suggests that this might not always be the case for children from poor 

communities in the city - for example with significantly lower than average numbers of Portsmouth 

children going on to University. 

10 – 13% of all children reported low well-being in Portsmouth. It is unknown at present as to whether 
there is any correlation between these children and children living in areas of deprivation. This would be 
an area for future research. 

The survey did not ask questions about whether children ever went hungry due to not enough money in 
the household; or whether they experienced living in a cold home. The findings are therefore limited 
and should be treated with caution. 

 

Children’s educational attainment and links with Free School Meals data 

The statistical first release (SFR) published by DFE on 29th January 2015 showed GCSE and equivalent 

results in England for 2013-14. The data covers pupils at the end of key stage 4 in the 2013/14 academic 

year. Notwithstanding the two main policy changes (vocational qualifications and 'first entry'37, which 

mean that 2012/13 results cannot be compared with the 2013/14 results, it is worth noting that the gap 

between Portsmouth and the national average has significantly narrowed, as has Portsmouth's relative 

position against its statistical neighbours. Nationally, Portsmouth now ranks 132 out of 151 authorities 

(Portsmouth was 149th for the Gold Standard in 2013, and was bottom for several of the other KS4 

                                                      
37

 There are two major reforms to GCSEs that have an impact on the 2013/14 GCSE and equivalent results: the reform of 
vocational qualifications as recommended in Professor Alison Wolf’s Review of Vocational Education; and an introduction of 
early entry policy. As a result they now only include qualifications in performance measures which meet the new quality 
criteria. This has led to the removal of around 3,000 unique qualifications from the performance measures between 2012/13 
and 2013/14. They also adjust the associated point scores for non-GCSEs so that no qualification will count as larger than one 
GCSE in size. For example, where a BTEC may have previously counted as four GCSEs it will now be reduced to the 
equivalence of a single GCSE in its contribution to performance measures. They restrict the number of non-GCSE 
qualifications that count in performance measures at two per pupil. In addition, in the past, school performance measures 
have been calculated using the best result that a pupil achieved in a subject, regardless of the number of times they may 
have been entered for it - this has now changed to the first entry result only. This new rule only affects a school’s 
performance measure calculations; pupils will still be accredited with every grade achieved, regardless of the number of 
entries. 
 
Note: English Baccalaureate subjects comprise English, mathematics, history or geography, the sciences and a language. 

Page 77



 

55 
 

performance measures) and ranks 9th in its statistical neighbours. The table below shows the figures 

locally and nationally for 2014 (first entry) and 2013 (best entry). 

 

Table 1: GCSE Gold Standard  

 

GCSE Gold Standard (5 A*-C incl Eng and Maths) 

 2014  

(First entry) 

 

2013  

(Best entry) 

 

Portsmouth      50.8% 47.6% 

National (State 

funded) 

56.8% 60.8% 

National (All 

England)  

53.4% 59.2% 

IoW 45.2% 48.7% 

Southampton 51.0% 58.1% 

Hampshire 58.9% 60.0% 

 

Table 2: % of pupils at the end of key stage 4 achieving at GCSE and equivalents: Gold Standard - All 

pupils 2013/14 

 

Region/ 

Local Authority 

5+ A*-C including 

English & 

Mathematics GCSEs 

Statistical 

neighbour 

rank 

Southend-on-Sea 62.2 1 

Bournemouth 61.1 2 

Bristol, City of 55.2 3 

Sheffield 53.9 4 

Plymouth 53.1 5 

Coventry 52.3 6 

Telford and Wrekin 51.7 7 

Southampton 51.0 8 

Portsmouth 50.8 9 

Peterborough 50.0 10 

Derby 50.0 10 

 

 

Table 3: Gold Standard Boys 

 

Page 78



 

56 
 

Region/ 

Local Authority 

5+ A*-C including 

English & 

mathematics GCSEs 

Statistical 

neighbour 

rank 

Southend-on-Sea 56.3 1 

Bournemouth 56.1 2 

Bristol, City of 50.4 3 

Telford and Wrekin 49.9 4 

Sheffield 48.8 5 

Coventry 47.9 6 

Portsmouth 47.5 6 

Peterborough 47.2 8 

Plymouth 46.6 9 

Derby 43.5 10 

Southampton 43.4 11 

 

Table 4: Gold Standard Girls 

 

Region/ 

Local Authority 

5+ A*-C including 

English & 

mathematics GCSEs 

Statistical 

neighbour 

rank 

Southend-on-Sea 68.5 1 

Bournemouth 65.8 2 

Bristol, City of 59.9 3 

Plymouth 59.8 4 

Sheffield 59.2 5 

Southampton 58.9 6 

Derby 56.9 7 

Coventry 56.9 7 

Portsmouth 54.3 9 

Telford and Wrekin 53.8 10 

Peterborough 52.8 11 

 

Whilst it is pleasing that Portsmouth has 'bucked the national trend' and improved its performance 

against last year and against its statistical neighbours, it is recognised also that there is still a long way to 

go to reach upper quartile performance at KS4. 

 

A starting point will be a focus on ensuring more pupils make expected levels of progress in English and 

maths.  

 

Page 79



 

57 
 

Seven of the city's ten mainstream secondary schools / academies improved their Gold Standard figures 

from 2013, with three falling. This inconsistency prevents the city from achieving an even greater level 

of performance against its national peers.  

 

It is worth noting that in 2016 the measure for assessing school performance will change from 'Gold 

Standard' towards a 'progress 8' model which will focus on the progress children make from their entry 

point into secondary education. This may paint Portsmouth's comparative picture in a better light than 

is currently the case38.  

 

There are links between health and educational attainment that may be useful to consider in relation to 

work on educational attainment in the city. Public Health cites these links as the following39: 

 

 Pupils with better health and wellbeing are likely to achieve better academically. 

 Effective social and emotional competencies are associated with greater health and wellbeing, 

and better achievement. 

 The culture, ethos and environment of a school influence the health and wellbeing of pupils and 

their readiness to learn. 

 A positive association exists between academic attainment and physical activity levels of pupils. 

 

Nationally, as well as locally, there has been a significant gap between pupils in receipt of free school 

meals and those who are not, in terms of educational attainment, suggesting a link with low income and 

educational attainment. As the table demonstrates below, some improvement was made locally at Key 

Stage 2 in comparison to national comparators up to 2010/11. However from 2011/12 onwards 

Portsmouth has been several percentage points above the national average.  

At Key Stage 4, the achievement gap at both national and South East regional levels has been stable 

over the last 7 years, fluctuating by up to 2 percentage points, compared to Portsmouth where the 

variation has been over 11 percentage points during that period. This may be partially attributable to 

larger cohort sizes at regional and national level. In Portsmouth, the achievement gap reduced by 6.5 

percentage points, from 30.2 to 23.7, between 2012/13 and 2013/14.  This may be the result of the 

focussed work aimed at reducing the achievement gap, and better use of the Pupil Premium, which has 

taken place over the last 2 years. However, taking into consideration previous fluctuations, there is 

currently insufficient evidence to confirm that this reduction is sustainable. 

Even if Portsmouth is able to maintain this level of achievement, the current gap of 23.7 percentage 

points demonstrates a clear achievement gap between FSM and non FSM children, and this simply isn’t 

good enough for children in poor households. This remains a significant issue therefore not just for 

Portsmouth but also the wider country.  

                                                      
38

 All data supplied by the Council's Education Service 2014. 
39

 Source: Public Health England - The link between pupil health and wellbeing and attainment (Nov 14) 
 

Page 80



 

58 
 

 

Achievement gap between pupils eligible for FSMs and their peers achieving the expected level at Key 
Stage 2 , Portsmouth City and comparators 2007/08 - 2013/1440  

 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 

England 
 

22.3 22.1 21.0 20.0 17.0 19.0 18.0 

Government 
Office of the 
South East 

28.3 29.1 25.0 26.0 22.0 24.0 22.0 

Portsmouth 
City 

27.0 24.1 21.0 18.0 24.0 24.0 21.0 

 

Achievement gap between pupils eligible for FSMs and their peers achieving the expected level at Key 
Stage 4, Portsmouth City and comparators 2007/08 - 2013/1441 

 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 

England 
 

27.8 27.8 27.6 27.5 26.4 26.7 27.0 

Government 
Office of the 
South East 

32.8 32.3 33.8 33.8 33.3 32.7 33.5 

Portsmouth 
City 

21.2 18.8 25.0 29.7 28.5 30.2 23.7 

 

Unfortunately the issue with lower attainment and links with free school meals follows through into 

early adulthood for young people in Portsmouth. The Portsmouth Joint Strategic Needs Assessment42 

demonstrates that, in 2013, there was a sharp drop in attainment (i.e. qualified to Level 2 or higher) for 

young people on free school meals by the age of 19. Only 59% of 19 year olds achieved Level 2 who 

were in receipt of free school meals at 15, compared to 71% for England as a whole. Numbers of young 

people in Portsmouth progressing to year 12 have been falling year on year and will continue to do so 

for the next couple of years. 

 

                                                      
40

 Portsmouth JSNA July 2014 http://protohub.net/jsna/portsmouth-jsna/social-environmental-context/ 
41

 Portsmouth JSNA July 2014 http://protohub.net/jsna/portsmouth-jsna/social-environmental-context/ 

 
42

 Portsmouth Joint Strategic Needs Assessment accessed 22.09.14: http://protohub.net/jsna/portsmouth-jsna/social-
environmental-context/  

Page 81

http://protohub.net/jsna/portsmouth-jsna/social-environmental-context/
http://protohub.net/jsna/portsmouth-jsna/social-environmental-context/
http://protohub.net/jsna/portsmouth-jsna/social-environmental-context/
http://protohub.net/jsna/portsmouth-jsna/social-environmental-context/


 

59 
 

 
The House of Commons Education Committee released a report on the 11th June 2014 named 

'Underachievement in Education by White British Working Class Children'43. The report highlighted that 

white children who are eligible for free school meals are falling significantly behind their peers and are 

consistently the lowest performing group in the country. The difference in attainment between them 

and their more affluent white peers is marked; and larger than for any other ethnic group. Whilst 

initially the inquiry looked at definitions for 'working class' they found this was complex and tended to 

be based on parents' occupations. The proxy of free school meal eligibility was therefore used - poverty 

is often used as a proxy for class. There are issues with this though - for example a mismatch between 

free school meal children and parents who self-define as working class.  

 

There are other dangers of associating poverty with class. The report states that 'Statements relating to 

the underachievement of white working class pupils often use eligibility for free school meals as a proxy 

for working class. Entitlement to FSM is not synonymous with working class, but it is a useful proxy for 

poverty which itself has an association with educational underachievement'. Amongst a range of 

measures, the report talks about the importance of getting the best teachers to the areas that need 

them most, thinking about what incentives drive teachers to work in particular areas, and then 

deploying the best teachers within individual schools according to their strengths in terms of helping 

raise attainment for this group accordingly. 

 

                                                      
43

 House of Commons Education Committee 'Underachievement in Education by White Working Class Children' London 
(2014) 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

 March 2010  March 2011  March 2012  March 2013Pe
rc

e
n

tg
ae

 o
f 1

9 
ye

a
r o

ld
s 

ac
hi

ev
in

g 
a

t L
ev

e
l 2

 a
nd

 a
bo

ve
, i

n
 re

ce
ip

t o
f f

re
e 

sc
ho

ol
 m

ea
ls

 a
t 

15
 

Percentage of 19 year olds (in receipt of free school meals) qualified to Level 2 or higher
Portsmouth City and Comparators, March 2010 onwards

Portsmouth England Plymouth Statistical Neighbour Southampton Statistical Neighbour

Page 82



 

60 
 

It should also be noted that literacy levels for Key Stage 2 free school meal children in Portsmouth are 

significantly below those of non-free school meal children - for full details of this please see the Adult 

Literacy section. Not being able to read at an acceptable level has a significant knock on effect on 

children's future employment and finances, increasing their risk of poverty as adults. 

 

On the wider subject of FSMs, FSMs are a useful way of ensuring that disadvantaged children receive a 

nutritional meal each day, which is particularly pertinent given national reports of children coming to 

school hungry and with local increased use of foodbanks. FSMs are now available for all children in 

infant school, on a universal basis. With the links between concentration and diet/nutrition this is likely 

to have a positive impact for some children in relation to their school performance. 

 

Finally, there is a strong correlation to date on child poverty rates and Ofsted judgements for schools44. 

If an area has a child poverty rate of under 20% (with the exception of Herefordshire) it's a "Good" 

judgement.   Those with a child poverty rate of over 20%, with the exception of Hartlepool, have all got 

Requires Improvement or Inadequate. The only exception is Hartlepool who have the highest spend per 

head on children and young people's services (excluding education services) of any local authority 

inspected to date - i.e. it could be argued that they've invested heavily to compensate for the child 

poverty/deprivation factors in their area. 

 

There is a reasonable correlation between scale and judgement (i.e. larger local authorities tending to 

get better overall judgements) but it's not as strong as the child poverty correlation. 

 

Overall, raising educational attainment in the city therefore remains critical in terms of tackling longer 

term poverty and its outcomes for individuals - see also Children's Expectations and Aspirations Section. 

 

Summary: Children's educational attainment and links with free school meals data 

Only half (50.8%) of Portsmouth children got the GCSE 'Gold Standard' in 2013/2014 (5 A*-C including 

English and Maths). 

Whilst a direct comparison cannot be made with the previous year, Portsmouth has moved nearer to the 

England average. Whilst this improvement is welcome, it is recognised that there is still a long way to go 

to reach satisfactory standards for children in Portsmouth. 

There is a significant gap (as there is nationally) between pupils in receipt of free school meals (FSMs) in 

Portsmouth and those who are not, in terms of educational attainment.  

In 2013 only 59% of 19 year olds achieved Level 2 who were in receipt of free school meals at 15, 

compared to 71% for England as a whole. 

Literacy levels for free school meal children, whilst improving, are still significantly below those of non-

free school meal children in the city (see adult literacy section). 

                                                      
44

 PCC Education Service; based on 2014 results 

Page 83



 

61 
 

Children’s Expectations and Aspirations 

As stated in the previous tackling poverty needs assessment it is sometimes said within the city that 

children in Portsmouth have low aspirations. In fact there is little evidence for this – a full literature 

review was carried out by the University of Portsmouth in 2010 and it concluded that there may be 

more of an issue around expectations for children in Portsmouth, rather than any evidence that they 

had lower aspirations than other children45. 

 

As stated in the Children's Educational Attainment section of this needs assessment, it is also sometimes 

assumed that schools in deprived areas will do worse academically because of the nature of the families 

and issues they are working with. The report found that it is true that low achievers are mainly situated 

in poor urban areas, but variation and school quality is extensively distributed among different schools 

and local authorities, allowing high performance to be achievable for some disadvantaged pupils. (This is 

evidenced by the fact that there are schools in London and other areas of the country with high levels of 

poverty and deprivation and yet they have been able to produce good academic results for their 

children). Although students’ social and economic circumstances appear to be the most important 

factors, studies have found that the quality of the schools can make a difference to outcomes (Cassen, 

2007). The report also found a relationship between neighbourhood poverty and teacher quality; the 

poorer the area, the worse the teaching46. This may be linked with the difficulties there are in recruiting 

sufficient numbers of teachers to neighbourhoods perceived as 'challenging'. 

 
Kintrea (2009) concludes his research finding by saying that neighbourhood is important but not as 

much as family, household, ethnicity, and income factors. To summarise, it can be said that the 

assumption that low SES is a cause of low aspiration is an over-simplification. In much of the research 

this assumption is not evidenced. Although it is clear that aspirations are influenced by the adults in 

children’s lives it is not necessarily the case that regional poverty leads to low aspiration. Ethnicity seems 

to play a role in student’s aspirational goals, although other factors such as the home educational 

aspirations are also important. Students who had career aspirations were more likely to have family 

members as role models. Parents of black students seem to encourage their sons to do better, whereas 

parents of white students did not want their children to suffer disappointment or angry feelings. Similar 

patterns in ethnic groups have been found in other research (Strand & Winston, 2008).  

 

A recent report by the Social Mobility and Child Poverty Commission called 'Cracking the code: how 

schools can improve social mobility' 47 highlights how being poor too often leads to a lifetime of poverty; 

and that 'nearly six out of ten disadvantaged48 children in England do not achieve a basic set of 

                                                      
45

 Aspirations, Expectations and Achievement: A Project for Portsmouth City Council, University of Portsmouth (2010). 
46

 Aspirations, Expectations and Achievement: A Project for Portsmouth City Council, University of Portsmouth (2010). 
47

 'Cracking the code: how schools can improve social mobility' Social Mobility and Child Poverty Commission, London (Oct 
2014). 
48

 Free School Meal children 

Page 84



 

62 
 

qualifications49 compared to only one in three children from more advantaged back grounds'. The report 

also confirms that  

 

'There is nothing pre-ordained to make the UK a low social mobility society where children's starting 

point in life determines where they end up. International evidence has long suggested that the link 

between social background and outcomes is stronger in the UK than in many other countries. Now there 

is growing evidence from the English schools system that deprivation need not be destiny. There is an 

emerging wealth of data, stories and individual experiences demonstrating that some schools are 

bucking the trend, enabling their disadvantaged students to far exceed what would have been predicted 

for them based on experience nationally'.  

 

The report says that schools should do more to learn from what they call 'code breakers', and it sets out 

5 key steps to improve children's life chances as follows, which it will be important to reflect in any 

tackling poverty strategy going forward: 

 

 Using the pupil premium strategically to improve social mobility 

 Building a high expectations, inclusive culture 

 Incessant focus on the quality of teaching 

 Tailored strategies to engage parents 

 Preparing students for all aspects of life, not just exams 

 

If some of the work required in Portsmouth with children is around raising expectations, rather than 

aspirations, it is useful to examine theories around ability and intelligence. A common belief in our 

society is that people with high ability and self-belief in that ability are likely to embrace the challenges 

that they tackle in life with high levels of resilience, determination and success. However, according to 

Carol Dweck, a well-known Education Psychologist from the U.S, it is not ability or belief in that ability 

that predict resilience and perseverance in the face of challenge and failure; rather it is the individual’s 

belief about the nature of their ability (referred to as Self Theory of Intelligence, also known as 

Mindsets) that determines whether learners have an incremental (growth mindset) or entity (fixed 

mindset) self theory of intelligence.  

 

In other words, individuals who have a fixed mindset tend to believe that their intelligence is fixed; that 

they are born that way, and that it can’t be changed. Individuals with a growth mindset however, tend 

to believe that their intelligence is not fixed and that it can develop; that with perseverance, and by 

trying different strategies, they can succeed; and are therefore not put off by challenge or failure. 

Interventions related to Mindsets have been rolled out widely in the USA.  In summary, many years of 

research (pioneered by Carol Dweck and her colleagues) have shown that: 

 

 Children with a growth mindset do better at school; 

                                                      
49

 Five a*-Cs including English and Maths at GCSE 

Page 85



 

63 
 

 Children can be taught a growth mindset;  

 The way in which we give feedback and praise influences mindsets. 

 Teaching a growth mindset raises pupils’ motivation and achievement, especially in traditionally 

difficult subjects (e.g. maths) and across school transitions. 

 

These impacts on attainment occur as positive upward spirals via enhanced resilience to challenging 

tasks. Different patterns in Mindsets in childhood (naturally occurring) persist into adulthood and have 

an impact beyond educational attainment.   

 

It is important therefore to recognise the need to raise expectations for children in Portsmouth, and to 

consider how research of this nature could contribute to this area of work. For example, figures from 

the Government's Higher Education Funding Council for England released in 2013 show that young 

people from the most disadvantaged areas are up to 4 times less likely to go to university than those 

from more affluent areas. The parliamentary constituency of Portsmouth North did particularly badly in 

this report, having the third lowest participation rates in the country with only 22% of young people 

going straight on to university (compared with 2/3rds of 18 year olds in Wimbledon).  

 

This may link back to the expectations there are for children from poor backgrounds in the city, i.e. 

 Are expectations for the city's poor children less than for their more affluent peers? 

 Are these children given the tools to develop 'growth mindsets'? 

 Are these children are made aware of the same range of opportunities for when they leave 

school as their more affluent peers? 

 

 There will be a need therefore within the tackling poverty strategy to examine these issues and to plan 

for ensuring that children in the city from poorer socio-economic backgrounds are not disadvantaged in 

this manner. 

 

Summary: Children's expectations and aspirations 

At present no evidence has been found to suggest children in Portsmouth have low aspirations. However 

some research suggests that there can be lower expectations for children from poor socio-economic 

backgrounds. 

The parliamentary constituency of Portsmouth North in 2013 had the third lowest participation rates in 

the country with only 22% of young people going straight on to university (compared with 2/3rds of 18 

year olds in Wimbledon).  

It cannot be assumed that schools will do worse when they are in deprived areas - some schools in poor 

areas in the country have achieved good results for children. 

One of the key steps to improving children's life chances includes building a high expectations, inclusive 

culture. Raising children's belief and expectation in themselves can be achieved in a number of ways, for 

example through use of growth mindsets theory. 

Page 86



 

64 
 

Childcare 

In general, Portsmouth as a city has a reasonable amount of childcare provision. There are challenges 

for the Council however in meeting some of its statutory duties around sufficient free early education 

places.  

 

The following table demonstrates that generally, quality of provision across the city is good: 

 

Local data - January 2015 (provided by the Council's Early Years Dept) 

All provision 81% good or better (156 of the 193 providers with 
an inspection judgement) 

Childminders 83% good or better (86 of the 110 childminders 
with an inspection judgement) 

Non-domestic premises 87% good or better (70 of the 83 'settings' with an 
inspection judgement) 

 

The table below looks at how Portsmouth has been performing over the last year to two years (and 

compares this with national picture) and demonstrates an upward trajectory as follows: 

 

National profile 31 August 2014 

 

 31 August 2013 31 August 2014 

 National good + PCC good + National good + PCC good + 

All provision 77% 75% 80% 78% (+3%) 

Childminders 75% 67% 78% 75% (+8%) 

Non-domestic premises 82% 86% 82% 82% (-4%) 

 

It is also useful to look at take up of free early education places for 2 year olds in the city, particularly as 

this can be a key tool for enabling parents to go back to work and thus reducing the risk of poverty: 

 

Take up data 

Free early education (2yr olds) at November 2014(in-line with national self-assessment results) 

Rank nationally Category 

56/151 % Take-up compared to national  

82/151 Target numbers compared to national 

9/19 % Take-up compared to Regional 

11/19 Target numbers compared to Regional 

 

Portsmouth has achieved well compared to target as it is in the top 37% of LA's for % take-up. 

 

At November 2014 - 964 children had been allocated a place for the autumn term (79% Department for 

Work and Pensions (DWP) target). 

Page 87



 

65 
 

 

Ofsted registered childcare places - August 2014 

The following table also details provision of Ofsted registered childcare places in the city. It should be 

noted that the providers referred to below are the number of providers registered on the database at 

the end of the relevant period. As not all providers inform Ofsted that they have ceased provision, this 

number is likely to be higher than the actual number of providers. 

 

It should also be noted that registered places are the number of children that may attend the provision 

at any one time. Registered places are not the number of places occupied, nor the number of children 

who may benefit from receiving places through providers offering sessions at different times of the day. 

Place numbers are only collected for providers on the Early Years Register. For these providers, the 

numbers show the total places available for children under eight. As of 1 September, providers can only 

care for children in accordance with the requirements of the Early Years Foundation Stage. Ofsted no 

longer set additional conditions at registration and will only update data on available places at 

inspection. Averages are used for a very small number of providers whose place numbers are not 

available at the time of the analysis. There are very small discrepancies in totals due to rounding. 

 

Ofsted registered childcare places - August 2014 

 

 
Childminder 

Childcare on 

Non-Domestic Premises 
All providers 

 Providers Places Providers Places Providers Places 

All Registers  105 547 52 2,369 157 2,916 

EYR and CCR 12 50 9 334 21 384 

EYR only 0 0 35 1,435 35 1,435 

EYR registered 117 597 96 4,138 213 4,735 

 

(Register(s): Ofsted registered care provided for children on two registers, the Early Years Register (EYR) 

and the Childcare Register, which has a compulsory (CCR) and voluntary (VCR) component.  People can 

apply to join one register or both registers at the same time. Most childcare providers caring for children 

aged under eight must register with Ofsted unless the law states they are not required to do so. If a 

childcare provider is not required to register with Ofsted, then in some circumstances they may choose 

to do so by joining the voluntary part of the Childcare Register (VCR). 

 

Current priority areas for capacity development - January 2015 

 

In relation to the challenges mentioned earlier in relation to its statutory duties, the Council currently 

has 5 priority areas for development. These have been agreed in light of predicted eligibility for free 

early education places (2yr olds), reported waiting lists from registered childcare places and local 

intelligence from children's centre outreach staff. The areas of the City are: 

 Paulsgrove 

Page 88



 

66 
 

 Stamshaw 

 Buckland and Fratton 

 Baffins 

 Eastney and Craneswater 

 

Using 'trajectory funding' allocated by the Department for Education the Council has supported the 

development of almost 600 new childcare places since April 2012. In addition, 8 large projects are 

currently in their final planning stages to meet the demands of parents in the priority areas: 

 Joint work with Paulsgrove Baptist Church to develop accommodation at their Community Hall 

 Joint work with Parkwood Leisure to develop accommodation at The Mountbatten Centre 

 Joint work with Manor Infant School to increase the community pre-school accommodation 

 Joint work with the Stacey Centre to improve accommodation, allowing a long-term lease to a 

new childcare provider 

 Support for the development of a new childcare provision at the former male bowls pavilion at 

Canoe Lake 

 Support for the development of extended accommodation at Little Learners Nursery  

 Support for the development of a new childcare provision on the site of St James' Hospital 

 Support for the development of a new childcare provision at Langstone Community Church 

 

Summary: Childcare 

In general, Portsmouth as a city has a reasonable amount of childcare provision. Quality of provision is 

generally good. 

Portsmouth is in the top 37% of Local Authorities for % take-up of free early education (2yr olds) at 

November 2014 (in-line with national self-assessment results). 

However Portsmouth does not perform so well in the priority geographical areas of Paulsgrove, 

Stamshaw, Buckland and Fratton, Baffins and Eastney and Craneswater, and projects have been 

developed to address these challenges. 

The ‘Heat or Eat’ Dilemma – Fuel and Food Poverty experienced by families 

There has been a significant amount of press coverage in the past 2 years about people struggling to 

make ends meet, and having to choose between key needs such as heating their homes, or eating.  In 

fact these are just two of the essential areas which families may be trying to juggle. Recent research 

commissioned by Shelter found that more than a third of parents have cut back on food to pay for their 

housing costs. The survey, undertaken by YouGov for Shelter, surveyed 10,174 working adults with 

children aged under 18, and showed that 36.7% (about 3,700) had reduced the amount they spend on 

food to keep up payments on their homes. More than 10% (about 1,070) of parents responding to the 

poll at the end of July said they or their partner had skipped meals to help pay for their housing costs, 

while about 1,310 (12.9%) had delayed buying their children new shoes50.  

                                                      
50 Source - 'Inside Housing' newsletter 28th August 14 

Page 89



 

67 
 

 

This relationship between food, warmth and housing and how to prioritise when they are all essential, 

demonstrates how difficult it gets when the household income does not match and sufficiently exceed 

household costs; and when people have little or no savings. In April 2014 Shelter published research 

which stated that millions of working families in the UK could not pay their rent or mortgage for more 

than a month if they lost their job. A survey of working adults who pay rent or a mortgage found that, 

with little or no savings to fall back on, 3.8 million families could be just one paycheque away from 

losing their home51. 

 

Anecdotal evidence from advice services and foodbanks in the city suggests that it is often a change of 

circumstance that tips the balance - i.e. people have been just about getting by but then a member of 

the household gets ill or loses their job, or there is a big unexpected cost; and there is no safety net to 

fall back on, leading to financial crisis. 

 

There is no doubt that there have been real cost of living issues for families over the past few years in 

light of the economic downturn. Whilst signs of recovery may be appearing, local evidence suggests that 

many families simply aren’t yet feeling these benefits on the ground. In addition some families have 

become worse off financially as a result of the welfare reforms program (which hit children and families 

the hardest), and debt advice services in the city are reporting record numbers of people asking for help. 

 

Foodbank usage has also dramatically increased in the last few years. For example, one of the busiest 

foodbanks in the city, the Trussell Trust Foodbank in the King's Church, has seen the following rise in 

demand over the past few years: 

 

2011 
 

2012 
 

2013 
 

1493 vouchers redeemed 
 

2053 vouchers redeemed 
 

3037 vouchers redeemed 
 

3075 people 
 

3896 people 
 

6243 people 
 

 

It’s fair to say there are some very polarised debates happening about foodbanks at the moment, 

particularly around the underlying causes as to why people are using foodbanks and whether this is true 

emergency usage, or whether increased supply has created increased demand.  

 

There are now approximately 10-12 foodbanks in Portsmouth - this has certainly increased over the last 

3 years. In terms of data from the foodbanks themselves, the single biggest cause for referral appears to 

                                                      
51 'Almost four million families could be just one paycheque away from losing their home':  Shelter website 14 

April 2014 

 
 

Page 90



 

68 
 

be benefit delays, suspensions or sanctions. Whilst there is no local data around sanctions, agencies 

report increased use of sanctions linked to the increased levels of conditionality attached to benefits 

such as Jobseekers Allowance. Some of the problems seem to centre around the ‘fitness for work’ 

assessments and levels of mental health specialism within the process – i.e. some people with mental 

health issues are being assessed as ‘fit for work’ because their mental health issues are not being 

correctly assessed, which then involves the stressful process for people of taking their case to appeal. 

 

Problems with sickness benefits locally have been evidenced by a recent piece of research by the Bill 

Sargent Trust with advice services across Portsmouth, Southampton and Hampshire. It showed that the 

single biggest demand across all advice services involved problems with either applying for or on-going 

issues with Employment Support Allowance. 3,500 people in Portsmouth were adversely affected by the 

move from IB to ESA and between them they have lost an estimated £13m a year52. When cases go to 

appeal, a significant proportion are then over-turned. For example, during the period October 2008 and 

May 2011, of ESA claimants judged fit for work in an initial functional assessment, 38% of DWP decisions 

nationally, and 47% in the South East, were overturned on appeal, suggesting that the process isn’t 

working for people at present53. Anecdotally, agencies are reporting serious delays in processing 

people’s claims (ditto with Personal Independence Payment) and the foodbanks are seeing cases such as 

this on a daily basis where people literally have no food or funds while they are waiting for their benefits 

to be sorted out. 

 

The King's Church Foodbank also reports a higher prevalence of working families approaching them for 

help. It is likely this is linked to higher levels of in work poverty in the country (this was previously half of 

all children in poverty, but has more recently risen to two thirds of all children in poverty)54. 

 

Given the level of need presenting at foodbanks in the city this presents an opportunity to work 

together with foodbanks to learn about this need, and how it might be possible to use these contacts as 

a way of exploring the underlying causes of people’s crisis situations in order to try and find longer term 

solutions. 

 

For example, there are some clear links with healthy eating and healthy lifestyle-related issues. Where 

people are struggling financially, this may be having a knock on effect on people's diet and the type of 

food they can afford. The BBC reported on the 22nd August 2014 that the Faculty of Public Health had 

stated that conditions like rickets were becoming more apparent because people could not afford 

quality food in their diet. It came after health figures recently revealed a 19% increase in the number of 

people admitted to hospital with malnutrition over the past year. Vice president of the Faculty of Public 

Health, John Middleton, said food-related ill health was getting worse through "extreme poverty and 

                                                      
52

 'The Impact of Welfare Reforms in Hampshire', Beatty et al, Bill Sargent Trust (Dec 2013) 
53

 Department for Work and Pensions; Employment and Support Allowance appeal outcomes; (part of) Ad hoc statistical 

analysis 2012 - quarter 3; published 12 September 2012 
54

 Source: ‘Tackling In-Work Poverty by Supporting Dual-Earning Families’, Kayte Lawton and Spencer Thompson, Joseph 
Rowntree Foundation (November 2013). 

Page 91



 

69 
 

the use of food banks"… "It's getting worse because people can't afford good quality food. It's getting 

worse where malnutrition, rickets and other manifestations of extreme poor diet are becoming 

apparent". 55 

 

Something which may ease some of these pressures was the introduction of free school meals for all 

infant school children this Autumn. This policy is welcomed from a tackling poverty perspective. From a 

wider, preventative perspective however the aim should be for families to be able to afford to feed their 

families adequately without having to solely rely on free school meals (especially as these are not 

available during the holiday periods). 

 

A recommendation made in a recent report by Church Action on Poverty56 states that 'Local Authorities, 

social landlords and others should explore the potential for collective purchasing of food and fuel and for 

district heating systems or community energy co-operatives in low income neighbourhoods'. Portsmouth 

has taken part, for example, in the Switch Hampshire Scheme, which is a collective energy switching 

scheme which gets residents cheaper prices on their fuel bills through bulk purchasing. This has not 

happened recently and so there is a need to explore this and other options for residents. 

 

Summary: The ‘Heat or Eat’ Dilemma – Fuel and Food Poverty experienced by families 

Foodbank usage has dramatically increased in the last few years in Portsmouth. For example, the 

Trussell Trust Foodbank saw demand double between 2011 and 2013, and reports a higher prevalence 

of working families asking for help. 

The single biggest cause for referral to foodbanks in the city appears to be benefit delays, suspensions or 

sanctions. 

Work with Foodbanks can involve exploring the underlying causes of people’s problems in order to try 

and find longer term solutions. Collective purchasing of food and fuel in the city should also be explored. 

 

Detailed research and analysis – the Adult population 

In the following section the needs of adults experiencing poverty in Portsmouth are examined.  However 

this section should be read in conjunction with the ‘Factors that have a strong relationship with poverty 

for all residents’ section, which examines themes based on the needs of the population as a whole (for 

example health and lifestyle, transport and financial inclusion). Similarly, there will be needs and 

vulnerable groups identified in the children and families section of this needs assessment which will 

apply to the adults who have children, and so this should also be referenced. 

                                                      
55 Link: http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/health-28883892 
56

 Food, Fuel and Finance - Tackling the Poverty Premium - Dec 14 - Church Action on Poverty 
 

Page 92

http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/health-28883892


 

70 
 

Portsmouth demographics 

The 2012-based Sub-national Population Projections estimate that in 2013 there are 208,889 people 

living in Portsmouth. Of these, 140,400 are aged 16 - 64, and 28,500 are aged 65+57.  This section will 

focus on working age adults, i.e. those aged 16 – 64, who account for approximately 67% of the 

population in Portsmouth, and older people – those aged 65+, who account for approximately 14% of 

the population. Breakdown within the age groups is as follows: 

 

Working age population by age band 2012 & 2022 

Age group 
2012 2022 % change 

15 - 19 14,725 14,507 -1.5% 

20 - 24 24,344 24,007 -1.4% 

25 - 64 103,595 109,939 6.1% 

65 - 74 14,786 16,573 12.1% 

75 - 84 9,357 11,459 22.5% 

85+ 4,337 5,068 16.9% 

 

It demonstrates that very little change is forecast in either overall numbers or distribution over the next 

ten years for the 15 - 24 year old population. However there is then an upward trajectory in numbers as 

ages rise, with a 22% increase in the numbers of 75 - 84 year olds by 2022, and a 16% increase in the % 

of 85+, as people live longer.  

 

In terms of ethnicity, the size and make-up of Portsmouth's Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) community 

has changed significantly since the last census.  Having grown by only 4.4% between 2001 and 2011, the 

White British population now accounts for 84% of the usual resident population compared to 92% in 

2001.  The ethnic group category that has made the greatest gain since 2001 is Other White (growing by 

20% to account for 3.8% of the population - up from 2.2% in 2001), followed by Black African (growing 

by 12.8% to account for 1.4% of the population - up from 0.3% in 2001). See the table below for a basic 

breakdown as follows:  

 

  0 - 15 Working age 
(16 - 64) 

Retirement 
age (65+) 

All persons % 

White British 29,984 116,151 26,178 172,313 84.0% 

White non-British 1,196 7,069 604 8,869 4.3% 

Mixed 2,592 2,756 119 5,467 2.7% 

Asian/Asian British 2,692 9,387 395 12,474 6.1% 

Black/Black British 932 2,784 61 3,777 1.8% 

Arab or other ethnic group 404 1,697 55 2,156 1.1% 

                                                      
57

 Source: 2012-based Sub-national Population Projections (ONS) 

Page 93



 

71 
 

  0 - 15 Working age 
(16 - 64) 

Retirement 
age (65+) 

All persons % 

All Persons 37,800 139,844 27,412 205,056 100 
Source: ONS Census 2011 

     Figures may not sum exactly due to rounding 
      

The 2011 Census was the first Census to capture more detailed information on ethnicity - providing 

people with the opportunity to identify the ethnic group and cultural background to which they perceive 

themselves to belong.  This allowed the ONS to expand the five broad ethnic groups/18 ethnic group 

categories to provide estimates of 250 individual ethnicities.  Bangladeshi, Indian and Chinese remain 

amongst the top six ethnicities in Portsmouth, but since 2001 they have been joined by Black African, 

Mixed White & Asian and Polish ('Other White').  A (ranked) list of the top 20 different ethnicities in 

Portsmouth (whole population, not just working age adults) can be found below as follows: 

 

Ethnicity of Portsmouth residents - 2011 
Census     

Ethnic Group 2011 # 2011 % 
% BME 

pop Rank 

White: English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern 
Irish/British 172,313 84.03%   1 

Asian/Asian British: Bangladeshi, British 
Bangladeshi 3,649 1.78% 11.14% 2 

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British: African 2,958 1.44% 9.03% 3 

Asian/Asian British: Indian or British Indian 2,911 1.42% 8.89% 4 

Asian/Asian British: Chinese 2,611 1.27% 7.97% 5 

Mixed/multiple ethnic group: White and Asian 2,381 1.16% 7.27% 6 

White: Polish 1,668 0.81% 5.09% 7 

White: Other Western European 1,223 0.60% 3.74% 8 

Mixed/multiple ethnic group: White and Black 
Caribbean 1,103 0.54% 3.37% 9 

Other ethnic group: Arab 1,078 0.53% 3.29% 10 

White: Irish 1,071 0.52% 3.27% 11 

White: European Mixed 1,023 0.50% 3.12% 12 

White: Any other ethnic group 1,022 0.50% 3.12% 13 

Mixed/multiple ethnic group: White and Black 
African 935 0.46% 2.86% 14 

White: Other Eastern European 786 0.38% 2.40% 15 

Asian/Asian British: Filipino 679 0.33% 2.07% 16 

Mixed/multiple ethnic group: Any other 
ethnic group 589 0.29% 1.80% 17 

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British: 
Caribbean 540 0.26% 1.65% 18 

Page 94



 

72 
 

Asian/Asian British: Pakistani or British 
Pakistani 539 0.26% 1.65% 19 

White: Baltic States 369 0.18% 1.13% 20 

 

In terms of ethnicity, in the UK, individuals living in households headed by someone from an ethnic 

minority are more likely to live in low income households58. This is particularly the case for households 

headed by someone of Pakistani or Bangladeshi ethnic origin. The HBAI report states that it is likely that 

this is because individuals in workless households face very high risks of living in poverty and 

employment rates vary by ethnicity, with high rates of worklessness among individuals of Pakistani and 

Bangladeshi ethnic origin.  

 

The highest concentrations of Bangladeshi, Indian, Black African and Chinese communities are in the St 

Thomas and Charles Dickens wards, which traditionally have been top four most deprived wards in 

Portsmouth59. Recognising and addressing the additional challenges faced by these and other 

communities in terms of poverty will be of utmost importance in the new Tackling Poverty Strategy 

going forward.  Local intelligence on the particular issues affecting BME groups experiencing poverty is 

limited and more work in this area is a priority action if we are to understand needs of our BME 

communities (children, adults and older people) including gypsy and traveller communities and asylum 

seekers, and newer communities such as the needs of Eastern European communities. ¥ Local 

intelligence gap 

  

Additional information on ethnicity – which will also apply to older people depending on their 

circumstances – can be found in the ‘Portsmouth demographics’ and ‘children, families and adults most 

at risk from poverty’ sections of this needs assessment. 

 

Summary of key points: Portsmouth demographics, adult population 

There are 208,889 people living in Portsmouth. Of these, 140,400 are aged 16 - 64, and 28,500 are aged 

65+.  Those aged 16 – 64 account for approximately 67% of the population in Portsmouth, and older 

people – those aged 65+, account for approximately 14% of the population. 

There is an upward trajectory in numbers as ages rise, with a 22% increase in the numbers of 75 - 84 
year olds by 2022, and a 16% increase in the % of 85+, as people live longer.  

The White British population now accounts for 84% of the usual resident population compared to 92% 

in 2001.  The ethnic group category that has made the greatest gain since 2001 is Other White (now 

accounting for 3.8% of the population, followed by Black African, now accounting for 1.4% of the 

population. 

Bangladeshi, Indian and Chinese remain amongst the top six ethnicities in Portsmouth, but since 2001 

they have been joined by Black African, Mixed White & Asian and Polish ('Other White'). 

In terms of ethnicity, in the UK, individuals living in households headed by someone from an ethnic 

minority are more likely to live in low income households. This is particularly the case for households 

                                                      
58

 Source: Households Below Average Income - – An analysis of income distribution 1994/95 – 2011/2012 (HBAI 2013) 
59

 Portsmouth JSNA 2014 - taken from IMD 2010 data 

Page 95



 

73 
 

headed by someone of Pakistani or Bangladeshi ethnic origin. 

The highest concentrations of Bangladeshi, Indian, Black African and Chinese communities are in the St 

Thomas and Charles Dickens wards, which traditionally have been top four most deprived wards in 

Portsmouth. 

Local intelligence on the particular issues affecting BME groups experiencing poverty is limited and more 

work in this area is a priority action. 

Extent of poverty for working age adults in Portsmouth – how much and where? 

Unfortunately the same level of up-to-date data, which is currently available to analyse child poverty all 

the way down to lower super output area level locally, is not available for the adult population. The 

Households Below Average Income (HBAI) data is available at a national level only.  

 

There is Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) data available at a local level (see 'National data sources 

available at a local level' section shortly), but the last release - IMD 2010 - draws from data sets primarily 

from 2008, meaning this data is very dated and does not reflect the economic downturn and other 

changes such as the welfare reforms program. Unfortunately the new IMD 2014 data release is not due 

until Summer 2015. 

 

However there are a number of sources that can be examined to at least give indicators as to the extent 

of poverty in the city as follows: 

National data - what can be inferred 

 

The data in this section has been taken from the Households Below Average Income Survey (HBAI 2014) 

which uses data from 2012-13 60 to give a national picture of poverty across the population.  

 

Generally, there has been little change in the percentage of working age adults in low-income 

households in 2012/13. 15 per cent of working-age adults were in relative low income (with incomes 

below 60% of contemporary median net disposable household income before housing costs). From 

1998/99 the percentage of working-age adults in relative low income has not seen large changes, 

remaining between 14 and 16 per cent. 

 

16 per cent of working-age adults were in absolute low income before housing costs in 

2012/13. The percentage in absolute low income underwent a sustained decrease from 1998/99 to 

2004/05. Following some years of fluctuating levels, there was an increase from 2009/10 to 2011/12. 

 

There was a 1 percentage point decrease in 2012/13, which was not statistically significant, and it is at 

the same level as it was in 2001/02. These latest figures BHC show 5.5 million working-age adults in 

relative low income, whilst there were 5.9 million under the absolute low income measure. Whilst the 

                                                      
60

 Source: Households Below Average Income - – An analysis of income distribution 1994/95 – 2012/2013 (HBAI 2014) 
 

Page 96



 

74 
 

effects of rising housing costs may be seen in the 1 percentage point increase in working-age adults in 

absolute low income AHC to 23 per cent, this change was not statistically significant. This follows small 

steady increases from 2004/05 onwards, returning to levels last seen between 1999/00 and 2000/01. 

 

National data sources available at a local level 

 

As stated previously, the Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) data 2010, which draws upon data sources from 

2008, is very much out of date now. However for the sake of historic reference, the IMD data61 shows the 

following: 

 

Portsmouth is ranked 76rd of 326 local authorities in England, compared with 93rd of 354 authorities in 2007 

(where 1 is the most deprived). Within Hampshire and the Isle of Wight, Portsmouth is ranked highest of 14 local 

authorities for its average deprivation score and concentration of deprivation. It is ranked second highest for its 

average rank of deprivation, of income deprivation and employment deprivation. It is ranked third highest for 

extent of deprivation.  

 

The most deprived areas in Portsmouth continue to be in Charles Dickens ward (six of the 10 worst areas in 

Portsmouth), Paulsgrove (two areas), Cosham and St Thomas wards.  

 

The most income deprived areas are in Charles Dickens ward with seven out of the 10 worst areas (up from six in 

2007), St Thomas, Nelson, and Cosham wards. The estimated number of people suffering income deprivation in 

Portsmouth has risen slightly up to 30,000 from 29,600 in 2007.  

 

The most employment deprived areas in Portsmouth continue to be in Charles Dickens, with seven out of the 10 

worst areas (up from six in 2007), Nelson, Cosham and St Thomas wards. There were an estimated 11,300 people 

in Portsmouth suffering employment deprivation, up from 10,500 in 2007.  

 

The most health deprived areas in Portsmouth continue to be in Charles Dickens ward, with seven out of the 10 

worst areas (down from eight in 2007), Nelson (two of the worst 10 areas) and Fratton wards.  

 

The most education, skills and training deprived areas in Portsmouth are in Charles Dickens ward, with five out of 

the worst 10 areas (up from four in 2007), Paulsgrove (four of the worst 10 areas) and St Thomas wards.  

 

The most deprived areas in Portsmouth for housing and services are in Paulsgrove ward, with five out of the 

worst 10 areas (up from four in 2007), Eastney and Craneswater ward with two of the worst 10 areas (up from 

one in 2007), Cosham, Copnor, and Hilsea wards.  

 

The worst areas for crime are in Charles Dickens ward, with four of the worst 10 areas (down from five in 2007), 

Eastney and Craneswater, Fratton, Nelson, Paulsgrove, St Jude and St Thomas wards.  

The worst areas in Portsmouth for living environment deprivation are in Cosham and Nelson wards (both with 

three areas in the worst 10 areas), Paulsgrove (two areas), Charles Dickens (down from three in 2007) and Fratton 

wards.  

 

                                                      
61

 Portsmouth JSNA - Source:  IMD data 2010 http://www.hants.gov.uk/pccjsna/API_STR_JSNA_SEC_DEP2.pdf  

Page 97

http://www.hants.gov.uk/pccjsna/API_STR_JSNA_SEC_DEP2.pdf


 

75 
 

Local data sources that can also contribute to working-age adult poverty analysis 

 

Given the dated nature of the IMD data, Housing Benefit (HB) and Council Tax Support (CTS) records 

were also analysed as of the 21st July 2014 to provide data that might assist with the analysis of working 

age people across the city. 

 

There are 19,052 households claiming HB, or HB and CTS in Portsmouth wards, and a further 3452 

Households claiming CTS only, totalling 22,504 households, which represents 25.23% of the 89,205 

properties on the valuation list for Council Tax.  

 

HB and CTS can be claimed by people whether they are in work or not, and CTS can be claimed by owner 

occupiers, as well as people who pay rent. As HB and CTS are means tested, people who are better off 

are excluded from this data.  As a consequence, the HB/CTS data might be considered a significant 

sample of lower income households in the city. 

 

Working age households claiming HB/CTS 

Our HB/CTS data identifies 15,596 working age households. This includes 10,633 households where the 

claimant and/or partner are workless. 

 

 
 

Households: Income Analysis 

We have used the HB and CTS data to calculate the average weekly income by household type for 

working and workless households. 

 

Average Incomes: Working Households claiming HB/CTS 

Average 
Income 

Including 
HB & 
CTS 

Average 
Income 

Excluding 
HB & CTS 

4963, 32% 

10633, 68% 

Portsmouth working age household employment status 

Working
Households

Workless
Households

Page 98



 

76 
 

£338.00 £250.00 

 

 

Average Incomes: Workless Households claiming HB/CTS 

Average 
Income 

Including 
HB & 
CTS 

Average 
Income 

Excluding 
HB & CTS 

£253.19 £165.35 

 

Working Age households claiming HB/CTS including a disabled person 

 

HB/CTS data has no comprehensive data about the incidence of disability; we can however confirm the 

number of households where a part of their income includes Disability Living Allowance (DLA), or 

Personal Independence Payments (PIP). It should be noted however, that for households in receipt of 

out of work benefits, our records about DLA/PIP could be understated. 

 

HB/CTS records held however identify 3315 households where the benefit claimant and/or their partner 

or child receive DLA/PIP. 

 

This data suggests 

 20.15% of households claiming HB/CTS have at least one adult with a long-term illness or 

disability. 

 21.25% of households claiming HB/CTS have a family member with a disability 

Location of households claiming HB/CTS 

 

The following table details the location of households by ward 

 

 

NUMBER OF 
HOUSEHOLDS 

BAFFINS 793 

CENTRAL SOUTHSEA 897 

CHARLES DICKENS 2998 

COPNOR 537 

COSHAM 883 

DRAYTON AND FARLINGTON 214 

EASTNEY AND CRANESWATER 853 

FRATTON 1601 

HILSEA 780 

MILTON 828 

NELSON 1627 

Page 99



 

77 
 

PAULSGROVE 1312 

ST JUDE 906 

ST THOMAS 1367 

TOTAL 15596 

 

HB/CTS data indicates that: 

 The greatest number of workless households claiming HB/CTS are in Charles Dickens ward 

 40.59% of workless households claiming HB/CTS are located in Charles Dickens, Nelson and Fratton 

wards  

Summary: extent of poverty for working age adults in Portsmouth – how much and where? 

National Households Below Average Income (HBAI) data shows that there has been little change in the 
percentage of working age adults in low-income households in 2012/13. 15 per cent of working-age 
adults were in relative low income. 

Unfortunately only very limited up-to-date local data is available for the adult population. Housing 
Benefit (HB) and Council Tax Support (CTS) records show that of the 22,504 working age households 
claiming either HB or CTS in Portsmouth, 32% were working households. 40.59% of workless households 
claiming HB/CTS are located in Charles Dickens, Nelson and Fratton wards (the most deprived wards). 

20.15% of households claiming HB/CTS had at least one adult with a long-term illness or disability, and 
21.25% of households claiming HB/CTS had a family member with a disability. 

Adults most at risk from poverty 

(For adults who have children, this section should be read in conjunction with the ‘children and families 

most at risk of poverty’ section)  

 

Establishing who might be at most risk of poverty in the city has usually fallen into two distinct 

categories; geography (i.e. where people live) and vulnerable groups (i.e. groups of people within the 

community who might be at a higher risk statistically of experiencing poverty). 

 

Groups identified by HBAI data 
The HBAI 2013 data62 gives us some useful information around increased levels of risk for particular 

groups in the adult population as follows: 

 

Single working age adults 

 

Being a single household increases the risk of poverty. The table below details household type for adults 

(excluding pensioners) related to risk of poverty: 

 

Percentage of individuals living in households with less than 60% of contemporary median 
income, by family type, gender and adulthood, UK HBAI 2011/1263 

                                                      
62

 Source: Households Below Average Income - – An analysis of income distribution 1994/95 – 2011/2012 (HBAI 2013) 
63

 Source: Households Below Average Income - – An analysis of income distribution 1994/95 – 2011/2012 (HBAI 2013) 

Page 100



 

78 
 

(NB: in order to capture the working age population only, pensioners have been excluded). 

Household type Before Housing Costs After Housing Costs 

Couple with children 15% 21% 

Couple without children 11% 13% 

Single with children 22% 43% 

Single male without children 20% 28% 

Single female without 
children 

19% 28% 

 

As stated previously, 15% of all working age people are living in relative low income households in the 

UK. On this basis, even at the more conservative figures taken before housing costs, being single – either 

with or without children – increases the risk of poverty. This become even more noticeable after 

housing costs - being single with children shows the starkest effect – with a 43% risk. However being a 

single male, or single female without children also runs a 28% risk, which is significantly higher than the 

overall average of 15% after housing costs for the working age population, and also higher than couples 

with or without children. 

 

Workless households 

 

Within this HBAI data set, working age adults in workless families continued to be much more likely to 

live in low-income households than those in families with at least one adult in work. However, because 

the majority of working age adults, around 85%, lived in households where at least one adult was in 

work in 2011/12, 60% of working age adults in relative low income were living in households where at 

least one adult worked. 

 

The table below demonstrates he difference being in work makes to the risk of poverty (remembering 

that the national average for the working age population is a 15% risk of poverty): 

 

Percentage of working age adults in low income groups by various family and household 
characteristics living in households, UK HBAI 2011/1264  
(Income <60% median income) 

Economic status of family Before Housing Costs After Housing Costs 

Single or couple all in full time 
work 

3% 6% 

No-one F/T, one or more in 
P/T work 

24% 34% 

Workless, one or more 
unemployed 

54% 71% 

Workless, other inactive 37% 53% 

Single male workless 40% 53% 

Single female workless 36% 58% 

 

                                                      
64

 Source: Households Below Average Income - – An analysis of income distribution 1994/95 – 2011/2012 (HBAI 2013) 

Page 101



 

79 
 

It is clear that the risk of poverty significantly reduces if working full time, dropping to a mere 3% risk 

before housing costs, or 6% after housing costs. 

 

Working age adults with no reported educational qualification 

 

Another risk identified by the HBAI Survey is around educational attainment. Working age adults with no 

reported educational qualification were almost twice as likely to live in low income households as those 

who reported a qualification below degree level. Those who reported a qualification of degree level or 

above had the lowest rates of low income. Given that under half of all children in 2012/13 gained 5 A-C 

grade GCSEs including English and Maths, and given that, whilst there has been some improvement 

since the last needs assessment in 2011, there is still some way to go in relation to having a strong skills 

and qualifications set in the adult workforce, so this remains a concern for the city.  

 

Working age adults living in a household with a head from an ethnic minority 

 

The table below demonstrates clearly that Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) communities are at a 

significantly higher risk of poverty than the national average.  

 

Percentage of working age adults in low income groups by various family and household 
characteristics living in households, UK HBAI 2011/1265  
(Income <60% median income) 

Ethnic group of head (3 year 
average) 

Before Housing Costs After Housing Costs 

White 14% 19% 

Mixed/multiple ethnic groups 20% 36% 

Asian/Asian British 27% 38% 

-Indian 19% 26% 

-Pakistani 43% 52% 

-Bangladeshi 39% 50% 

-Chinese 26% 40% 

-Any other Asian background 21% 40% 

Black/African/Caribbean/Black 
British 

24% 37% 

Other Ethnic Group 29% 42% 

 

With the national average of 15% of all working age people living in a relative low income household 

these figures are stark for the BME community, particularly the Pakistani and Bangladeshi groups. The 

same potential issues apply here as in the children and families section. The Bangladeshi community is 

one of the largest BME communities in Portsmouth, and there are significant Indian and Chinese 

                                                      
65

 Source: Households Below Average Income - – An analysis of income distribution 1994/95 – 2011/2012 (HBAI 2013) 
 

Page 102



 

80 
 

communities too, so it is important to recognise this increased risk of poverty for these communities in 

order to try and redress the balance.  

 

In a report for Runnymede entitled “Financial Inclusion and Ethnicity”66, Omar Khan says that “It is 

difficult to disentangle poverty-related and ethnicity-related reasons for financial exclusion” and 

suggests that this is an area that would benefit from further research, concluding that “Analysis of BME 

financial exclusion…should distinguish more clearly the different reasons why BME groups have poorer 

access.” The report raises a number of issues which should be addressed as part of the new tackling 

poverty strategy for the city, including: 

 

The need for a targeted approach to increasing financial inclusion and capability, which may vary by 

ethnic group; 

 Educational attainment amongst BME groups; 

 Labour market participation rates amongst BME groups – some groups are disproportionately 

represented in certain sectors of the labour market; 

 Some BME groups (e.g. Bangladeshi and Chinese – both large communities in Portsmouth) are 

far more likely to work in the restaurant, catering and transport industries and are likely to be 

disproportionately self-employed in these areas.  These areas are more likely to be part of the 

informal economy, all of which combined may increase vulnerability to financial exclusion and 

the risk of experiencing in-work poverty; 

 Some BME groups are much more likely to be social renters, live in low-quality housing and be 

homeless.  Almost all BME groups are less likely to own homes, which is the greatest source of 

assets for the vast majority of people in the UK; 

 Banking – branch closures and fee-charging cash machines (both more likely in deprived areas) 

and access to basic bank accounts and Post Office Card Accounts; 

 Savings – BME groups have lower rates of savings, less diverse savings and lower amounts of 

savings; 

 Pensions – particularly an issue for the self-employed (i.e. no employer contribution), which 

disproportionate numbers of certain BME groups are; 

 Advice – the report says that “While evidence suggests that people access advice differently, we 
don’t know how this impacts on ethnicity, though we do know that all BME groups are more 
willing to pay for financial advice than White groups.” 

 Risk – risk scoring by financial institutions; differences in risk aversion by ethnicity; 

 Consequences of Right to Buy. 
 

This was an area under the previous tackling poverty strategy which, due to impacts such as the welfare 

reforms and work across the population at large to mitigate these impacts, did not get the targeted 

approach it required and should therefore be a priority in the new strategy going forward. The Joseph 

Rowntree Foundation has released a useful report looking at the relationship between ethnicity and 

poverty and it details a range of questions Local Authorities should be posing to themselves in order to 

                                                      
66

 Runnymede “Financial Inclusion and Ethnicity”
66

, Omar Khan 

Page 103



 

81 
 

develop effective action plans to address these inequalities. The following key points are cited directly 

from the report as follows67: 

 

• Relationships between poverty and ethnicity are complex. They differ across and within ethnic groups 

and vary considerably according to place. Local authorities will need to reflect this in policies and 

practice. 

• ‘Softer’ issues – such as workplace culture, social networks and how we care for loved ones – are 

surprisingly important in addressing poverty. Without understanding these, even the best policies can 

fail. 

• Despite good policies, some local authorities are perceived as poor employers among ethnic minority 

groups, something supported by workforce statistics. Changing workplace culture and creating better 

opportunities for career progression could address this. 

• People’s relationships with services impact on their outcomes. These differ within and across ethnic 

groups. Social networks can help or hinder people’s effective use of services and influence the key 

outcomes sought by authorities. Understanding these relationships better has the potential to improve 

outcomes with little or less cost. 

• Local authorities can use procurement of goods and services to promote practices that reduce poverty. 

This could involve a wide range of practices from a living wage for all workers to clear career ladders for 

low-paid staff. 

• The UK has a high proportion of workers trapped in cycles of low-paid and no-pay jobs. This could be 

reduced by increasing demand for skills. Local authorities can promote this through their strategic role, 

their own workplace practices and encouraging suppliers and local employers to reflect it in their 

practices. 

• Voluntary, community and faith groups play an important role in facilitating social networks. They are 

also spaces where people are already actively addressing poverty. Working together with these groups 

will help authorities to achieve more with limited resources. 

• Actions that address the links between poverty and ethnicity will help address poverty among all 

ethnicities. They should be part of mainstream policy and practice. 

 

There are a range of practical actions detailed in the report that Local Authorities can take which can 

form a useful part of Portsmouth's Tackling Poverty Strategy and Action Plan resulting from this needs 

assessment. 

 

Younger working age adults, especially younger working age adults with children 

 

There is also a heightened level of risk for younger working age adults as follows: for those with children 

and where the age of the head of the household is between 16 – 24 years, there is a 34% risk before 

                                                      
67 Joseph Rowntree Foundation 'Why ethnicity matters for local authority action on poverty' (October 

2014) http://www.jrf.org.uk/sites/files/jrf/ethnicity_local_authority_summary.pdf 
 

Page 104

http://www.jrf.org.uk/sites/files/jrf/ethnicity_local_authority_summary.pdf


 

82 
 

housing costs and a 53% risk after housing costs. For the 25 – 29 age bracket, with children, there is a 

19% risk before housing costs a 33% risk after housing costs. 

 

For those without children, in the 16 – 19 age range, there is a 23% risk before housing costs and a 35% 

risk after housing costs. For the 20 – 24 age range, there is a 17% risk before housing costs and a 26% 

risk after housing costs. 

 

Working age adults in households with at least one disabled member 

 

The HBAI data also demonstrates clearly that having one or more disabled adult in a household gives a 

19% risk of relative low income before housing costs, and a 31% risk after housing costs. Where a 

household is not in receipt of disability benefits, this risk is 22% before housing costs and 28% after 

housing costs. This highlights the need to ensure people are claiming all of their entitlements and also 

perhaps highlights why the current problems with benefits such as Employment Support Allowance 

(ESA), Disability Living Allowance (DLA) and Personal Independence Payment (PIP), both in terms of 

delays in receiving payments, and also with problems around medical assessments and ‘fit for work’ 

judgements, are particularly problematic financially for people living with disabilities. 

 

This list of vulnerable groups within the adult population is taken from HBAI data only, and as such can 

only demonstrate groups of people at a higher risk of poverty that are identified by the data sets 

collected. There are alternative evidence sources which highlight other groups who are also more 

vulnerable to poverty. 

 

Summary: Adults most at risk of poverty 

National Households Below Average Income data highlights single working age adults, workless 

households, adults with no reported educational qualification, adults living in a household with a head 

from an ethnic minority, younger adults (especially those with children) and adults in households with at 

least one disabled member as more vulnerable to poverty. 

People with learning disabilities 

In the previous Tackling Poverty Needs Assessment in 2011, people with learning disabilities were 

identified as a vulnerable group in relation to poverty. Valuing People, the 2001 White Paper on the 

health and social care of people with a learning disability, gave the following definition for learning 

disability, which is broadly consistent with the World Health Organisation's IQ-based definition:  

‘Learning disability includes the presence of:  

• a significantly reduced ability to understand new or complex information, to learn new skills (impaired 

intelligence)  

• with a reduced ability to cope independently (impaired social functioning)  

• which started before adulthood, with a lasting effect on development'.  

 

Page 105



 

83 
 

Nationally about 20 people in every thousand will have a learning disability. In 2012/13, Portsmouth GPs 

recorded that they were aware of 752 adults aged 18+ years with a learning disability (0.44% of the 

registered population aged 18+ years).68 However there may be better indication of people with 

Learning Disabilities in Portsmouth if General Practitioners were able to be more proactive in recording 

patients who have a Learning Disability. This might involve training requirements in order to embed this 

into every day practice. 

 

During the same period, Adult Social Care provided a service to 564 people aged 18+ years relating to 

learning disability (a decrease of 14 clients compared to 2011/12).  

 

They also provided a service in the community for 441 people with a learning disability aged 18+ years ( 

2.8 per 1,000 residents aged 18+ years). The highest number and rate of clients receiving services in the 

community were in Hilsea (6.2 clients per 1,000 resident population aged 18+ years) followed by Fratton 

(4.1 clients per 1,000 resident population aged 18+ years) and Charles Dickens (3.7 clients per 1,000 

resident population aged 18+ years)69.  These are three of the most deprived wards in Portsmouth. 

 

The figures below have been extracted from the Council's Adult Social Care System (AIS) to include any 

client with a Learning Disability category set, regardless of whether it is the main category or not. 

 

Financial Year 

No of LD 

Clients 

Year 0910 553 

Year 1011 545 

Year 1112 573 

Year 1213 559 

Year 1314 570 

 

                                                      
68

  Source: JSNA 08.09.14, extracted from: QOF, Quality and Outcomes Framework, 2012/13 QMAS database - 2012/13 data 
as at end of July 2013 via Health and Social Care Information Centre (HSCIC) . © Crown Copyright 
http://www.hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/PUB12262 Accessed 04/11/2013.   
69

 Portsmouth JSNA Briefing Note - accessed 08.09.14 

Page 106



 

84 
 

 
 

The needs of carers are intrinsically linked to work with people with learning disabilities. In 2012/13, 290 

carers (96 in 2011/12) received a needs assessment or review and a specific carers' service or advice and 

information from Adult Social Care in relation to learning disability. 

 

With both people with learning disabilities and their carers, there are those who will not be known to 

adult social care and who will not be receiving services. The Carers Strategy has previously identified the 

need to find more of the 'hidden' carers in the city in order to ensure that they receive the support they 

require. 

 

Another issue related to carers is that many of those who care for people with learning disabilities are 

becoming aged. For example, Mencap estimates that over 29,000 adults with a learning disability live 

with a parent over the age of 70 years. Locally, the average age of the carers is 58 years, and that of the 

cared for person is 35 years, with the statistics showing a large percentage of carers being related family 

members. Where the carer’s age is known, 60% of people with a learning disability (n=151) receive care 

from someone who is aged 55+ years, 78 people receive care from someone who is aged 65+ years and 

38 people from someone who is aged 75+ years70. 

 

People with learning disabilities are at increased risk of social exclusion, and work around employment 

and settled accommodation are key in trying to reduce this social exclusion. There has been more 

emphasis on finding supported living homes for people with learning disabilities in the city, moving away 

from residential accommodation where possible. However moving people into settled accommodation 

and work longer term can be challenging. In Portsmouth, 69% (68% in 2011/12) of adults aged 18+ years 

with a learning disability known to Adult Social Care were in settled accommodation, and only 9% (9% in 

2011/12) were in employment. The Portsmouth Learning Disabilities Partnership Board is responsible 

for the development and delivery of 3 key areas that relate to this - health, housing and employment. 

                                                      
70 Health and wellbeing of adults with a learning disability - Portsmouth's profile 2012-13 

Page 107



 

85 
 

The table below demonstrates how these percentages have remained fairly static between 2010/11 and 

2012/1371: 

 

 
 

Health and wellbeing of adults with a learning disability (Portsmouth's profile 2012-13) 

People with a learning disability have a shorter life expectancy and increased risk of early death 

compared to the general population - although this is improving, particularly for people with Down's 

Syndrome. The estimated prevalence of adults with Down syndrome is 5.9 per 10,000 population aged 

16+ years. Applying this prevalence estimate to Portsmouth population, indicates that about 96 adults 

aged 16+ years have Down syndrome. Primary care registers for adults with a learning disability have 

recorded 43 people with Down syndrome (but this excludes people who may have been included on the 

thyroid register instead of the learning disability register)72. 

 

IQ-based prevalence estimates were used in both the Learning Disabilities Observatory and 

POPPI/PANSI estimates, with the Office for National Statistics mid-year population estimates of the 

resident population as the denominator in their prevalence calculations. However, ONS projections of 

the resident population include students. Applying this standard methodology gives an estimated 4,100 

people of all ages with a learning disability living in Portsmouth73.  

 

                                                      
71

 Portsmouth JSNA - Settled Accommodation and Employment Outcomes for People with Learning Disabilities (accessed 

08.09.14) 

 
72 Health and wellbeing of adults with a learning disability - Portsmouth's profile 2012-13 
73

 These figures should however be treated with caution. For example, where the projections include students, Portsmouth 
has a higher than average rate of students and the average student population is likely to be lower than average in terms of 
% with learning disabilities. 
 

Adults aged 18+ with learning disabilities and  known to Adult Social Care

in settled accommodation or employment, Portsmouth,  2008/09 onwards

National 

Indicator 

number

Indicator 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13

NI 145 Adults with learning disabilities in settled accommodation 14.9 (*) 56.1 71.2 68.4 68.7

NI 146 Adults with learning disabilities in employment (*) 6.1 9.9 9.0 9.2
Source: Combined Activity Return, Portsmouth City Council

ASCOF 

Indicator 

number

Indicator 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13

1G

The proportion of adults with learning disabilities who live 

in their own home or with family, expressed as a 

percentage 14.9 (*) 56.1 71.2 68.4 68.7

1E

The proportion of adults with learning disabilities in paid 

employment, expressed as a percentage (*) 6.1 9.9 9.0 9.2
Source: Combined Activity Return, Portsmouth City Council

(*)  Data unreliable because: 1) Data collected for 6 months and aggregated to 12 months

(*)  Data unreliable because: 1) Data collected for 6 months and aggregated to 12 months

Page 108



 

86 
 

Ethnicity 

 

Compared to other ethnic groups, there is a higher prevalence of “learning difficulties” in South Asian 

communities. This has been linked to high levels of material and social deprivation. These may combine 

with other factors such as poor access to maternal health care, misclassification and higher rates of 

environmental or genetic risk factors. 

  

Nationally, it is estimated that about 25% of new entrants to services for people with learning 

disabilities provided by adult social care will belong to minority ethnic communities.  

 

Local primary care data is incomplete for 40% of adults with a learning disability. ‘British or mixed 

British’ is the largest single category (330 adults, 49% of adults on registers for adults with a learning 

disability)74. 

 

Financial impacts for people with learning disabilities 

 

The Learning Disability Observatory has identified income, housing status, employment and 

integration/discrimination as key social determinants of health for people with a learning disability. Data 

from the Advocacy Service (SEAP) obtained in early 2012 suggested that the main presenting problems 

for people with learning disabilities were care/treatment (30%) and housing (35%) – but financial issues 

were also significant if the categories of debt, benefits and legal advice were combined.  

 

Locally there has been much work as part of the Tackling Poverty Needs Assessment and Strategy to 

understand the needs of the general population who are suffering from financial hardship in the city. 

However there is still little information around the specific needs of people with learning disabilities. 

This is partly due to the partly hidden nature of the learning disabilities population (i.e. only a small 

number use adult social care, and with services not always identifying when someone has a learning 

disability). 

 

Portsmouth's Profile 2012-13 for the Health and wellbeing of adults with a learning disability states that 

 

'For Adult Social care service users, the proportion of people who are assessed financially to make no 

contribution to their care costs could be an indirect (proxy) indicator of low income, as contributions are 

assessed on a sliding scale. From figures as at 31 January 2013, 39% of those assessed as "nil" 

contributors were adults with a learning disability. This compares to 29% for people with other (primarily 

physical) disabilities. The figures do need to be interpreted with caution, as other reasons for a "nil" 

assessment could include greater care related costs as opposed to lower income, though this in itself 

could equally be seen as disadvantageous.  

                                                      
74 Health and wellbeing of adults with a learning disability - Portsmouth's profile 2012-13 

 

Page 109



 

87 
 

 

Further analysis is required to understand how people with learning disabilities in the city are impacted 

upon by economic deprivation. Given the difficulties of identifying people with learning disabilities as 

noted earlier, it will be important to link this work with that of the Tackling Poverty Strategy, to explore 

possible new sources of knowledge and data'. This intelligence gap could be met by a study going 

forward, involving organisations like the Beneficial Foundation and supported living providers. 

 

Given the knowledge gaps identified around the needs of people with learning disabilities in this section, 

in addition to any gaps in data, there is a need for more consultation with people with learning 

disabilities in order to alleviate poverty successfully going forward (for example through commissioned 

organisations establishing the relevant discussion forums). 

 

As stated previously, only about 9% of Adult Social Care users who have learning disabilities work. As 

work is a key route out of poverty, this by its very nature will disadvantage people with learning 

disabilities financially. Some of the challenges around work include finding the right work experience 

placements, and also the workplaces that can offer the level of support required. The Portsmouth 

Profile states that: 

 

'Employment is a key issue in reducing poverty and social isolation (or enhancing social connectedness). 

Various approaches and schemes are being tried, but intervention can be very labour/cost intensive. 

Current support to assist people with learning disabilities to gain employment could be enhanced by 

considering the creation of a social enterprise to enhance employment opportunities, supported by the 

activities of schools, colleges, voluntary organisations, DWP, day services etc'.  

 

In order to overcome some of these obstacles around employment, there is a need for all public bodies 

in Portsmouth to set an example to the private sector in employing many more people with Learning 

Disabilities.  

 

The Portsmouth profile also states that a serious and so far under-reported aspect of the health and 

associated socio-economic inequalities faced by adults with learning disabilities is homelessness. 

Homeless people are significantly more likely to have an intellectual disability than the general 

population. Further work is therefore required to explore the experience of homeless people with 

intellectual disability in Portsmouth. 

 

A need that becomes quite clear throughout the profile is the need to explore other ways of identifying 

and reaching the potentially large numbers of people with a learning disability who are not known to 

health and social care services. This will be important in relation to the specific financial and 

employment needs of people with learning disabilities, if poverty is to be reduced for this group. 

 

Summary: People with learning disabilities 

It is unknown as to how many people in Portsmouth have a learning disability overall. This is 

Page 110



 

88 
 

partly due to the partly 'hidden' nature of the learning disabilities population. Some GP and  

Office for National Statistics data is available but these figures are likely to be under-

estimates. Identifying hidden carers is a need going forward. 

Where the carer’s age is known, 60% of people with a learning disability receive care from 

someone who is aged 55+ years.  

In Portsmouth, 69% of adults aged 18+ years with a learning disability known to Adult Social 

Care were in settled accommodation, and only 9% were in employment, highlighting the 

need for both settled accommodation and employment for this group.  

National data from 2012 suggests that, alongside care/treatment, and housing, financial 

issues were also significant to people. 

Intelligence Gap: Further analysis and consultation is required to understand how people 

with learning disabilities in the city are impacted upon by economic deprivation. 

 

People with mental health issues 

In 2012/13, Adult Social Care provided services for mental health problems to 1,115 clients aged 18+ 

years (1,545 clients in 2011/12), and provided services in the community for mental health problems to 

499 clients aged 18-64 years (4.0 clients per 1,000 residents aged 18-64 years) and to 254 clients aged 

65+ years (7.8 clients per 1,000 residents aged 65+ years)75. In total, Adult Social Care provided services 

in the community for mental health problems to 753 adults aged 18+ years76.   

 

Where rates could be calculated, the highest crude rates were in Charles Dickens (112 clients, 8.0 clients 

per 1,000 population) and Fratton (74 clients, 6.7 clients per 1,000 population). These are two of the 

most deprived wards in the city.  

 

Financial hardship has an association with mental health on a number of different levels. For example, 

debt has an association with mental health issues; research on the Royal College of Psychiatrists website 

looks at the relationship between debt and mental health problems and cites that: 

 One in four people has a mental health problem 

 One in four people with a mental health problem is in debt 

 One in two people in debt have a mental health problem 

 Debt may be a cause and a consequence of mental health problems 

 

The 2014 MoneySavingExpert.com survey also found that some 36% of people who have or have had 

mental health problems have severe or crisis debts, and just 6% of people who have never had mental 

health problems have severe or crisis debts. A 2013 survey by debt counsellors Christians Against 

                                                      
75

 It should be noted that prevalence of mental health issues can be high as, for example, in addition to conditions such as 
dementia, some people with physical disabilities may also have mental health issues such as depression. Similarly substance 
misuse clients can also have mental health issues. In addition ASC clients are only likely to be a small proportion of the 
general population with mental health issues. 
76

 Portsmouth JSNA Briefing Note - Accessed 09.09.14 

Page 111



 

89 
 

Poverty found that 42% of those seeking debt help had been prescribed medication by their GP to help 

them cope, 76% of those in a couple said debt affected their relationship and 36% had considered or 

attempted suicide77.  

 

The Community Mental Health Profile 201378 shows that Portsmouth has significantly higher rates of 

risk factors for mental ill health, such as: 

 percentage of 16-18 year olds not in employment, education or training;  

 rate of episodes of violent crime;  

 percentage of relevant population living in 20% most deprived areas of England;  

 working age adults who are unemployed, rate per 1,000 population;  

 rate of statutorily homeless households; and  

 percentage of adults with dementia (although Portsmouth also has a significantly higher rate 

than England of the ratio between expected and recorded levels of dementia). 

 

People with mental health problems are at increased risk of social exclusion. Two national priorities aim 

to reduce this risk by improving their access to stable accommodation and paid employment as these 

are recognised as positive factors in terms of reducing social exclusion. Paid employment is also likely to 

reduce poverty and decrease the risk of debt, subject to other variables. 

 

A problem cited across a number of advice services across Portsmouth, Hampshire and Southampton as 

part of some research carried out by the Bill Sargent Trust79 is that of people with mental health issues 

who are claiming Employment Support Allowance. The summary report states that: 

 

'More than half of relevant advice providers have experienced a significant increase in demand for 

welfare benefits advice. The largest single increase has been related to Employment Support Allowance 

(ESA). There is widespread concern that something is amiss with the assessment system and many 

respondents, particularly those with mental health problems are being pushed into employment when 

they are genuinely unfit. Often, clients don’t know that they are able to appeal and end up with no 

income'. 

 

Similar issues have also been reported locally in relation to people being sanctioned. If someone 

assessed as fit and ready for work when they are not, they are then subject to the increased 

conditionality to claim Jobseekers allowance; and then are at risk of sanctions if they do not meet the 

conditionality requirements. 

 

                                                      
77

 'Mental Health and Debt 2014 - Help, info, guidance and support for individuals and carers' by  Martin Lewis, Jenny Keefe & 
Marianne Curphey. 
78

 
78

 Portsmouth JSNA - Community Mental Health Profile, 2013. North East Public Health Observatory. 
www.apho.org.uk/default.aspx?RID=49802 Accessed 28 May 2014.   
79 “Counting the Cost : Advice Services and Public Spending Reductions” Bill Sargent Trust Sep 2013 

 

Page 112



 

90 
 

Other work by one of the key advice agencies in the city has seen the trialling of an advice surgery based 

in St James Hospital, for people with mental health issues who may not be able to access mainstream 

advice services due to their illness. There is a need therefore to ensure that people with mental health 

issues can access services in a way that meets their needs. 

 

Summary: People with mental health issues 

In 2012/13, in total, Adult Social Care provided services in the community for mental health problems to 

753 adults aged 18+ years, with the highest crude rates (where calculable) in two of the most deprived 

wards in the city, Charles Dickens and Fratton. 

Nationally one in four people with a mental health problem is in debt, and one in two people in debt 

have a mental health problem.  

Portsmouth has significantly higher rates of risk factors for mental ill health, such as % of 16-18 year olds 

not in employment, education or training. 

People with mental health problems are at increased risk of social exclusion so national priorities suggest 

improving access to stable accommodation and paid employment. 

People with alcohol and substance abuse issues 

Alcohol and substance abuse has a potential relationship with poverty in that people may be more likely 

to use alcohol or other substances in times of stress in their lives; and financial stress can be 

commonplace for those who struggle on a daily basis to get by. Addiction may also cause or exacerbate 

poverty - i.e. funding the addiction reduces household income, and may mean choices between the 

addiction and food on the table or paying the bills. Addiction can also have an impact on people's ability 

to work. Or people may turn to alcohol or substances when they feel they are in financial destitution, 

and/or have no hope for the future - so associations may exist with wider areas such as low educational 

attainment, expectations and aspirations, and unemployment.  

 

It is useful therefore to consider the extent to which there is a problem in the city in terms of alcohol 

and substance misuse; and if so, to reflect on its relationships with poverty. 

Alcohol misuse  
Portsmouth has been above both the South East and England averages for alcohol-related hospital 

admissions for a number of years. However during this time there have been smaller increases in 

Portsmouth than other areas and the gap has narrowed. The rate is now slightly less than the national 

average, at 2012 compared with 2,032 per 100,000 nationally80 and is less than the average for similar 

areas.81 However with concern about alcohol related hospital admissions nationally, this remains a 

problem for both the individuals involved, and for the wider costs associated with hospital admissions in 

an environment of cuts and cost saving across public services; and therefore is of concern in the city. 

 

                                                      
80

 This data is from 2012/13 
81

Draft Strategic Assessment - Safer Portsmouth Partnership 2014. N.B.  The SPP similar areas / most similar group (MSG) are: Brighton & 
Hove, Bristol, Bournemouth, Plymouth, Portsmouth, Southend-On-Sea, Sheffield and Southampton.  

Page 113



 

91 
 

 
 

Both males and females in Portsmouth have a higher rate of alcohol related deaths (both wholly and 

partially attributable to alcohol) and chronic liver disease than England, the South East Region and the 

SPP MSG.82 Portsmouth falls in the ten worst performing local authorities nationally for alcohol specific 

mortality in females, with a rate of 13 deaths per 100,000. This represents a 4% (n0.57), increase on the 

previous period.  

 

The Local Alcohol Profiles for England rank Portsmouth as having the 4th highest level of alcohol related 

violent crime out of 326 local authority areas in 2012/13, with a rate of 7.52 per 1,000.83 This compares 

to a rate of 3.93 per 1,000 nationally, 3.60 per 1,000 for the South East and an MSG average of 5.79 per 

1,000.  

 

The proportion of people (aged over 16) engaging in binge drinking in Portsmouth is also higher than it is 

nationally and higher than it is for the Safer Portsmouth Partnership similar areas (average). (It should 

be noted that this is a synthetic estimate based on 2007/08 data and more up-to-date data is not 

currently available). 

 

Both of these issues reflect why there is concern on this issue in the city. In terms of its associations with 

poverty, Portsmouth's Joint Strategic Needs Assessment evidences that alcohol-specific hospital 

admissions were significantly higher than the City rate for people from Charles Dickens, St Thomas, 

Nelson, Eastney & Craneswater, and Fratton electoral wards (2007-11, pooled)84. These are some of the 

most deprived wards in the city. Charles Dickens, as the most deprived ward in the city, has the highest 

alcohol-specific admission rate for both males and females. There is a similar association between the 

                                                      
82

 Local Alcohol Profiles for England (Public Health England, Knowledge and Intelligence Team, North West) accessed 25/04/2014. Due to 
small sample sizes this arte is calculated over 3 years (2010-12). 
83

 Local Alcohol Profiles for England (Public Health England, Knowledge and Intelligence Team, North West) accessed 25/04/2014  
84

 Portsmouth's Joint Strategic Needs Assessment - accessed 15.10.14  

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

2000

2200

2400

2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13

R
at

e
 p

e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0
0

 

Figure 8: Alcohol Related Hospital Admissions 2008/09 - 2012/13 

Brighton and Hove

Portsmouth

Southampton

South East

England

MSG average*

Page 114



 

92 
 

most deprived wards and alcohol-related admissions. It would appear therefore that alcohol misuse is 

most prevalent in deprived areas. This opens up the debate as to whether poverty might exacerbate 

alcohol use or vice versa - i.e. whether alcohol use causes the poverty (for example through cost and 

impact on employment), or whether poverty causes the alcohol misuse.  

 

A similar argument could be made for the associations between alcohol abuse, poverty and mental 

health. The Safer Portsmouth Partnership's (draft) Strategic Assessment states that: 

 

'The latest data shows that 1,032 individuals were in treatment for alcohol misuse in 2013/14.85 Of those 

individuals who started new treatment journeys in 2013/14 (n657), the majority (56%, n365) had not 

received treatment previously. Looking at this same group, 14% (n91) were recorded as having a dual 

diagnosis and were receiving care from mental health services for reasons other than substance misuse. 

However, the number of people with mental health issues accessing these services could actually be 

much higher as this information was not recorded in 26% (n172) of cases. Further, some individuals may 

have a mental health issue that has not yet been diagnosed. A study on mental health centres and 

substance misuse services in the UK showed that 85% of alcohol service users had mental health 

problems, mostly affective disorders and anxiety disorders.86 Nationally, 20% (n198,600) of the 

estimated 1,008,850 alcohol related hospital admissions in 2012/13 were for mental and behavioural 

disorders due to alcohol'.87 

 

Of course there are many other variables that also interact with poverty, alcohol abuse and mental 

health, and cause and effect is therefore difficult to evidence. However it is probably fair to conclude 

that these issues at least have an association with each other; and that getting to the root cause of 

people's problems, whatever that root cause might ultimately be, is likely to produce positive outcomes 

in relation to alleviating poverty in the longer term. 

 

Summary: People with alcohol issues 

People may be more likely to use alcohol or other substances in times of stress in their lives; and 

financial stress can contribute to this. Funding an addiction can also reduce household income and have 

an impact on employment. 

Portsmouth has been above both the South East and England averages for alcohol-related hospital 

admissions for a number of years. However as of 2012/13 Portsmouth is now below the England 

average. 

Alcohol-specific hospital admissions were significantly higher than the City rate for people from some of 

the most deprived wards in the city. There is a similar association between the most deprived wards and 

alcohol-related admissions. 

                                                      
85

 National Drug Treatment Monitoring System, accessed 20/05/2014 - taken from the Draft Strategic Assessment, Safer Portsmouth 
Partnership 
86

 Weaver et al (2003) Comorbidity of substance misuse and mental illness in community mental health and substance misuse 
services, The British journal of psychiatry, 183 (4), pp. 304-313. 
87

 Statistics on Alcohol Misuse: England 2014, Health & Social Care Information Centre, May 2014. It should be noted that this does not 
capture mental health problems exclusively and can include conditions such as acute intoxication or may be used as a catch-all. 

Page 115



 

93 
 

Substance misuse 
A drug is a chemical substance that acts on the brain and nervous system, changing a person’s mood, 

emotion or state of consciousness. They usually fall into the following three categories: stimulants (e.g. 

cocaine), depressants or sedatives (e.g. heroin) and hallucinogens (e.g. LSD). Drug misuse is when a 

person regularly takes one or more drugs to change their mood, emotion or state of consciousness, and 

it can lead to drug addiction. 

 

The latest estimate for the number of opiate and crack cocaine users (OCU's) is 1,549 (10.90 per 1,000 

members of the 15 to 64 year old population).88 This is a 24.9% increase on the 2010/11 rate and is in 

comparison to reductions in the rate both nationally (3.1%) and in the south east (1.9%). The rate in 

Portsmouth is higher than the national and South East rates but lower than the average for 

Portsmouth's most similar group (MSG), where Portsmouth ranks 4th out of 889. Portsmouth has seen a 

rise in the rate of opiate users, which increased by 28.6% compared to the previous estimate - although 

this data should be treated with caution90.  

 

Data would suggest that there are differences in drug use between young people and older people. 

Nationally, the Crime Survey for England and Wales 2013/14 estimated that 8.8% of 16 to 59 year olds 

had taken an illicit drug in the last year, up from 8.1% in 2012/13. This figure more than doubled when 

looking specifically at 16 to 24 year olds (18.9%).91 This is in contrast to the finding from the Children's 

Society Survey 2013/14, that drug use amongst school age children in Portsmouth has remained broadly 

the same. 

 

Similarly to the associations raised between alcohol misuse and mental health, of the 852 individuals in 

treatment in 2013, 408 were starting a new treatment journey; and of these, 18% (n74) were 

considered to have a dual diagnosis and were receiving care from mental health services for reasons 

other than substance misuse92. These figures are actually likely to be higher due to under-recording, 

and/or lack of diagnosis or meeting the threshold. This is supported by a study on mental health centres 

and substance misuse services in the UK, which showed that three quarters of drug service users had 

mental health problems (mostly affective disorders and anxiety disorders) and that nearly 40% of drug 

users had not received help for their mental health problems.93 This supports the earlier statements in 

the alcohol misuse section which discussed how these different variables (including the wider variable of 

                                                      
88

 Hay et al (2014), Estimates of the prevalence of opiate and/or crack cocaine use (2011/12)' - taken from the draft Strategic Assessment, 
Safer Portsmouth Partnership 
89

 The SPP similar areas / most similar group (MSG) are: Brighton & Hove, Bristol, Bournemouth, Plymouth, Portsmouth, Southend-On-Sea, 
Sheffield and Southampton. 
90

 It should be noted that this is a modelled estimate which uses a number of data sources (drug treatment, police, probation and prison) 

as well as the relationship between indicators to 'identify' the hidden population, therefore this statistic should be treated with caution.  

 
91

 Home Office. Drug Misuse: Findings from the 2013 to 2014 Crime Survey for England and Wales. Taken from the Draft Strategic 
Assessment, Safer Portsmouth Partnership 2013/14. 
92

 Draft Strategic Assessment, Safer Portsmouth Partnership, 2013/14 
93

 Weaver et al (2003) Comorbidity of substance misuse and mental illness in community mental health and substance misuse 
services, The British journal of psychiatry, 183 (4), pp. 304-313. - taken from the draft Strategic Assessment, Safer Portsmouth Partnership 
2013/14. 

Page 116



 

94 
 

poverty and its cause and effect) might relate to each other; and that ultimately cause and effect is hard 

to determine. 

 

It stands to reason then that getting to the root cause of people's problems and providing a holistic 

response to them is likely to achieve better outcomes. The (draft) Strategic Assessment from the Safer 

Portsmouth Partnership states that 'The Drug Treatment Outcomes Research Study94 evaluated the long-

 term effectiveness and cost effectiveness of drug treatment and concluded that drug treatment: reduces 

the harm caused to communities from drug addiction, is effective in improving the physical and mental 

health of the individual seeking treatment and has around an 80% chance of being cost-effective for that 

individual. Further, that it reduces crime, in particular acquisitive crime.95 The latest national estimate is 

that every £1 spent in drug treatment saves £2.5096 in costs to society'. Alongside these kinds of 

interventions, therefore, it is important to address the wider determinants in people's lives, such as 

poverty, housing and employment, in order to sustain change in the long term. 

 

Summary: People with substance abuse issues 

There is a 24.9% increase on the 2010/11 rate for the number of opiate and crack cocaine users (OCU's) 

in Portsmouth, which is in comparison to reductions in the rate both nationally (3.1%) and in the south 

east (1.9%). 

In contrast to the national picture where it has risen, findings from the Children's Society Survey 2013/14 
indicate that drug use amongst school age children in Portsmouth has remained broadly the same. 

National studies have shown that three quarters of drug service users had mental health problems 

(mostly affective disorders and anxiety disorders).  

Domestic Abuse 
 

It is important to consider the relationship between poverty and domestic abuse, because domestic 

abuse remains a significant issue in Portsmouth, and tackling it is a priority for the Safer Portsmouth 

Partnership (SPP). This is because it is the most common driver for violent assaults in Portsmouth (32%, 

n1,047). It causes immediate emotional and physical harm to the victim and wider consequences such 

as loss of opportunity, isolation from friends, poor physical and mental health.  

 

All of these issues may be likely to impact on people's ability to hold down employment in terms of 

financial stability. The SPP cites evidence from a previous British Crime Survey (2001) which suggest that 

                                                      
94

 http://www.dtors.org.uk/reports/DTORS_CostEffect_Main.pdfNTA/NHS 
95

 National Treatment Agency (2012) Estimating the crime reduction benefits of drug treatment and recovery 
96

 It is of note that this is a reduction on the previous NTA estimate. As per the 2006/07 Strategic Assessment, "It is estimated that for every 
£1 spent on treatment, £4 is saved by the criminal justice system. When other associated health and social costs are included £1 spent on 
treatment saves £9." This reduction is, at least in part, the result of a revision of the costs included in the estimate in order to make it 
robust enough to withstand scrutiny. The estimate now includes only those costs that are clearly attributable to the consequences of drug 
use.  

Page 117



 

95 
 

domestic abuse may have a detrimental impact on employment,97 and it also has an impact on housing, 

with domestic abuse being a commonly quoted reason for homelessness in women.98  

 
Many children are exposed to domestic abuse and violence at home and are denied a safe and stable 

home environment. These children are more likely to become victims of abuse themselves and may 

experience personality or behavioural problems and are more likely to go on to offend. The single 

biggest predictor for children becoming either perpetrators or victims of domestic abuse as an adult is 

whether they grew up in a home with domestic violence.99 The impact of domestic abuse on very young 

children is often under estimated and the impact on school age children could affect their ability to 

achieve.100 Again, this is likely to have a longer term impact on employment as when children grow up, if 

they have no or low qualifications, are more likely to go into low paid work. 

 

Women's Aid are investigating financial abuse in relation to domestic abuse. Their website is currently 

looking for people to share their knowledge and/or experiences about financial arrangements within 

couples and how money is involved in domestic abuse. Women's Aid would like to find out what affect 

financial abuse can have on survivors and their children, and what more could be done to help. They are 

asking these questions now because the government’s welfare reform programme includes Universal 

Credit, which brings together previously separate benefits, and which will be paid to only one member 

of a couple. Concerns have been raised by campaigners that this money may more easily fall into the 

hands of abusive partners, and that it will be difficult for partners to speak out against this if they are in 

an oppressive relationship.  

 

Financial dependency and/or hardship can also prevent people from leaving abusive relationships. So it 

is important to be able to address financial issues with people who are trying to escape abuse. Survivors 

also face financial hardship after leaving an abusive relationship, having to ‘start again’ often with no 

more than the clothes they escaped in. Universal Credit has made adjustments for people coming out of 

domestic abuse situations in relation to work-related requirements, and certain exemptions can be 

applied for a certain period of time to give people the opportunity to deal with the consequences of 

violence without having to take steps to find work. But this aside, the financial implications of leaving a 

relationship with nothing can be severe. There is evidence of this within the Portsmouth Local Welfare 

Assistance Scheme, where applications are received from people escaping abusive situations and where 

they have nothing to set up home with - hence applications for furniture and white goods, with nearly 

10% of all paid applications to the scheme in 13/14 relating to domestic abuse (see Learning from Local 

Welfare Assistance Scheme section). 

 

                                                      
97

 21% of women who reported domestic abuse in the self-completion module of the 2001 British Crime Survey took time off work because 
of the abuse and 2% lost their jobs (Walby & Allen, 2004). 
98

 40% of homeless women stated domestic violence was a contributor to their homelessness (Cramer & Carter, 2002). 
99

 Unicef 2006 Behind Closed Doors: The impact of domestic violence on children. 
100

 Byrne & Taylor (2007) Children at risk from domestic violence and their educational attainment: Perspectives of education welfare 
officers, social workers and teachers. 

Page 118



 

96 
 

People escaping ‘Honour’ based violence also have to escape with little or no possessions and maybe 

fearful of registering for any benefits in case they are found, or if English is not their first language be 

unaware of which benefits they could access. 

 

There is currently a gap in the city where, if a person does not qualify for public funds (e.g. where their 

immigration application is not successful), they can only access the refuge if their costs (rent personal 

charge & living expenses) are met by either themselves or, if they do not have funds, another source, 

usually a voluntary organisation.  

 

There is a critical need therefore for the appropriate levels of support to be available to those 

experiencing domestic abuse, and to explore further the relationship between domestic abuse and 

financial stresses. 

 

Summary: Domestic abuse 

Domestic abuse remains a significant issue in Portsmouth, and can have a detrimental impact on 

employment, as well as housing, with domestic abuse being a commonly quoted reason for 

homelessness in women.  

The impact of domestic abuse on very young children is often under estimated and the impact on school 
age children could affect their ability to achieve, thereby potentially affecting their education and 
employment in the longer term. 

Financial dependency and/or hardship can prevent people from leaving abusive relationships. The 
relationship between poverty and domestic abuse requires further exploration in the city.  

There is currently a gap in the city where, if a person does not qualify for public funds (e.g. where their 
immigration application is not successful), they can only access the refuge if they can find their costs 
from elsewhere (e.g. a voluntary organisation).  

Detailed research and analysis - Older People (65+) 

In the following section the needs of older people aged 65+ experiencing poverty in Portsmouth are 

examined.  However this section should be read in conjunction with the ‘Factors that have a strong 

relationship with poverty for all residents’ section, which examines themes based on the needs of the 

population as a whole (for example health and lifestyle, transport and financial inclusion). Similarly, 

there will be needs and vulnerable groups identified in both the children and families and adult sections 

of this needs assessment which will apply to older people, and so this should also be referenced. 

 

The health section of this needs assessment will be particularly pertinent to older people, highlighting 

the health inequalities that exist within the city and their links with poverty. The Council's Public Health 

Annual Report makes this point by stating that: 

 

'Health inequalities can be described as preventable and unjust differences in health experienced by 

certain population groups. People in lower socio-economic and other groups are more likely to 

experience health inequalities and therefore experience a higher degree of chronic ill-health and die 

Page 119



 

97 
 

earlier than those who are more advantaged. This is starkly highlighted in Portsmouth by the fact 

that…men from the most deprived areas live 9.7 years less than men from the least deprived areas.  

 

The Marmot Review into health inequalities in England, Fair Society, Healthy Lives, demonstrated that 

social determinants of health such as local environment, housing, transport and employment, and their 

social relationships, are significantly influenced by local authorities. With the return of responsibility for 

public health to local authorities, we have the opportunity to bring a renewed focus to tackling health 

inequalities, bringing together the breadth of planning and support from across the city to tackle the 

social determinants of poor health'101. 

Portsmouth demographics 

The 2012-based Sub-national Population Projections estimate that in 2013 there are 208,889 people 

living in Portsmouth. Of these, 28,500 are aged 65+102.  This section will focus on residents who are aged 

65+, who account for approximately 14% of the population. Breakdown within the age groups is as 

follows: 

 

Working age population by age band 2012 & 2022 

Age group 
2012 2022 % change 

15 - 19 14,725 14,507 -1.5% 

20 - 24 24,344 24,007 -1.4% 

25 - 64 103,595 109,939 6.1% 

65 - 74 14,786 16,573 12.1% 

75 - 84 9,357 11,459 22.5% 

85+ 4,337 5,068 16.9% 

 

Whilst there is very little change forecast in either overall numbers or distribution over the next ten 

years for the 15 - 24 year old population, there is then an upward trajectory in numbers as ages rise, 

with a 22% increase in the numbers of 75 - 84 year olds by 2022, and a 16% increase in the % of 85+, as 

people live longer.  

 

In terms of ethnicity, the size and make-up of Portsmouth's Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) community 

for the population as a whole has changed significantly since the last census.  Having grown by only 4.4% 

between 2001 and 2011, the White British population now accounts for 84% of the usual resident 

population compared to 92% in 2001.  

 

The following table demonstrates that 2.3% of the population aged 65+ are from the BME community, 

which is significantly lower than the BME population as a whole in Portsmouth. However given the rise 

                                                      
101

 Portsmouth City Council 'Public Health Annual Report 2013' 
102

 Source: 2012-based Sub-national Population Projections (ONS) 

Page 120



 

98 
 

in BME residents as a whole, it is fair to assume that, as these other BME residents get older, the older 

BME community will increase over time, and services will need to reflect the changing makeup of the 

older community. 

 

  0 - 15 Working age 
(16 - 64) 

Retirement 
age (65+) 

All persons % 

White British 29,984 116,151 26,178 172,313 84.0% 

White non-British 1,196 7,069 604 8,869 4.3% 

Mixed 2,592 2,756 119 5,467 2.7% 

Asian/Asian British 2,692 9,387 395 12,474 6.1% 

Black/Black British 932 2,784 61 3,777 1.8% 

Arab or other ethnic group 404 1,697 55 2,156 1.1% 

All Persons 37,800 139,844 27,412 205,056 100 
Source: ONS Census 2011 

     Figures may not sum exactly due to rounding 
      

Additional information on ethnicity – which will also apply to older people depending on their 

circumstances – can be found in the ‘Portsmouth demographics’ and ‘children, families and adults most 

at risk from poverty’ sections of this needs assessment. However local intelligence on the particular 

issues affecting BME groups experiencing poverty, including older people, is limited and more work in 

this area is a priority action if we are to understand the needs of our BME communities as a whole. 

 

Having examined age and ethnicity, it is useful to establish where older people in Portsmouth live. The 

following table demonstrates that the highest % of the older population 65+  live in Drayton and 

Farlington (22.4%), Cosham (16.8%), Baffins (16.3%), and Hilsea (16.1%): 

 

Table: Over 65s by ward, from Hants Small Area Population Forecasts 2013 

 

Ward Total 65+ total 

% 65+ of 

total 

Baffins 15118 2461 16.28 

Central Southsea 16332 1598 9.78 

Charles Dickens 19066 2334 12.24 

Copnor 13125 1795 13.68 

Cosham 14019 2356 16.81 

Drayton and Farlington 13223 2966 22.43 

Eastney and Craneswater 13527 2142 15.83 

Fratton 15347 1463 9.53 

Hilsea 13509 2168 16.05 

Milton - Portsmouth 14357 2082 14.50 

Nelson 14428 1796 12.45 

Page 121



 

99 
 

Paulsgrove 13935 1894 13.59 

St. Jude 12734 1805 14.17 

St. Thomas 16602 2208 13.30 

 

 

All of the data above is useful in terms of quantifying the scale of work required around the preventative 

approach to tackling poverty. 

 

Summary of key points: Portsmouth demographics, older people 

The 2012-based Sub-national Population Projections estimate that in 2013 there are 208,889 people 

living in Portsmouth. Of these, 28,500 are aged 65+, accounting for approximately 14% of the 

population. 

There is an upward trajectory in numbers as ages rise, with a 22% increase in the numbers of 75 - 84 
year olds by 2022, and a 16% increase in the % of 85+, as people live longer.  

2.3% of the population aged 65+ are from the BME community, which is significantly lower than the 

BME population as a whole in Portsmouth. However given the rise in BME residents as a whole, the 

older BME community is likely to increase over time. Local intelligence on the particular issues affecting 

BME groups experiencing poverty is limited and more work in this area is required. 

The highest % of the older population 65+ live in Drayton and Farlington (22.4%), Cosham (16.8%), 
Baffins (16.3%), and Hilsea (16.1%). 

 

Extent of poverty for older people aged 65+ in Portsmouth – how much and where? 

Unfortunately, as with the adult population, the same level of up-to-date data, which is currently 

available to analyse child poverty all the way down to lower super output area level locally, is not 

available for the older population. The Households Below Average Income (HBAI) data is available at a 

national level only. There is Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) data available at a local level, as 

demonstrated later in this section, but the last release – IMD 2010 – draws from data sets primarily 

from 2008, meaning that this data is very dated and does not reflect the economic downturn and other 

changes such as the welfare reforms program. Unfortunately the new IMD 2014 data release is not due 

until Summer 2015. 

 

In order then to undertake some kind of analysis of poverty within the older persons population, as with 

the working age population there are a number of sources that can be examined to at least give 

indicators as to the extent of poverty for older people in the city as follows: 

 

National picture - Households Below Average Income (HBAI) data  

 

Whilst HBAI data is available at a national level only, it is a useful data source to draw upon to make 

inferences about poverty at a local level. In particular it can indicate the characteristics of households 

which might be at most risk of poverty. 

Page 122



 

100 
 

 

In 2011/12, 16% of pensioners (1.9 million) in the UK were in households with incomes below 60% of 

contemporary median net disposable household income below housing costs, and 14% (1.6 million) 

after housing costs103, and pensioners were less likely to be in relative low income than the population 

as a whole, after housing costs. The HBAI report stated that these reductions were driven primarily by 

incomes for pensioners at the lower end of the income distribution falling less than incomes around the 

median. For 2012/13 poverty has fallen again for pensioners and is now at an all-time low, with 13% 

living in low-income households, compared to 21% of working age adults and 27% of children104. Ten 

years ago, pensioners were much more likely to be in poverty than working age adults, and in 1992 as 

likely to be in poverty as children; but over the last 20 years, pensioner poverty has fallen sharply, while 

child poverty has fallen slowly and unevenly and working-age poverty has risen, particularly in the last 

decade. 

 

In terms of absolute low income indicators, in 2011/12, 18% of pensioners (2.1 million) were in 

households in the UK with incomes below 60% of 2010/11 median net disposable household income 

before housing costs, and 15% (1.8 million) after housing costs. The percentage of pensioners in 

absolute low income before housing costs remained at 2010/11 levels6. After housing costs, there was a 

1 percentage point increase4 in the proportion of pensioners in absolute low income between 2010/11 

and 2011/12, measured against the 2010/11 baseline5, as low income households containing pensioners 

saw their income fall in real terms, leading to an increase of 100,000 pensioners. Compared to 1998/99, 

this represents a fall of 21 percentage points (1.9 million) on a before housing costs basis and a fall of 24 

percentage points (2.2 million) after housing costs. 

 

There has been a small decrease in the proportion of pensioners aged 65 and over in material 

deprivation, down from 9% in 2010/11 to 8% in 2011/12. 

 

It is positive that rates of relative and absolute poverty have fallen for older people over the last 15 

years. Certainly within the recent welfare reforms program, pensioners were mostly protected against 

key cuts to benefits.  However there are still a significant number of older people in the city who fall 

underneath the relative and absolute poverty lines. In addition, older people face their own challenges 

around areas such as the cost of care, and/or being ‘asset rich but cash poor’, which might mean that 

whilst they are not technically defined as living in poverty, they can face severe financial hardship which 

impacts on their quality of life. This section therefore examines these specific needs in relation to the 

data and learning that is available. 

 

Local picture 

 

                                                      
103

 Source: Households Below Average Income - – An analysis of income distribution 1994/95 – 2011/2012 (HBAI 2013) 
104

 Joseph Rowntree Foundation: Monitoring Poverty and Social Exclusion 2014: 
http://www.jrf.org.uk/publications/monitoring-poverty-and-social-exclusion-2014# 
 
 

Page 123

http://www.jrf.org.uk/publications/monitoring-poverty-and-social-exclusion-2014


 

101 
 

As stated previously, there is less data available at a local level for older people who are living in poverty 

than there are for other groups such as children. The Indices of Multiple Deprivation 2010 data does 

give specific data for older people in the city, but as also stated previously was drawn from 2008 data 

sets; and so is out-dated and of limited use. 

 

However it can still give a flavour of where older people in poverty in the city are living, as 

demonstrated by the following map: 

 
The map demonstrates that the highest levels of poverty centre around the city centre and Charles 

Dickens ward area, but also with significant levels in the north of the city in the Paulsgrove/Cosham 

areas. 37.7% of all older people living in the Charles Dickens ward are living in poverty, followed by 

Page 124



 

102 
 

Nelson (24.5%) and Paulsgrove (24.3%). Drayton and Farlington has the least, with 5.6%. The following 

table gives this breakdown by numbers and percentages across the electoral wards105: 

 

 

 
In terms of Council Adult Social Care users, the following table gives numbers and trend information as 

follows: 

 

All Clients by Age Group: 
 

Financial Year 65 to 84 85+ Grand Total (65+) 

Year 0910 1,410 1,258 2,668 

Year 1011 1,342 1,252 2,594 

Year 1112 1,269 1,165 2,434 

Year 1213 1,294 1,136 2,430 

Year 1314 1,533 1,254 2,787 
 
 

                                                      
105

 Accessed from Portsmouth JSNA 09.09.14 

Number and percentage of persons aged 60 years and over, living in income deprivation

Portsmouth City, by electoral ward

Electoral ward

Number of persons 

60+ yrs living in 

income deprivation 

(IDAOPI)

Number of 

persons 60+ yrs 

(2008)

Percentage of persons 

aged 60+ yrs living in 

income deprivation

Baffins 410 3326 12.3

Central Southsea 390 2274 17.2

Charles Dickens 1380 3662 37.7

Copnor 235 2384 9.9

Cosham 540 3138 17.2

Drayton & Farlington 215 3870 5.6

Eastney & Craneswater 410 2849 14.4

Fratton 480 2366 20.3

Hilsea 485 2581 18.8

Milton 415 2853 14.5

Nelson 645 2635 24.5

Paulsgrove 645 2659 24.3

St Jude 465 2672 17.4

St Thomas 610 3211 19.0

Portsmouth total 7325 40480 18.1

Source: ID 2010 - Department of Communities and Local Government; Hampshire County Environment Department's 2008 based Small Area Population Forecast for 2008.

Page 125



 

103 
 

 
 
 

The following table gives numbers of pension credit claimants in the city106: 

 

 

 

So about a quarter of older people in Portsmouth were on pension credit in 2013 - this has declined 

gradually over the last few years, as it has in England as a whole. However older people often do not 

claim the benefits they are entitled to. A recent report on the BBC website107 found that: 

 1.6m pensioners are missing out on Pension Credit, worth £33 a week 

 2.2m pensioners are missing out on Council Tax Support, worth an average £728 a year 

 390,000 pensioners could have claimed Housing Benefit, worth £48 a week 

                                                      
106

 From Community Insight profile for ‘Portsmouth’ area: Report for Illegal Money Lending Team, created 4 November 2014 
107

 http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/business-29647781 
 

Pension Credit claimants

N
ov

-0
3

M
ay-

04

N
ov-

04

M
ay

-0
5

N
ov-

05

M
ay-

06

N
ov

-0
6

M
ay-

07

N
ov-

07

M
ay

-0
8

N
ov-

08

M
ay-

09

N
ov

-0
9

M
ay-

10

N
ov-

10

M
ay

-1
1

N
ov-

11

M
ay-

12

N
ov

-1
2

M
ay-

13

N
ov-

13

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

%
 o

f 
al

l p
e

o
p

le
 o

f 
p

e
n

s
io

n
a
b

le
 a

g
e

Portsmouth Social housing areas England

Increase from 2010 due to new definition of pensionable age (all people aged 65+)

Source: Pension Credit claimants – Department for Work and Pensions (Feb-14), Pensioner household 

characteristics - Census 2001 

Page 126

http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/business-29647781


 

104 
 

 

Age UK said that 'many people do not know that they are entitled to the extra income. Others feel too 

proud or embarrassed to claim'. 

 

Older people claiming the benefits they need is a key priority for work going forward, as it is known 

nationally that claim rates around benefits such as pension credit and council tax support are poor. 

 

Summary: Extent of poverty for older people - how much and where 

National Households Below Average Income (HBAI) data in 2012/13 showed that poverty had fallen 
again for pensioners and was now at an all-time low, with 13% living in low-income households, 
compared to 21% of working age adults and 27% of children.  

However there are still a significant number of older people in the city who fall underneath the relative 
and absolute poverty lines, or who may not meet the definition but are struggling financially (e.g. 'asset 
rich/cash poor'). 

Only very limited data is available for the older population at a local level. The old Indices of Multiple 
Deprivation (2010) data showed that 37.7% of all older people living in the Charles Dickens ward were 
living in poverty, followed by Nelson (24.5%) and Paulsgrove (24.3%). Drayton and Farlington had the 
least, with 5.6%. 

About a quarter of older people in Portsmouth were on pension credit in 2013 - this has declined 
gradually over the last few years. Work is required to ensure older people are claiming all of the benefits 
they are entitled to. 

Older people most at risk from poverty 

Establishing who might be at most risk of poverty in the city has usually fallen into two distinct 

categories; geography (i.e. where people live) and vulnerable groups (i.e. groups of people within the 

community who might be at a higher risk statistically of experiencing poverty). 

 

Groups identified by HBAI data 
The HBAI 2013 data108 gives us some useful information around increased levels of risk for particular 

groups in the older people's population as follows: 

 

(Please note: all of the following comparisons against national rates of poverty have been taken from 

individuals living in households with less than 70% of contemporary median income, rather than the 

60% used for the children and families and adult sections of this needs assessment. This is because, for 

pensioners, the differences for households at the 60% poverty line are much less marked than at the 

70% line. The70% poverty line therefore enables better identification of older people most at risk of 

poverty). 

 

Living alone 

 

                                                      
108

 Source: Households Below Average Income - – An analysis of income distribution 1994/95 – 2011/2012 (HBAI 2013) 

Page 127



 

105 
 

Living alone significantly increases the risk of poverty for older people, as demonstrated by the table 

below: 

 

Percentage of pensioners in low-income groups by various family and household 
characteristics, UK HBAI 2011/12109 
(Income <70% median income110) 

Family type Before Housing Costs After Housing Costs 

Couple living with others 13% 14% 

Couple living alone 24% 20% 

Single living with others 23% 23% 

Single living alone 35% 30% 

 

This may also impact upon, or be impacted upon, social isolation and loneliness, which are known issues 

in society for older people; i.e. not having the money to go out causes social isolation, and social 

isolation can in turn make money worries worse, and/or can mean not knowing about financial sources 

of assistance that may be available for older people (e.g. pension credit and other benefits). 

 

Living in families with disabled members not in receipt of disability benefits 

 

As with the wider adult population, disability in the household can mean a higher risk of poverty. As 

demonstrated below, not being in receipt of disability benefits has a significant impact on household 

income. Unfortunately older people can often be the worst offenders in terms of not claiming all they 

are entitled to – with millions going unclaimed in the country every year. This highlights why there is a 

need around income maximisation, particularly for the older generation. 

 

Percentage of pensioners in low-income groups by various family and household 
characteristics, UK HBAI 2011/12111 
(Income <70% median income112) 

Disability and receipt of 
disability benefits 

Before Housing Costs After Housing Costs 

Those living in families where 
no-one is disabled 

28% 24% 

Those living in families where 
someone is disabled 

27% 23% 

                                                      
109

 Source: Households Below Average Income - – An analysis of income distribution 1994/95 – 2011/2012 (HBAI 2013) 
110

 70% of contemporary median income has been used here, rather than the 60% used for the children and families and 
adult sections of this needs assessment. This is because, for pensioners, the differences for households at the 60% poverty 
line are much less marked than at the 70% line. The70% poverty line therefore enables better identification of older people 
most at risk of poverty. 
111

 Source: Households Below Average Income - – An analysis of income distribution 1994/95 – 2011/2012 (HBAI 2013) 
112

 70% of contemporary median income has been used here, rather than the 60% used for the children and families and 
adult sections of this needs assessment. This is because, for pensioners, the differences for households at the 60% poverty 
line are much less marked than at the 70% line. The70% poverty line therefore enables better identification of older people 
most at risk of poverty. 
 

Page 128



 

106 
 

-1 or more disabled adults 27% 23% 

- In receipt of disability 
benefits 

14% 11% 

- Not in receipt of disability 
benefits 

35% 31% 

 

Living in a household with a head from an ethnic minority 

 

As with children and families, and the wider adult population, the table below demonstrates clearly that 

older people in households headed up by someone from a Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) background 

are at a significantly higher risk of poverty than the national average. The highest level of risk is for the 

Pakistani community – who are at a 57% (before housing costs) and 59% (after housing costs) risk 

compared to 27% and 23% nationally. 

 

Percentage of pensioners in low income groups by various family and household 
characteristics living in households, UK HBAI 2011/12113  
(Income <70% median income114) 

Ethnic group of head (3 year 
average) 

Before Housing Costs After Housing Costs 

White 27% 24% 

Mixed/multiple ethnic groups - - 

Asian/Asian British 44% 44% 

-Indian 41% 39% 

-Pakistani 57% 59% 

-Bangladeshi - - 

-Chinese - - 

-Any other Asian background - - 

Black/African/Caribbean/Black 
British 

33% 36% 

Other Ethnic Group 35% 37% 

All pensioners 27% 23% 

 

Summary: Older people most at risk of poverty 

National Households Below Average Income data highlights single older people who live alone, Living in 
families with disabled members not in receipt of disability benefits, Living in a household with a head 
from an ethnic minority as more vulnerable to poverty. However some older people might not 
technically meet this definition of poverty and yet be 'asset rich, cash poor' and thus in financial hardship 

                                                      
113

 Source: Households Below Average Income - – An analysis of income distribution 1994/95 – 2011/2012 (HBAI 2013) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/households-below-average-income-hbai--2 
114

 70% of contemporary median income has been used here, rather than the 60% used for the children and families and 
adult sections of this needs assessment. This is because, for pensioners, the differences for households at the 60% poverty 
line are much less marked than at the 70% line. The70% poverty line therefore enables better identification of older people 
most at risk of poverty. 
 

Page 129

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/households-below-average-income-hbai--2


 

107 
 

Factors that have a strong relationship with poverty for all residents 

Welfare Reforms 

Background 

The Coalition Government’s Welfare Reform Act was passed in 2012, containing the most significant and 

extensive program of welfare reforms since the welfare state was brought into existence, after the 

Second World War, by Health Minister Aneurin Bevan.  

 

Research published in August 2013 by the Centre for Social and Economic Inclusion has assessed the 

combined impacts of housing benefit reforms across the country. Overall, allowing for overlaps between 

the impacts of the benefit cap and the Local Housing Allowance measure, they estimated that 1.71 

million households - or around one in ten of all working age households - will be impacted by one of 

more of the Housing Benefit reforms set out in the report (social sector size criteria, Benefit Cap, Local 

Housing Allowance), with an average impact of £1,215 per year (or £23 per week). They also estimated 

that 1.18 million of these households (70 per cent in total) will be households where no one works.  

 

Portsmouth is above the Non-London average as follows: 

 

Non-London Local Authorities where impacts from key housing benefit reforms 2015/16 are above 

average115: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The report reflects on how, whilst areas with above average losses and above average proportions of 

losers are more likely to be in the south of England, what stands out is the large number of coastal 

towns from around the country; two thirds of all local authorities. The report stresses how different 

parts of the country will face different challenges; for example, in large parts of the north of England, 

large proportions of households will see significant changes in income. In the south of England, generally 

fewer households will see proportionately larger losses from welfare reforms. However some places will 

see both large losses and large numbers affected, especially London. 

 

In Portsmouth a city-wide risk assessment has been carried out in respect of the changes, containing 

data and other relevant information around the impacts of the changes and subsequent mitigating 

                                                      
115

 Centre for Economic and Social Inclusion, 'The local impacts of welfare reform; An assessment of cumulative impacts and 
mitigations' LGA August 2013 

Local Authority Average loss (£ per 
year) 

Proportion of all 
households impacted 

Portsmouth 976 12.5% 

Southampton 1090 11.2% 

Brighton and Hove 1506 13.9% 

Bristol, city of 1056 11.4% 

Non-London Average 940 10.2% 

Page 130



 

108 
 

actions. This has been used on a multi-agency basis to plan for the changes, and to work pro-actively 

with residents to reduce the risk of financial hardship. The following is a summary of the key changes. 

(Please note - these are the key changes only - there are many other changes which are not detailed 

here due to volume). 

 

Key changes 

Social sector size criteria (sometimes known as 'the bedroom tax') 

 

This change was implemented from April 2013 and affected people in social housing who were deemed 

to be 'under-occupying' their property, with reductions to their housing benefit. Pensioners were 

exempt from the changes. 

 

It currently affects approximately 1,400 tenants in total across Portsmouth City Council (PCC) and 

Registered Social Landlord (RSL) housing stock. It involves a 14% cut of the total eligible rent if the 

claimant is under-occupying by one bedroom (average deduction £13.50 a week); or a 25% cut in 

Housing Benefit if they are under-occupying by two or more bedrooms (average deduction £25.00 a 

week).  As of January 2015, approximately 1,000 PCC tenants were affected.  Of these, 44% were not in 

rent arrears, 27% were in arrears of £200 or less, and 29% were more than £200 in arrears. 

 

All affected PCC residents were contacted to look at their options, and similar work was carried out 

across the RSLs. Options included downsizing, gaining employment and/or more hours employment, 

better budgeting, taking in lodgers etc. 

 

As pensioners are not affected by the bedroom tax, the irony for Portsmouth is that there are a 

significant number of under-occupiers in the city are in fact pensioners who are exempt from the 

changes. This highlights a need to work on this, for example by ensuring there is appropriate 

accommodation available for them in the city, as part of the city's housing strategy.  

Household Benefit Cap 

An overall cap on benefits received per household was implemented in Portsmouth from the 15th July 

2013 onwards. The cap is set at £26,000 (£500 per week) for a couple or single parent, and £18,200 

(£350 per week) for a single person and applies to working age people only. There are some other 

exemptions from the cap such as for those claiming Disability Living Allowance or working tax credits. 

As of December 2014 it affected 107 households in Portsmouth. Most of these have tended to be 

families with 3 or more children. Over half were in private accommodation (where the rents are higher 

than in the social housing sector). The average deduction was £48 per week.  

Targeted work was carried out with those in the original tranche, helping people to resolve their 

situations by either gaining employment, down-sizing to cheaper accommodation or through help with 

budgeting. Some households were granted Discretionary Housing Payment in the short term whilst they 

Page 131



 

109 
 

were exploring their longer term solutions to their shortfall. Of this original tranche, 24 households 

found employment and as a result 112 more children are now living in working households. 

Council Tax Support 

From April 2013, Council Tax Benefit was replaced with local council tax support schemes. Some people 

of working age have faced cuts in council tax support of 20% meaning that if they were not paying council tax 

previously, they may have from April 2013. People of pension credit age are unaffected. 

Changes to the Social Fund 

In April 2013, the government abolished the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP)'s Social Fund 

Community Care Grants and Crisis Loans, and funding was given to Local Authorities instead to provide 

support according to local need. The funding was not ring fenced and there was not a prescribed way to 

spend the funds other than it should involve supporting people in financial hardship. PCC therefore 

established its own Local Welfare Assistance Scheme, which provides similar support to the previous 

DWP provision - i.e. support for people in crisis or emergency situations, or help with re-

settlement/establishment of people with complex needs in the community. Help tends to be targeted 

towards vulnerable groups such as those fleeing domestic violence, people leaving hostels, hospitals or 

institutions etc.  

From April 2013 to March 2014 a total of 697 awards have been made, evidencing a high level of need 

locally for this kind of support. No allocated funding is being made available by the government from 

April 2015 and this is potentially therefore an unmet need going forward. 

Disability Living Allowance (DLA) 

Disability Living Allowance provides support for the costs associated with disability, both in terms of care and 

mobility. From 8 April 2013 the government introduced a new benefit called Personal Independence 

Payment (PIP) to replace Disability Living Allowance for eligible working age people aged 16 to 64.  

All new claims are now made for PIP instead of DLA. PIP is being phased in over a period of time for existing 

claims, although the original timetable for this has slipped significantly due to claim processing backlogs.   

PIP has a new assessment process with new criteria. As the government has stated its intention to reduce 

funding in this area it is likely that there are some people who are currently getting DLA at present who will 

either not be eligible for PIP in future, or who will receive a reduced rate. Research by Bill Sargent Trust 

estimated that 2,900 people in Portsmouth would be adversely affected by the transition from DLA to PIP, 

and that collectively they would lose £5m per year116.  

Employment Support Allowance 

There have been on-going issues in Portsmouth from the previous abolition of Incapacity Benefit, and 

transitions onto either Jobseekers Allowance or Employment Support Allowance. These issues have 

involved either problems and delays with processes, or incorrect 'fit for work' assessments.  

 

                                                      
116

 The Impact of Welfare Reform in Hampshire, Bill Sargent Trust, 2013 

Page 132



 

110 
 

As stated elsewhere in this needs assessment, problems with sickness benefits locally have been 

evidenced by a recent piece of research by the Bill Sargent Trust117 with advice services across 

Portsmouth, Southampton and Hampshire. It showed that the single biggest demand across all advice 

services involved problems with either applying for or on-going issues with Employment Support 

Allowance. Research by Bill Sargent Trust estimated that 3,500 people in Portsmouth would be 

adversely affected by the move from IB to ESA and between them would lose an estimated £13m per 

year118. During the period October 2008 and May 2011, of ESA claimants judged fit for work in an initial 

functional assessment, 38% of DWP decisions nationally, and 47% in the South East, were overturned on 

appeal119, suggesting that the process isn’t working for people at present. Anecdotally, agencies are 

reporting serious delays in processing people’s claims (ditto with Personal Independence Payment) and 

the foodbanks are seeing cases such as this on a daily basis where people literally have no food or funds 

while they are waiting for their benefits to be sorted out. 

 

As these issues are likely to have a knock on impact on people's health (for example through 

worry/stress), there is a need to try and work together across agencies to minimise these problems and 

to influence government policy in this area. 

 

Changes to the sanctions regime  

If claimants do not undertake the actions required in relation to their Claimant Commitment related to 

their Jobseekers Allowance, they are subject to a range of different sanctions ranging from 4 weeks to 3 

years. This has been an increase on the previous sanctions regime and the maximum length of time 

someone can be subject to a sanction. Advice agencies120 in the city have reported problems with the 

processes involved - e.g. poor communication of sanctions and requirements, and poor processes 

involved. A recent independent review into this has resulted in some changes being made to these 

processes and procedures. Data available from the Department for Work and Pensions in relation to 

numbers of people being sanctioned as a proportion of the overall caseload is currently not available. 

Universal Credit (not yet implemented in Portsmouth) 

Universal Credit is a new single benefit payment for people who are looking for work, or who are on a 

low income - it will replace six existing benefits with a simpler, single monthly payment. The aim of 

Universal Credit is to create a simpler benefits system that makes work pay, and makes transitions in 

and out of work easier in terms of the benefits process. Originally Universal Credit was due to start in 

October 2013 for new Jobseekers Allowance claims, but this only happened in 6 areas of the country 

due to delays and further testing. The government is stating that Universal Credit will be rolled out 

across the UK for all relevant claimants by 2019. It has recently been announced that Universal Credit 

will be implemented nationwide for all new single Jobseekers Allowance (JSA) claimants from February 

                                                      
117

 Counting the Cost: Advice Services and the Public Spending Reductions, Bill Sargent Trust, 2013 
118

 The Impact of Welfare Reform in Hampshire, Bill Sargent Trust, 2013 
119 Department for Work and Pensions; Employment and Support Allowance appeal outcomes; (part of) Ad hoc statistical 

analysis 2012 - quarter 3; published 12 September 2012 
120

 As evidenced by the Portsmouth Advice Services Partnership response to the Matthew Oakley Review into Sanctions in 
2014. 

Page 133



 

111 
 

2015. Southampton Jobcentre will be in the first tranche of this roll out, and is expected to go live in 

March 2015. Eastleigh and Isle of Wight Jobcentres will be in the second tranche, and do not yet have an 

implementation date. Portsmouth and Cosham Jobcentres will be in later tranches. Other than that, no 

information is presently available about the timetable for other new claimants and existing claimants of 

JSA. 

The majority of people will have a single monthly payment and will be responsible for paying their 

housing benefit element to their landlord themselves - i.e. they will not be able to request that the 

housing benefit element of their Universal Credit is paid directly to their landlord. There will be some 

exceptions for vulnerable groups as decided by the DWP decision maker, in consultation with the 

claimant and social landlords where applicable. 

In terms of impact, research by Donald Hirsch for the Joseph Rowntree Foundation in 2013 compared 

incomes for households with different characteristics under both Universal Credit and the current 

benefits system, taking account of the most recent announcements on scheme design and uprating121. 

This demonstrated clearly that none of the household types looked at – single people, lone parents and 

couple parents – are always better off or always worse off under Universal Credit. This analysis also 

takes account of rent, Council Tax and childcare where applicable. The report stated that; 

 

• Single people have the same entitlement out of work, are generally better off under 

Universal Credit compared with current system when working part-time, but no 

better or worse off at full-time hours. 

• Lone parents are substantially better off compared with the current system working 

fewer than two days a week, but have broadly the same entitlements as now when working more than 

this. 

• Couple parents are also better off working part-time, but will often find themselves 

worse off when working more than two days a week. 

 

Research by Disability Rights UK, Citizens Advice and the Children’s Society has also highlighted that 

disabled people in particular may see reductions in support under Universal Credit compared with the 

current system as follows: 

• a reduction in the equivalent of the disability element of Child Tax Credit could lead to 100,000 

households losing up to £28 a week 

• changes to how the equivalent of the disability element in Working Tax Credit is calculated could 

impact up to 116,000 households by £40 a week 

• the removal of the Severe Disability Premium could lead to losses for 230,000 households of £28 to 

£58 a week 

 

                                                      
121 Hirsch, D. and Hartfree, Y. (2013) Does Universal Credit enable households to reach a minimum income standard?, Joseph 

Rowntree Foundation 

 

Page 134



 

112 
 

With all of these changes, no households will see their benefits reduced at point of transition to 

Universal Credit - rather it will be new claimants of Universal Credit who will be affected, or existing 

claimants with a significant change of circumstances. 

 

To summarise: overall people will be somewhat better off under Universal Credit, but these impacts will 

be different for different groups. As a general rule of thumb, those working very short hours will 

generally see entitlements increased, many of those working longer hours will see no change to 

entitlements or a slight decrease, while for those out of work many households will see very little 

change, but some disabled households may see entitlements reduced. 

Welfare Benefits Up-rating Act 2013 

For three years from April 2013, all working age income benefits (and Housing Benefit Local Housing 

Allowance rates from 2014) will only increase by 1%, less than current inflation and not therefore linked 

to the cost of living.  Child Benefit rates were frozen for three years from 2011, and only increased by 

1% in 2014.  However, the basic state pension was protected by the 'triple guarantee', whereby it will 

increase by the highest of three measures; average earnings, CPI inflation or 2.5%. 

 

Benefit freezes and increases of 1% effectively equate to a cut in benefits. This has been the area of 

highest savings for the government within the welfare reforms, with households in Portsmouth losing an 

estimated £12m per year. It has a significant effect on people's incomes and will also have a knock on 

effect on the local economy in terms of people having less money to spend in their communities. 

 

Summary: Welfare Reforms 

The ongoing programme of welfare reforms has had a significant impact on working age households 
nationally. In Portsmouth, 12.5% of households have been affected by the key Housing Benefit reforms, 
losing an average of £976 per year, above the national average (excluding London).  

The impact of welfare reforms has varied between households.  44% of PCC tenants subject to the size 
criteria reduction in Housing Benefit have maintained their full rental payments, while 29% are in arrears 
of more than £200. 

The estimated combined adverse impact on households in Portsmouth of the changes from Incapacity 
Benefit to Employment and Support Allowance and from Disability Living Allowance to Personal 
Independence Payments is £18m per year. These changes have created significant additional demand on 
advice services in the city. 

Universal Credit is being rolled out nationally for new, single jobseekers from February 2015, but may 
not be implemented in Portsmouth in 2015. 

Reductions in annual up-ratings to means-tested working age benefits have reduced income in 
Portsmouth by an estimated £12m per year.  

Housing 

The 2014 South Hampshire Strategic Housing Market Assessment estimated that 43.7% of households in 

Portsmouth are unable to afford market housing without subsidy122. Unaffordable housing costs 

                                                      
122

 South Hampshire Strategic Housing Market Assessment, Partnership for Urban South Hampshire, 2014 

Page 135



 

113 
 

contribute to poverty by reducing disposable income, but also act as a barrier to poor households 

securing housing that is suitable for their needs, in terms of size, location, condition etc. 

 

Tenure 

The Joseph Rowntree Foundation conducted research into the levels of income required to meet their 

Minimum Income Standard (MIS), based on household needs and costs. It found that 48.9% of social 

tenants and 43.7% of private tenants had incomes below the MIS, compared to 12.9% of homeowners 

with a mortgage and 10.5% of those owning outright123. In the last decade the number of people in 

poverty in private rented housing nationally has doubled from 2.1m to 4.1m (2002/3 - 2012/13)124. The 

ratio of social housing to all private sector housing in Portsmouth has remained stable since 2001, but 

there has been a dramatic shift in tenure in the private sector, away from owner occupation and into 

the private rented sector.  Comparing Census data with PCC's Private Sector House Condition Survey 

(2008) demonstrates that this shift has taken place since the global financial crisis in 2008.  

 

 

 

 

Housing Tenure Percentage of 
Total Stock 2011  
Source:  ONS 
Census 2011 

Percentage of 
Total Stock 2008 
Source:  Private 
Sector House 
Condition Survey 
2008 

Percentage of 
Total Stock 2001 
Source:  ONS 
Census 2001 

Owner occupied 55.8% 62.6% 64.8% 

Privately rented 25.9% 18.0% 16.7% 

All Private Sector 81.7% 80.6% 81.5% 

Local Authority 11.7% 13.2% 13.3% 

Housing Association 6.6% 6.2% 5.2% 

All Social Housing  18.3% 19.4% 18.5% 

All Tenures 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

 

It is useful to look in more detail at Charles Dickens and Paulsgrove wards, which had the highest 

proportion of social housing, in both 2001 and 2011.  In Charles Dickens there has been a 27.2% increase 

(n = 285) in the number of owner occupying households, but there has been a 25.1% increase (n = 1547) 

in the number of households living in this ward, so the proportion of owner occupied households has 

not changed (17.3%).  The number of private rented households has increased by 84.1% (n = 550), while 

social rented households have increased by 16.0% (n = 712), so although the greatest number of new 

                                                      
123

 Joseph Rowntree Foundation 'Households below a minimum income standard: 2008/09 to 2012/13' - January 2015: 
http://www.jrf.org.uk/sites/files/jrf/Households-below-MIS-Full.pdf  
124

 Joseph Rowntree Foundation: Monitoring Poverty and Social Exclusion 2014: 
http://www.jrf.org.uk/publications/monitoring-poverty-and-social-exclusion-2014# 
 

Page 136

http://www.jrf.org.uk/sites/files/jrf/Households-below-MIS-Full.pdf
http://www.jrf.org.uk/publications/monitoring-poverty-and-social-exclusion-2014


 

114 
 

households in this ward have been social tenants, the proportion of social tenants is decreasing in 

relation to the private rented sector in this ward. 

 

In Paulsgrove there has been very little growth in the number of households during this decade (1.4%, n 

= 76), but the number of social rented households has reduced by 155, while 227 private rented 

households have been added.  In 2001, 2 in 10 households renting in this ward had a private landlord; by 

2011 this had increased to 2 in every 7 households. 

 

Overall, new households in the most deprived wards in Portsmouth are more likely to be living in the 

private rented sector than in social housing.  While the private rented sector can increase the choice and 

supply of homes, for some low income households it will mean higher rents, worse housing conditions, 

unreliable maintenance, and low security of tenure, compared to the social rented sector. 

 

The costs of renting privately can exacerbate poverty, through borrowing for rent deposits, rent in 

advance and lettings fees, increased outgoings to pay for rents not covered by Local Housing Allowance 

and higher fuel bills for inefficient homes.  Private sector tenants have very little security of tenure 

outside of any fixed term tenancy, and are therefore much more likely to be required to move, and to 

be at risk of homelessness, than social sector tenants.  This is closely linked to causes and indicators of 

poverty, including the additional costs of moving, difficulty in maintaining links with family and 

community networks, and disruptions to children's schooling. 

 

96.4% of owner occupier heads of household are either in employment or retired, that is, in the groups 

least affected by recent welfare reform.  The most vulnerable working age tenants, those who are 

unemployed, long term sick or disabled and full time parents or carers, make up 27.0% of social housing 

heads of household, and 13.7% in the private rented sector, compared to just 2.5% of owner 

occupiers125.  Therefore the social housing sector has a key role in supporting tenants at risk of poverty, 

but significant numbers of private rented sector tenants will also require support. 

 

Housing Benefit and Local Housing Allowance 

From April 2011, the formula for Local Housing Allowance (LHA) rates was changed from the median to 

the 30th percentile of rents for properties with the same number of bedrooms.  This change meant that 

7 out of 10 properties in Portsmouth had rents that would not be met in full by the LHA rate for that 

property size. 

 

With effect from April 2012, LHA rates no longer increase in line with 30th percentile rents.  They are 

uprated by the lower of the 30th percentile of rents, or the previous LHA rate plus 1%.  This formula 

ensures that, over time, LHA levels will fall below the 30th percentile of rents, and therefore less than 3 

in every ten rents will be within the LHA rate for the property size.  Many households claiming LHA (or 

Universal Credit with housing costs, which will use the same LHA rates), will be faced with the option of 

                                                      
125

 ONS Census 2011 

Page 137



 

115 
 

paying a top-up to live in accommodation that is large enough for their needs, or living in overcrowded 

accommodation where the rent is within their LHA rate. 

 

In April 2014, there were 7,620 private sector Housing Benefit claims in Portsmouth, of which 978 

preceded the LHA regulations126.  Of the 6,642 LHA claims, 64.5% (n = 4,283) were for properties where 

the rent exceeded the LHA rate, and the average shortfall was £18.04 per week.  Very few of these 

claimants receive Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP) to cover the shortfall between the rent and the 

LHA; in Dec 2014, 193 households were receiving DHP due to a top-up on their rent. 

 

The forecast for DHP awards in 2014/15 is £546,807.  Of the 863 DHP awards made from Apr - Dec 14, 

595 (69%) were made to households suffering a shortfall due to the reduction in Housing Benefit for 

social tenants treated as under-occupying (often referred to as the 'bedroom tax') (see further 

information below).  15 households were receiving DHP due to the Household Benefit Cap.  On 1st Dec 

2014, 107 families living in Portsmouth were affected by the cap, with deductions ranging from under £5 

to £86.52 per week, the average deduction being £48.15 per week, compared to 119 households with 

an average deduction of £71.00 when the cap was first implemented. 

 

In May 2014, there were 1488 households claiming Housing Benefit whose entitlement had been 

reduced due to under-occupying social housing; 1257 with a 14% deduction for one additional room, 

231 with a 25% reduction for two or more additional rooms.  313 of these 1488 tenants (21.0%) were 

receiving DHP to assist with this shortfall, including 122 living in properties adapted for their needs.  DHP 

is never awarded permanently and many of the DHP awards mentioned in this section will be short term 

only, and therefore provide an opportunity to seek alternative affordable housing rather than resolving 

the affordability issue. 

 

Homelessness 

All housing authorities are required to provide details of the number of households that receive a 

decision under the homelessness legislation, or that are provided with formal assistance to prevent 

homelessness.  These statistics are published nationally.  However, this is just a small part of the 

support, advice and assistance provided by the Housing Options team at Portsmouth City Council, and 

does not represent the total number of households at risk of homelessness in the area during a given 

period.  It should also be noted that due to significant differences between local authorities in how they 

respond to homelessness and record activity, comparisons between areas may not accurately reflect 

differences in incidence of homelessness. 

 

However, it is possible to look at differences over time, to understand trends in need and assistance.  

Portsmouth City Council's Housing Options team responded to a 5.9% increase (n = 46) in demand for 

assistance with homelessness prevention and statutory homelessness assistance from 2010/11 to 

                                                      
126

 Information provided by the Council's Revenues and Benefits Service. 

Page 138



 

116 
 

2011/12, but the same period saw a 38.2% increase (n = 84) in demand from households losing private 

sector rented accommodation.   

 

During the five years 2009 to 2014, 34.1% (n = 1367) of households receiving homelessness prevention 

and statutory homelessness assistance from Housing Options did so because of losing private rented 

sector accommodation.  The reasons for losing accommodation include: unaffordability; rent arrears; 

landlords being repossessed for non-payment of mortgage; and Section 21 notices, where a tenant is 

served notice without grounds for eviction, and the landlord is entitled to mandatory possession of the 

property.  The increase in households in private rented housing discussed previously places more 

households at risk of losing their home for these reasons, and could therefore lead to an increase in 

homelessness in the city. 

 

The other most common reasons for homelessness over this five year period were family breakdown, 

including households living within a related host household (23.9%, n = 957) and violence and 

harassment, including domestic violence (16.7%, n = 670).   

 

A future rise in interest rates is likely to increase homelessness among owner occupiers whose 

mortgages become unaffordable, and also among tenants in the private rented sector whose landlords 

are repossessed, or who raise rents to cover their increased mortgage costs. 

 

Housing conditions  

Portsmouth has double the regional and national averages for households with no central heating, at 

5.4%.   This aspect of the housing stock in Portsmouth has a direct link to fuel poverty (see separate 

section for further information).  There is significant overcrowding in both the social and private rented 

sectors, where the levels are 19.8% (n = 3,091) and 20.4% (n = 4,523) respectively (under the Census 

rooms occupancy measure), compared to 3.5% among owner occupiers, and 10.9% of all households.  

As of August 2014, there were 1506 households on Portsmouth City Council's housing waiting list, 

meeting the criteria to be considered for more suitable housing due to their housing need.  Of these, 

732 households were in need of larger accommodation, of which 351 were currently living in social 

housing, and 381 in the private sector.   

 

Housing related support 

Portsmouth City Council commissions accommodation-based support services.  There are services for 

families, young people aged 16 to 25, single people aged 18 to 65, sheltered housing for older people, 

and Refuge accommodation for women escaping domestic abuse.  Across all of these services, in 2013-

2014, 77.7% of service users were identified as needing support to maximise their income, with 82.2% 

of these achieving a successful outcome.  76.6% were identified as needing to reduce their overall debt, 

with 61.1% achieving this outcome.  Accommodation based support enables service users to maintain 

settled accommodation, and gain the skills to live independently and prevent future risk of 

homelessness. 

 

Page 139



 

117 
 

Summary: Housing 

In recent years there has been a significant drop in owner occupation, and rise in private sector renting 
in Portsmouth. New households in the most deprived wards in Portsmouth are more likely to be living in 
the private rented sector than in social housing.  

Some low income households renting in the private sector have higher rents, worse housing conditions, 
unreliable maintenance, and low security of tenure, compared to the social rented sector. 

27.0% of heads of household in the social rented sector, and 13.7% in the private rented sector are 
among the working age groups most affected by welfare reform and at risk of poverty. 

64.5% of Local Housing Allowance claims are for properties where the rent exceeds the maximum 
Housing Benefit entitlement for the occupying household, with the average top up being £18.04 per 
week, reducing the income available to meet those households' needs. 

Between 2009 and 2014, 34.1% of households receiving statutory homelessness assistance from Housing 
Options were in need due to losing private rented sector housing, and the growth of the private rented 
sector is likely to increase this demand. 

Portsmouth has significant levels of homes that are overcrowded, and homes that do not have central 
heating. 

Food poverty 

Please see the earlier section entitled ' The ‘Heat or Eat’ Dilemma – Fuel and Food Poverty experienced 

by families'. Whilst much of this section focuses on the food poverty experienced by families, there is 

also data and learning included that is related to the needs of the general population. 

Financial inclusion 

‘Financial Inclusion’ is generally defined as ‘access for individuals to appropriate financial products and 

services…this includes people having the skills, knowledge and understanding to make best use of those 

products and services’. Financial exclusion – when people are not financially included – is often a 

symptom of poverty as well as a cause. 

 

In real terms, what this means is that: 

 Many people do not have the basic skills and knowledge they need to manage their money 

effectively 

 They may have passed from childhood into adulthood without this basic knowledge e.g. the 

benefits of having a bank account or what to consider when borrowing money 

 Not having this knowledge can mean paying more for things unnecessarily when already on a 

low income 

 Helping children and adults to gain this knowledge and understanding can therefore help them 

to make their income go further 

 This help may include advice around bank accounts, debt, interest rates on loans, the importance 

of saving and of insurance and general money management and budgeting 

 

In order therefore to assess need around financial exclusion in the city, the following areas will be 

examined as follows: 

Page 140



 

118 
 

 Addressing the 'poverty premium' for people in financial hardship 

 Knowledge of and access to financial products 

 Debt 

 Fuel poverty 

 Digital Exclusion 

 Wider knowledge and understanding around money management 

Addressing the ‘Poverty Premium’ for people in financial hardship 
Being poor costs people more. In 2010, Save the Children produced a report on the Poverty Premium127, 

the additional costs to low income households for everyday essentials.  This showed that people in 

poverty paid an average of £253 per year more for their gas and electricity.  Most of this additional cost 

was caused by the higher tariffs charged to households with pre-payment meters.  Since 2010 there 

have been some reductions in tariffs for meters, but they remain more expensive than direct debit and 

quarterly billing tariffs.  The Guardian reported in 2013128 that Confused.com estimated the additional 

costs to be as high as £300 per year, while Moneysupermarket's estimate was just over £200 and 

uSwitch put the figure at about £163.  Low income households continue to pay a premium for pre-

payment meters, either because they previously fallen into debt, or because they have chosen pre-

payment for better control, to avoid the risk of unmanageable bills. 

 

Save the Children’s 2014 re-modelling of the ‘poverty premium’ from 2010 shows that the additional 

cost of services and goods for poorer families has risen from £1,280 in 2010 to £1,639 a year in 2014 – 

around 8% of income for families around the poverty line129.  Poor families pay more for goods because 

they are poor – for example through high cost credit due to poor credit ratings, and higher insurance 

through living in areas of higher crime and deprivation.  Lack of access to the internet can also mean a 

lack of access to cheaper deals on line (see also the digital exclusion section).  It can also mean people 

paying more for fuel when they don’t have the opportunity to ‘shop around’ online or when they can’t 

access online discounts for on-line services and bills. The report found, through polling of 4,000 parents, 

that more families on low and modest incomes have seen their income going down rather than 

increasing over the past five years; it’s only among wealthier families that more have seen a rise. 

 

                                                      
127

 http://www.savethechildren.org.uk/resources/online-library/uk-poverty-rip-poverty-premium-2010 
128

 http://www.theguardian.com/money/2013/apr/20/energy-bills-prepay-meters-cost-poorer-households 
129

 Source: ‘A Fair Start for Every Child’, Save the Children 2014 

Page 141



 

119 
 

 
There is a need therefore to counteract the effects of the poverty premium for people households in the 

city, through: 

 

 Education around high cost credit and alternatives 

 Education around how to reduce fuel bills and how to access deals (e.g. discounts for direct 

debits, the benefits of switching to cheaper suppliers) 

 Access to affordable basic household items 

 Work around increasing people's income so that they don't fall into poverty and therefore the 

poverty premium trap 

 Work around ensuring people are able to access affordable insurance even when they live in 

areas of deprivation (see also next section for reference to insurance). 

 

Summary: Financial inclusion - addressing the ‘poverty premium’ for people in financial hardship 

Poor families pay more for goods because they are poor. Save the Children’s ‘poverty premium’ shows 
that the additional cost of services and goods for poorer families has risen from £1,280 in 2010 to £1,639 
a year in 2014 (e.g. through paying more for gas and electric, insurance, credit etc). 

There is a need therefore to counteract the effects of the poverty premium for people households in the 
city, both through education and also through provision of access to affordable goods and services (such 
as affordable credit and home contents insurance). 

Knowledge of and access to financial products 
To date, as part of the research around this needs assessment, very little has been found in the way of 

data relating to how many people in the city have the necessary financial products such as bank 

accounts and insurance. 

 

Detailed local data is available through the Experian organisation's Financial Strategy Segments product, 

but at present the Council does not have access to it (there is a cost attached to having this data base, 

which is not funded at present).  

 

2
 
T

H
E
 T

H
R

E
E
 M

A
IN

 D
R

IV
E
R

S O
F
 C

H
IL

D
 P

O
V

E
R

T
Y

17

RISING POVERTY PREMIUM

Against the backdrop of rising costs and slow wage 

growth, low-income families have faced a poverty 

premium.80 Because of the way these families purchase 

everyday goods and services and their limited access 

to cheap financing options, they can often end up 

paying more. Low-income families also tend to live 

in higher-risk areas, attracting an additional cost for 

services such as car and home insurance. 

Save the Children estimates that at the end of 2013, 

the poverty premium was around £1,639 per year 

(Table 1), which, even counting for general inflation, 

is the highest we have ever estimated. (In 2010 we 

estimated the poverty premium stood at £1,289 and 

in 2007 at £1,002.81) For a family living around the 

poverty line, this could account for roughly 8% of 

their income. 

For example, low-income families are more likely 

to use a pre-payment meter for their energy, either 

because it allows them to monitor their expenditure, 

or because they do not have a bank account with a 

direct debit feature, or because they are servicing 

existing debts. As a result, they pay a higher rate 

per unit than customers on a direct debit. A typical 

annual dual fuel bill could be around 21% (£241)  

more expensive. 

Because of a lack of savings, or lack of access to 

low-interest credit cards or loans, families cannot 

afford to quickly meet unexpected expenditure, such 

as replacing a broken cooker. As a result, they tend 

to purchase large goods in instalments that incur 

a monthly interest charge. A cooker purchased in 

instalments using store credit could cost over three 

times as much as when buying outright. 

TRENDS IN DEBT

Over half of low-income families surveyed reported 

that their income today was lower than it was 

five years ago (Figure 15). While this is subject to 

self-reporting, many reported that this was due to 

changes in wage income, employment or welfare 

payments.82 Around 40% of modest-income families 

have also faced falls. 

30% of low- and modest-income families reported 

to us that they had nothing left to cut back on. 

This has had a corresponding impact on the level 

of savings within these families. Around four in ten 

children in the poorest income quintile live in families 

that have no savings at all, and three in ten children 

in the second quintile are in a similar position, 

demonstrating the vulnerability of those living on  

the edge of poverty.83

TABLE 1 ILLUSTRATION OF POVERTY PREMIUM, 2013–14

Category Typical costs Costs to low-
income families

Difference 

Loan of £500 £500.00 £929.51 £429.51

Basic household item: cooker £249.00 £858.00 £609.00

Cost to cash three £200 cheques £0.00 £39.00 £39.00

Annual electricity and gas bill combined £1,136.00 £1,377.00 £241.00

Home contents insurance £64.33 £67.10 £2.77

Car insurance £454.77 £772.74 £317.97

Total £2,404.10 £4,043.35 £1,639.25

Page 142



 

120 
 

Mosaic data provided by Experian synthesises a wide range of data in order to classify individuals and 

households into 15 groups and 66 detailed types with common characteristics. It includes data on 

financial stress and holding current accounts, using indices to show the prevalence of these 

characteristics for each group and type.  It uses a four point scale for managing on current income: 

comfortable; coping; difficult; very difficult, based on data on missed payments.  It also identifies the 

probability among each group of individuals of holding a current account with a bank or building society, 

excluding credit union and post office accounts. 

 

By applying the indices for each group at ward level, the incidence of these characteristics has been 

modelled.  This shows that the wards with the highest prevalence of adults finding it very difficult to 

manage on current income are: Charles Dickens (17.8%); Fratton (15.3%); Paulsgrove (14.6%).  In three 

wards, around two in five adults are finding it either difficult or very difficult to manage on current 

income: Charles Dickens (45.9%); Fratton (40.4%); Nelson (39.8%). 

 

The wards with the highest proportion of adult residents with no current account are: Charles Dickens 

(10.8%); Paulsgrove (8.5%); Nelson (7.7%).  Across these three wards this equates to 3,183 adults 

without a current account and 10,011 across the whole city (6.2% of the adult population). 

 

Other (limited) local data is available. For example, the Council's Finance and Benefits Team, which 

completes financial assessments for residents applying to Adult Social Care (ASC) for services, reported 

that - whilst formal data is not held in this area - it was thought that about 1/4 of their appointeeship 

clients (n 60) did not have bank accounts, and for the finance and benefit assessments, around 1/6 (n 

500). It was thought that most clients without bank accounts - but not all - tended to hold post office 

accounts instead. (N.B. Payments from ASC which are Direct Payments are paid onto a pre-paid card, so 

there is no need to have a bank account. Under the old system for Direct Payments, a bank account was 

required and the client was supported in opening an account for their ASC Direct Payments). 

 

The Council's Money Advisors who are attached to Housing Area Offices, and who support Housing 

Officers to provide money and budgeting advice to Council housing tenants - whilst again not having 

specific data in this area - have reported that they do not work with many people who do not have bank 

accounts. They do however see a few young people who still live at home with their parents (i.e. non 

dependents, over 18) who do not have their own bank account but have their benefits paid into their 

parents' accounts instead. Whilst this has not presented many issues at the time, this may of course 

present issues later for the young person if they have not gained the money management skills they 

require to lead an independent life. 

 

The Portsmouth Residents' Survey was conducted in 2007130, with the results based on 1,001 interviews 

carried out face to face, in people's homes. The data is several years old now (and pre-recession/cuts); 

                                                      
130 Fieldwork was carried out between 6

th
 October to 14

th
 December 2007. Data are weighted by age, gender and working 

status to reflect the known population profile of the area according to 2001 census data. All figures are percentages based on 

Page 143



 

121 
 

and whilst the survey was repeated in 2009, unfortunately it did not ask these same questions of 

households and so no data from that period is available. However it is still useful to look at the findings 

from 2007 as follows:  

 

 21% of households in Portsmouth did not have home contents insurance (5% did not 

know/comment) 

 25% of households did not contain anyone with a savings account (3% did not know/answer) 

 7% of households had been refused credit in the last 12 months (4% did not 

know/comment/refused to answer) 

 4% had used the services of doorstep lenders (2% did not know/answer) 

 

The fact that 21% - i.e. a fifth - of homes did not have contents insurance is a concern. If a crisis such as a 

flooding, a fire or a burglary happens, people who are living in financial hardship often have no safety 

net to be able to respond to the situation; and often end up not being able to meet their very basic 

needs (e.g. damaged household items such as cookers, fridges etc through flooding). In addition The 

Runnymede report “Financial Inclusion and Ethnicity”131 suggests that low take-up of home contents 

insurance is a particular issue for BME groups.  

 

Further work is therefore required in this area to establish whether the location of uninsured homes 

puts them at greater risk of flooding or crimes such as burglary and arson, such that their exposure to 

the potentially detrimental effects of being uninsured is greater than the general population.  This might 

then inform targeted work to increase the uptake of affordable insurance. 

 

Other evidence around bank accounts - and specifically access to basic bank accounts - which again is 

quite old, but still contains useful learning, comes from a piece of research from the Citizens Advice 

Bureau in 2010. Apart from the benefits of a bank account in terms of savings such as reductions on bills 

for paying by direct debit, there are other areas which can impact upon the vulnerable (for example 

people in debt) which are not so obvious: 

 

People who are trying to manage their debts often need to open a new basic account even though they 

have an existing bank account; if they are in debt to their existing bank, any income they receive into 

their account may be taken by the bank towards paying off the debt, resulting in serious financial 

hardship (this is known as the bank exercising its ‘right of set off’.132 

 

                                                                                                                                                                                          
the total sample except where stated. An asterisk (*) denoted a figure of less than 0.5 but greater than 0. Where the base is 
less than 50 people, numbers (N) rather than percentages have been used 
 
131

 Financial Inclusion and Ethnicity; Omar Khan, Runnymede (2008) 
132 Citizens Advice website, 25 November 2010. 

 

Page 144



 

122 
 

In Portsmouth, there is evidence to suggest that access to basic bank accounts (BBAs) can be a difficult 

process for people with particular needs and/or vulnerabilities. A study was carried out in Portsmouth 

between August 2008 and September 2009 by Portsmouth CAB, after it became clear from assessments 

within Probation that offenders were experiencing financial difficulty due to having no bank account. 

Being able to provide relevant ID to open a bank account was a particular issue for this group. Evaluation 

showed that, overall, the researcher’s experiences with the banks varied quite considerably. 

 
‘Some customers wouldn’t be able to open an account in branch, they would have to go away and fill in 

an application form (this could be very challenging for someone who has literacy problems or who lacks 

in financial confidence) and some banks wouldn’t let the customers of a BBA use in-branch facilities or if 

they were permitted the same access as fee paying customers, strict stipulations would be put in place 

to limit their access...’  

 

..certain banks seemed to treat their BBA customers differently. For example, when opening a BBA with 

Barclays, your nationality decided what type of ID you needed, and what the account was needed for 

decided how it was that you needed to apply (either in branch or sending off an application form.) 

 

In conclusion this report highlighted that, in 2010, there were no fixed guidelines that banks were 

following in relation to BBAs, and that there were many hurdles and red tape for clients to tackle in 

order to gain the most basic of banking services. There is a need therefore within Portsmouth to explore 

with the banks whether this has improved at all over the last 4 years; and how this process could be 

made easier for vulnerable people. 

 

In December 2014, nine high street banks signed an agreement with the Government to develop 

'charge-free' basic bank accounts, to protect vulnerable customers from the risk of charges for unpaid 

direct debits or unauthorised overdrafts133.  These accounts should be available before the end of 2015, 

and there will be a role for advice and support agencies to ensure that those who would benefit are 

aware of the accounts when they become available, and are able to access them. 

 

Summary: Financial inclusion - knowledge of and access to financial products 

Intelligence Gap: The Council currently has no access to detailed local data on how many residents have 

the necessary financial products such as bank accounts and insurance. 

However modelled data provides a very rough estimate and indicates that the wards with the highest 

proportion of adult residents with no current account are Charles Dickens, Paulsgrove and Nelson.  This 

equates to 6.2% of the adult population. 

Targeted work is therefore required to increase the uptake of relevant financial products, such as the 

new 'charge free' basic bank accounts being developed by 9 high street banks, and also including 

affordable insurance. 

Debt 

                                                      
133

 https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-basic-fee-free-bank-accounts-to-help-millions-manage-their-money 

Page 145



 

123 
 

At present the extent of different types of debt in Portsmouth is unknown. Whilst some data is generally 

available about average debt per household, it includes mortgage debt on properties; and so this does 

not give a sense of how much debt people have separate to their mortgage debt. More detailed data at 

a local level is available but on a cost basis; and at present the Council does not purchase this database. 

 

However there is still useful information that can inform the needs assessment around issues of debt for 

people in Portsmouth; for example national data, and also local data and knowledge from money advice 

services in the city as follows: 

The National Picture 

After a double dip recession and significant cuts to public spending and the welfare benefits bill, growing 

levels of debt are of national concern. Outstanding consumer credit lending was £160.4 billion at the 

end of June 2014, which is up from £156.4 billion at the end of June 2013, and is an increase of £78.93 

for every adult in the UK134. Per household, that’s an average consumer credit debt of £6,071 in June. 

It also means the average consumer credit borrowing was £3,175 per UK adult in May. Total credit card 

debt in June 2014 was £56.9bn. Per household this is £2,154 – for a credit card bearing the average 

interest, it would cost £54 a month to clear the debt in five years, and £38 a month to clear it in ten 

years.  

 
There can be no doubt that, since the introduction of electronic money (credit cards, online banking 

etc), getting into debt can happen at the touch of a button. In many respects this electronic money era 

may have diminished levels of budgeting skills that were more overt in the 'jam jar' days of money - i.e. 

when people physically put their rent money in a jam jar, their gas and electric money in another and so 

on; and this was how they budgeted for their day to day living. How people get into debt and the 

products available to them has also changed significantly; for example, the number of people struggling 

with payday loans has risen by 42% in the past year, according to debt charity StepChange135.  

 

It is also of concern that debt has an association with mental health issues; research on the Royal 

College of Psychiatrists website looks at the relationship between debt and mental health problems and 

cites that: 

 

 One in four people has a mental health problem 

 One in four people with a mental health problem is in debt 

 One in two people in debt have a mental health problem 

 Debt may be a cause and a consequence of mental health problems 

 

The 2014 MoneySavingExpert.com survey also found that some 36% of people who have or have had 

mental health problems have severe or crisis debts, and just 6% of people who have never had mental 

health problems have severe or crisis debts. A 2013 survey by debt counsellors Christians Against 

                                                      
134

 MoneyCharity.Org.Uk August 2014 
135

 Source: http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/business-29014633 BBC News 02 Sep 14 website 

Page 146

http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/business-29014633


 

124 
 

Poverty found that 42% of those seeking debt help had been prescribed medication by their GP to help 

them cope, 76% of those in a couple said debt affected their relationship and 36% had considered or 

attempted suicide136.  

 

In the previous 2011 Tackling Poverty Needs Assessment, crude calculations suggested that Portsmouth 

as a city was losing 3 million pounds per year from its economy through one form of debt known as 

doorstep lending. It was calculated by looking at the difference between borrowing at the interest rate 

set by a Credit Union, compared to the average doorstep lender interest rate. Therefore doorstep 

lending doesn’t only affect the individual, it affects the overall economy of the city. 

 

Debt can therefore not only have a significant impact on people's lives and their health; but is also likely 

to increase costs across both public services and wider voluntary and community sector support services 

as a result.  

The Local Picture 

Some data is available from several key money advice and support services in the city, which may give 

some insight into the prevalence and type of the problem locally, as follows: 

 

A sample was carried out at United Savings and Loans (USAL) Credit Union between the 1st July and the 

15th August 14. The sample included all payments made out of credit union accounts to various 

creditors. Although these transactions included payments for people living in other areas (e.g. wider 

Hampshire), Portsmouth represents a significant percentage of all USAL customers and so this is likely to 

be a reasonable representation of Portsmouth customers. 

 

The table below has picked out, from the 1999 transactions made to numerous different organisations, 

the organisations with the highest numbers of transactions. It should be noted that high numbers of 

transactions does not necessarily equate to the highest amount of money, as some transactions can 

involve smaller amounts (e.g. sometimes this is where customers have agreed smaller re-payment 

schedules with organisations). 

 

Please also note that the information below is a rough guide only - it is hard to establish the definitive 

list of organisations and numbers, as some of the approximately 135 listed organisations may be several 

versions of the same company. 

 

Table: Organisations with most frequent transactions (from a total of 1999 transactions) 

 

                                                      
136

 'Mental Health and Debt 2014 - Help, info, guidance and support for individuals and carers' by  Martin Lewis, Jenny Keefe 
& Marianne Curphey. 

Transaction to: Number of transactions (with average monthly payment) 

Brighthouse CCA 298 - approx. £27.00 a month 

Brighthouse Portsmouth 117 - approx. £40.00 a month 

Page 147



 

125 
 

 

 

What is striking is that Brighthouse was the most prevalent in terms of transactions, accounting for 20% 

of all payments out (noting also that the non-Portsmouth Brighthouse store transactions have been 

removed from the numbers, so the numbers are likely to be quite Portsmouth-specific). Brighthouse 

record their APR rates as approximately 67% online and people often end up paying back far more than 

they would for a 'normal'-priced item through other means. Anecdotally the evidence from advice 

services also supports a culture of use of pay weekly stores in poor communities in the city. Addressing 

this use is clearly therefore a need in terms of alleviating poverty going forward. 

 

Although Speedy Cash account for 7% of all transactions there were other organisations listed who offer 

similar services (such as Pound 2 Pocket and Quick Quid) so the proportion of payments made to pay-

day loan-type companies is likely to be higher. Again, addressing this kind of borrowing (which again is 

evidenced in advice services in the city) is clearly a need. 

 

Of note is also that transactions to The Provident (home collected credit company and arguably the 

most well-known door step lender) were not as prevalent as expected in the Credit Union transactions; 

but bearing in mind that many people make these payments in cash on the doorstep. The payments 

were however higher payments than most (approx. £55.00 a month), apart from the 'credit card-type' 

organisations such as Vanquis and Aqua, which would understandably be higher due to their credit card 

nature; and also payday loan company Wonga. This may be due to the differing nature of customers for 

different services - e.g. these were credit union customers - whereas the prevalence of the Provident for 

CAB customers was high (see below).  

 

Door step lending has anecdotally been prevalent in poor communities in Portsmouth for a number of 

years. Because the agents come to people's homes to lend and collect money, agents tend to build up a 

relationship with the household and arguably 'befriend' the family, for example by knowing key 

information such as children's birthdays, and by offering more credit linked to this information (e.g. 'I 

(NB - Other Brighthouses 
listed in areas outside of 
Portsmouth, not counted)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     

Short Term Finance 172 - approx. £33.00 a month 

Speedy Cash 141 - approx. £28.00 a month 

Vanquis/Vanquis Bank 135 - approx. £78.36 a month 

Cash Converters 123 - approx. £48.00 a month 

LP1 Collections 67 - approx. £13.00 a month 

Capital One Europe 47 - approx. £47.00 a month 

Capital One 35 - approx. £63.00 a month 

Aqua Credit Card/Master 
Card/Pay 

32 - approx. £52.00 a month 

Provident Personal 26 - approx. £55.00 a month 

Amigo/Amigo 
Loans/Amigos 

19 - approx. £19.00 a month 

Wonga 7 (noted here, as lower than expected) - approx. £99.00 a month 

Page 148



 

126 
 

see its Johnnie's birthday coming up'…etc). It can also cause problems in that, when people have debt 

such as rent and council tax arrears, which can have severe consequences if not paid, but home 

collected credit companies come to the door for payment, who is most likely to be paid - the home 

collected credit company or the landlord?.. The attraction of home collected credit for residents is its 

simplicity and speed; its disadvantage is its cost and how this can lead to over-commitment and debt. 

 

The following example was taken from the Provident website and demonstrates the cost of borrowing in 

this manner (APR rates tend to range from between 270% to 400%): 

'£200 loan repayable over 32 weeks; 32 weekly payments of £10.00;  

Rate of interest 97.5% p.a. fixed; Representative 399.7%APR;  

Total Amount Payable is £320' 

(taken from Provident Personal Finance website 22.10.14) 

Page 149



 

127 
 

The 'hook' for people is that it is £10 a week which may seem manageable at the time, and would be a 

way of for example replacing a worn out cooker when they have no other means of finding the money 

up front. This demonstrates the trap of high cost credit for poor households. 

 

The money, debt and benefits advice services also have evidence around the problems caused by debt 

in the city. Portsmouth CAB stats from 2013 - 2014137 show that: 

 

 38% of their debt clients (n 205) came from just 3 wards; Charles Dickens, Fratton and St 

Thomas, which are 3 of the most deprived wards in the city.  

 80% of these (n 428) had 3 or more debts.  

 It should be noted that whilst only 2% of these clients (n 10) were recorded as having a debt to 

Brighthouse, this is because they are generally recorded by CAB as weekly outgoings against hire 

purchase rather than debt. 

 Charles Dickens had the highest number of clients receiving help from CAB (16% - n 67), some of 

the highest levels of clients with 3 or more payday loans (11% - n 10), and the highest 

prevalence of Provident home-collected credit (30% - n 26).  Provident home-collected credit 

was also common amongst clients from Fratton (27% - n 16) and Paulsgrove (26% - n 9).   

 St Thomas had the highest prevalence of payday loans (34% - n 20), noticeably higher than the 

next highest concentrations, in Charles Dickens and Hilsea (each 28% - n 24 and n 8). 

 Those seeking help with debt were most likely to be single people, who represented 33% (n 176) 

of all clients.   

 Single parents and couples with children, those employed for more than 30 hours per week, 

social housing tenants and clients with long-term health conditions were all over-represented 

amongst those with payday loan debt.   

 Owner occupiers with a mortgage and unemployed people seeking work were less likely to have 

payday loans compared to other types of debt.  Even so, 18% (n 22) of households with payday 

loan debt were unemployed seeking work, a group whose fixed low income should make payday 

loans unsuitable.  

 

Portsmouth CAB also commented that the 'debt spiral' in relation to fines can also be a large cause of 

income being drained from poor communities. For example, someone being fined for lack of a TV 

licence will end up with a criminal fine via the magistrates court, after which their car can be 

taken/entry can be forced to seize goods etc. Similarly with parking enforcement, costs can easily 

escalate to £600 if there is non-payment. Cars or goods can be seized. Anecdotally the CAB reports that 

previously, clients were likely to pay these sorts of costs on credit card if they had no other funds; but 

now with credit less readily available, they often turn to payday lenders instead. 

 

                                                      
137

 Portsmouth CAB statistics based on 537 clients given debt casework support at the Bureaux between 18/08/13 and 
20/08/14.   

Page 150



 

128 
 

Other evidence of problems with debt in the city comes from Portsmouth's Local Welfare Assistance 

Scheme. In April 2013 the government abolished the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP)'s 

Community Care Grants and Crisis Loans. These are both of particular relevance to levels of debt in the 

city as, in the past, people on low incomes and on certain benefits at a high level of vulnerability had 

been able to access a crisis loan or community care grant from this provision to fund certain financial 

crises and/or key household goods such as fridges or cookers. This meant that people were able to avoid 

using high cost credit (such as doorstep lenders and payday loan companies) to fund these items. 

 

Portsmouth has been running its own Local Welfare Assistance Scheme with identified funding from the 

government since April 13. It should be noted that this identified government funding will no longer 

available after the end of March 2015, and so options for very limited future provision in the city are 

currently being explored. Reduced funding will inevitably mean that there are less options available to 

people in the city who are in financial destitution and who need emergency funds or items; and so may 

be more likely to turn to high cost credit. However there is some useful data from the scheme's 

provision to date as follows: 

 

 From 02 April 2013 to 31 March 2014, 2,271 applications were received. In total 697 cases were 

paid. 200 cookers and 257 fridge/freezer/fridge freezers were awarded. For those who were 

successful in their applications, these people had no means to buy their own white goods; either 

due to very low income, or due to not being able to access credit (for example due to poor credit 

histories or already having significant debts).  

 There is therefore a need for provision of local welfare assistance, including affordable white 

goods and affordable credit, for people who are already struggling financially and demonstrate a 

high level of vulnerability. This is an important diversionary resource therefore from pay weekly 

stores or pay day loan companies. 

 Two of the questions asked as part of the scheme's application process centre around debt. A 

sample was taken from when the scheme commenced (02.04.13), to recently (26.08.14). Of the 

2972 customers making applications during this period, 940 (32%) responded 'yes' to the 'do you 

have debt' question. 120 people answered the follow up question of 'have you tried to get help 

with your debt issues?' to which 57% said no.  

 This highlights that even when people are struggling financially and accessing a provision such as 

the local welfare assistance scheme, a significant proportion of people have not accessed debt 

advice. This corresponds with a survey by StepChange debt advice charity, which found that half 

of those surveyed had waited over a year between realising their debts were a problem and 

seeking help138. 

 

As stated previously, if funding for the current provision does not continue beyond 2015 (at present 

there is only £90,000 available for 2015/16), some very vulnerable groups may have no alternatives 

                                                      
138

 StepChange Statistics Yearbook - Personal Debt 2013 

Page 151



 

129 
 

other than to turn to expensive pay-weekly organisations such as Brighthouse, or payday loan 

companies, or doorstep lenders such as the Provident. 

 

This evidence around debt in the city and some of the organisations who seem to be prevalent in poor 

communities suggests that further exploration is required in relation to any planning or licensing powers 

the Council may have to control or limit the numbers of organisations in the city who provide high cost 

credit. 

 

In addition there is little information or data at present around levels of problem gambling in the city 

which can result in debt (which includes bingo, slot machine arcades, lottery, scratchcards, betting 

shops and online gambling). There is a need to assess the level of this problem; and if significant, to 

develop a co-ordinated approach to addressing it through education and related activities. Planning 

and/or licensing powers held by the Council may be able to assist in some way in relation to 

establishments such as betting shops. Further exploration of these possible controls is required (for 

example looking at work in Westminster in this area). 

 

Finally, little is known about the prevalence of illegal money lending in the city (sometimes referred to 

as 'loan sharks'), which operate outside of any regulations in relation to lending money and are known 

for exorbitantly high costs attached to this kind of credit. Generally people are very reluctant to come 

forward about loan sharks, and this may be partly due to threats of (or actual) violence and intimidation, 

which are known risks with this kind of lending. The England Illegal Money Lending Team states that it 

relies on partner agencies and the public for intelligence, because if it's not reported they cannot act. 

However the national picture gives a bit of insight as follows139: 

 

 Victims assisted - 24,907 

 Number of prosecutions – 321 

 Amount of debt written off - over £62 million 

 Prison sentences – over 205 years. 

 

This highlights the need for further awareness-raising in this area. In addition, locally, case studies have 

been provided by the Illegal Money Lending Team around two prosecutions in the Portsmouth areas as 

follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                      
139

 Source: Illegal Money Lending Team, Birmingham - 2008 to present (Nov 14) 

Portsmouth Case 1: 

A taxi driver who was also joint owner of a large private hire company lent to borrowers 

within his community – mainly other drivers. He charged interest ranging from 800% up to 

11,455%. He was found guilty and got a suspended sentence but also had to pay back 

£337,000 under the Proceeds Of Crime Act (POCA) and £25,000 court costs. He had to sell 

his half of the private hire company and his home in order to pay back the POCA. If he 

hadn’t paid within six months, he would have faced five years in jail. He also lost his taxi 

licence. 

Page 152



 

130 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Summary: Financial inclusion - debt 

Debt has an association with mental health. One in four people with a mental health 
problem is in debt, and one in two people in debt have a mental health problem.  

A sample by Portsmouth's Credit Union in 2014 showed that Brighthouse Pay Weekly Store 
(APR approx. 67% online) was the most prevalent of transactions, accounting for 20% of all 
payments out. Pay-day loan-type companies also featured significantly. 

Door step lending has also anecdotally been prevalent in poor communities in Portsmouth 
for a number of years. APR rates tend to range from between 270% to 400%.  

High cost credit is causing levels of debt in the city through this use of expensive forms of 
credit. Public education and awareness-raising with frontline staff will continue to be 
required in order to address some of these issues. Further exploration is required in relation 
to any planning or licensing powers the Council may have to control or limit the numbers of 
organisations in the city who provide high cost credit. 

Lack of ongoing local welfare assistance provision for furniture and white goods for people 
in crisis is likely to escalate debt and use of high cost credit, as will a lack of affordable white 
goods and affordable credit for people on low incomes in the wider population. 

Nationally half of those in a recent StepChange survey had waited over a year between 
realising their debts were a problem and seeking help. Work on getting people to seek 
earlier is therefore a need. 

Intelligence Gap: There is little information or data at present around levels of problem 
gambling in the city which can result in debt. Again, planning and/or licensing powers held 

Portsmouth case 2: 

A Manager of a care home “befriended” new employees and gave them a little money to 

tide them over before their first pay check, thus gaining their trust. He then offered loans 

to staff. Alice* got involved as she worked at the same care home. By the time she started 

to receive support from the Illegal Money Lending Team she had large amounts of debt 

owing to various legal companies including door-step lenders, catalogues and store card 

companies as well as trying to pay the illegal lender. 

 

The IMLT Liaise Officer referred her to Step Change - a free national debt advice service - 

and advised her to destroy existing credit cards to stop temptation. Alice* signed up to a 

debt management plan with Step Change and stated that she “felt a lot more optimistic 

knowing that she would be completely debt free within three years”.  

 

She also opened up a savings account - now she’s no longer paying the loan shark she 

hopes to avoid borrowing ever again! Alice adds “For the first time in years I’m in control of 

my finances and have even taken out employment insurance to cover sickness after 

discussion with the Liaise Officer and Step Change”. 

 

The Illegal lender was removed from his post in the care home after a guilty verdict at 

court. 

 

Page 153



 

131 
 

by the Council may be able to assist in some way with this. 

 

Fuel Poverty 
A household has previously said to have been in fuel poverty when it needed to spend more than 10% of 

its income on fuel to maintain a satisfactory heating regime. This is usually 21° Celsius for the main living 

area, and 18° Celsius for other occupied rooms.  

 

The measure was based on energy needs (i.e. required household energy consumption, modelled for 

space heating, lights and appliance usage, water heating and cooking) and an average tariff for that 

household. But this previous measure was felt to be not as effective as required (e.g. people with big 

properties but also with high incomes could be classed as living in fuel poverty).  

 

Consequently a new measure was developed in 2013 which calculates the overlap between low income 

in a household, and higher than usual energy costs. This is called the Low Income High Cost (LIHC) 

Indicator. It effectively measures the extent of fuel poverty, when people have fuel costs above average 

& which take them below the poverty line.  It also measures the depth of the problem (how far people’s 

energy needs exceed reasonable costs) – known as the fuel poverty gap. It counts the number of 

individuals as well as households.  

 

The data used for the calculations comes from the Annual English Housing Survey (EHS), compiled by the 

Dept for Communities and Local Government (DCLG). It covers all tenures (private and social). It involves 

an interview survey with people in each dwelling used and also involves a physical survey of the dwelling 

itself by professional surveyors. 

 

In 2012, around 13,600 households took part in the interview survey which was carried out between 

April 2012 and March 2013140. Of these households, around half were selected for the follow-up 

physical survey element, which involves a physical inspection of the property by qualified surveyors.  

 

Latest data (Department for Energy and Climate Change (DECC) 2012): 

 

Under the old 10% spend measure, 10.4% of households across all tenures in Portsmouth are deemed to 

be in fuel poverty (DECC 2012). The UK-wide average is 17%. Note that under the old measure, 

Portsmouth is at significantly lower risk of fuel poverty than average.  This isn't significantly different to 

the previous year (DECC 2011) where 10.3% in Portsmouth were in fuel poverty. Southampton is slightly 

lower at 9.3%. East Hants is also lower at 8.9%, and Fareham is even lower at 6.0%. 

 

                                                      
140

 To boost the sample size of the physical survey, two years’ worth of EHS data (from the physical element) are combined. 
For the 2012 data, this covers the period between April 2011 and March 2013, and comprises around 12,250 households. 
Therefore the annual fuel poverty data is a combination of two consecutive years’ worth of data – 2011/12 and 2012/13. 
From this information, a detailed picture of household energy requirements can be modelled. 
 

Page 154



 

132 
 

Under the new LIHC measure, 10.7% of households in Portsmouth across all tenures are deemed to be 

in fuel poverty (DECC 2012). The England average is 10.4%. Note that the new measure covers England 

only, and not the wider UK. Also note that, under the new measure, Portsmouth is much closer to the 

average than under the old measure. This is a significantly drop to the previous year (DECC 2011) when 

14.4% in Portsmouth were in fuel poverty. Southampton is significantly lower at 10.1%. East Hants is 

also significantly lower at 6.6%, and Fareham is even lower at 5.2%. 

 

The drop in Portsmouth under the LIHC measure from 14.4% in 2011 to 10.7% in 2012 is echoed 

nationally. In its Annual Fuel Poverty Statistics Report for 2014, DECC states that: 

 

'In 2012, the number of households in fuel poverty in England was estimated at around 2.28 million, 

representing approximately 10.4 per cent of all English households. This is a fall from 2.39 million 

households in 2011 (a reduction of almost 5%). In line with this, the aggregate fuel poverty gap (in real 

terms) also dropped by around five per cent, from £1.06 billion in 2011 to £1.01 billion in 2012, as did the 

average fuel poverty gap over this period, from £445 to £443.  

 

Due to the relative nature of the LIHC measure, it is difficult to accurately isolate absolute reasons for 

changes. However, in summary, changes in income, fuel costs and energy efficiency levels amongst fuel 

poor households are broadly consistent with the changes seen for the population as a whole. Hence the 

overall change in the number of households in fuel poverty was relatively small – with the reduction 

happening mainly due to income increases for higher income fuel poor households'.  

 

The following table demonstrates fuel poverty, using the LIHC measure (DECC 2012) by ward level in 

Portsmouth as follows (provided by Public Health Portsmouth Oct 14): 

 

 
 

The above table demonstrates that, when disaggregating to smaller areas, the percentages of 

households in fuel poverty can range widely. This is also evident in the even smaller LSOA areas.  

 

The proportion of households in the corresponding *ward that were fuel poor (by the Low Income High Cost definition) in 2012, Portsmouth.

LSOA data aggregated to electoral wards

Ward

Sum of Estimated number of households 

(LSOA data aggregated)

Sum of Estimated number of Fuel Poor 

Households (LSOA data aggregated) Proportion of households fuel poor (%)

Baffins 6095 518 8.5

Central Southsea 6366 1241 19.5

Charles Dickens 7690 568 7.4

Copnor 5296 470 8.9

Cosham 5601 530 9.5

Drayton and Farlington 5256 384 7.3

Eastney and Craneswater 6058 615 10.2

Fratton 6503 871 13.4

Hilsea 5617 463 8.2

Milton 5896 623 10.6

Nelson 6132 685 11.2

Paulsgrove 5580 583 10.4

St Jude 6225 817 13.1

St Thomas 7085 746 10.5

Portsmouth 85400 9114 10.7

Source: © Department of Energy & Climate Change (DECC).

Page 155



 

133 
 

In terms of what works to reduce fuel poverty, research shows that policies that improve thermal 

efficiency of housing stock tend to be most cost-effective. (They reduce both fuel poverty and 

greenhouse gas emissions). However these policies take time to have an effect and some short-term 

interventions are still required in the interim.  

 

Tackling fuel poverty gives wider societal benefits which can address the priorities of a number of 

services. For example, work on fuel poverty can prevent excess winter deaths and other public health 

issues; it can alleviate wider poverty and other poorer outcomes for people around areas such as 

housing and education; and it can decrease carbon emissions. This can be around simple work such as 

increasing insulation of homes, reducing draughts, reducing energy wastage (e.g. things left on standby) 

and moving to low carbon options e.g. more efficient boilers, gas instead of electric heaters etc. 

 

Whilst older people tend to be the group at highest risk of fuel poverty, it is important to note that 

children and families are the second most prevalent group to feature in terms of vulnerability. Many 

families in the city are suffering financial hardship with approximately a quarter of all children in the city 

classified as living in poverty. In addition children and families have been hit particularly hard by the 

welfare reforms. Low incomes have meant less money for food and fuel, creating a 'heat or eat' 

dilemma for some families. This can have an effect not only on diet but on children's homework and 

education, and on parental mental health through worry/anxiety etc. Work to identify families who may 

be suffering from fuel poverty in order to offer advice, support and access to any relevant resources is 

therefore an important role for frontline staff, who have often built up relationships with families of this 

nature. 

Health effects of the cold 

A combination of factors put older people and those who have chronic health conditions more at risk in 

the cold: as people age their ability to maintain a normal body temperature often declines, sensitivity to 

registering the cold can also decrease, and it can take longer to get warm again when the body has 

become cold. 

 

In cold conditions there is a greater risk of heart attack and stroke, for as the body temperature falls the 

blood thickens to keep core organs such as the heart and lungs warm and does not circulate so well. The 

body will also move blood from the extremities e.g. hands, feet and outer skin to the core of the body. 

This causes blood pressure to rise, the blood vessels narrow and as a consequence the risk of heart 

attacks and strokes rises. Circulatory and respiratory diseases are the major risks to health. 

 

The Department of Health (DH) commissioned an independent evaluation of the CWP from the Policy 

Innovation Research Unit, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine (PIRU LSHTM) in 2012. 

Preliminary findings indicated that negative health effects start at relatively moderate outdoor 

temperatures of around 5-8°C. They state that 'Although the risk of death increases as temperatures fall, 

the higher frequency of days at moderate temperatures mean that the greatest health burden in 

absolute numbers of deaths, occurs at these moderate temperatures'….and that 'This means that action 

Page 156



 

134 
 

to prevent excess winter morbidity and mortality should not be restricted to the very cold days, but 

should be carried out throughout the winter period'141. 

 

In fact death due to hypothermia (re exposure to extreme weather) is not the main cause of cold related 

illness and death. It is diseases of the circulation - including heart attacks and strokes - that account for 

40% of excess winter deaths. Another 1/3rd of deaths are caused by respiratory illness. The report states 

that 'Weather-related deaths from heart disease increase almost immediately with the onset of cold 

weather, reaching their highest levels after two days. Increased incidences of stroke takes place 

approximately five days after the onset of cold weather periods and deaths from respiratory illnesses 

peak at 12 days'. 

 

These are the most serious health conditions that are induced by the cold and each winter in 

Portsmouth and which can result in preventable deaths which are known as Excess Winter Deaths, or 

Excess Winter Mortality (see also next section). In addition people living in homes at temperatures 

between 12° and 15° Celsius have an increased tendency to suffer from colds, flu and chest infections, 

as the cold lowers resistance to respiratory infections and impairs lung function. Cold conditions in the 

home can also contribute to condensation, dampness and mould growth, which in turn can lead to 

allergies and can cause problems for people with respiratory illnesses such as asthma. 

 

Excess Winter Mortality (EWM) 

The number of Excess Winter Deaths (or Mortality) refers to additional deaths occurring in winter 

months. The most common causes are increases in deaths from respiratory and circulatory diseases. A 

link is often made with influenza in that it can cause complications such as pneumonia and bronchitis, 

especially in older people. But the relationship between temperature, influenza and excess winter 

deaths has become less clear in recent years according to the Office for National Statistics (ONS). For 

example a very cold winter does not always equate with higher levels of influenza, and the relatively 

mild winter of 1999/2000 produced the epidemic levels of influenza and the highest levels of excess 

winter mortality in recent years142. 

 

In Portsmouth, respiratory conditions are the main cause of most EWM, especially Influenza, Pneumonia 

and Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD). EWM for Influenza and Pneumonia is significantly 

higher in the under 65's, but EWM due to circulatory diseases mostly affects those aged 65+. Whilst it is 

higher in the least deprived areas (and for those who die in their own homes), these areas could have a 

higher proportion of over 65s; and also more residential and nursing homes for frail older people143.  

                                                      
141

 From 'Cold Weather Plan for England'; Public Health England 2014 
142

 Portsmouth JSNA - Excess Winter Deaths - accessed 22.10.14 
143

  
Taken from 'Excess Winter Deaths in Portsmouth' - Public Health Portsmouth (on JSNA Portsmouth) uploaded Aug 13 - 
http://www.hants.gov.uk/pccjsna/API_STR_JSNA_MORT_WINT_Insights_2013.pdf 
http://protohub.net/jsna/portsmouth-jsna/mortality/ 
 
 

Page 157

http://www.hants.gov.uk/pccjsna/API_STR_JSNA_MORT_WINT_Insights_2013.pdf
http://protohub.net/jsna/portsmouth-jsna/mortality/


 

135 
 

 

So Portsmouth is slightly different to the national picture for EWM in that nationally, heart attacks and 

strokes are the main cause of EWM (at 40%) followed by respiratory conditions (at 30%). In Portsmouth, 

as stated above, respiratory conditions are the main cause of most EWM; it appears less likely that there 

is a seasonal difference with circulatory diseases such as heart attacks and strokes in recent years. 

However the Portsmouth data is based on a much smaller number of deaths than the national picture, 

so it may be limited in its significance.  But, as mentioned elsewhere, stroke is linked to fuel poverty in 

the Portsmouth analysis, so the impact of circulatory disease remains evident in Portsmouth; especially 

since certain circulatory diseases remain the leading causes of deaths all year round (CHD and Stroke - 

both of which had higher numbers of deaths in the winter than COPD and flu respectively). 

 

There is strong evidence nationally that the cold is associated with higher EWM, primarily due to its 

impact on circulatory and respiratory disease. Locally, for older people, those living in the 20% highest 

areas most likely to have central heating had the lowest EWD Index.  However, the data shows a strange 

stepped pattern with older people living in areas least likely to have central heating having lower EWD 

than areas more likely (up to the most likely 20% level) to have central heating. This poses the question - 

can people afford to use their central heating? Locally, even though there has not been a clear link 

between fuel poverty and EWM, there have been many caveats with the data such as relatively small 

numbers and gaps in data in some years, and so having to make assumptions from more recent data and 

apply it across many years.  

 

There are also caveats in general with the EWD methodology as sometimes there can be excess deaths 

in months outside of the traditional winter period (e.g. flu in April) and possibly warm summers, but 

there is little evidence of the hot summers having an impact in Portsmouth. 

 

So returning to fuel poverty, and its links with EWM - Public Health Portsmouth's analysis of the most 

recent 6 year period shows no significant difference in EWD between the most and least fuel poor. For 

people aged 65+, EWD due to circulatory disease is highest in the least fuel poor areas. However EWD 

from stroke is higher for older people living in areas most likely to have no central heating so it would 

appear that there is however a link between EWD via deaths from stroke, and fuel poverty. 

 

Public Health Portsmouth's analysis also found that, in line with national findings, local areas with the 

highest proportions of private rented housing have the highest EWD - especially for deaths due to 

influenza and pneumonia, CHD and stroke; and there is evidence from Portsmouth's Joint Strategic 

Needs Assessment to suggest a link between private rented properties and fuel poverty in more recent 

years.  However, the exact impact of housing tenure and fuel poverty on each individual death is 

unknown - it can only be assumed from the aggregated higher geographies such as LSOA where 

statistics can be generalised.  It's possible that individual households within an area might not represent 

the aggregated statistic of the higher geography (e.g. LSOA or Ward). Subject to certain data caveats, 

                                                                                                                                                                                          
 

Page 158



 

136 
 

Public Health Portsmouth also found that EWD are higher for deaths occurring in 'residential homes', 

'mental health communal establishments' and 'elsewhere'.  

 

As stated earlier, recent cold winters did not see exceptional increases in deaths due to circulatory and 

respiratory diseases. For people aged 75+ there is an increase in deaths due to circulatory and 

respiratory diseases, but sharp increases in deaths due to these conditions have declined over the years. 

 

 
 

Work to identify households who may be suffering from fuel poverty in order to offer advice, support 

and access to any relevant resources is therefore an important role for frontline staff, as is continued 

public education. 

 

Summary: Fuel poverty 

Under the old 10% measure, 10.4% of households across all tenures in Portsmouth are 

deemed to be in fuel poverty, compared to 17% for the UK. Under the new Low Income 

High Cost (LIHC) measure, 10.7% of households in Portsmouth across all tenures are 

deemed to be in fuel poverty, compared to 10.4% for England.  

Research shows that policies that improve thermal efficiency of housing stock tend to be 

most cost-effective in alleviating fuel poverty.  

Whilst older people tend to be at highest risk of fuel poverty, children and families are the 

second most prevalent group to feature in terms of vulnerability.  

The main cause of cold related illness and death is circulatory diseases, including heart 

attacks and strokes, accounting for 40% of excess winter deaths nationally. Another 1/3rd of 

deaths are caused by respiratory illness. The cold is associated with higher Excess Winter 

Deaths (EWD) - also sometimes known as Excess Winter Mortality (EWM). 

Work to identify households who may be suffering from fuel poverty in order to offer 

advice, support and access to any relevant resources is therefore an important role for 

frontline staff, as is continued public education. 

Excess Winter Mortality Index (%), by electoral ward

Portsmouth residents: Persons, all ages (excluding neonatal deaths), 2006/07 to 2010/11 (pooled)

Average winter deaths 

(Dec-Mar)

Average deaths in 

rest of year

Excess Winter 

Mortality (%)

Baffins 51 45 14

Central Southsea 46 30 53

Charles Dickens 78 63 24

Copnor 36 32 11

Cosham 65 54 20

Drayton and Farlington 64 49 31

Eastney and Craneswater 62 54 15

Fratton 45 36 25

Hilsea 54 43 24

Milton 53 38 42

Nelson 58 48 19

Paulsgrove 56 44 26

St. Jude 70 50 39

St. Thomas 58 47 25

Portsmouth City 794 632 26

Source: ONS Public Health Mortality f ile

Page 159



 

137 
 

Digital Exclusion 
The internet is a fact of life for most people in Britain; in 2013, 73% of the population accessed the 

internet daily (Office for National Statistics 2013).  The internet offers information, employment, 

communication, entertainment, shopping; the range and capability of web-based content is constantly 

expanding. But 17% of the population does not have access to the internet, and around 12% of the UK 

population has never used the internet (ONS 2014).  The Tinder Foundation found that 60% of those 

who do not use the internet have no qualifications, and 42% earn less than £12,500, so digital exclusion 

disproportionately affects those in poverty or at risk of poverty.  As the internet becomes increasingly 

central to economic, cultural and social life, those not using the internet are at increasing risk of 

exclusion and poverty.   

 

In Portsmouth multi-agency meetings have identified that: 

 Internet access is available at a number of community locations throughout the city 

 Support available varies across these locations, and is often insufficient to meet demand 

 Demand for access and support is increasing, as more services move online 

 Some client groups will require additional support, including some people with disabilities and 

those with lower literacy or English language skills 

 Digital exclusion can be the result of a lack of skills, access or motivation, or a combination of 

these factors as follows:  

Skills 

Without a basic level of computer capability and understanding, people are unable to use the internet 

and are excluded from independently accessing any web-based content. The 2011 Skills for Life Survey 

in England, of people aged 16 to 65, included 3 aspects of computing skills: email; word-processing; and 

spreadsheets at ward level in Portsmouth as follows:   

 

Table 1 - Portsmouth wards with the greatest and least prevalence of skills in email144  

Council Ward Name Low Skills - Email High Skills - Email 

Skills at Entry Level or below 

(highest 3 highlighted) 

Skills at Level 2 or above (GCSE 

Grade C or above) 

(highest 3 italicised) 

Baffins 34.3% 47.2% 

Central Southsea 22.4% 62.0% 

Charles Dickens 46.0% 36.5% 

Copnor 33.3% 48.1% 

Cosham 37.9% 43.7% 

Drayton and Farlington 30.4% 51.2% 

Eastney and Craneswater 27.1% 55.5% 

Fratton 32.9% 49.0% 

                                                      
144

 Skills for Life Survey 2011 

Page 160



 

138 
 

Hilsea 34.8% 46.7% 

Milton 31.2% 51.3% 

Nelson 38.3% 43.3% 

Paulsgrove 45.5% 35.8% 

St Jude 22.9% 60.7% 

St Thomas 30.3% 52.8% 

 

Central Southsea had almost twice the percentage of residents with high skills in email than Charles 

Dickens, and less than half the percentage of residents with low skills.  However, even in Central 

Southsea where high skills in email are most common, over a fifth of residents did not have the skills to 

be able to use email independently. 

 

Portsmouth Jobcentre Plus completed a survey of 2,897 customers145 in April 2012.  This found that 

17.5% would require assistance in order to use the internet, which is particularly relevant because of the 

introduction of 'Digital Jobcentres' this summer. A triage service will assess service users' online skills, to 

better understand the needs of people claiming benefits, and target support to improve their skills. 

 

Access 

For those with online skills, the most significant barrier to getting online is access; to a suitable device, 

an internet connection, or both.  Poverty is a significant barrier to access, in terms of the monthly cost of 

a connection, the cost of a device, and the cost to repair or replace devices when required.   

 

Between 25th June and 1st August 2012, Portsmouth City Council conducted a survey of its customers146. 

Whilst it is not possible to say whether this survey accurately represents those who are digitally 

excluded, 30% did not have internet access, significantly above the national average in 2012 of 20%.147 

Participants were asked about their internet usage.  The survey found that, of those who were resident 

in Portsmouth, 70% had internet access. Of these, over 90% of 16 - 34 year olds had internet access. But 

only 50% of over 65s had internet access, and less than 20% of over 75s. The proportion of participants 

with internet access was significantly below the national average reported by the ONS in 2013.  This may 

be due to the survey reaching a higher proportion of those digitally excluded, or due to internet access 

increasing between the two surveys, or a combination of these factors.  The generation gap in this 

survey group is immediately apparent, with high levels of access amongst the under 35s, reducing 

through the age groups to the lowest level of access amongst those aged 75 and over. 

 

Over 90% of those with internet access reported using the internet on a computer in their home, while 

30% accessed the internet using a mobile phone and 20% accessed it at work.  Less than 10% used 

                                                      
145

 Jobseekers Allowance, Employment Support Allowance and Income Support claimants 
146

 The survey comprised of customers who contacted the council either in person at the Civic Offices Cashiers Desk (379 
customers), or by telephone to the City Helpdesk (414 customers). 
147

 ONS August 2013 Table 14.   
 

Page 161



 

139 
 

wireless internet (Wi-Fi) hotspots away from their home, and less than 2% reported using libraries or 

similar community-based provision. However, the use of Wi-Fi hotspots is increasing rapidly, particularly 

among younger people.  Nationally, 94% of 16-24 year olds have used a mobile phone or portable 

device to access the internet away from work or home, compared to only 17% of those 65 and above148.   

 

Motivation  

People who have not used computers or the internet are more likely to want to learn if they feel it is 

relevant to their life and interests.  A survey in Portsmouth149 in 2012 found that whilst 51.9% used the 

internet at least once a fortnight, 41.5% never used the internet; and of these; 

 29% reported having no internet access 

 31% had no interest in using the internet 

 13% reported no need to use the internet  

 

ONS research from 2013 also found that, of the 17% of British households with no internet access, 59% 

said they did not need it because it was not useful or interesting to them. In addition an ONS 2014 

report found that in Portsmouth, between 17.8 and 31.9% of adults had never used the internet, above 

the UK average of 12.3 to 12.9%.  But without understanding what the internet has to offer, people will 

not develop the skills to take advantage of opportunities that occur online, and will fall further behind.   

 

To conclude, it is important to understand the range of tasks that people need to complete online; the 

devices they might use to access them; restrictions/time limits on particular sites; levels of motivation to 

engage, and what might engage them in order to reduce digital exclusion in Portsmouth. This will 

require a local approach that can work with people at home, in their communities and in their 

workplaces, in order to meet their needs. 

 

Summary: Digital exclusion 

The Tinder Foundation found that 60% of those who do not use the internet have no 
qualifications, and 42% earn less than £12,500, so digital exclusion disproportionately 
affects those in poverty or at risk of poverty. 

The 2011 Skills for Life Survey in England identified that Central Southsea had almost twice 
the percentage of residents with high skills in email than Charles Dickens (the most deprived 
ward), and less than half the percentage of residents with low skills.   

In 2012 a Portsmouth Jobcentre Plus survey found that 17.5% would require assistance in 
order to use the internet, which has implications for the new Digital Jobcentres and 
forthcoming roll out of Universal Credit (when claims will be mostly made online). 

In 2012 Portsmouth City Council also conducted a survey of its customers. 30% did not have 
internet access, significantly above the national average in 2012 of 20%, with lower levels of 
access amongst older people. An ONS 2014 report found that in Portsmouth, between 17.8 
and 31.9% of adults had never used the internet, above the UK average of 12.3 to 12.9%. 

It is important therefore to understand the range of tasks people might be required to 

                                                      
148

 ONS August 2013 
149

 The On The Buses survey of 270 Portsmouth residents was conducted between 27
th

 February and 2
nd

 March 2012, 

Page 162



 

140 
 

undertake online, and to develop a local digital inclusion strategy to meeting these needs. 

  

Wider knowledge and understanding around money management 
In terms of financial inclusion, in addition to ensuring residents have access to the right financial 

products in order to maximise and manage their finances as effectively as possible, it is also important 

to understand need in the city in relation to residents' knowledge, skills and understanding around how 

to manage finances effectively. 

 

Finances in the modern world are complicated. Gone are the 'jam jar' days when people put their rent in 

one jar, and their gas and electric in another; instead we live in an electronic environment where money 

is 'virtual' rather than real; it no always longer passes through our hands as cold cash but passes out of 

our accounts at the touch of a button, or onto the likes of credit cards when we do not have enough for 

our needs. By default therefore, managing finances and budgeting effectively has become much more 

complex. As part of the consultation process for this needs assessment, a range of different frontline 

staff and residents have been asked about areas such as seeking debt advice and budgeting. People 

have overwhelmingly agreed that everyone struggles with budgeting in today's complex financial 

environment, and that improving budgeting skill levels in the city could make a real difference to 

people's incomes. 

 

Learning suggests that, in general, people do not like going to 'money advice classes'. This may be 

because people often think they are the only one struggling; that they have failed; or that it is 

stigmatising. Agencies have in the past reported problems in getting sufficient attendance at money 

advice classes (for example one housing association in the city reported a number of years ago leafleted 

several thousand households; and struggled to gain 6 attendees for the workshops). 

 

Groupwork can sometimes work but this tends to be where the group is together for another reason, 

and then the money advice is brought into those group sessions as part of a wider agenda. For example 

the EC Roberts Centre has successfully run Made on Money courses for a number of years, which are 

adequately attended - but this may be because attendees are recruited from existing EC Roberts Centre 

services, and so a relationship has already been established with the attendee. Similarly, PCMI who offer 

part of the Work Program support in Portsmouth have also effectively delivered money advice sessions - 

but again, to a group already in being around wider employment support. 

 

In general one of the most successful ways of working with people on budgeting skills appears to be 

through their current key worker (if they have one). For example, Housing Officers will work with people 

on budgeting skills as part of effective rent management. A key need that emerged around financial 

exclusion in the last needs assessment in 2011 was for frontline staff to be given increased training and 

levels of confidence around speaking to service users about money. Since then frontline training has 

been designed and delivered to cover not just how to work with residents around financial exclusion 

and wider financial hardship issues. The financial exclusion training itself has taken the shape of ‘how to 

help residents with budgeting’, as this is a very user-friendly version for upskilling staff in the necessary 

Page 163



 

141 
 

areas. The need now therefore is to roll this training out more widely (and it is currently being assessed 

as a Making Every Contact Count ‘bolt on’ session). 

 

This will become increasingly important as the roll out of Universal Credit in Portsmouth approaches - 

see section entitled 'Welfare Reforms'. Helping residents with budgeting and money management skills 

is therefore a key need as part of the Tackling Poverty Strategy going forward. 

 

Summary: Wider knowledge and understanding around money management 

During the local consultation process people have overwhelmingly agreed that everyone 
struggles with budgeting in today's complex financial environment, and that improving 
budgeting skill levels in the city could make a real difference to people's incomes. 

Learning suggests that money classes per se are not well attended; however they can be 
successful if integrated into the sessions of an existing group that meets regularly. 

A successful method for working on budgeting appears to be through people's key workers. 
There is a need therefore to roll budgeting training out to frontline staff more widely. 

Employment and worklessness 

(see also Low Pay and Underemployment sections) 

 

As highlighted by the Joseph Rowntree Foundation's Annual Report on Poverty and Social Exclusion in 

2014, national employment levels have been increasing over the last couple of years. Unemployment 

fell by 300,000 between mid-2013 and mid-2014 and - subject to some slight variations with the 

retirement age used for women - in general employment rates are or are at near historic highs. In 

particular, female employment rates are at an all-time high150. 

 

However in order to more fully understand the nature of the current labour market, it is important to 

examine other relevant data, for example data relating to areas such as low wages and under 

employment. Nationally, wages have fallen and 1.4 million adults are in part time work because they 

can't find full time employment. The report also highlights that 3/5ths of people who moved from 

unemployment into work in the last year are paid below the Living Wage. These subjects are examined 

further on in the Low Pay and Living Wage sections of this needs assessment. 

 

In general, rates of unemployment in Portsmouth are slightly below the national average. From January 

2013 - December 2013, 6.9% of people in Portsmouth were unemployed compared to 7.5% nationally. 

However Portsmouth was higher than the South East average of 5.7%. 

 

Table: Labour Supply - Employment and Unemployment (Jan 2013 - Dec 2013)151 

                                                      
150

 Joseph Rowntree Foundation: Monitoring Poverty and Social Exclusion 2014: 
http://www.jrf.org.uk/publications/monitoring-poverty-and-social-exclusion-2014# 
151

Source: ONS annual population survey - taken from NOMIS Official Labour Market Statistics website 

 

Page 164

http://www.jrf.org.uk/publications/monitoring-poverty-and-social-exclusion-2014


 

142 
 

  
Portsmouth 

(numbers) 

Portsmouth 

(%) 

South East 

(%) 

Great Britain 

(%) 

All people 

Economically active† 115,700 76.6 80.0 77.4 

In employment† 108,900 72.0 75.4 71.5 

Employees† 95,400 63.7 63.8 61.2 

Self-employed† 12,900 7.9 11.1 9.7 

Unemployed (model-based)§ 8,100 6.9 5.7 7.5 

Males 

Economically active† 60,900 80.3 85.9 83.3 

In employment† 57,200 75.5 80.8 76.5 

Employees† 48,700 65.3 65.5 62.6 

Self-employed† 8,300 10.0 14.9 13.3 

Unemployed§ 3,700 6.0 5.7 8.0 

Females 

Economically active† 54,900 72.9 74.3 71.5 

In employment† 51,700 68.6 70.1 66.4 

Employees† 46,600 62.1 62.2 59.9 

Self-employed† 4,500 5.7 7.4 6.1 

Unemployed§ 3,200 5.8 5.6 7.0 

 

† numbers are for those aged 16 and over, % are for those aged 16-64 

§ numbers and % are for those aged 16 and over. % is a proportion of economically active 

 

As with levels of deprivation in the city, there are pockets of unemployment in the city that are 

significantly higher than the national average. For example, as of the last national Census Day 27th 

March 2011, in terms of the 'Economically active: unemployed' group, Charles Dickens ward was 

significantly higher than the national and Portsmouth average: 

 

Portsmouth - 4.3% 

South East - 3.4% 

England - 4.4% 

Portsmouth - Charles Dickens Ward - 7% 

 

This has been a trend over a number of years. Charles Dickens ward is the ward with the highest levels 

of deprivation in the city. So although unemployment is relatively low overall, it is important not to lose 

sight of the areas in the city where unemployment is almost double the average rates; and so addressing 

unemployment is an important need to identify within this assessment. 

 

Given the extent of the welfare reform program that has been implemented and continues to be 

implemented over the next few years, with many of the reforms either rewarding work or penalising 

those who don't work, helping people into work is critical and remains one of the key routes out of 

poverty. Whilst being in work does not necessarily equate to not being in poverty (e.g. with 2/3rds of 

people in the country who are in poverty, being in 'in work poverty'), it remains an essential tool for 

Page 165



 

143 
 

raising levels of confidence and self-esteem; and can be a stepping stone into better paid work in the 

longer term. 

 

Interestingly it is sometimes stated that there is a problem with inter-generational worklessness in this 

country. The Joseph Rowntree Foundation conducted research in this area and found little evidence of 

this152, concluding that 'even two generations of extensive or permanent worklessness in the same 

family is a rare phenomenon'. 

 

Summary: Employment and worklessness 

Nationally, unemployment fell by 300,000 between mid-2013 and mid-2014 and in general 
employment rates are or are at near historic highs.  

However nationally, wages have fallen and 1.4 million adults are in part time work because 
they can't find full time employment. In addition 3/5ths of people who moved from 
unemployment into work in the last year are paid below the Living Wage. 

In general, rates of unemployment in Portsmouth are slightly below the national average. In 
2013 6.9% of people in Portsmouth were unemployed compared to 7.5% nationally. 
However Portsmouth was higher than the South East average of 5.7%. 

As with levels of deprivation in the city, there are pockets of unemployment in the city that 
are significantly higher than the national average, for example in Charles Dickens ward. 

Whilst in work poverty is an issue, work remains an essential tool for raising confidence and 
for accessing better paid work in the longer term, so addressing unemployment is a key. 

 

Employment and Ethnicity 

 

People from minority ethnic communities are at a much higher risk of poverty nationally than their 

white British counterparts. Significant differences can also be seen between ethnic groups in 

Portsmouth, by category of employment. The 2011 Census153 sub-divided employment into 15 broad 

categories.  The largest ethnic groups among usual residents aged 16 or over in employment in 

Portsmouth were: White British (83,686); Other White (4,372) (this would represent many European 

workers, including those from the 10 Eastern European Accession States); Indian (1,327); Bangladeshi 

(1,215); Other Asian (1,148); Black African (1,126); Chinese (904); Mixed White and Asian (514); White 

Irish (516).  2,196 workers came from nine other ethnic groups, with fewer than 500 workers in each. 

 

Of a total of 97,004 usual residents aged 16 or over in employment, 47.1% (n = 45,735) were employed 

in four sectors: wholesale and retail trade and repair of motor vehicles and motor cycles; human health 

and social work activities; education; public administration and defence and compulsory social security. 

 

47.6% (n = 39,858) of Portsmouth's White British working population were employed in these sectors, 

compared to just 31.9% of Bangladeshi workers (n = 388), 34.4% (n = 311) of Chinese workers, and 

                                                      
152

 Joseph Rowntree Foundation: Are 'cultures of worklessness passed down through the generations? Dec 2012 
153

 Source:  ONS (Census 2011) - extracted from NOMIS 20 October 2014 
 

Page 166



 

144 
 

36.1% (n = 1579) of Other White workers.  This indicates that, unlike White British workers, these ethnic 

groups in Portsmouth were less likely to be employed in the sectors that employ the largest numbers of 

workers in the city. 

 

Each of these groups has a much higher proportion of workers engaged in accommodation and food 

service activities; 32.6% (n = 295) of Chinese, 31.9% (n = 387) of Bangladeshi and 13.5% (n = 592) of 

Other White workers.  Only 5.7% (n = 4,767) of White British workers are employed in this sector.  

Accommodation and food service activities were also common amongst Mixed White and Asian (12.1%, 

n = 62) and Other Asian (11.5%, n = 132) workers. 

 

Black African and Other Asian workers are much more likely to be employed in human health and social 

work activities, with 367 (32.6%) and 354 (n = 30.8%) respectively employed in that sector, compared to 

12.1% (n = 10,127) of White British workers.  The proportion of Indian (22.1%, n = 293) and White Irish 

(18.8%, n = 97) workers is also above the average. 

 

8.7% (n = 8,461) of all workers in Portsmouth were employed in manufacturing, but this rises to 14.5% 

(n = 633) among Other White workers. 

 

Workers from some minority ethnic groups are less likely than White British workers to be employed in 

the largest sectors in Portsmouth.  Working in more marginal sectors is likely to reduce the number of 

opportunities available for career development and pay progression.  Some groups are concentrated in 

particular sectors, notably accommodation and food services activities for Chinese, Bangladeshi and 

Other White workers, and human health and social work activities for Black African, Other Asian, Indian 

and White Irish workers.  Although these sectors include some well-paid, skilled and secure jobs, the 

majority of this employment is poorly paid, irregular and insecure, including restaurant and fast food 

work and personal care, and therefore increases the risk of in-work poverty among these employees.   

 

This census data demonstrates that there are significant differences in the types of employment 

common among different ethnic groups in Portsmouth.  Tackling the structural causes of these 

differences to overcome the barriers that prevent many workers from minority ethnic groups entering 

the largest sectors of employment in the city would reduce one cause of income inequality between 

ethnic groups in the city. 

 

Summary: Employment and ethnicity 

Significant differences can be seen nationally, and also in Portsmouth, between ethnic 
groups, by category of employment. Whilst 47.6% of Portsmouth's White British working 
population were employed in 4 key sectors, this compared to just 31.9% of Bangladeshi 
workers, 34.4% of Chinese workers, and 36.1% of Other White workers.   

Working in more marginal sectors is likely to reduce the number of opportunities available 
for career development and pay progression.   

Overcoming barriers that prevent workers from entering the largest sectors of employment 
in the city would reduce one cause of income inequality between ethnic groups in the city. 

Page 167



 

145 
 

Income 

In the 2011 Tackling Poverty Needs Assessment, resident earnings in Portsmouth had previously grown 
by 25% between 2002 and 2009, rising to an average of £475 per week, and whilst lower than the 
national average of £491 a week, had risen in similar proportions.  
 
However for 2013 they were £474 per week - which is below the 2009 rates, even before the additional 
impact of inflation is added on. This reflects a real drop in earnings for Portsmouth residents. It appears 
to be worse than the national picture in that at least nationally, the average for 2013 of £518 is an 
increase on the 2009 rate of £474 and does account for some inflationary lift re the cost of living. This 
suggests that Portsmouth is experiencing real issues around low pay and has experienced a worse than 
average drop in residents' wages. See the table below: 
 

Earnings by residence (2013)154 

 Portsmouth 
(pounds) 

South East 
(pounds) 

Great Britain 
(pounds) 

 

Gross weekly pay     

Full-time workers 473.9 559.7 518.1  

Male full-time 
workers 

504.0 619.5 558.8  

Female full-time 
workers 

417.0 481.1 459.8  

Hourly pay - 
excluding overtime 

    

Full-time workers 12.26 14.31 13.08  

Male full-time 
workers 

12.57 15.29 13.68 
  

 

Female full-time 
workers 

11.34 12.87 12.26  

Source: ONS annual survey of hours and earnings - resident analysis 

Note:  Median earnings in pounds for employees living in the area. 

From 15/04/2014 all the data in the hourly pay table (including time series data) has been amended to 

show "Hourly pay excluding overtime" instead of total hourly pay. 

 

 

However it is also useful to examine workplace wages - i.e. average workplace average, which would 

include all people working full time in Portsmouth, regardless of whether they live in Portsmouth or not. 

 

In the 2011 Tackling Poverty Needs Assessment, workplace wages in Portsmouth, like resident wages, 

grew over the period 2002 to 2009 and at a faster rate (34%) than any of the city’s comparator areas155 

with the exception of Bournemouth.  As a consequence, Portsmouth had higher average weekly 

workplace wages than any of its comparator areas, with average workplace wages £44 a week higher 

                                                      
154

 NOMIS website - accessed 14.11.14  
155

 These are SE Hampshire, PUSH area, SE region, GB/UK, Bournemouth, Brighton & Hove and Southampton 

Page 168



 

146 
 

than the national average156. So average workplace wages were £59 a week higher than average 

resident wages.  

 
This has dropped to a difference of £35 in the 2013 data - i.e. average workplace wages are now only 

£35 higher than average resident wages - see the table below. This difference may still suggest, as 

previously, that the higher paid jobs that clearly exist in Portsmouth aren’t filled by residents of the city, 

and may be a consequence of the relatively low skills level amongst the city’s resident workforce. 

However what is really marked is the difference between average resident male wages - at £504, 

compared to male workplace wages - £574, and female resident wages - £417, compared to £440 

female workplace earnings. This seems to suggest that: 

 

Resident men in the city are earning £70 less a week than the workplace average, suggesting they are 

not getting the higher paid jobs in the city. Resident women are earning significantly less than their male 

resident counterparts - £87 a week less, suggesting either inequalities in pay, or women generally 

tending to take lower paid work (or both) 

 

There is much less difference between resident women's wages and women's workplace wages with 

only a £23 difference. However resident women's wages of £417 are significantly below the overall 

average workplace wage of £508, and markedly below the average workplace wage for men of £574. So 

resident women in Portsmouth in general earn significantly less than both their male counterparts and 

the average workplace earnings. 

 

Earnings by workplace (2013) 

 Portsmouth 

(pounds) 

South East 

(pounds) 

Great Britain 

(pounds) 

 

Gross weekly pay     

Full-time workers 508.3 536.6 517.8  

Male full-time 

workers 

574.6 589.3 558.3  

Female full-time 

workers 

440.6 465.6 459.6  

Hourly pay - 

excluding overtime 

    

Full-time workers 13.19 13.68 13.07  

Male full-time 

workers 

14.02 14.54 13.66  

Female full-time 

workers 

12.07 12.40 12.26  

Source: ONS annual survey of hours and earnings - workplace analysis 

                                                      
156

 This could possibly be due to a data anomaly due to a small sample. 

Page 169



 

147 
 

Note:  Median earnings in pounds for employees working in the area. 
From 15/04/2014 all the data in the hourly pay table (including time series data) has been amended to 
show "Hourly pay excluding overtime" instead of total hourly pay. 

 

Looking at the Indices of Deprivation 2010 income deprivation domain, seven of the 10 most income 

deprived areas were in Charles Dickens, with the remainder in St Thomas (ranked 6), Nelson (ranked 8) 

and Cosham (ranked 10).  Their income score placed all of these areas in the worst 10% in England. A 

new IMD release is expected summer 2015. 

 

Summary: Income 

In the 2011 Tackling Poverty Needs Assessment, resident earnings in Portsmouth had 
previously grown by 25% in 2009, to an average of £475 per week.  

However for 2013 they have dropped to £474 per week. This does not reflect any 
inflationary lift at all, unlike the national picture which has a small lift. This is a drop in real 
terms for Portsmouth residents. 

For the period of 2002 to 2009, average workplace wages were £59 a week higher than 
average resident wages. This has dropped to a difference of £35 in the 2013 data - i.e. 
average workplace wages are now only £35 higher than average resident wages.  

This difference may still suggest, as previously, that the higher paid jobs that clearly exist in 
Portsmouth aren’t filled by residents of the city, possibly due to relatively low skills levels 
amongst the city’s resident workforce. 

The difference between average resident male wages - at £504, compared to male 
workplace wages of £574 is marked. Men who live in the city are earning £70 less a week 
than the workplace average, suggesting they are not getting the higher paid jobs in the city. 

Resident women are earning significantly less than their male resident counterparts - £87 a 
week less, suggesting either inequalities in pay, or women generally tending to take lower 
paid work (or both). 

There is a need therefore to link with the city's Business Skills and Growth Plan to ensure 
Portsmouth residents are able to access the skills they need. 

Benefits 

Housing & Council Tax Support 
In 2013, there were just under 22,500 housing and/or council tax support claimants or 11% of 
Portsmouth’s whole population157. 
 
Out of work benefits 
In October 2014, 2% of the city's working age population were in receipt of Job Seekers Allowance (JSA), 

which is a fall since the last needs assessment when, in March 2011, 3.5% of the city’s working age 

population were in receipt of JSA.  In terms of gender, 63% of JSA claimants were male (or 2.5% of the 

male working age population. This proportion was 4.7% in March 2011.  Female claimants accounted for 

1.5% of the city’s female working age population, down from 2.2% in March 2011. 

 

                                                      
157

 Information provided by the Council's Revenues and Benefits Service. 

Page 170



 

148 
 

Total Jobseekers Allowance (JSA) Claimants (October 2014) 

(The Jobseeker's Allowance (JSA) is payable to people under pensionable age who are available for, and 

actively seeking, work of at least 40 hours a week).  

 

 Portsmouth 

(numbers) 

Portsmouth 

(%) 

South East 

(%) 

Great Britain 

(%) 

All people 2,815 2.0 1.2 2.1 

Males 1,782 2.5 1.5 2.7 

Females 1,033 1.5 1.0 1.6 

Source: ONS claimant count with rates and proportions - downloaded from NOMIS 21.11.14 

Note:  % is a proportion of claimant count + workforce jobs total 

 
Data on claimant rates for other benefits shows that in total 9.7% of Portsmouth’s working age 
population were benefit claimants, compared to 13.5% in August 2010, so again a significant drop. The 
table below provides a breakdown by statistical group and comparative data for the South East region 
and Great Britain.   
 

Working Age Client Group - Key Benefit Claimants (May 2014) 

 Portsmouth 
(numbers) 

Portsmouth (%) South East (%) Great Britain 
(%) 

Total claimants 
By statistical 
group 

16,930 12.1 9.4 12.9 

Job seekers 3,110 2.2 1.5 2.4 

ESA and 
incapacity 
benefits 

7,850 5.6 4.4 6.2 

Lone parents 2,100 1.5 0.9 1.2 

Carers 1,660 1.2 1.1 1.4 

Others on 
income related 
benefits 

500 0.4 0.2 0.3 

Disabled 1,500 1.1 1.0 1.2 

Bereaved 210 0.2 0.2 0.2 

Key out of work 
benefits* 

13,570 9.7 7.1 10.2 

Source: DWP benefit claimants – working age client group (downloaded from NOMIS on 
21.11.14) 

Key out-of-work benefit claimants includes the groups: job seekers, ESA and incapacity 
benefits, lone parents and others on income related benefits. 

Note:  % is a proportion of resident population of area aged 16-64 
 

 
However it is important to consider that numbers of benefit claimants can be impacted upon by changes 
to benefits systems and people 'falling through the net'; and it also does not reflect issues that exist 
around unemployment and zero hour contracts (see 'Unemployment' section). 

Page 171



 

149 
 

 

Summary: Benefits 

In 2013, there were just under 22,500 housing and/or council tax support claimants or 11% 
of Portsmouth’s whole population. 

In Oct 2014, 2% of the city's working age population were in receipt of Job Seekers 
Allowance (JSA), which is a fall since the last needs assessment in March 2011 (at 3.5%).  

9.7% of Portsmouth’s working age population were benefit claimants, compared to 13.5% in 
August 2010, so again a significant drop. 

However numbers of benefit claimants can be impacted upon by changes to benefits 
systems and people 'falling through the net', as well as underemployment issues. 

 

Benefit take-up 

 
According to research undertaken by the New Policy Institute for the Joseph Rowntree Foundation158 
'almost a third of eligible people in the UK in 2009-10 were not claiming the means-tested benefits they 
were entitled to. Just over half of the estimated £10 billion unclaimed benefits could have been claimed 
by working age families. Despite service delivery reforms and the progress made in reducing pensioner 
and child poverty, take-up rates for most income-related benefits declined in the decade to 2009-10.  
Take-up of tax credits increased after 2003-04 but in 2011-12 H.M. Revenue & Customs still estimated 
that £3.29 billion in Working Tax Credit and £1.19 billion in Child Tax Credits went unclaimed'.   
 
The report states that improving take up of these key benefits could help to alleviate poverty and 
particularly recommends additional spending being targeted at poor families. This could also lead to 
wider improved outcomes e.g. health, employment, wellbeing. 
 
For the financial year April 2013 to March 2014 Age UK Portsmouth helped older people in the city to 
get around £1,104,793 in benefits.  These included Attendance Allowance, Pension Credit, Disability 
Living Allowance and an occasional PIP159.   
 
In the last needs assessment in 2009/10, Age UK Portsmouth had claimed nearly £514,000 in that year 
in unclaimed benefits for older people. From April 2013 to March 2014, this has doubled to £1,104.793. 
These benefits have included Attendance Allowance, Pension Credit, Disability Living Allowance and a 
few Personal Independence Payments. Age UK state that it has crept up each year since the last needs 
assessment; and also that the team has grown in size, enabling them to do even more of this valuable 
work. 
 
 In the previous 2011 needs assessment, in 2008/09 the FAB team secured an annualised total of £3.4M 
in pension credit, attendance allowance/disability living allowance, housing/council tax benefit and 
other benefits for its clients.  Unfortunately the DWP no longer provides the FAB Team with data around 
this, and the information is not collated or recorded centrally as a team. Some limited data is available 
centrally for PCC's appointeeship clients, which represents approximately 10-12% of ASC clients.  For 

                                                      
158

 Take-up of benefits and poverty: an evidence and policy review - Dan Finn and Jo Goodship 2014 - Centre for Economic 
and Social Inclusion 
 
159

 Data supplied by Age UK Portsmouth 25.11.14 

Page 172



 

150 
 

these the FAB Team have claimed £35,574.24 in backdated benefit awards since April 2014 (up until 
November 14).   
 
These figures are just examples of income maximisation work in the city. Council services such as 
revenues and benefits, and the housing service make significant contributions through their work with 
residents. The money advice services in the city also make significant contributions to this through 
undertaking benefits checks with people and helping people to claim all of their entitlements. Similarly 
wider frontline staff play an important role in this and so ensuring people know about the benefits they 
are entitled to, and helping them to claim them, will remain a critical need going forward. 
 

Summary: Benefit take up 

Almost a third of eligible people in the UK in 2009-10 were not claiming the means-tested 
benefits they were entitled to. Agencies in Portsmouth help residents to claim millions of 
pounds worth of benefits every year that they are entitled to. 

Improving take up of these key benefits and income maximisation could help to alleviate 
poverty and particularly recommends additional spending being targeted at poor families. 
This could also lead to wider improved outcomes e.g. health, employment, wellbeing. 

 

Low pay 

As stated in the income section, in the previous 2011 Tackling Poverty Needs Assessment, resident 

earnings in Portsmouth had grown by 25% between 2002 and 2009, rising to an average of £475 per 

week, and whilst lower than the national average of £491 a week, had risen in similar proportions. 

However for 2013 they were £474 per week - which is below the 2009 rates, even before the additional 

impact of inflation is added on. Portsmouth is experiencing real issues around low pay and has 

experienced a worse than average drop in residents' wages.  

 

Nationally, the proportion of workers aged 21 to 30 who are now classed as low paid has more than 

tripled over the past four decades, according to new research that helps to explain why many young 

people are locked out of the housing market. Analysis by the independent thinktank the Resolution 

Foundation shows that among this age group almost three in 10 (29%) are now low paid – equating to 

almost 1.5 million young workers. Analysis from the Resolution Foundation shows the generational 

wage gap has widened significantly since 2002.160 

 

The prevalence of low pay has meant that in-work poverty has risen to an all-time high with 2/3rds of 

people in the country who are in poverty, in 'in work' poverty. The Centre for Cities Report161 states that 

employment characteristics (sector of work, occupational group, hours of work and hourly wage) are 

the strongest predictor of whether a person is likely to experience in-work poverty. 

 

                                                      
160

 Source: The Guardian: 'Pay gap widens with one in three young UK workers on low pay' Sat 30
th

 Aug 14 
http://www.theguardian.com/society/2014/aug/30/low-pay-workers-one-in-three 
161

 Centre for Cities Report: 'Unequal opportunity: how jobs are changing in cities' Sep 2014 

Page 173

http://www.theguardian.com/society/2014/aug/30/low-pay-workers-one-in-three


 

151 
 

The report also makes the point that there is no relationship between average wages and low quartile 

wages once housing costs are taken into account. It states that 'while those working in high paid 

occupations in London or other high cost cities are likely to earn more even taking housing costs into 

account, workers in low wage occupations are likely to be worse off. For instance, average monthly 

wages after housing costs are £2,124 in Crawley (1 out of 55 cities); while lower quartile wages are £560 

per month after housing costs (38 out of 55 cities). Workers in the bottom 25 per cent in Portsmouth, 

Bournemouth and London have the lowest wages after housing costs'. So in the country overall, 

Portsmouth workers in the low quartile wage group (along with Bournemouth and London) have the 

lowest wages after housing costs. It is important therefore to recognise this factor, in order to 

understand the true implications of low pay in the city. 

 

A report by the Resolution Foundation162 also highlights the impact of low paid work nationally and how 

only one in four workers who were low paid in 2001 - and who have remained in employment for most 

of the subsequent decade - went on to escape poverty and move on to higher pay. This links in to social 

mobility and the notion that if people work hard, even if they come from poor circumstances, they can 

work their way up the ladder and progress out of poverty and into well paid work. This report seems to 

suggest that for most people on low pay this is very limited.  However the report found that, for those 

who do escape, it can make a meaningful difference - for example they saw their wages grow by an 

average of 7.5% in real terms over the course of the decade, compared to those who were unable to 

escape low pay, who saw their pay grow by only 3.6%. 

 

Factors that seemed to make a difference having or obtaining a degree, possessing a positive outlook for 

the future and working for a large employer (defined as 1000 plus employees). Barriers to progression 

included working part time, and/or other factors such as being older, a single parent or disabled. 

Workers in specific industries were also more vulnerable - such as sales or hospitality, where pay 

progression was poor. (The low-pay threshold is defined as two-thirds of median hourly earnings. In 

2013, the threshold was £7.69). Other factors included that sometimes people did not seek progression 

due to not wanting the additional responsibilities for sometimes small pay rises - e.g. entry level work to 

supervisory only equating to 30-40p an hour extra: 'in many ways, progression is just one part of the 

wider low pay story, with small wage increases for perceived significant increases in responsibility 

discouraging many from moving off the first rung'163. 

 

A need identified by the report is for employers to review their policies around progression within their 

organisations. The Council (a large employer in its own right) has strong relationships with large 

businesses in the city and so there is a need therefore, through these relationships, to look at how the 

business world in Portsmouth can help low paid workers in the city up the pay ladder. In particular, the 

report recommends both government and employers looking at how they can better support and target 

                                                      
162

 Resolution Foundation: 'Escape Plan: Understanding who progresses from low pay and who gets stuck' (November 2014) 
 
163

 Resolution Foundation: 'Escape Plan: Understanding who progresses from low pay and who gets stuck' (November 2014) 

Page 174



 

152 
 

the disadvantaged groups cited earlier, helping to understand and remove the obstacles involved in 

their progression. 

 

The Child Poverty and Social Mobility Commission also recently identified that career progression and 

earning more money are major contributors to an individual escaping economic hardship164. The 

research was commented upon in the Guardian article entitled '2020 targets on child poverty likely to 

be missed without action from business' as follows: 

 

'Employers have a real opportunity to make a difference in this area, reducing the number of people 

trapped in low-skilled and low-paid jobs. Our long-term economic sustainability is left vulnerable unless 

we improve diversity and cast the net wider in the search for talent…It goes beyond a matter of 

corporate social responsibility and is at the heart of businesses’ sustainability. Are employers attracting 

talent from diverse backgrounds? Are there clear personal development paths and mentoring so 

employees can improve their skills and career prospects? Are there enough opportunities for the most 

disadvantaged to gain access to good quality jobs? These are questions employers should be asking 

themselves if they want to develop a truly sustainable business model'.  

 

These would be useful questions to pose in Portsmouth, demonstrating a need to work together with 

business leaders in the city in order to provide better career progression opportunities for residents, 

which will ultimately start to combat the issue of low pay in the city. 

 

The Joseph Rowntree Foundation's Annual Report into Poverty and Social Exclusion165 also provides 

useful evidence in terms of understanding issues concerning low pay and its impact. The report 

highlights that whilst nationally, poverty amongst pensioners is at an all-time low, and unemployment 

fell by 300,000 between mid-2013 and mid-2014, wages have fallen, 1.4 million adults are in part time 

work because they can't find full time employment and only 1/5th of low-paid employees have left low 

paid work completely ten years later. The report also highlights that 3/5ths of people who moved from 

unemployment into work in the last year are paid below the Living Wage (the Living Wage is currently 

£7.85 at the UK rate, or £9.15 at the London rate, compared to the £6.50 national minimum wage rate - 

see the Living Wage section for further details). It is useful therefore to consider the possible impacts of 

underemployment in the next section. 

 

Summary: Low pay 

As stated in the income section, Portsmouth is experiencing real issues around low pay and 
has experienced a worse than average drop in residents' wages. 

The prevalence of low pay has meant that in-work poverty has risen to an all-time high with 

                                                      
164

' 2020 targets on child poverty likely to be missed without action from business' Mark Boleat, Guardian website 27 October 
2014  
 
165

 Joseph Rowntree Foundation: Monitoring Poverty and Social Exclusion 2014: 
http://www.jrf.org.uk/publications/monitoring-poverty-and-social-exclusion-2014# 
 

Page 175

http://www.jrf.org.uk/publications/monitoring-poverty-and-social-exclusion-2014


 

153 
 

2/3rds of people in the country who are in poverty, in 'in work' poverty.  

In the country overall, Portsmouth workers in the low quartile wage group (along with 
Bournemouth and London) have the lowest wages after housing costs. This reinforces the 
issue that low pay in Portsmouth is significantly worse than the national average. 

National research evidences that only 1 in 4 workers who were low paid in 2001 - and who 
remained in employment for most of the subsequent decade - went on to escape poverty 
and move on to higher pay, suggesting an issue with social mobility and progression. 

Barriers to progression included working part time, and/or other factors such as being older, 
a single parent or disabled. Workers in specific industries were also more vulnerable. 

There is a need therefore to work with employers in the city to remove some of these 
barriers and to create progression opportunities for all sectors for the community. 

Underemployment 

The Joseph Rowntree Foundation's Annual Report into Poverty and Social Exclusion166 states that, whilst 

the number of temporary employees who want a permanent contract is falling slowly, the overall 

number of temporary contracts is increasing, with a significant increase in the numbers of people in 

insecure work on zero-hours contracts, or in part-time or low-paid employment.  

Whilst temporary contracts don't necessarily equate to low pay, contracts that do not guarantee a 

minimum number of hours are more heavily concentrated in low-paying sectors, including zero hour 

contracts and other casual work. These contracts tend to be more prevalent in accommodation and 

food services, and administrative and support services. 

 

The level of underemployment in the UK, where workers are either seeking more hours in their current 

job, seeking an additional job, or seeking an alternative job with additional hours, increased rapidly from 

2008167. Comparing the full year averages, and the average for first two quarters of 2014 (the latest data 

available), the number of people underemployed in the UK increased from 2,069,000 in 2007, to a peak 

of 3,131,000 in 2013. The total of 3,059,000 in 2014 is a 2.3% reduction on the previous year, but 

remains almost 50% higher than the 2007 level. Although total underemployment decreased from 2013 

to 2014, the number of self-employed people who were underemployed increased 2.2%, from an 

average of 453,000 in 2013 to 463,000 the following year. 

 

The rate of underemployment in Great Britain has increased across all regions since 2007, but in the 

South East, the percentage of underemployed workers has increased from 6.3% (the second lowest 

region in the country after East of England, where it was 6.2%), to 9.7%.  It is now 8th out of the 11 

regions, which indicates that under-employment has increased faster in the South East than in some 

other regions. 

 

This represents a significant number of workers seeking to increase their earnings, who are ready and 

willing to take on more work if it was available. Each of these workers is earning less than their 

                                                      
166

 Joseph Rowntree Foundation: Monitoring Poverty and Social Exclusion 2014: 
http://www.jrf.org.uk/publications/monitoring-poverty-and-social-exclusion-2014# 
167

 Labour Market Statistics, ONS, 2014 

Page 176

http://www.jrf.org.uk/publications/monitoring-poverty-and-social-exclusion-2014


 

154 
 

potential. This shows the extent of just one aspect of the problem of people being unable to earn 

enough to meet their needs.   

 

Summary: Underemployment 

Nationally, the number of workers in temporary contracts is increasing. Temporary contracts are 
more prevalent in low paid employment sectors. 

An average of 3 million workers in the UK were under-employed in the UK in 2014, down 2.3% 
from the peak level in 2013, but almost 50% higher than the pre-recession level in 2007. Although 
total underemployment fell by 2.3% in 2014, the number of underemployed workers in self-
employment increased by 2.2% 

Underemployment has increased faster in the South East than in some other regions in GB. 

The Living Wage 

Another way to potentially address issues of low pay in the city is to consider implementation of what is 

known as the 'Living Wage'. The Living Wage is an hourly rate of pay which is set independently from the 

minimum wage, and is up-rated annually. It is calculated annually by the Centre for Research in Social 

Policy at Loughborough University and as at November 2014 the Living Wage is calculated at £7.85 per 

hour at the national rate, and £9.15 at the London rate. It is higher than the minimum wage, which is 

£6.50. It is a voluntary scheme for employers.  

 

The Living Wage was created to give the minimum pay rate required for a worker to provide their family 

with the "essentials of life". The information used to develop this rate is gathered via focus groups who 

agree a ‘basket of goods’ for a range of household sizes and age, to achieve a minimum acceptable 

standard of living in the UK. The cost of the basket of goods is updated annually so that the Living Wage 

calculation is relevant, up-to-date and based on public opinion.  

 

The Living Wage does not replace in-work benefits – it assumes full take-up of Child Benefit, Tax Credits, 

Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support and Disability Benefits. A Living Wage was first introduced in 

London in 2003 following a campaign by London Citizens, who found that even though they were 

working two minimum wage jobs, they were struggling to make ends meet; and working long hours 

meant there was little time for family and community life. Their solution was to call for a Living Wage.  

 

The Living Wage then began its journey in the early days through hospitals such as Bart's and the Royal 

London, where London Citizens made the case that low pay can lead to poor health and hospital bosses 

agreed. They then took the Living Wage to Canary Wharf and as a result, KPMG became one of the first 

private sector employers to pay the Living Wage, first to cleaners and then to all contracted staff.  

 

Page 177



 

155 
 

Recent KPMG research168 shows that nationally there are now £5.24 million workers who are paid less 

that the Living Wage, that's up from £4.82 million a year ago, and that 18 - 21 year olds, women and 

part time workers are disproportionately affected. This has primarily been because of the cost of living 

outstripping earnings growth. It also tends to be more prevalent in the private sector than the public 

sector. This suggests that, on order to really address the issue of low pay, much wider take up of the 

Living Wage initiative is required by employers.   

 

The following KPMG charts summarise their research in terms of regional prevalence. Whilst data is not 

available for Portsmouth, the South East data shows that whilst proportionately, the South East is one of 

the areas with the lowest proportion of people not on the Living Wage, it has some of the highest 

numbers: 

  

By proportion* By number* 

Northern Ireland – 26% North West – 600,000 

Wales – 25% London – 586,000 

East Midlands – 24% South East – 567,000 

Yorkshire & Humberside – 24% West Midlands – 502,000 

West Midlands – 23% East – 497,000 

  

*Source: Markit estimates, based on ONS data - cited from KPMG research, website Nov 2014 

  

The following map from KPMG shows this variation across the country: 

 

                                                      
168

Accessed from KPMG website www.kpmg.com 26.11.14 
http://www.kpmg.com/uk/en/issuesandinsights/articlespublications/newsreleases/pages/number-of-workers-paid-less-
than-the-living-wage-passes-5-million.aspx  

Page 178

http://www.kpmg.com/
http://www.kpmg.com/uk/en/issuesandinsights/articlespublications/newsreleases/pages/number-of-workers-paid-less-than-the-living-wage-passes-5-million.aspx
http://www.kpmg.com/uk/en/issuesandinsights/articlespublications/newsreleases/pages/number-of-workers-paid-less-than-the-living-wage-passes-5-million.aspx


 

156 
 

 
 

 

 

And finally the following KPMG chart reflects both the proportions and numbers in terms of occupation: 

 

By proportion* By number* 

Bar staff – 85% Sales and retail assistants – 810,000 

Waiters and waitresses – 85% Cleaners and domestics – 450,000 

Kitchen and catering assistants – 80% Kitchen and catering assistants – 

370,000 

Vehicle valeters and cleaners – 75% Care workers and home carers – 

270,000 

Launderers and dry cleaners – 70% Storage/warehouse occupations – 

170,000 

   

Page 179



 

157 
 

*Source: Markit estimates, based on ONS data - - cited from KPMG research, website Nov 2014 

 

As a long term strategy therefore, wider roll out of the Living Wage is required; as is ensuring that poor 

children who grow up in the city aren't channelled into low paid professions due to a lack of 

qualifications rather than being aware of the range of opportunities available to them, and having 

choice in relation to the profession they enter. 

 

There are now 1036 fully accredited Living Wage employers in the UK. Accreditation is undertaken by 

the Living Wage Foundation, a charity which works with employers to help them implement the Living 

Wage. There are a number of business benefits to paying the Living Wage as follows: 

 

 80% of employers believe that the Living Wage had enhanced the quality of the work of their 

staff.  

  Improved loyalty and customer service. Fewer complaints.  

 Absenteeism down by 25%.  

 Improved retention rates and reduced HR costs. PwC found turnover of contractors fell from 4% 

to 1%. When turnover of contractor staff halved KPMG saved £75,000 on one contract alone.  

  70% of employers feel that the Living Wage has increased consumer awareness of their 

organisation's commitment to be an ethical employer.  

 Over 6 years the cost of KPMG's facilities operation has reduced.  

 

However it is still early days in terms of the evidence base regarding the Living Wage. It would also be 

true to say that one of the main financial beneficiaries of the Living Wage - as a result of reduced take 

up of benefits - is the Treasury, which is estimated to see significant financial gains. There may be scope 

for making a case to government that these savings could be passed down at a more local level in the 

future. There are also significant challenges for smaller businesses in terms of affordability; and 

challenges in particular sectors for example for local authorities who commission out services related to 

adult social care, where low are reflected in the contracts and budgets available to local authorities. 

There are also implications re pay grades and the knock on effect when the bottom grades are lifted to 

meet the Living Wage hourly rate; and also inflationary impacts in that, for example, Council workers' 

pay is raised by less than the rate of inflation each year at present; which has a knock on effect if 

workers' pay is going to be raised in line with the Living Wage each year. 

 

However there are wider gains to be had - for example not just the business benefits listed above but 

the wider benefits that would be brought to the local economy as well as raising aspirations and placing 

a sense of value upon low paid workers in the city.  

 

The strongest argument for introducing the Living Wage may be the moral one - in that it is the right 

thing to do, and demonstrates ethical employment practice. Given that resident wages are below 

average in Portsmouth and that elementary occupations account for around 11% of the workforce, the 

Living Wage would clearly benefit lower paid workers in the city. Paying the Living Wage could 

Page 180



 

158 
 

contribute significantly to breaking cultures of dependency through earning a decent 'stand alone' wage, 

rather than being paid poor wages and having to claim top up benefits and thus have the stigma and 

dependency associated with this. Portsmouth City Council has recently taken the first steps in agreeing 

to pay a Living Wage to Council employees, although at present this does not involve accreditation; and 

it does not include schools, as schools would need to make this decision as individual bodies. However 

with the many other organisations that have signed up to be Living Wage employers across the country, 

momentum may be gained on this issue over the forthcoming years. 

 

Summary: The 'living wage' 

The Living Wage was created to give the minimum pay rate required for a worker to provide 
their family with the "essentials of life" and is currently calculated at £7.85 per hour at the 
national rate, and £9.15 at the London rate. It is higher than the minimum wage, which is 
£6.50. (As at Nov 2014).  

18 - 21 year olds, women and part time workers are disproportionately affected. 

Whilst data is not available for Portsmouth, the South East data shows that whilst 
proportionately, the South East is one of the areas with the lowest proportion of people not 
on the Living Wage, it has some of the highest numbers. 

There are a number of benefits to paying the Living Wage e.g. some evidence of improved 
sickness/retention rates, as well as wider benefits to the local economy. The strongest 
argument however may be the moral one, regarding ethical employment practice. 

There are challenges involved in being a Living Wage employer such as affordability for 
smaller businesses; and challenges in particular sectors for example in adult social care. 

The Council has recently committed to paying Council workers the Living Wage. Given the 
low resident wages in Portsmouth and elementary occupations accounting for around 11% 
of the workforce, further roll out of the Living Wage e.g. to schools staff and to wider 
businesses across the city, would help to reduce rates of in work poverty in the city. 

 

In work poverty 

The previous sections on low pay, underemployment and the Living Wage have highlighted why people 

who are working may still be classed as living in poverty, despite being in employment. No data is 

available at present concerning in work poverty in the Portsmouth Local Authority area. Given the issues 

around low pay in the city, and given that unemployment is not above the national average, it's 

probably fair to assume that Portsmouth would suffer from similar issues to the country as a whole in 

this area; it is therefore useful to look at the national data from 2012/13169 to establish the depths of 

this problem. 

 

 13.3 million people are living in poverty 

 3.2 million working age adults in poverty are in paid work 

 People in work make up almost 2/5ths (39%) of all working age people in poverty (8 million) 

                                                      
169

 Joseph Rowntree Foundation: Monitoring Poverty and Social Exclusion 2014: 
http://www.jrf.org.uk/publications/monitoring-poverty-and-social-exclusion-2014# 

Page 181

http://www.jrf.org.uk/publications/monitoring-poverty-and-social-exclusion-2014


 

159 
 

 1.1 million working age adults living in poverty are not in work but live with someone in work 

 6.6 million people in working families are living in poverty 

 This means almost half of all poverty is found in working families 

 This is because of a rise in poverty in working families, and a fall in poverty in workless 

households but especially in retired families  

 2.2 million children in poverty are in a working family 

o Of these, 850,000 are in families where all the adults are in paid work 

o The other 1.3 million are in families where one adult works and one does not 

 The remaining 1.4 million children in poverty live in a workless household. 

 This means that about 2/3rds of children in poverty live in households where someone works. 

 

As the HBAI data170 around groups at risk demonstrated in the children and families section, households 

where both parents are in full time work are at least risk of poverty (4%) or where one parent is in full 

time work and one parent is in part time work (6%). However an earlier report by the Joseph Rowntree 

Foundation171 goes on to reflect on the significant barriers potential second earners face in entering the 

workforce such as getting flexible, quality childcare, flexible, sustainable employment and low wages. 

working full time on the minimum wage will not necessarily lift a household above the relative poverty 

line; and the Joseph Rowntree Report above argues that  ‘lifting the number of dual-earner families is a 

crucial part of a revived anti-poverty strategy focused on jobs and wages’. 

 

Summary of key points: in work poverty 

No data is available at present concerning in work poverty in the Portsmouth Local 
Authority area. 

Nationally almost half of all poverty is found in working families, and about 2/3rds of 
children in poverty live in households where someone works. 

People in work make up almost 2/5ths (39%) of all working age people in poverty (8 million) 

HBAI data suggests that households where both parents are in full time work are at least 
risk of poverty (4%) or where one parent is in full time work and one parent is in part time 
work (6%). 

There are significant barriers that potential second earners face in entering the workforce 
such as getting flexible, quality childcare, flexible, sustainable employment and low wages.  

Research suggests that ‘lifting the number of dual-earner families is a crucial part of a 
revived anti-poverty strategy focused on jobs and wages’. 

 

Adult Skills, Qualifications, Education and Training 

Portsmouth is above the South East average for 'no or low adult qualifications' (Portsmouth 20.95%, 

South East 18.34%). (N.B. The definition of 'low or no qualifications' can be seen in the table below). It is 

                                                      
170

 Source: Households Below Average Income - – An analysis of income distribution 1994/95 – 2011/2012 (HBAI 2013) 
171

 Source: ‘Tackling In-Work Poverty by Supporting Dual-Earning Families’, Kayte Lawton and Spencer Thompson, Joseph 
Rowntree Foundation (November 2013). 
 

Page 182



 

160 
 

slightly below the England and GB averages of 21.16% and 21.21%. 8.37% of Portsmouth's adult 

population have no qualifications, compared to 6.46% in the South East (so significantly higher than the 

South East) but lower than the England average of 9.15%. In other words, the South East tends to have a 

higher level of qualification than England as a whole; but this is not reflected in Portsmouth, which is 

nearer to the higher national average. 

 

Source: NOMIS (accessed 05.12.14) 

Qualifications Jan - Dec '13 

(N.B. Total "No or low qualifications has been calculated from the NOMIS data by 
adding together the NVQ 1 and above, No Qualifications and Other Qualifications 
categories). 

 Portsmouth South 
East 

England GB 

NVQ 1 18,500 644,300 4,085,200 4,637,000 

No qualifications 12,300 350,100 3,085,000 3,634,600 

Total "No or low 
qualifications" 

30,800 994,400 7,170,200 8,271,600 

          

Total working age pop (16 - 
64) 

147,000 5,423,300 33,722,300 38,991,900 

          

% "No or low qualifications" 20.95% 18.34% 21.26% 21.21% 

     

% No qualifications 8.37% 6.46% 9.15%  

 
However this is a significant improvement on data used in the last 2011 needs assessment, which was 

taken from the Office for National Statistics in 2009, when Portsmouth had lower than average levels of 

skills and qualifications amongst its residents with approximately 27% of the working age population 

with no or low qualifications. 

 

Despite this improvement, essentially one in five adults in Portsmouth has 'no or low' qualifications and 

regardless of where this sits with the national average, this is a problem for the city as it increases the 

likelihood of low pay (see low pay section).  

 

The difference between Portsmouth and the South East and National averages becomes much more 

marked at degree level qualifications. Portsmouth only has 2.2% of its population qualified at NVQ 4 or 

above, compared to 4.2% in the South East, and 4.6% in England. 

 

Page 183



 

161 
 

 
 

(Accessed from the Neighbourhood Statistics website, 05.12.14) 

 

Again this increases the likelihood of low pay in Portsmouth, as evidenced in the low pay section. 

Demand is predicted to change for skills and qualifications going forward, and the city's workforce will 

need to be ready for a changing employment landscape. Some of these changing landscapes are due to 

the various parts of the city that are being re-generated, and it will be important for Portsmouth people 

to be skilled up to access these jobs that will arise from this regeneration. 

 

Portsmouth City Council's Business Skills and Growth Plan172 states that the biggest demand will be for 

skilled, knowledge-based activities requiring graduate or equivalent level qualifications. It also states 

that corporate managers and professionals will require more graduates and the Higher Education lower 

sector will be pivotal to supplying highly skilled workers. On the basis of Portsmouth's performance in 

this area (and that a very low number of Portsmouth young people progress to University compared to 

national statistics) this is a problem for the resident population. Caring and leisure occupations are 

predicted to remain robust but will require more A Level and equivalent qualifications, so again this 

causes a problem if Portsmouth young people cannot progress to higher level qualifications.  

 

Whilst the report states that low skilled jobs will remain part of the future market, worryingly, the 

report states that 'stagnation is predicted in intermediate and low skilled occupations and there will be 

demand for certain vocational qualifications in intermediate occupations'. It will be important therefore 

for colleges and higher education establishments in the city to put on the right vocational and 
                                                      
172

 Portsmouth City Council: Business Growth and Skills Plan  https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/pln-
businessgrowthandskillsplan.pdf  

2.2 

4.2 
4.6 

0.0 

4.4 

5.7 6.0 

0.0 

6.6 6.4 
6.8 

0.0 
0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

Portsmouth South East England No comparator
selected

Percentage  
Points 

Source: Department for Business, Innovation & Skills 

Change (increase/decrease) in the qualification Levels, 2009–12 

NVQ Level 4 or higher NVQ Level 3 or higher

NVQ Level 2 or higher

Page 184

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/pln-businessgrowthandskillsplan.pdf
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/pln-businessgrowthandskillsplan.pdf


 

162 
 

qualification courses for young people in the city. Administration and secretarial jobs are predicted to be 

the largest area of decline in Portsmouth and the UK.  

 

Employers in the city report that job seekers in the city lack the ‘soft skills’ (such as communication, 

customer service and interpersonal skills) that would make them ‘work ready’173, so it will be important 

that educational establishments are able to address these issues too. The Council's Business Growth and 

Skills Plan states that 'Although national research indicates a mismatch between training and business 

requirements, it is not clear from the evidence whether this is an issue for Portsmouth, with the 

exception of ‘soft skills’ and work-readiness. However, every effort is made locally to ensure that 

students have the right skills to meet employer demand. For example, both Highbury College and 

Portsmouth College consult with employer advisory boards in the key sectors to discuss their skills 

requirements'. So raising educational attainment with more Portsmouth young people becoming 

educated to degree level, alongside colleges and other further education establishments providing the 

right courses that meet the needs of the business world in Portsmouth going forward will be critical. 

 

Summary: Adult skills, qualifications, education and training 

Portsmouth is above the South East average for 'no or low adult qualifications' (Portsmouth 
is 20.95%, the South East is 18.34%). It is slightly below the England and GB averages of 
21.16% and 21.21%. (This has improved from 27% in the last needs assessment). 

Despite this improvement, one in five adults in Portsmouth has 'no or low' qualifications and 
this is a problem for the city as it increases the likelihood of low pay. 

Portsmouth (at 2.2%) is significantly lower than the South East (4.2%) and England (4.6%) 
averages for its population qualified at NVQ 4 or above, increasing the likelihood of low pay. 

The biggest demand going forward in the city will be for skilled, knowledge-based activities 
requiring graduate or equivalent level qualifications. It will be important therefore to raise 
educational attainment, and for colleges and higher education establishments to put on the 
right educational courses for young people, as well as addressing the soft skills required. 

 

Literacy and Numeracy 

Literacy 

A recent report produced by Save the Children in 2014 called 'Read on Get On - How Reading Can Help 

Children Escape Poverty' has evidenced that a quarter of all children leaving primary education couldn't 

read well; and this increased to every 2 in 5 poorer children. In addition: 

 

 45% of low-income, white British boys were not reading well by the age of 11 - and this is even 

more pronounced for those who had English as their first language 

 Boys are twice as likely to fall below even a very basic reading level than girls (England has one of 

the widest gaps in the developed world) 

                                                      
173

 Portsmouth City Council Business Skills and Growth Plan 

Page 185



 

163 
 

 New analysis in the report showed that only one other country in Europe, Romania, has more 

unequal reading attainment amongst ten year olds 

 If a child does not learn to read well when young, they can turn away from education as they get 

older, get poor qualifications and struggle in the world of work 

 Struggling to read is linked to higher risk of low pay and unemployment than in any other 

developed country including the US 

 The report concludes that reading and poverty are directly linked. 

 

This highlights how important it is to have good literacy levels within the city. In terms of local data, the 

following tables contain data for Key Stage 2 children from 2013 and 2014 (the end of Key stage 2 is 

when children are 11 years old)174: 

 

2013 KS2 reading by pupil characteristics   

Percentage of pupils achieving level 4B+ by different combinations of characteristics. 

Gender FSM175 Eligible Ethnicity First Language Number of 
pupils 

Percentage 
L4B+ 

All All All All 1827 70.77 

Male All All All 962 67.57 

Female All All All 865 74.34 

All FSM All All 389 51.93 

Male FSM All All 207 45.89 

Female FSM All All 182 58.79 

All Not FSM All All 1437 75.85 

Male Not FSM All All 754 73.47 

Female Not FSM All All 683 78.48 

 

2014 KS2 reading by pupil characteristics   

Percentage of pupils achieving level 4B+ by different combinations of characteristics. 

Gender FSM Eligible Ethnicity First Language Number of 
pupils 

Percentage 
L4B+ 

All All All All 1819 76.09 

Male All All All 922 75.38 

Female All All All 897 76.81 

All FSM All All 379 63.06 

Male FSM All All 192 63.54 

Female FSM All All 187 62.57 

All Not FSM All All 1435 79.44 

Male Not FSM All All 728 78.43 

                                                      
174

 Local data provided by the Council's Education Service. The 'Read on Get On - How Reading Can Help Children Escape 
Poverty', produced by Save the Children, defined reading well as achieving level 4B+ in KS2 reading - see page 4. 
http://www.savethechildren.org.uk/sites/default/files/images/Read_On_Get_On.pdf 
  
175

 FSM = Free School Meal 

Page 186

http://www.savethechildren.org.uk/sites/default/files/images/Read_On_Get_On.pdf


 

164 
 

Female Not FSM All All 707 80.48 

 

It is clear from the tables above that there has been an improvement for Portsmouth children between 

2013 and 2014 (i.e. 2013 - all children 70.77% - 2014 all children 76.09%.). It is also clear that there has 

been a significant improvement for free school meal (FSM) children between these 2 years. However 

there is still a significant gap in 2014 between FSM and non FSM children, with only 63% of FSM children 

achieving Level 4B+ compared to 76% of all children. Nationally, for children living in the poorest 

families and the most deprived communities, four out of ten children on free school meals are not able 

to read well by the age of 11176. Not being able to read at an appropriate standard can have a 

devastating knock on effect for children in terms of their future achievement (and thus, ultimately, their 

life chances). 

 

Raising reading levels for children in the city is therefore a key need to address going forward in terms of 

alleviating longer term poverty. 

 

Unfortunately, in terms of data around adult literacy, very little is available. In previous years data was 

available from the 2011 Skills for Life Survey at ward level - but with the data being from 2009, this has 

not been included as it is now 5 years out of date and therefore no longer significant. However it is fair 

to assume that, given there are low levels of literacy for children in the city from poor households, that 

this will be reflected in the adult population, and that this will have a knock on effect on employment 

and finances in adulthood. 

 

Summary: Literacy 

Intelligence Gap: Very little up-to-date data is available around adult literacy in the city. 

Nationally, research has shown that a quarter of all children leaving primary education 
couldn't read well; and this increased to every 2 in 5 poorer children. There is a direct link 
between poverty and reading outcomes. 

45% of low-income, white British boys were not reading well by the age of 11 - and this is 
even more pronounced for those who had English as their first language. If a child does not 
learn to read well when young, they can turn away from education as they get older, get 
poor qualifications and struggle in the world of work.  

Whilst there has been some improvement between 2013 and 2014, there is still a significant 
gap in 2014 with only 63% of Free School Meal (FSM) children achieving Level 4B+ reading at 
Key Stage 2 (11 years) compared to 76% of all children. 

Low levels of literacy for children in the city are likely to lead to lead to low levels of literacy 
for adults, with a knock on effect on job opportunities, unemployment and levels of pay. 

 

Numeracy 

 

                                                      
176

 'Read on Get On - How Reading Can Help Children Escape Poverty'; Save the Children 2014 
http://www.savethechildren.org.uk/sites/default/files/images/Read_On_Get_On.pdf 
 

Page 187

http://www.savethechildren.org.uk/sites/default/files/images/Read_On_Get_On.pdf


 

165 
 

"Numeracy, when used in the same context as 'literacy', means having a grasp of numbers and data and 

the arithmetic and reasoning necessary for everyday life.  It means confidently handling money, 

understanding interest, using timetables, working out journey times and interpreting graphs and charts - 

in other words, living in the modern world"177 

 

Having good numeracy skills therefore has a direct relationship with poverty not only in terms of having 

skills for employment, but also for effective money management. Fewer than one in four (23%) of 

Portsmouth's working age population are working at Level 2 or above in numeracy (roughly equivalent 

to A* - C GCSE), while more than half (55%) are literate to this level178.  Although levels of numeracy in 

Portsmouth are a little higher than the England average of 22%, they are below the South East average 

of 28%.179 

 

Portsmouth's working age population is currently estimated to be 140,400180.  This means that 

numeracy is an issue for around 107,800 16 - 64 year olds in the city. 

 

Table 1 provides a breakdown of numeracy levels in Portsmouth and provides examples of how people's 

lives might be limited by low numeracy. 

 
Table 1: Numeracy levels of working age population in Portsmouth and the South East (2009) 

Numeracy level Roughly 
equivalent to… 

% of working age 
population 

At this level a person 
may not be able to… 

Portsmouth South East 
Entry Level 1 and 
below 

Below age 9 6.5% 5.6% Select floor numbers in a lift 

Entry Level 2 Below age 9 15.9% 13.8% Use a cashpoint to withdraw 
money 

Entry Level 3 Age 9 - 11 25.4% 23.5% Understand price labels on 
pre-packaged food or pay 
household bills 

Level 1 GCSE Grade D - G 29% 29.4% Check pay and deductions on 
their wage slip 

Level 2 and above GCSE Grade C and 
above 

23.2% 27.7% Compare products and 
services to identify best value 
or work out a household 
budget 

Adults with lower levels of numeracy have poorer education, employment and health (including mental 

health) outcomes. 

 

Research indicates that irrespective of their standard of literacy, men who have left school at 16 with 

low numeracy are at greater risk of depression and were more likely to have been suspended from 

school, or arrested and cautioned by the police. Outcomes for women who left school at 16 with low 

                                                      
177

 Source: National Numeracy 
178

 Source: The 2011 Skills for Life Survey (BIS) 
179

 National Numeracy Challenge - Portsmouth City Council Briefing - July 2014 
180

 Source: 2012 Mid-Year Population Estimates (ONS) 

Page 188



 

166 
 

numeracy (irrespective of their standard of literacy) are even worse.  These women are less likely to be 

in full-time work (regardless of how many children they have) and more likely to: 

 Be in semi-skilled or unskilled jobs (if they are working); 

 Report poor physical health in the last 12 months; 

 Be in a non-working household; 

 Have low self-esteem; 

 Feel they lack control over their lives. 

Improving levels of numeracy in Portsmouth will contribute to the city's social and economic 

regeneration and is a key objective of the Business Growth & Skills Plan, the city's plan for economic 

growth and improving residents' employability.  

 

Evidence suggests that raising levels of numeracy will help to break the cycle of deprivation (a significant 

factor in reducing poverty in Portsmouth - another priority for the city) by: 

 Increasing parental involvement in their children's education - a key factor in raising educational 

attainment; 

 Raising residents' qualification levels - currently 9% of Portsmouth's working age population 

have no qualifications (compared to South East average of 7%); 

 Reducing digital exclusion181 (complimenting local initiatives such as Super Connected 

Portsmouth). 

Addressing literacy and numeracy levels within the city is therefore key in terms of breaking the cycle of 

deprivation longer term. 

 

Summary: Numeracy 

Having good numeracy skills has a direct relationship with poverty not only in terms of  
having the skills required for employment, but also for effective money management. 

Fewer than one in four (23%) of Portsmouth's working age population are working at Level 2 
or above in numeracy (roughly equivalent to A* - C GCSE), while more than half (55%) are 
literate to this level.  Although levels of numeracy in Portsmouth are a little higher than the 
England average of 22%, they are below the South East average of 28%. 

Studies suggest that men who have left school at 16 with low numeracy are at greater risk 
of depression and were more likely to have been suspended from school, or arrested and 
cautioned by the police. Outcomes for women who left school at 16 with low numeracy are 
even worse, being less likely to be in full-time work and subject to other poorer outcomes. 

Addressing literacy and numeracy levels within the city is therefore key in terms of breaking 
the cycle of deprivation longer term. 

Crime and anti-social behaviour 

In 2013/14, 16,935 crimes were recorded in Portsmouth. This is an 8% (n1,508) reduction since the 

previous year, and 33% (n8,226) less than the 2007/08 baseline, giving a rate of 81.9 per 1,000. 

                                                      
181

 Based on a study of 34 year olds, those with poor numeracy are twice as likely to lack Internet access, not have a 
computer at home or use it if they have one.  Source: National Numeracy. 

Page 189



 

167 
 

Although overall crime is reducing, Portsmouth's rate is still slightly higher in comparison to other similar 

areas (79.9 per 1,000).  

  

Whilst there have been reductions in most types of crime, there have been increases in theft of motor 

vehicles (55%, n113), sexual offences (25%, n56), non-domestic burglary (19%,n136), cycle theft (15%, 

n149) , most serious violence (8%, n5) and arson (5%, n9).  

 

People's perception of crime and how high or low they believe it is, is often more dependent on their 

own experiences than what the statistics might show overall. A community safety survey was conducted 

in March 2014, gathering perceptions and experiences from 849 Portsmouth residents.[1] Most 

respondents indicated that they thought they had a good quality of life (mean=3.95 on a scale of 1 to 5 

where 1 was poor and 5 was very good) and the actual experience of crime was generally low.  

 

The top most feared crimes were burglary, being mugged / robbed and being assaulted, but only a small 

proportion of people experienced any of these crimes. This finding is consistent with previous surveys.  

 

The most commonly experienced types of anti-social behaviour were noise from domestic properties 

(noisy neighbours), litter, general noise in the street (shouting, music, skateboards etc), dog mess and 

street drinking. For most types of anti-social behaviour, concern was slightly higher than experience. 

This was not the case for domestic noise, harassment & bullying and bin bags being left out at the wrong 

time. Black and minority Ethnic (BME) respondents were more likely to report being concerned about 

and experiencing harassment & bullying than British white respondents.  

 

In terms of where anti-social behaviour is most prevalent in the city, Charles Dickens has a much higher 

rate than the other wards (124.1 per 1,000) - the average for the city is 44.2 per 1,000. The other areas 

with a high rate are: St Thomas (73.2), Nelson (59.1) and St Jude (58.2). These correlate with some of 

the most deprived wards in the city.  

 

Overall, the level of people avoiding or being fearful of some areas in Portsmouth has decreased since 

2012. The areas that people fear or avoid have remained fairly constant - Somerstown, Buckland, 

Guildhall Walk and Fratton (although Fratton has dropped from ranking 2nd last year to 4th). The most 

common reason for avoiding all of these areas continues to be a 'bad reputation'.  

 

In the previous tackling poverty needs assessment from 2011, and within the context of why crime 

might be falling, it was suggested that more engagement with education and expansion of higher 

education might mean that more young people were being kept occupied, hence a reduction in crime. 

To date, crime is still falling, but there are many factors which might influence this such as better 

partnership work, more unofficial surveillance, electronic goods quickly de-valuing etc. 

 

                                                      
[1]

 SPP S.Graves & N.Sandford-Smith Community Safety Survey 2014: Headline Results 

Page 190



 

168 
 

There is a complex relationship between crime and poverty; certainly Portsmouth's Strategic 

Assessment shows that young offenders in the most part come from the more deprived parts of the city; 

Charles Dickens has highest rate of young offenders followed by St Thomas and Paulsgrove.  

 
There may also be links between crime and low skills and education; and given that poor children in 

Portsmouth schools are falling far behind their peers, again this would suggest a relationship. The Safer 

Portsmouth Partnership latest Strategic Assessment has looked at complex cases in relation to other 

factors. For example, in 2013 research was carried out as part of the anti-social behaviour review which 

looked at complex cases.182  Complex cases are those cases referred to the ASBU where the problems 

are multifaceted and other agencies or services have been unable to resolve the issues.  They include 

individuals and families with a lengthy history of anti-social behaviour, cases that have escalated in 

severity or frequency or locations that are problematic.   

 
Given that there are higher levels of ASB in areas of deprivation in the city, it makes sense to consider 

this research here. The research, which has so far looked at a dip sample of 90 cases, identified that in 

the majority of cases a variety of factors contributed to the anti-social behaviour, such as drug or alcohol 

misuse, offending history, child protection, domestic abuse and mental health issues.  Of the 90 cases, 

86% (n77) had at least one of these contributory factors.  Of the cases that had a named perpetrator, 

40% (n14) had been known to services and had been causing anti-social behaviour for between 3 and 8 

years.183 

 

The full extent of the links between offending, anti-social behaviour, domestic abuse, substance misuse 

and mental health issues are not fully understood locally, a problem which is compounded by agencies 

not adequately recording where individuals experience multiple needs, or where incidents are 

influenced by such factors. However, research and anecdotal evidence suggests that many of the most 

vulnerable individuals suffer compound issues, and services need to ensure they are taking a holistic and 

collaborative approach towards their clients, using onward referrals where appropriate.  

 

This needs assessment would suggest that poverty might also be considered within these complex 

factors. For example, it would be useful to look at these cases to see whether there were issues around 

financial hardship, including unemployment and homelessness factoring too. 

 

Because of the above findings, despite achieving the agreed targets for most SPP indicators, and with 

crime and anti-social behaviour falling, the SPP acknowledges that further work is needed in the areas of 

reoffending, substance and alcohol misuse, and domestic abuse with wider support being provided to 

people in areas such as mental health. Specifically, investment in early intervention with young people, 

adults and families could produce a significant reduction in demand for high cost services at a later 

stage.  

 

                                                      
182 Review of complex cases of Anti-social Behaviour:  Stage 1 Report, Wickson (May 2013) 
183 Research review of complex cases of Anti-social Behaviour:  Stage 2 Report, Wickson (October 2013) 

Page 191



 

169 
 

It may be that the relationship with childhood poverty could also be added to this work; particularly 

because it is known that child poverty costs; it leads to a higher welfare benefits bill; it increases costs 

on public services (e.g. the costs of poor health on the NHS and other key public services); and it leads to 

lower productivity by the adult workforce. It was estimated in 2013 that, nationally, child poverty cost 

£29b a year; with an estimate for Portsmouth of £121m 184. There is a clear financial case therefore for 

seeking to reduce child poverty in order to maximise resources within a difficult economic climate. It 

may be that this links with the other factors illustrated through the complex cases above; and that this 

further work would therefore benefit from being joined up. A starting place may be to explore both the 

educational attainment levels of young offenders and their backgrounds in relation to their family's 

financial circumstances (including household employment). 

 

Summary: Crime and anti-social behaviour 

Although overall crime is reducing, Portsmouth's rate is still slightly higher in comparison to 
other similar areas (79.9 per 1,000). 

In terms of where anti-social behaviour is most prevalent in the city, Charles Dickens has a 
much higher rate than the other wards (124.1 per 1,000) - the average for the city is 44.2 
per 1,000. The other areas with a high rate are: St Thomas (73.2), Nelson (59.1) and St Jude 
(58.2). These correlate with some of the most deprived wards in the city. 

There is an association between crime and poverty. Young offenders in the most part come 
from the more deprived parts of the city. Charles Dickens has highest rate of young 
offenders followed by St Thomas and Paulsgrove. 

There may also be links between crime and low skills and education; and given that poor 
children in Portsmouth schools are falling far behind their peers, again this would suggest a 
relationship. 

Research and anecdotal evidence suggests that many of the most vulnerable individuals 
suffer compound issues, and services need to ensure they are taking a holistic and 
collaborative approach towards their clients, using onward referrals where appropriate.  

Intelligence Gap: The Safer Portsmouth Partnership acknowledges that further work is 
needed in the areas of reoffending, substance and alcohol misuse, and domestic abuse with 
wider support being provided to people in areas such as mental health. There is a need to 
explore the relationship with poverty (e.g. offenders' financial backgrounds) alongside this. 

 

Health and Wellbeing 

The Health and Wellbeing Board in Portsmouth has developed a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy185 

which aims to improve and protect the health and wellbeing of people who live and work in 

Portsmouth. It has identified 5 Portsmouth-specific priorities as follows: 

1. Giving children and young people the best start in life 

2. Promoting prevention 

                                                      
184

 ‘An estimate of the cost of child poverty in 2013’, Donald Hirsch, Centre for Research in Social Policy, Loughborough 
University (2013). 
185

 Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy: Working better together to improve health and wellbeing in Portsmouth 2014 - 2017. 
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/hlth-jhwellbeingstrategy2014-17.pdf 

Page 192

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/hlth-jhwellbeingstrategy2014-17.pdf


 

170 
 

3. Supporting independence 

4. Intervening earlier 

5. Reducing inequality 

 

There is clearly significant cross-over with the aims of the tackling poverty strategy which highlights how 

health inequalities and poverty inequalities inter-relate. People in Portsmouth in poorer wards die 

earlier than their more affluent counterparts, particularly men. In 2010/12, male life expectancy at birth 

in Portsmouth was 78.2 years. This has improved, but is still significantly worse than the England level 

(79.2 years). It is a little lower - but not significantly so, than Southampton (78.5 years).186 Associations 

between health inequalities and poverty become apparent when looking at specific areas of Portsmouth 

- life expectancy at birth (2010-12) for males in Portsmouth's most deprived 10% of Lower Super Output 

Areas (LSOAs) is 72.7 years - 9.4 years shorter than males in the least deprived 10% of LSOAs. 

 

As a result, the Health and Wellbeing Board agreed that the city's Tackling Poverty Strategy should be 

one of the priorities identified as part of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, and this work now 

reports in to the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

 

Portsmouth's Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy states that growing up in poverty has a significantly 

negative impact on health and wellbeing outcomes for children and has the potential to expose children 

to more risk factors. The increase in the number of people asking for assistance, increase in rent arrears 

and increased demand at money advice services in the city suggests that more people in the city are 

struggling financially. Poverty costs society - it is estimated that child poverty costs Portsmouth £121 

million every year. The Tackling Poverty workstream of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

therefore supports the refresh of the Tackling Poverty Strategy, which seeks to ensure that no-one is 

prevented from achieving a happy, productive and healthy life through the effects of poverty or financial 

hardship. 

 

Some of the key common priorities between the strategies are as follows: 

 

 Health inequalities linked to deprivation 

 

The 2013 Annual Public Health Report focuses on the health of Portsmouth males. Males living in the 

least deprived areas do not reach the level of life expectancy of females living in the same area; they 

have similar levels of life expectancy as females living in the most deprived areas. The Report noted 

that the causes of comparatively poor male health are complex and affected as much by culture and 

the broader determinants of health as by access to services. It echoed the Marmot review in 

highlighting key focus areas of boys’ early years, education and employment opportunities. Deep-

rooted and wide-ranging problems require collective effort of all stakeholders across the city. One 

workstream within the Health and Wellbeing Strategy therefore seeks to address the inequalities 

                                                      
186

 Portsmouth JSNA  http://www.hants.gov.uk/pccjsna/API_STR_JSNA_BURD_LEXP.pdf  

Page 193

http://www.hants.gov.uk/pccjsna/API_STR_JSNA_BURD_LEXP.pdf


 

171 
 

identified in the Annual Public Health report by implementing measures that can be taken to 

improve men's health. 

 

 Employment and employability (including skills and qualifications) 

 

The Health and Wellbeing Strategy seeks to tackle health related barriers to accessing and 

sustaining employment. 'Creating fair employment and good work for all’ is one of the six policy 

objectives of the Marmot Review, aimed at reducing health inequalities. Unemployment 

increases the chance of being ill and increases rates of depression, while long term health 

conditions can be a significant barrier to many people accessing jobs. As evidenced in the 

employment section, people in the poorer wards in the city are at higher risk of unemployment 

(e.g. Charles Dickens ward unemployment is approximately double the national average). In 

general people with mental health problems or with learning disabilities are at increased risk of 

social exclusion. Another workstream in the Health and Wellbeing Strategy therefore aims to 

reduce these risks by improving access to sustainable employment.  

 

In common across both strategies is the notion of having a workforce who ‘make every contact 

count’ (MECC). This means that, wherever the public 'touch down' with Council services, this 

contact will be maximised and where appropriate the right key messages and/or signposting will 

delivered around public health messages - i.e. working in a holistic way around people's needs. 

Public Health's MECC training program has therefore been linked with 'bolt on' modules around 

areas such as budgeting and fuel poverty. This evidences how the Public Health and Tackling 

Poverty agendas make the link between improving financial resilience and improving wider 

health and wellbeing, and can join together effectively in order to prevent poverty and health 

inequalities.  

 

There are also other common objectives around areas such as educational attainment, healthy 

affordable eating (linked to food poverty and nutrition) and fuel poverty. 

 

The King's Fund recommends 9 key areas that can improve public health and reduce inequalities. Some 

of them very directly link to tackling poverty objectives as follows: 

 The best start in life 

o  links to children who are in poverty aged 0 - 5 are much likely to have poorer outcomes 

later in life 

 Healthy schools and pupils 

o  links to educational attainment and the importance this has in terms of reducing the risk 

of poverty later on in life 

 Helping people find good jobs and stay in work 

o  links to finding adequately paid and sustainable employment as a means out of poverty 

 Active and safe travel 

 Warmer and safer homes 

Page 194



 

172 
 

o  links to fuel poverty objectives around energy efficiency and cheaper bills, as well as links 

to excess winter deaths 

 Access to green and open spaces and the role of leisure services 

 Strong communities, wellbeing and resilience 

o links to how developing financial resilience can lead to longer term health and wellbeing 

outcomes  

 Public protection and regulatory services 

 Health and spatial planning 

 

There is a strong need therefore to work together with Public Health around issues of poverty and 

health inequalities, in order to maximise resources and ensure a joined up approach. 

 

The following health sections will cover some of the areas of health or illness where an association 

might be established with deprivation. These are just a sample only, so it is not an exclusive list. For 

example, illnesses such as diabetes can link to poor diet which can link to financial hardship and 

unhealthy lifestyles. Illnesses such as influenza and pneumonia were shown in the previous needs 

assessment to be more prevalent in the most deprived areas of the city. Instead, due to the word 

constraints of this document, some of the key areas only will be examined in the next section. 

 

Summary: Health and wellbeing 

People in Portsmouth in poorer wards die earlier than their more affluent counterparts, 
particularly men. In 2010/12, whilst male life expectancy at birth in Portsmouth was 78.2 
years, for males in Portsmouth's most deprived 10% of Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs), it 
was 72.7 years - 9.4 years shorter than males in the least deprived 10% of LSOAs.  

As a result, the city's Tackling Poverty Strategy is now one of the priorities identified as part 
of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, which states that growing up in poverty has a 
significantly negative impact on health and wellbeing outcomes for children and has the 
potential to expose children to more risk factors. 

Some of the common areas of work between the strategies are health inequalities linked to 
deprivation, employment/employability, skills and qualifications, educational attainment, 
healthy affordable eating (linked to food poverty and nutrition) and fuel poverty. 

The King's Fund recommends 9 key areas that can improve public health and reduce 
inequalities, some of which directly link to tackling poverty objectives, such as the best start 
in life, helping people to find good jobs and to stay in work, and warmer and safer homes. 

There is a strong need therefore to work together with Public Health around issues of health 
inequalities, in order to maximise resources and ensure a joined up approach. 

Life Expectancy 

Life expectancy is used frequently as an indicator of the overall health of a population - i.e. longer life 

expectancy generally indicates better health. There are some concerning differences in life expectancy 

for people living in poor communities, compared to people living in more affluent areas.  

 

Page 195



 

173 
 

Evidence both nationally and locally shows there is an association between life expectancy, health 

inequalities and poverty. In 2010/12, male life expectancy at birth in Portsmouth was 78.2 years. This 

has improved, but is still significantly worse than the England level (79.2 years). It is a little lower - but 

not significantly so, than Southampton (78.5 years).187 Associations between health inequalities and 

poverty become apparent when looking at specific areas of Portsmouth - life expectancy at birth (2010-

12) for males in Portsmouth's most deprived 10% of Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs) is 72.7 years - 

9.4 years shorter than males in the least deprived 10% of LSOAs. 

 

Whilst female life expectancy is not significantly different from the England average (Portsmouth 82.6 

years, England 83.0 years) there is a 5.8 year gap between the 10% most deprived LSOAS (78.9 years) 

and the 10% least deprived.  

 

The main broad causes of death contributing to the gap in life expectancy between the 20% most 

deprived and 20% least deprived in Portsmouth are circulatory diseases, cancers and respiratory 

disease. More specifically, of the more detailed causes of death categories, coronary heart disease; lung 

cancer; and chronic obstructive airways disease are the leading conditions contributing to the gap for 

both males and females.  Causes of death contributing in the gap in life expectancy can also be 

explained using years gained or lost if the mortality rate was the same between the most and least 

deprived quintile; for example, if the lung cancer mortality rate for Portsmouth's most deprived quintile 

was the same as Portsmouth's least deprived quintile there would be almost one year of life expectancy 

at birth gained, for both males and females (in 2010-2012).  

 

Some of these diseases link to lifestyle behaviours - for example smoking and poor diet. Smoking tends 

to be more prevalent in poor communities - it could be argued that being poor and having financial 

stresses might therefore increase people's overall stress levels, making behaviours such as smoking and 

alcohol use more likely. Quality of education in the city may also be an issue - as well as wider factors 

such as media and advertising, numbers of fast food outlets in communities etc. 

 

Improving the health of people living in the most deprived areas of the city should also have a positive 

knock on effect on poverty rates in the city; for example by reducing sickness levels and increasing 

employment rates and overall productivity. Unemployment increases the risk of fatal or non-fatal 

cardiovascular disease and events, and all-cause mortality, by between 1.5 and 2.5 times188. 

 

Summary: Life expectancy 

Life expectancy is used frequently as an indicator of the overall health of a population. 
There are some concerning differences in rates for people living in poor communities, 
compared to people living in more affluent areas. As stated earlier, People in Portsmouth in 
poorer wards die earlier than their more affluent counterparts, particularly men. 

The main broad causes of death contributing to the gap in life expectancy between the 20% 

                                                      
187

 Portsmouth JSNA  http://www.hants.gov.uk/pccjsna/API_STR_JSNA_BURD_LEXP.pdf  
188

 (Siegrist et al 2010; cited from 'Improving the Public's Health; A Resource for Local Authorities', The King's Fund 2013 

Page 196

http://www.hants.gov.uk/pccjsna/API_STR_JSNA_BURD_LEXP.pdf


 

174 
 

most deprived and 20% least deprived in Portsmouth are circulatory diseases, cancers and 
respiratory disease. 

Some of these illnesses link to lifestyle behaviours - for example smoking and poor diet. 
Smoking tends to be more prevalent in poor communities. Being poor and having financial 
stresses might increase people's overall stress levels, making such behaviours more likely. 

Quality of education in the city may also be an issue - as well as wider factors such as media 
and advertising, numbers of fast food outlets in communities etc. 

Improving the health of people living in the most deprived areas of the city should also have 
a positive knock on effect on poverty rates in the city for example through increased 
employment and productivity. 

Low Birth Weight 

Low birth weight is linked to neonatal mortality, poor growth and cognitive development and chronic 
diseases later in life.   
 
Higher than average infant mortality rates have been found in babies whose mothers were born outside 
England and Wales, young mothers, babies’ whose fathers were in the routine and manual social class, 
babies that were registered by the mother alone and babies born in deprived areas. There are wide 
inequalities in infant mortality rates by local authority in England and monitoring these inequalities is 
essential to understanding trends in inequalities in infant mortality.  
 
Maternal smoking, drug or alcohol use, deprivation and poor nutrition during pregnancy, as well as 
complications such as hypertension, are associated with low birth weight. 
 
Smoking is the major modifiable risk factor contributing to low birth weight. Babies born to women who 
smoke weigh on average 200g less than babies born to non-smokers. The incidence of low birth weight 
is twice as high among smokers as non-smokers.  
 
The following chart demonstrates that in 2009-2013 the percentage of low birth weight babies in the 
most deprived quintile within Portsmouth is statistically significantly higher than the % of low birth 
weight babies in the least deprived quintile within Portsmouth. 189 
  
 

                                                      
189

 The data was aggregated over 5 years to provide enough numbers to make the data more statistically robust instead of 
the IMD 2010 data as the numbers in the least deprived quintile were quite low.  So as an alternative, the Portsmouth IMD 
quintiles were used which meant there would be a greater number of LSOAs in the least deprived quintile and therefore a 
higher number of LBW babies in the least deprived quintile.  Since the data is not being compared to other UAs this is 
acceptable.   
 

Page 197



 

175 
 

 

Obesity 

Higher levels of childhood obesity indicate higher risk of related conditions later in life such as type 2 

diabetes and coronary heart disease. Higher rates of underweight/overweight/obesity are associated 

with poorer health outcomes.  

 

The stratified indicator by deprivation quintile has been produced in order to quantify inequalities in 

'excess weight' (overweight and obese) of pupils (based on the pupil's area of residence) in Year R and 

Year 6, by multiple deprivation and children in low-income families.  The following charts demonstrate 

pooled data in relation to childhood excess weight for 2010/11 to 2012/13.   

 

Page 198



 

176 
 

 
 

 
 
In 2010/11-2012/13 academic years (pooled), Reception Year (Year R) had statistically significantly 
higher 'excess weight' (overweight or obese) in the most deprived quintile compared to the least 
deprived (both IMD 2010 and child poverty quintiles - charts above). Using the children in poverty 
quintiles, obesity is also significantly higher in the most deprived quintile. 
 
In 2010/11-2012/13 academic years (pooled), Year 6 pupils (charts below), there is no statistical 
difference between the most deprived and least deprived quintiles for 'excess weight'; but obesity is 

Page 199



 

177 
 

statistically significantly higher in the most deprived quintile compared to the least deprived (both IMD 
2010 and child poverty quintiles). 
 

 
 

 
 
 
It is not possible to be able to conclude the reasons as to why childhood obesity is higher for those 
children in the city who live in deprived areas. There are several hypotheses that could be explored 
going forward, such as whether there are any links between lack of green spaces or access to leisure 

Page 200



 

178 
 

activities for families living in poverty; and/or whether there are issues about affordability of diet; or 
skills issues (such as being able to cook). This would be a possible area for research going forward. 
 

Summary: Low birth rate and obesity 

The percentage of low birth weight babies in the most deprived quintile is statistically 

significantly higher than the % of low birth weight babies in the least deprived quintile 

within Portsmouth. 

This suggests an association between multiple deprivation (including poverty) and low birth 

weight of babies. 

Reception year children in Portsmouth are statistically significantly higher 'excess weight' 
(overweight or obese) in the most deprived quintile compared to the least deprived (both 
IMD 2010 and child poverty quintiles). (Using the children in families quintiles, obesity is 
also significantly higher in the most deprived quintile). 

With Year 6, there is no statistical difference between the most deprived and least deprived 
quintiles for 'excess weight'; but obesity is statistically significantly higher in the most 
deprived quintile compared to the least deprived (both IMD 2010 and child poverty 
quintiles). 

It is not possible to be able to conclude the reasons as to why childhood obesity is higher for 
those children in the city who live in deprived areas, but areas for consideration may include 
affordability of nutritional food, cooking skills, education etc. This would be a possible area 
for research going forward. 

Alcohol  and Substance Misuse 

Please see the Working Age Adult section. 

Mental illness 

Please see the Working Age Adult section. 

Teenage Conception 

In 2010/12, Portsmouth’s conception rate in women aged under 16 years was 7.3 conceptions per 1,000 

women aged 13-15 years – significantly higher than the rate for the South East, higher but not 

significantly than the rate for England, and lower but not significantly than Southampton's rate. 

Compared to previous years, this is the lowest local rate since 1998/00.  

 

In 2010/12, Portsmouth’s conception rate in women aged under 18 years was 37.5 conceptions per 

1,000 women aged 15-17 years, again significantly higher than the rates for England and the South East 

region. However, the trend shows the Portsmouth rate continues to decrease since 2007/09. 

 

Young mothers face significant financial pressures when they raise children and so this is a positive 

trajectory. It will be important to offer the right support to young mothers who are present in the city, 

including good information and advice around training, employment and childcare. 

 

Page 201



 

179 
 

 

Summary: Teenage conception 

In 2010/12, Portsmouth’s conception rate in women aged under 16 years was 7.3 
conceptions per 1,000 women aged 13-15 years – significantly higher than the rate for the 
South East, higher but not significantly than the rate for England, and lower but not 
significantly than Southampton's rate. Compared to previous years, this is the lowest local 
rate since 1998/00. 

In 2010/12, Portsmouth’s conception rate in women aged under 18 years was 37.5 
conceptions per 1,000 women aged 15-17 years, again significantly higher than the rates for 
England and the South East region. However, the trend shows the Portsmouth rate 
continues to decrease since 2007/09.  

Young mothers face significant financial pressures when they raise children and so this is a 
positive trajectory. It will remain important to offer the right support to young mothers in 
the city, including good information and advice around training, employment and childcare. 

Learning Disabilities 

Please see the Working Age Adult section. 

Carers 

Carers can be prone to financial stresses for a number of reasons including lack of access to employment 

opportunities, having to navigate through and survive on welfare benefits and trying to manage finances 

on top of the additional stresses of being a carer. 

 

Portsmouth's JSNA (August 2014)190 reports that there has been an increase in the number of carers 

claiming benefits (about 45 additional claimants - mainly in working age carers). It is hard however to 

know the relevance of this as there are thought to be many 'hidden carers' in Portsmouth and an 

increase in claimants may be down to more carers actually claiming rather than an increase in actual 

carers. 

 

About 1,380 (110 more than in 2012) residents of working age claim Carer's Allowance. This equates to 

11 per 1,000 residents of working age compared with 10.2 per 1,000 residents of working age in 2012. 

As in 2011 and 2012, the highest number and rate of claimants in 2013 are in Paulsgrove (205 claimants, 

27.7 per 1,000 residents of working age). The rate is Paulsgrove is significantly higher than all other 

wards. Compared to last year, the greatest increases in the claimant rate are in Charles Dickens, 

Paulsgrove, Baffins and St Thomas wards.  

 

About 4,390 (about 105 less than in 2012) residents aged 65+ years claim Attendance Allowance (151.2 

per 1,000 residents aged 65+ years). As in 2010 and 2011, the highest rate of claimants is in Hilsea (169 

per 1,000 residents aged 65+ years). Compared to 2011, only three wards have seen an increase in 

claimant rate. The rates in Central Southsea, Nelson and Paulsgrove have declined the most. 

 

                                                      
190

 Portsmouth JSNA August 2014 http://www.hants.gov.uk/pccjsna/API_STR_JSNA_BURD_CARERS.pdf  

Page 202

http://www.hants.gov.uk/pccjsna/API_STR_JSNA_BURD_CARERS.pdf


 

180 
 

In 2012/13, Adult Social Care carried out a needs assessment, review or gave advice and 

information to 1,573 carers (18% less than in 2011/12). People caring for someone with physical 

disabilities accounted for 74% of such carer interventions. In 2012/13, the highest activity rates were in 

Charles Dickens (12 such carer interventions per 1,000 residents) and Cosham (10 such carer 

interventions per 1,000). 

 

The carers’ survey found that 41% of local carers were aged 65+ years. Seventy-five per cent of people 

being cared for were aged 65+ years. Local carers are mainly looking after one person – usually a 

spouse/partner (42%), or parent aged 65+ (35% - higher than the national level of 29%). Thirteen per 

cent were not in paid employment because of their caring responsibilities and 4% were in paid 

employment and did not feel supported by their employer. This highlights the challenges of both finding 

work that is flexible enough to work around the needs of carers, and then having the necessary support 

in the workplace to balance these competing work and home-life needs. Helping carers find and 

maintain sustainable employment can not only be helpful from a financial point of view, but can also be 

helpful in terms of carers having some independence and life outside of their caring responsibilities. 

 

The three main reasons for being cared for were physical disabilities (51%), problems related to ageing 

(37%) and dementia (35%). The impact on carers’ own physical and mental health can be seen in their 

reports of feeling tired (68%), sleep disturbance (56%) and stress (48%). Twenty-four per cent of carers 

themselves had a long-standing illness. Again this highlights the vulnerabilities which carers can 

experience and which can in turn have a knock on effect on their financial and/or employment 

circumstances. 

  

The national survey191 of 1,641 local carers aged 18+ years receiving services from Social Services was 

carried out in November/December 2009 (response rate of 28%).
 
One of the key issues raised by local 

carers was that their caring role caused some financial problems to 30% of carers. So locally this 

evidences a need to support carers around financial issues in order to improve the quality of their lives. 

Priorities identified by carers included better access to information and advice, and access to work and 

training, so access to finance, employment, education and training will be an important part of 

improving support for carers in the city. 

 

Summary: Carers 

Carers can be prone to financial stresses for a number of reasons including lack of access to 
employment opportunities, having to survive on welfare benefits and trying to manage 
finances on top of being a carer. 

Portsmouth's JSNA (August 2014)  reports that there has been an increase in the number of 
carers claiming benefits (about 45 additional claimants - mainly in working age carers).  

However there are thought to be many 'hidden carers' in Portsmouth and an increase in 
claimants may be down to more carers claiming rather than an increase in actual carers. 

In 2013 about 1,380 (110 more than in 2012) residents of working age claim Carer's 

                                                      
191

 Personal Social Services Survey of Adult Carers in England - 2009-10. Ibid. 

Page 203



 

181 
 

Allowance. The highest number and rate of claimants in 2013 are in Paulsgrove. About 4390 
residents aged 65+ years claim Attendance Allowance (151.2 per 1,000 residents aged 65+ 
years). The highest rate of claimants is in Hilsea. 

The carers’ survey found that 41% of local carers were aged 65+ years. Local carers are 
mainly looking after one person – usually a spouse/partner (42%), or parent aged 65+ (35% - 
higher than the national level of 29%). 

13% were not in paid employment because of their caring responsibilities and 4% were in 
paid employment and did not feel supported by their employer. 24% of carers themselves 
had a long-standing illness. This highlights potential effects on their financial circumstances. 

One of the key issues raised by local carers in a survey in 2009 was that their caring role 
caused some financial problems to 30% of carers. Support for carers around money, 
finances, training and employment is therefore key. 

Wider learning about the needs of people in Portsmouth 

Learning from Portsmouth's Local Welfare Assistance Scheme 

In April 2013 Portsmouth City Council took on new responsibilities for provision of local welfare 

assistance. This was as a result of the transfer of Social Fund Community Care Awards & Crisis Loans 

from the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) to local government. The Council commissioned 

Northgate to provide its local welfare assistance scheme, and Northgate have provided a fully managed 

service since April 2013, contract managed by the Council. Northgate manage the provision of goods 

(such as furniture and white goods) through a charity called Family Fund, from companies such as Argos 

& Euronics.  

 

The criteria for the scheme centres around people who are in severe financial hardship and who either 

have a crisis, such as fire, flood, fleeing Domestic Violence or other exceptional pressures; or people 

who are either re-settling in the community or who need help to remain in the community, and who 

need furniture and/or white goods to reach a basic standard of living. 

 

Significant need is evidenced in these areas as follows: 

 

2013/14 Scheme Usage 

N.B. Caution should be exercised with use of this data, as it is approximate only, due to the 

complexities of counting multiple needs within applications. 

Applications Numbers Percentage 

Total Number of Applications 2,271  N/A 

Number of applicants granted 

awards 

697 23.48% of all applications 

Trends on paid applications   

Improve Living Conditions  

(For people who are at a high level 

of vulnerability e.g. health/mental 

 40.70% 

Page 204



 

182 
 

health issues/exceptional pressures 

in the home etc.) 

Domestic Violence  

(For people fleeing domestic 

violence who often leave with 

nothing/need to set up home) 

 9.50% 

Resettling after an 

institution/homeless 

accommodation 

(For people coming out of 

hostels/hospital/prison/institutions 

e.g. referrals from Roberts Centre 

Temporary Accommodation Service) 

 30.40% 

 

Money Issues (e.g. food/fuel/travel)  14.40% 

Emergency Travel   1.10% 

Emergency Situation  2.10% 

Other  1.80% 

 

The application process ensures that all other forms of provision that may be available in the community 

have been explored before making a local welfare assistance award, so it is targeted on those in most 

need. As demonstrated by the data above, over 40% of funding was spent on 'improving the living 

conditions' of vulnerable people already in their own homes - i.e. people with vulnerabilities such as 

physical or mental health issues, facing exceptional pressures etc.   

 

Over 30% of all funding was spent on resettlement issues, including vulnerable people leaving hostels, 

hospital, institutions or prison who have no money and require furniture and white goods such as a 

fridge and a cooker, in order to set up home within the community. 

 

Nearly 10% of all awards granted have been in relation to people fleeing domestic abuse situations, 

which will include elements of emergency daily living expenses and also furniture, white goods, clothes 

etc. in order to set up home.  

 

In terms of household composition, the data suggests that; 

 

 57% of applicants were female, 43% male 

 Single people accounted for 48%, followed by lone parents (32%) 

 39% were disabled 

 The majority were between the ages of 16 and 54 

 

There will be no separate allocation of funding to local authorities for local welfare assistance from April 

2015. This will clearly leave a gap around the following three needs: 

Page 205



 

183 
 

a) Resettlement for people with complex needs - to provide basic items and funding to enable 

people coming out of hostels and institutions to re-settle in the community. 

b) Support to help people with complex needs remain in the community - to ensure that the 

most vulnerable residents in particularly difficult situations can maintain the basic standards 

for day-to-day living. 

c) Crisis funds for people faced by sudden emergencies such as fire, flood or fleeing domestic 

violence. 

 

If these needs are not met, some vulnerable people will almost certainly fail in either setting up home in 

the community or in maintaining the most basic, humane level of conditions in the home. This could 

drive up costs across a range of public services (for example through increased demand at services such 

as mental health, children's social care, temporary accommodation provision, and debt advice services).  

 

Living without the basic essentials also limits people's ability to seek and sustain employment in order to 

improve their own circumstances, trapping them in a cycle of deprivation.  Although there are some 

possibilities for provision of community resources and better partnership working to maximise current 

resources, there remain some gaps for the more vulnerable people in the city. This is likely to increase 

costs to public and voluntary and community sector services without some funded provision. 

 

Summary: Learning from Portsmouth's Local Welfare Assistance Scheme (LWAS) 

Portsmouth's LWAS criteria centres around people who are in severe financial hardship and 
who are either have a (defined) crisis, or people who are either re-settling or living in the 
community, and who need furniture and/or white goods to reach a basic standard of living. 

697 applicants were granted awards in 2013/14, primarily for furniture or white goods, but 
also with some crisis provision (e.g. food, gas and electric). 

About 10% of awards were granted in relation to fleeing domestic abuse. 

40% of funding was spent on 'improving the living conditions' of vulnerable people already 
in their own homes - e.g. physical or mental health issues, facing exceptional pressures etc.   

Over 30% of funding was spent on resettlement issues, including people leaving hostels, 
hospital, institutions or prison, for furniture and white goods to set up home. 

Due to the government ceasing allocated funding, there will only be about a 1/5th of the 
previous funding available for provision for 2015/16. Leaving a gap around these high level 
needs could drive up costs across a range of public services (for example through increased 
demand at services such as mental health, temporary accommodation, and debt advice). 

 

Learning from customer focused reviews of services  

In addition to the various data that is presented throughout this needs assessment, it is just as 

important to capture learning from delivery of services on the ground, that tell us something about the 

needs of people in financial hardship in the city, and how to put people back into a place where they can 

take control of their lives, developing financial resilience in the longer term. 

 

Page 206



 

184 
 

Pieces of work in the city have identified the need for residents to receive services that are much more 

customer focused, and are designed with the customer's needs in mind, rather than the systems driving 

the response for the customer.  

 

This has been evidenced by a number of interventions in the city. Portsmouth City Council has been 

engaged in using Systems Thinking methodology for a number of years in the city order to learn about 

and understand its customer's needs in a number of key services. What makes this approach stand out 

from other review methods is its ability to really understand services from the customer's perspective, 

and then to re-design them from this perspective, so that they are much more effective in meeting 

customers' needs. 

 

This approach has been used in areas of the Council such as Housing Repairs and Rental Collection, as 

well as wider work with money advice services. More recently it is being used to understand work with 

families from a community perspective in the North of the city in Paulsgrove, and is also being used in 

part to understand models for integration between health and social care within the Better Care Fund. 

 

Some of the key themes of learning that have come from these reviews are as follows: 

 

o When we are able to view our services from a customer's perspective we see the 

performance of our services in a very different way to that shown in our usual key 

performance indicators  

o ‘Wobble points’ – recognising and acting on early point of concern triggers from people 

for early help 

o Getting it right first time for residents – reducing preventable demand  

o Understanding the demand (what is it people actually say they need, not what we think 

they need) 

o Understanding what is underneath people’s surface problems and getting to root cause 

o Making decisions based on knowledge rather than assumptions (gained by spending time 

in services and listening to demand) 

o Pulling in specialist support for people rather than referring them off to different 

agencies (people prefer to build a relationship with one contact) 

o Workforce development – up-skilling with whole family holistic approach 

o Using customer 'journey mapping' techniques to reveal where a different collective 

service response would be more effective and reduce the escalation of need  

 

These themes have been identified because they have featured in a number of reviews across the city - 

i.e. they haven't been identified purely on the basis of a few cases, rather, these same points have 

featured across a number of interventions and so are likely to be presenting good local intelligence as to 

methods of working with residents which will be reflected in the strategy going forward. 

 

Page 207



 

185 
 

Much of this centres around finding a central person who can navigate people through services, with a 

team around this keyworker, rather than around the family/person, thus protecting them from the 

chaos of multiple service involvement that can often be apparent when working with people with 

complex lives, pulling services in when required.  

 

Learning from the work in Portsmouth has demonstrated that, when workers pull in the specialist 

knowledge they need (e.g. inviting a money advisor in to their session with the customer, rather than 

referring them off to a separate service that they may or may not engage with), the worker's skill base 

and knowledge base increases, as they hear the advice of the specialist worker. This means that hand 

offs (where people often end up getting lost in the system) become fewer and fewer, with the customer 

building their relationship with their one key worker. There are good examples of where this approach 

has been used in the city; for example at Advice Portsmouth, where rather than people being referred 

to either generalist or specialist advisors, customers will see any advisor. If a specialist issue becomes 

apparent, the advisor is often able to knock on their colleague's office door and bring them into the 

session for that specific advice. This has resulted in all of the advisors at the centre skilling up 

significantly; and has resulted in dramatically reduced queueing times simply by getting rid of this waste 

in the system. 

 

Many people who may be involved in multiple services in this manner may also be in poverty; certainly 

this has predominantly been the case in the troubled families work in Portsmouth, and was also the case 

with the rental and money advice services interventions cited above. It is perhaps not surprising, given 

that when people have complex problems going on in their lives it can make areas such as employment 

and managing finances challenging. If the aim is to alleviate poverty in Portsmouth, and ultimately 

eradicate it, the problem cannot be fixed until it is understood from the perspective of people's real 

lived experiences, and their experiences of the services that aim to support them. Systems Thinking 

provides a sound methodology for understanding services from customers' perspectives, and thus 

provides the knowledge needed in order to re-design services to provide a more effective, holistic 

response to people's needs, and to ultimately make support services redundant. 

 

Summary: Learning from customer focused reviews 

Portsmouth City Council has been engaged in using Systems Thinking methodology (Vanguard 
method) for a number of years in the city order to learn about and understand its customer's needs 
in a number of key services. 

This approach enables an understanding of services from the customer's perspective, and enabling 
services to be re-designed from this perspective, so that they are much more effective in meeting 
customers' needs. 

A common theme across interventions has centred around finding a central person who can 
navigate people through services, thus protecting them from the chaos of multiple service 
involvement, pulling services in when required. Understanding services from the perspective of 
people's real lived experiences is ultimately more likely to result in services that are effective in 
helping people to address the underlying causes of their problems. 
 

Page 208



 

186 
 

Consultation 

Poverty has an impact on many different people across the city, from different backgrounds and groups, 

and with different needs. No consultation could ever capture all of these groups and their needs in a 

singular process. The following processes were used to inform this needs assessment, but should be 

considered as sample actions only, with the consultation process being an ongoing process throughout 

all of the tackling poverty work; rather than a snapshot in time as part of a one off needs assessment 

and strategy.  

 

Service User Consultation 

 City Helpdesk Survey (still being completed - data will be used to inform strategy once available) 

 Parent and Carer Board (focus group) - 15.09.14 

 Mosque Men's Health Event - 26.09.14 

 Portsmouth Users Self Help (PUSH) Group - 02.09.14  

 Youth Parliament (a small survey was conducted in 2014). 

 

Focus Groups with services/groups who work with people in poverty 

 Tackling Poverty Strategy Group - 7.04.14, 17.07.14 

 Rough Sleepers Group - 18.06.14 

 Housing Partnership - 17.11.14 

 Children and Families Priority B Services - 17.10.14 

 

The wider Portsmouth Children's Society Survey findings, published in 2014, have also been accessed to 

inform the strategy going forward. 

 

Listening to customers as they use key services 

Sitting in on customers accessing services, and hearing them talk about their needs in their own 

language and terms, has also informed this work; for example visits to Age UK, Housing Options and the 

Housing Court Desk. This very much builds on the systems thinking concept of 'getting in the work; to 

truly understand customer demand and root causes of their problems (see Learning from Customer 

Focused Reviews of Services section). 

What next? 

The findings of this needs assessment have fully informed the writing of the Tackling Poverty Strategy 

and Action Plan for Portsmouth. 

 

Key data from the needs assessment (the ‘killer’ headlines) will be pulled out as part of a data set, which 

will be monitored over time; and as such the key data will be kept up-to-date.  The Action Plan will be 

reviewed on a regular basis.  

Page 209



This page is intentionally left blank



Update to HWB on Better Care 
Jo York, Head of Better Care Programme 

P
age 211

A
genda Item

 6



Portsmouth Better Care Programme 

The Pooled Fund 
For 15/16 will be £16 
million. 
Includes: 
• Community nursing budget 
• Adult social care field work 

budget 
• Intermediate care services 
• Small amount of new 

investment money 

 

Benefits 
 Improve health and well 

being 
 Reduce social isolation 
 Improve access to 

services 
 Greater continuity of 

care 
 Reduce hospital 

admissions and 
readmissions 

 Reduce duplication and 
confusion (“tell it once”) 
 

 

P
age 212



The Local Plan 

how we will tackle the issues 

• Full integration of health and social care services – 

co-location of social care and community nursing teams 

with single locality leadership model  

• Early Intervene earlier to prevent deterioration – work 

with Age UK to develop independence co-ordinator roles 

• Enhance reablement services to maximise 

independence – strengthen current services 

• Delivery of more care in the community – new 

approach to contracting to support this 

• Reduced cost of care and support – Integrated 

personalised commissioning 

 
3 

P
age 213



Good progress made 

• Governance arrangements and section 75 

agreement to be agreed by 31/3 

• Independence co-ordinators in place and 

soft launch underway 

• Integrated Personalised Commissioning 

National Demonstrator Programme 

• Re-ablement review findings due in April  

• Integrated locality model development 

 

P
age 214



P
age 215



P
age 216



Outcomes – progress against 

performance trajectory 

Reduction of total non elective admissions in 

to hospital (general and acute) all age per 

100,000 population by 3% for 14/15. 

On target 
 current value 4,655 actual admissions for quarter 3 

against qtr 3 plan of 4813  

 Plan for 15/16 is further 3% reduction of 548 less 

admissions than this year. 

 

P
age 217



Outcomes – progress against  

performance trajectory 

 856   850  

 748   729  
 719  

 676  

 -

 100

 200

 300

 400

 500

 600

 700

 800

 900

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-13

Permanent Admissions to Residential & Nursing Care Homes 

Submitted metrics

Projection based on year
to date

P
age 218



Outcomes – progress against  

performance trajectory 

 

 -

 10.0

 20.0

 30.0

 40.0

 50.0

 60.0

 70.0

 80.0

 90.0

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

Proportion of older people at home 91 days after 
discharge hospital to reablement  

Submitted
Metrics

Projection based
on 2 quarters of
2014-15

P
age 219



Involving local people in 

delivery 

• Stakeholder reference group meets with 

HASP representative  

• Outreach to groups and events building 

awareness and seeking views 

• Patient experience adding value to 

reviews in the programme   

• Exploring collaboration for true co-design 

and co-production 

 

P
age 220



 

 

Any Questions? P
age 221



T
his page is intentionally left blank



THIS ITEM IS FOR INFORMATION ONLY 

1 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 

      

 
Agenda item:  

Title of meeting: 
 

Health & Wellbeing Board 

Date of meeting: 
 

 

Subject: 
 

Building a Healthier City series of seminars 

Report by: 
 

Dr Janet Maxwell, Director of Public Health and  
Kathy Wadsworth, Director of Regeneration 

 
Wards affected: 
 

 
All 

  
  

 

1. Requested by 
Dr Janet Maxwell, Director of Public Health 
 

2. Purpose - information report 
2.1 The purpose of this report is to provide the members of the Health and Wellbeing 

Board with both the background and the progress to date of the Building a Healthier 
City series of seminars which supports the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategic 
Priority of promoting prevention and particularly work stream 2a: Create sustainable 
and healthy environments.  

 
2.2 A further report will be made available to the Health and Wellbeing Board following 

the final seminar in March 2015 which will set out in more detail the activity through 
which this work stream will be taken forward and the outcomes against which 
progress will be measured. 

 
2.3 The report also recommends to members of the Health and Wellbeing Board to 

attend the final Building a Healthier City seminar on Thursday 5th March 2015. This 
will provide an excellent opportunity to hear about the themes resulting from all five 
seminars and to discuss how the work can best be taken forward to deliver 
improved outcomes for local people.  

 
3. Information requested 
3.1 In 2012, local authorities were given renewed responsibility for public health as part 

of the government's health and social care reforms. Local authority functions 
influence public health in many complex and inter-related ways. In its report, Fair 
Society, Healthy Lives (Marmot et al 2010), the Marmot Review into health 
inequalities in England clearly demonstrates how the 'broader determinants of 
health' - such as people's local environment, housing, transport, employment as 

Page 223

Agenda Item 7



THIS ITEM IS FOR INFORMATION ONLY 

2 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

well as their social interactions - can be significantly influenced by how local 
authorities deliver their core roles and function (the Kings Fund 2013). 

 
3.2 The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2014-17 includes a workstream to 'Create 

sustainable, healthy environments (see box below): 
 

Workstream 2a - Create sustainable and healthy environments 
People's health and wellbeing does not exist in isolation, but is influenced by the world in 

which they live, work and play.  We want people in Portsmouth, across all ages and groups, to 

be able to enjoy happy, active and ultimately healthy lifestyles, whilst reducing the city's 

dependence upon motorised forms of transport, in particular the car, and promoting sustainable 

economic growth by investing in alternative methods of commuting, traveling and going about 

our daily lives. 

 

Our aim is to ensure that no-one is prevented from achieving ease of access to education, 

employment or recreation through the effects of ability, socio-economic background, poverty 

or financial hardship. This will involve working closely with the Regeneration directorate and 

Shaping Portsmouth to explore how the built environment, including housing, planning and 

open spaces, and transport can support individuals to lead healthy lives. 

 
3.3 In order to develop a meaningful and shared set of actions to deliver this 

workstream, building on a shared recognition of the importance of a sustainable and 
healthy environment for improving health and wellbeing and reducing health 
inequalities, the Director of Public Health and the Strategic Director for 
Regeneration arranged a series of five seminars for Portsmouth City Council 
services and other local partners. The specific aims of the five seminars were to: 

 Demonstrate where efforts to improve the health and wellbeing of the local 
population can also deliver the aims and objectives of other services 

 Strengthen the links between shared agendas 

 Share learning and expertise across directorates 

 Agree priority action areas to be taken forward 

 Develop health champions across the organisation 

 Improve outcomes relating to health and wellbeing for people in the city 

 Identify service areas where the Public Health savings can be used for maximum 
impact on public health outcomes.  

 
4. Progress to date 
4.1 In September a cross directorate steering group was set up to plan the five 

seminars and examine how the key action areas could be taken forward. The five 
seminars include: Health and Transport (28.10.14); Sustainability and Health 
(25.11.14); Urban Planning and Health (1.12.14); Employment, Skills and Health 
(12.1.15) and Housing and Health (3.2.15). The final seminar (5.3.15) will briefly 
report on the outcomes of the five seminars, look at the links between them, 
demonstrate how public health outcomes can be achieved through improved joint 
working, allocate resources to take the work forward, and ensure that elected 

Page 224



THIS ITEM IS FOR INFORMATION ONLY 

3 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

members and members of the Health and Wellbeing Board understand the agenda 
and are fully briefed on the progress made to date. 

 
4.2 The specific purpose of the first seminar on Transport and Health was to: 

 Gain an overview of local transport policy in Portsmouth 

 Examine the connection between transport and health 

 Share examples of best practice from across the country 

 Increase our understanding of how sustainable and active travel can help address 
key city challenges 

 

4.3 As a result of the seminar, a cross directorate working group is being set up to look 
at developing business plans to ensure joint working and joint funding to consider: 

 The use of Health Impact Assessments (HIA) on policies and strategies 

 The update of the Local Transport Plan 3 to include the involvement of public health  

 The promotion of joint public health and active travel campaigns and events 

 How to address budget pressures.  

 How the good work completed in the LSTF can be continued with Public Health and 
Transport working in partnership.  

 How resources can be shared 
 

4.4 Seminar two addressed Sustainability and Health and focussed on why 
sustainability is such an important issue and how it links with health; the key issues 
for Portsmouth; and the importance of engaging the next generation. An example of 
innovative practice was presented by Nick Grayson from Birmingham City Council. 
Table top discussions addressed how we can reduce our carbon footprint in 
Portsmouth and what we need to do to adapt to climate change.  

 
4.5 Discussions are currently in place to agree the Energy Strategy for Portsmouth.  

Current stakeholder engagement seeks to affirm priorities and balance the energy 
drivers of cost, carbon and security with city regeneration and the health and well-
being of residents. (Activities and objectives are outlined in Appendix A).   

 
4.6 Clear links with the findings from the Transport and Health seminar were 

demonstrated, including the need for more active travel. 
 
4.7 Seminar three focussed on Urban Planning and Health looking at the key planning 

issues in Portsmouth and their links with health; the importance of green 
infrastructure, and planning for healthier places, focussing on planning for a healthy 
weight environment.  

 
4.8 Once again, links between transport, sustainability and urban planning were clearly 

demonstrated, with a need to focus on active travel, the green infrastructure, and 
planning for a healthy weight environment. (The presentations from all five seminars 
will shortly be accessible from the JSNA website).  

Page 225



THIS ITEM IS FOR INFORMATION ONLY 

4 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
4.9 Seminar four examined the links between Skills, employment and health. The 

focus was on the how we can support people with health issues into work, the 
employer's role in supporting people with mental health problems and how we can 
achieve a healthier workforce.  

 
4.10 In seminar five there were presentations about the key Housing and Health issues 

for Portsmouth and about how health and housing are intrinsically linked. This was 
followed by presentations and workshops addressing how the housing workforce 
can promote good health.  

 
4.11 The feedback from participants attending the seminars has been collated and 

demonstrates a strong desire for a shared vision, the creation of joint strategies 
achieved through closer collaboration and more joint working, and the need for 
improved communication between directorates. Participants also discussed the 
need for better engagement with elected members and ensure that they are fully 
briefed about this agenda. 

 
4.12 A cross cutting theme emerging is the need to ensure that staff across all 

directorates have the appropriate knowledge, skills and expertise to take the work 
forward. Professional development could be achieved through use of the Wessex 
School of Public Health bursary for professional development; work shadowing and 
secondments were also highlighted as other examples.  

 
 
5. Funding to support Public Health Outcomes 

5.1 To support the public health priorities for Portsmouth, part of the Public Health 
Grant will be used to support the transformation work for each of the five seminar 
topic areas (transport, sustainability, urban planning, skills and economy, and 
housing). The criteria for transformation funds has been discussed in full with heads 
of service and builds on the work reported to the Health and Social Care Portfolio 
on10 February 2014. A briefing note explaining the principles of transferring funding 
from the Public Health grant to services is at Appendix B. There is a large degree of 
connectivity between the proposed plans and all plans support the Public Health 
Outcomes Framework and the development of a healthier city. Initial discussions 
suggest that the transformation funding could be used in the following ways: 

 
5.2 Transport and health 
5.2.1 Develop plans to ensure that active travel continues to be promoted following 

cessation of the Local Sustainable Transport Fund which currently supports 
'Myjourney' to improve active travel to work. It is proposed that we focus in the 
coming year on safer routes to school (Supports Public Health Outcomes: relating 
to increased physical activity, reduced obesity and accident reduction; plus the 
Healthy Child and Healthy Schools Programmes).  

 
5.3 Sustainability and health 
5.3.1 Develop plans to improve the green infrastructure for the city to ensure accessibility 

of green walking and cycling routes linking to our wildlife and open spaces, 
accessible parks which promote physical activity and improved food growing 

Page 226



THIS ITEM IS FOR INFORMATION ONLY 

5 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

spaces. (Supports Public Health Outcomes relating to the wider determinants of 
health and health improvement)  

 
5.4 Urban planning and health 
5.4.1 Develop a healthy urban team to ensure that the health impacts of all aspects of 

urban planning are considered in all plans. (Supports Public Health Outcomes 
relating to the wider determinants of health and health improvement) 

 
5.5 Skills, employment and health 
5.5.1 Develop plans to further support adults with health issues into work. (Links with 

existing City Deal pilot programme supporting young people into employment) 
 
5.6 Housing and health 
5.6.1 Work with the Housing Options team to further develop the homeless health care 

pathway. (Supports Public Health Outcomes relating to the wider determinants of 
health and health improvement) 

 
 

6. The way forward  
6.1 The final seminar on 5th March will report on the outcomes of the five seminars, look 

at the links between them, demonstrate how Public Health Outcomes can be 
achieved through improved joint working across the local authority, allocate 
resources to take the work forward, and ensure that elected members and 
members of the Health and wellbeing Board are involved and fully understand the 
agenda. 

 
6.2 A more detailed progress report will follow the sixth seminar in March 2015.    
 
 

 

……………………………………………… 

Signed by: Dr Janet Maxwell, Director of Public Health 

Appendices:  

Appendix A - City-Wide Energy Strategy for Portsmouth 

Appendix B - Use of Public Health Redistribution Fund 

Background list of documents: Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 

The following documents disclose facts or matters, which have been relied upon to a material 

extent by the author in preparing this report: 

Title of document Location 

  

Page 227



THIS REPORT IS FOR INFORMATION ONLY 
 

6 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

APPENDIX A: City-Wide Energy Strategy for Portsmouth 

Interim Summary Paper for Dr Janet Maxwell (for H&WB Board) by Paul 

Hemming 

Background 

With the publication of its 2010 Climate Change Strategy, PCC committed to the 

future production of an energy strategy.  Whilst the primary focus is on Portsmouth, 

the plans are being formulated in parallel with the about-to-be-published Solent 

Energy Strategy, with which the Portsmouth document will share many objectives.  

Across the Solent region, approximately 96% of energy used is generated 

elsewhere, leaving significant scope for increased local generation and, potentially, 

regional co-operation.  Some specific outcomes to flow from the strategy included: 

 Renewable/decentralised energy production developed around the city, 
retaining within the local economy more of the £200m or so annual energy bill 

 Greater understanding of opportunities for PCC and PSB regarding provision 
of affordable warmth, improved housing quality, concurrent health benefits 
and job creation 

 Reduced tariffs for decentralised energy produced in the city 

Early 2014 

PCC identified the need for a city-wide energy strategy that takes account of the 

priorities of key, local stakeholders - including the University and the Naval base, 

with whom we have jointly secured DECC funding to cover further heat mapping of 

the city plus studies into the feasibility of heat networks for the city centre and City 

Deal regeneration sites.   

Current Status 

The aim is to have the emerging strategy substantially agreed by spring 2015, with 

formal approval taking place in the months that follow.  Current stakeholder 

engagement seeks to affirm priorities and balance the energy drivers of cost, carbon 

and security with city regeneration and the health and well-being of residents.   

Broad Outline of Activities and Objectives 

Amongst other things, the emerging strategy is working to 

 Identify supply and demand constraints and opportunities 

 Identify who could address these constraints and/or implement the 
opportunities  

 Confirm the authority's perspective, considering security, carbon and cost, 
alongside economic regeneration and wider health and social priorities 

 Identify the benefits and risks associated with each possible action 

 Identify the potential role in delivery of each of the key stakeholders 

 

 

Page 228



THIS REPORT IS FOR INFORMATION ONLY 
 

7 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

It is likely that the finalised objectives may include 

 Energy efficiency and conservation, both domestic and commercial 

 Local generation and distribution, including renewables 

 Business, employment and training opportunities 
 

 Action plan for delivery of strategic objectives 
 

Portsmouth City Council January 2015 

 

Page 229



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to:  Building a Healthier City Steering Group  
Date:  19 Jan 2015 
 
Use of Public Health Redistribution Fund 
 
1. Purpose  

The purpose of this briefing note is to set out the principles by which an element of 
the Public Health Grant will be redistributed to Portsmouth City Council services 

 
2.  Background 
 
2.1  Grant Conditions 

 
The public health ring-fenced grant is allocated by the Department of Health to give 
local authorities the funding needed to discharge their public heath responsibilities. 
The conditions of the grant are that the funds are used to: 
 

 Significantly improve the health and wellbeing of local populations, 

 Carry out health protection and health improvement functions delegated from 
the Secretary of State 

 Reduce health inequalities across the life course, including within hard to reach 
groups 

 Ensure the provision of population healthcare advice. 
 

2.2 Whilst these are the overarching conditions, the Department of Health also requires 
local authorities to use the grant on the responsibilities outlined in Annex A. Delivery 
of these responsibilities, and achievement of the grant conditions, is monitored 
through an array of outcome indicators described in the Public Health Outcomes 
Framework1. 

   
3. Principles of redistribution 
 
3.1 So that the grant can used be to support the council's overall savings target, whilst 

continuing to comply with grant conditions, the approach taken by Head of Finance is 
as follows: 

 
a. Public Health, like all other services, is given an annual savings target to 

achieve. 
 

b. These savings are then to be used to support services where health 
outcomes can be clearly identified and measured against appropriate 
indicators in the PH Outcomes Framework. Redistribution of the savings 
should take place within the financial year to which they relate, i.e. 2014/15 
savings are to be redistributed in 2014/15. 

 

c. Once a service area has been identified, and agreed, then the service's 
General Fund baseline will be reduced by the level of funding 
transferred from the ring-fenced public health grant. It therefore, is not 
'new money', it replaces existing general funding but in order to meet the 
requirements of the grant, the work that this money supports needs to be 
agreed and may need to be changed or re-organised to ensure that it 
contributes positively to Public Health outcomes. It will therefore be necessary 
for the Director of Public Health and the Head of Service to agree an 
assurance process by which this can be achieved. 

                                                           
1
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/263658/2901502_PHOF_Im

proving_Outcomes_PT1A_v1_1.pdf 

Page 231

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/263658/2901502_PHOF_Improving_Outcomes_PT1A_v1_1.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/263658/2901502_PHOF_Improving_Outcomes_PT1A_v1_1.pdf


 

d. These public health savings cannot be used to 'pick up' a service's savings as 
to do this would result in a net effect on the overall council savings target. 

 

e. Redistribution of the Public Health savings cannot be used for new projects or 
other grant funding as this has no impact on reducing a Service's General 
Fund baseline. 

 

4. Level of savings available for transfer 

4.1 Currently the amount of savings which has to be transferred to replace general fund 

budgets by 31st March 2015 is £1,548,700. 

 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 232



Annex A 

Local authority responsibilities in the new public health system (England) 

 

 Tobacco control and smoking cessation services 

 Alcohol and drug misuse services 

 Public health services for children & young people aged 5-19 including Healthy Child 

 Programme 5-19 and from 2015 all public health services for children and young people 
services 

 The National Child Measurement Programme 

 Locally-led nutrition initiatives 

 Increasing levels of physical activity in the local population 

 NHS Health Check assessments 

 Public Mental Health services 

 Dental public health services 

 Accidental injury prevention 

 Population level interventions to reduce and prevent birth defects 

 Behavioural and lifestyle campaigns to prevent cancer and long-term conditions 

 Local initiatives on workplace health 

 Supporting, reviewing and challenging delivery of key public health funded and NHS 
delivered services such as immunisation and screening programmes 

 Comprehensive sexual health (including testing and treatment for sexual transmitted 
infections, contraception outside of the GP contract and sexual health contract and 
sexual health promotion and disease prevention) 

 Local initiatives to reduce excess deaths as a result of seasonal mortality 

 The local authority role in dealing health protection incidents, violence prevention and 
response 

 Public health aspects of local initiatives to tackle social exclusion 

 Local initiatives that reduce public health impacts of environment risks 

Page 233



This page is intentionally left blank



THIS ITEM IS FOR INFORMATION ONLY 

1 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
Agenda item:  

  
Title of meeting:  
 

Health and Wellbeing Board 

Subject: 
 

Mental Health Alliance 

Date of meeting: 
 

25th February 2015 

Report by: 
 

Dr Matt Smith 

Wards affected: 
 

All 

 

 
 
1. Requested by 
 
2. Purpose 

 
2.1 The purpose of this report is to update the Health and Wellbeing Board on the 

development and work of the Mental Health Alliance. 
  
3. Mental Health Alliance 

 
3.1 On the 5 June 2014, Dr Janet Maxwell, Director of Public Health Portsmouth, brought 

together and chaired an initial meeting of key stakeholders. At this meeting it was 
agreed that improving mental health was a key priority for the City and in order to take 
this agenda forwards it was necessary to establish a Mental Health Alliance for the 
City of Portsmouth. 

 
3.2 The first meeting of the Mental Health Alliance was held on World Mental Health Day, 

10 October 2014. This brought together all the major mental health stakeholders 
including service users. The purpose was to review current policy, need and identify 
the key priorities for the City over the coming year. 
 

3.3 Five areas were subsequently identified and progress will be monitored by the Mental 
Health Alliance over the next year. These are to: 

 
o Support schools in the early identification of mental health problems (links to 

Priority E in the Children's Trust Board); 
 
o Support employers to help more people with mental health problems to 

remain in or move in to work (e.g. building on Mindful Employer); 
 
o Improve the integration of mental health care and physical health care at 

every level (Parity of Esteem); 
 
o Implement the Crisis Care Concordat; 

Page 235

Agenda Item 8



THIS ITEM IS FOR INFORMATION ONLY 

2 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
o Improve the transition of care for people moving between Child and 

Adolescent Mental Health Services and Adult Mental Health Service. 
 

3.4 The complexity of the mental health agenda was recognised. Good mental health does 
not simply depend on access to high quality services; many of the determinants of 
good mental health are influenced by cross-cutting issues such as education, 
employment and housing. It was also therefore agreed to develop an overarching 
mental health strategy for the City, building on the five areas already identified as 
immediate priorities. This would be taken forwards by a working group of the Alliance. 

 
3.3 The opportunity was also taken at this meeting for stakeholders to sign up to the Crisis 

Care Concordat and delivering the commitments within it. 
 

3.4 Terms of reference and governance for the meetings were agreed and the Alliance will 
meet biannually. 

 
4 Mental Health Strategy 
 
4.1 The Mental Health Strategy Group is a working group of the Mental Health Alliance. 

The initial meeting, on the 5th December 2014, was chaired by Dr Janet Maxwell and 
future meetings will be chaired by Dr Matt Smith. 

 
4.2 At the meeting the broad scope of the strategy was agreed. It will take a community 

focused, life course approach and the key areas that it will cover are promotion and 
prevention, settings (e.g. schools, university and workplaces), services and recovery. It 
will be aligned to the key recommendations from national policy and strategy 
documents including the Chief Medical Officers Annual Report focusing on mental 
health1, the WHO Mental Health Action Plan2, the national strategy No Health, Without 
Mental Health3 and Closing the Gap4; it will also be informed by evidenced based 
guidance from the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE).  
 

4.3 There are many sources of information available on the mental health of residents 
within Portsmouth. These sources will be reviewed and key metrics will be identified for 
inclusion within the final strategy. Groups with specific needs will also be considered 
e.g. veterans. 

 
4.4 It was recognised that within the City there were already many services and initiatives 

that were contributing to maintaining and improving mental health for residents and 
patients. Given the financial challenges organisations are facing over the coming years 
the emphasis will not be on identifying the need for new services but how existing 
statutory services and third sector organisations can be better co-ordinated and shaped 
from a mental health perspective as part of the existing transformation programmes. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 236



THIS ITEM IS FOR INFORMATION ONLY 

3 
 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
 
4.5  The mental health strategy development timeframe is outlined below: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5 References 
 

1.) Davies, S.C. "Annual Report of the Chief Medical Officer 2013: Public Mental Health 
Priorities: Investing in the Evidence" London: Department of Health (2014) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/chief-medical-officer-cmo-annual-
report-public-mental-health  

2.) Mental Health Action Plan 2013-2020. WHO (2013) 
http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/89966/1/9789241506021_eng.pdf  

3.) No Health, Without Mental Health: a cross-government mental health outcomes 
strategy for people of all ages. Department of Health (2011) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/2137
61/dh_124058.pdf  

4.) Closing the Gap: Priorities for essential change in mental health. Department of 
Health (2014) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/2812
50/Closing_the_gap_V2_-_17_Feb_2014.pdf  

 
 
 
 
……………………………………………… 
Signed by  
 
Appendices:  
 
Background list of documents: Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
 
The following documents disclose facts or matters, which have been relied upon to a 
material extent by the author in preparing this report: 
 

Title of document Location 

  

  

Action To be completed by: 

Agree the structure of the mental 
health strategy  

April 2015 

Complete draft strategy  July 2015 

Consultation and engagement July - September 2015 

Mental health strategy sign off by 
Mental Health Alliance 

October 10 2015 (World Mental 
Health Day) 

Page 237

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/chief-medical-officer-cmo-annual-report-public-mental-health
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/chief-medical-officer-cmo-annual-report-public-mental-health
http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/89966/1/9789241506021_eng.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/213761/dh_124058.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/213761/dh_124058.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/281250/Closing_the_gap_V2_-_17_Feb_2014.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/281250/Closing_the_gap_V2_-_17_Feb_2014.pdf


THIS ITEM IS FOR INFORMATION ONLY 

1 
 

 
 
 

P
age 238



Intended programme of items for discussion at Portsmouth's Health and 

Wellbeing Board (HWB) in 2015 

 

The programme of agenda items for the HWB has been developed based on the 

agreed Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2014-17. The timings of which issue 

comes to each meeting is potentially subject to change, and other items may be 

scheduled in addition. 

25th February 2015 

 Tackling Poverty: Report from Kate Kennard, Portsmouth's Tackling Poverty 

Coordinator, setting out the findings from the draft Poverty Needs Assessment 

and outlining the proposed Tackling Poverty Strategy. 

 

 Better Care: Quarterly update from Innes Richens, Chief Operating Officer at 

Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), on local efforts to integrate 

health and social care in the city. 

 

 Creating Sustainable, health environments: Report from Janet Maxwell, 

Director of Public Health, on the outputs from a series of seminars exploring 

how the return of public health to local government can be used to drive 

forward this priority workstream. 

 

 Mental Health and Wellbeing: Report from Matt Smith, Public Health 

Consultant, on the work being led by the newly established Mental Health 

Alliance in response to this Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy workstream.  

 

 Winterbourne View response: update on the local response to the national 

report on Winterbourne View - this item is now likely to go to the June 

meeting. 

 

17th June 2015 

 Smoking, Alcohol and Substance Misuse: progress report from Matt Smith 

on this JHWS priority area (NB alcohol and substance misuse are led by the 

Safer Portsmouth Partnership) 

 

 Public Health Annual Report: Dr Janet Maxwell, Director of Public Health, 

presenting her statutory annual report for approval by the HWB. 

 

 Pre-birth to five years old: Progress update from Priority A of the Children's 

Trust. 

Page 239

Agenda Item 9



 Better care: Quarterly update from Innes Richens, Chief Operating Officer at 

Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), on local efforts to integrate 

health and social care in the city. 

 

 Wellbeing Service: Update from Rachael Dalby on this new service being 

developed within the public health team to address the JHWS workstream to 

explore 'integrated lifestyle hubs'. 

 

 Dementia: Progress report from Preeti Sheth, Head of the Integrated 

Commissioning Unit, on this key HWB priority. 

 

16th September 2015 

 Portsmouth Together: Brian Bracher, Chief Service Officer for Portsmouth 

Together, will report on the progress this new initiative using impact 

volunteering to address key city challenges has made at the end of its first 

year. 

 

 Health related barriers to employment: Report from Paddy May, Corporate 

Strategy Manager, on how the City Deal is helping those long-term 

unemployed due to health-related issues back into sustainable work. 

 

 CCG Strategic Priorities: Annual report from Dr Jim Hogan, Clinical Lead at 

PCCG, on how the HWB partners are supporting the CCG to deliver its 

strategic priorities. 

 

 Better Care: Quarterly update from Innes Richens, Chief Operating Officer at 

Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), on local efforts to integrate 

health and social care in the city. 

 

 Mental Health and Wellbeing: Matt Smith, Public Health Consultant, 

presenting the draft Mental Health Strategy that will be developed by the 

Mental Health Alliance in 2015 

2nd December 2015 

 Portsmouth Safeguarding Adults Board Annual (PSAB) Report: David 

Cooper, independent chair of PSAB, presenting key issues for the HWB in 

relation to safeguarding adults. 

  

 Portsmouth Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report: Reg Hooke, 

independent chair of PSCB, presenting key issues for the HWB in relation to 

safeguarding adults. 

Page 240



 

 Improving Educational Attainment: Annual report from the Director of 

Children's Services, on this Children's Trust priority to improve the educational 

attainment of Portsmouth's children. 

 

 Better Care: Quarterly update from Innes Richens, Chief Operating Officer at 

Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), on local efforts to integrate 

health and social care in the city. 

 

 Wellbeing Service: Update from Rachael Dalby on this new service being 

developed within the public health team to address the JHWS workstream to 

explore 'integrated lifestyle hubs'. 

 

 Dementia: Progress report from Preeti Sheth, Head of the Integrated 

Commissioning Unit, on this key HWB priority. 

Page 241



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of previous meeting - 26 November 2014 with Matters Arising - including Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment report
	Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA)

	3 Health and Wellbeing Board Governance
	4 Public Health - Portsmouth's 'Plan on a Page'
	5 Tackling poverty needs assessment (decision item)
	Tackling Poverty in Portsmouth appendix -  Needs assessment

	6 Better Care Update
	7 Creating sustainable healthy environments
	Building a Healthier City Steering Group Brief (appendix)

	8 Mental Health and Wellbeing
	9 Work Programme for HWB (information item)

